The 1998 Danish-German Excursion to Disko Island, West Greenland

Edited by Angelika Brandt, Helge A. Thomsen, Henning Heide-Jørgensen, Reinhard M. Kristensen & Hilke Ruhberg with contributions of the participants

Ber. Polarforsch. 330 (1999) ISSN 0176 - 5027



## Contents

## Contents

1.	The 1998 Danish-German Excursion to Disko Island, West Greenland.         H. A. Thomsen & A. Brandt	1-10
2.	Mycorrhizal symbioses in four plant communities in Greenland in relation to different soil factors. K. Clemmensen & A. Hoff Hansen	11-14
3.	An analysis of plant communities and environmental factors on Pjeturssons Moraine, Disko, Greenland. K. Dahl Jensen & K. Steenberg Larsen	15-31
4.	Puilassoq, the warmest homothermal spring of Disko Island. H. S. Heide-Jørgensen & R. M. Kristensen	32-43
5.	Tardigrades in the Soil of Greenland. C. Starck & R. M. Kristensen	44-63
6.	Ecological aspects of tardigrade distribution on Disko Island, West Greenland. T. Peters & P. Dumjahn	64-75
7.	Rapid assessment of spider species richness in the Arctic (Disko, West Greenland). S. Larsen & T. D. Rasmussen	76-77
8.	Observations of passerine birds in Blæsedalen, Disko Island, W. Greenland. D. Finke & C. Brandt	78-91
9.	The intertidal macrofauna and macroalgae at five Arctic localities (Disko, West Greenland). L. Hansen	92-110
10.	The Mellemfjord (Disko, West Greenland) – hydrography and pelagic biology. <i>N. Hansen &amp; F. Schmidt</i>	111-133
11.	Comparative analysis of three sampling gear types for marine macrobenthos. A. N. Lörz, A. di Renzo & J. Nickel	134-151
12.	The diversity of Polychaeta and their feeding habits related to types of sediment in Mellemfjord, Disko Island, West Greenland. A. Liebermann	152-163
13.	On the taxonomy of <i>Spio filicornis</i> (Spionidae, Polychaeta) – Nipisat, Disko, Greenland. K. Worsaae	164-169
14.	Distribution and Composition of Meiofauna with special attention to the Kinorhyncha in the Mellemfjord, Disko Island (West Greenland). J. Winkelmann & O. Ziemer	70-181
<u>Anı</u>	nex:	

# Addresses of participants

Photos	83-184
--------	--------

I

## The 1998 Danish-German Excursion to Disko Island, West Greenland

Helge Abildhauge Thomsen<sup>(1)</sup> & Angelika Brandt<sup>(2)</sup>

<sup>(1)</sup> Danish Institut for Fisheries Research, Dept. of Marine and Coastal Ecology Kavalergaarden 6, DK-2920 Charlottenlund, Denmark

<sup>(2)</sup> Zoological Institute and Zoological Museum, University of Hamburg, Martin-Luther-King-Platz 3, D-20146 Hamburg, Germany

#### Introduction

This report summarizes the results from a biological field course organized at the University of Copenhagen Arctic Station in July - August 1998. Twelve students from the University of Copenhagen and 10 students from Hamburg University participated in this International Danish-German Expedition (IDGE). Field activities were supervised by senior researchers from both universities. The Danish team consisted of: Helge Abildhauge Thomsen (Botanical Institute), Reinhardt Møbjerg Kristensen (Zoological Museum), and Henning Heide-Jørgensen (Botanical Institute). The German teachers were: Angelika Brandt and Hilke Ruhberg (Zool. Institute and Museum). A German Ph.D. student, Jörg Nickel, also participated in the field activities, and is now (May-September 1999) back in Greenland continuing a sampling programme for his Ph.D. thesis.

The Arctic Station is located near the town Qeqertarsuaq (Godhavn) on the south coast of the Disko Island, West Greenland (Fig. 1). It was founded in 1906, and is thus the oldest research institution north of the polar circle. For a thorough introduction to the Arctic Station please consult the homepage for the institution at the address: <u>http://www.geogr.ku.dk/as/</u>.

The field course projects addressed both terrestrial and marine issues. Part of the field work was conducted in Mellemfjord /Akulliit on the west coast of the Disko Island. A camp site was maintained here for a period of approximately three weeks. During the field course period (15 July - 8 August 1998) we visited the Mellemfjord four times on board the Arctic Station research vessel 'Porsild'. Other projects were based on material collected in the vicinity of the Arctic Station. Project themes, field acitivies etc. are summarized in Fig. 2. In order to set the stage for the presentations to follow, we have included at the end of the introduction a few graphs illustrating meteorological observations from both the Arctic Station and the Mellemfjord /Akulliit.

Our stay in Greenland was generally successful from a scientific point of view, and a great experience for all of us in many other ways. The weather was fabulous, making mountain hikes and boat rides unforgettable. Whales were frequently sighted right in front of the Arctic Station, and the Jakobshavn glacier produced an endless line of



Fig. 1. Map of Greenland. The arrow points to Disko Island.

magnificent icebergs that majestically floated by the Arctic Station or grounded right in front of us.

After our return to Copenhagen and Hamburg the processing of samples and field data continued for all project teams. In order to exchange data files and discuss scientific issues of common interest, there was a short meeting for most participants in November 1998 at the University of Copenhagen Brorfelde field station.

The Univ. of Copenhagen students submitted Danish versions of their project reports in due time for a scheduled oral examination in January 1999. These contributions have later been revised as needed and published as part of a series of annual Arctic Station field excursion reports (Thomsen 1999). The Danish contributions included in this volume are to a large extent further revised and translated versions of these chapters. A few contributions, e.g. on spiders, mycorrhiza, sliding soil vegetation, and *Spio* spp. (Polychaeta), are extended abstracts. These contributions are currently being prepared for publication in more specialized, international journals.

The University of Hamburg students submitted English versions in 1999. These were reviewed by the group of teachers and most, but not all of the corrected versions are included in this report. Some of these reports on tardigrades and macrofauna will serve as a basis for subsequent analyses which will lead to masters' theses.

#### Introduction



Fig. 2. Overview of course activities

#### Acknowledgements

First and foremost we want to thank the entire staff at the Arctic Station for providing logistic support for us in every possible way. Thanks are also due to a number of colleagues at the University of Copenhagen for assisting with sample analysis etc.: N. Scharff, D. Eibye-Jacobsen, G. H. Petersen, M. E. Petersen (Zool. Museum), and A. Michelsen and P. M. Pedersen (Botanical Institute). Benni Hansen (Roskilde Univ. Center) is acknowledged for help with the zooplankton work.

The Faculty of Science provided financial support for Danish students and two teachers. The Botanical Institute, Univ. Copenhagen, is acknowledged for financial support that allowed us to include H. Heide-Jørgensen in the team of teachers. The Danish students acknowledge the G. E. C. Gads Foundation, the Brewer J. C. Jacobsen's Carlsberg Bursary and the Greenland Nature Institute for financial support.

The faculty of biology of the University of Hamburg supported the German students. Special thank is due to Ms. E. Hjelm. However, participation of the Germans would

not have been possible without the generous financial support of "Jack Wolfskin", "Globetrotter", the "University Foundation of Hamburg", the "Johanna and Fritz Buch Gedächnisstiftung" as well as "Günther Bock". Special thanks are also due to "Print 64" for help with the layout of an invitation, and especially Gisela Wegener and Katrin Linse for organizational help before the excursion started. M. Böttinger and P. Stiewe kindly assisted us with the final layout, Dr. B. Hilbig kindly corrected the English of our last version. Many kind colleagues of the Zoological Institute and Zool. Museum supported our ideas and helped with equipment.

#### **References:**

Thomsen, H. A. (ed) 1999. Arktisk Biologisk Feltkursus, Qeqertarsuaq 1998. Botanisk Institut, Københavns Universitet, 242 pp. ISBN: 87-987317-2-6.

#### Appendix:

# Meteorological observations 1998 at the Arctic Station, Qeqertarsuaq (Godhavn), and Akulliit (Mellemfjord), West Greenland.

The data presented on the following pages originate from automated meteorological stations which are being operated by the Arctic Station. The Arctic Station Board is acknowledged for their permission to make use of the data.

The main station is located in the immediate vicinity of the Arctic Station. The sensors provide output (every 30 minutes) of, e.g., the following parameters: wind velocity at 600 cm, windgust at 600 cm, air temperature (600 cm), relative humidity (600 cm), incoming SW radiation (200 cm), outgoing SW (200 cm), albedo, precipitation (200 cm), temperature of sediment (-5 cm), temp. of sediment (-60 cm), temp. of sediment (-175 cm), and temperature of rock (-300 cm).



Fig. 3. Temperature at 600 cm; daily mean values obtained from the Arctic Station climate station located in Qeqertarsuaq.



Fig. 4. Insolation (shortwave radiation daily means) at the Arctic Station climate station located in Qeqertarsuaq. A trend line is added.



Fig. 5. Wind velocity (600 cm); daily means at the Arctic Station climate station located in Qeqertarsuaq.

A second climate station is located in Akulliit (Mellemfjord) at 69°43.862' N and 54°31.403' W. Data from 10 sensors (wind speed, wind direction, air temperature (200 cm), ground temparature (2 cm), ground temperature (10 cm), relative humidity, incoming LW radiation, outgoing LW radiation, incoming SW radiation, outgoing SW radiation) are logged and stored with a time interval of 120 minutes.



**Fig. 6**. Incoming SW radiation  $(W/m^2)$  from 1 April to 31 August 1998. The trendline added indicates a reduction of approximately 25 % in incoming SW radiation during the investigation period (July).



**Fig.** 7. Air temperature at 200 cm above ground level from 1 April to 31 August 1998. The trendline added shows an overall change from -12°C (1 April) to approximately 7°C in early August. The temperature maximum period is early August.



Fig. 8. The temperature regime during the Mellemfjord camp period. Maximum and minimum temperatures recorded are ca. 16°C and ca. 1°C, respectively.



**Fig. 9**. Wind velocities at 200 cm from 10 July to 9 August 1998 (the Mellemfjord camp period). The maximum wind velocity is close to 10 m/s. Notice the extremely regular daily pattern. The minor tick marks represent days.



**Fig. 10**. A detailed analysis of wind velocity and wind direction during a one week period (18-25 July). The minor tick marks represent 2 hours intervals. The daily heating of the fiord area causes an upward expansion of the warm air masses (creating a daily thermal low pressure) and a compensating flow of air from the Davis Strait towards the bottom of the fiord. The maximum wind speeds occur at 2 p.m.

## Mycorrhizal symbioses in four plant communities in Greenland in relation to different soil factors

A summary of an investigation from Qeqertarsuaq, Disko, West Greenland, July 1998

Karina Clemmensen and Anja Hoff Hansen

Department of Plant Ecology, Botanical Institute, University of Copenhagen, Øster Farimagsgade 2D, DK-1353 Copenhagen K, Denmark

The vast majority of higher plants are associated symbiotically with one or more kinds of terrestrial fungi. These associations are named mycorrhiza ("fungi root"). The symbiosis is most often characterized as mutualistic (Allen 1991), because the fungus receives carbon from the plant which, in return, is supplied with nutrients and water (Allen 1991). The mycorrhizal symbiosis is often described as favourable, especially for plants in nutrient-stressed situations (Smith and Read 1997). Mycorrhiza may therefore be particularly beneficial for Arctic plants which are nutrient-stressed due to limited availability of nitrogen and phosphorus (Chapin *et al.* 1978, Schimel and Chapin 1996). Large amounts of organic matter are accumulated in Arctic regions; this is the result of cold, wet soil environments, short summers, slow organic matter decomposition, and low nutrient mineralization (Nadelhoffer *et al.* 1992).

In this study four different plant communities were investigated with regard to the abundance of mycorrhizal symbioses in relation to soil pH, extractable  $NH_4^+$ ,  $NO_3^-$  and  $PO_4^{3-}$ , total N and P, and soil organic matter. The four study sites were: 1) a snowbed, 2) a fell field, 3) and 4) two dwarf shrub heaths, one influenced by homothermic springs. An analysis of the coverage of plant species was carried out in six replicate plots in order to obtain a measure of the ecological significance of the different mycorrhizal types within the communities.

The dwarf shrub heaths were dominated by species in Ericales and the shrubs Salix glauca and Betula nana. However, their dominance differed between the two heath communities examined. Dominant species at the dwarf shrub heath influenced by homothermic springs ( $\pm$ SE): Salix glauca (46 $\pm$ 7% of the total coverage), Empetrum nigrum ssp. hermaphroditum (45 $\pm$ 9%), Equisetum arvense (28 $\pm$ 6%), and Vaccinium uliginosum (18 $\pm$ 6%). Dominant species at the second dwarf shrub heath examined: Vaccinium uliginosum (38 $\pm$ 5%), Empetrum nigrum ssp. hermaphroditum (31 $\pm$ 9%), Salix glauca (9 $\pm$ 2%), and Betula nana (7 $\pm$ 2%). The four most common snowbed species were: Salix herbacea (64 $\pm$ 11%), Equisetum arvense (23 $\pm$ 6%), Sibbaldia procumbens (17 $\pm$ 8%), and Polygonum viviparum (14 $\pm$ 5%). At the fell field the vegetation was divided into smaller islands, and the most common species within these were: Dryas integrifolia (11 $\pm$ 3%), Betula nana (8 $\pm$ 7%), Salix glauca  $(7\pm7\%)$ , and Saxifraga tricuspidata  $(4\pm4\%)$ . Graminoids and herbs were frequent only in the snowbed and at the dwarf shrub heath influenced by homothermic springs. The collection effort resulted in 295 root samples from 51 plant species. 99 root samples representing 21 plant species were not infected with mycorrhiza. The field work included 23 plant cover analyses. Soil parameters are available for 23 samples. Figure 1 illustrates the results of the plant cover analyses with the plant species grouped according to their mycorrhizal types. Table 1 highlights selected results from the soil analyses.

Figure 1 Plant cover analyses at the four sites; plant species grouped according to their mycorrhizal types. A: The total coverage in % of the soil surface. B: The relative coverage. The four letters (see legend) refer to the four sites. Sites with the same letter are not significantly different (Tukey's HSD test or Newman Keuls test with  $\alpha$ =0,05). \* The two dwarf shrub heaths were not significantly different, neither were the snowbed and the fell field. NON: plants without mycorrhiza. ARB: arbutoid, ERI: ericoid, AM: arbuscular and ECM: ectomycorrhizal plants.



Table 1 Selected results from soil analyses. Number of replicate plots (n), soil pH, soil organic matter (SOM), extractable  $NH_4^+$ , and relation between inorganic nitrogen ( $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3$ ) and inorganic phosphorus ( $PO_4^{-3}$ ). Means  $\pm$  SE. Means for each variable with the same letter are not significantly different (Tukey's HSD test or Newman-Keuls test with  $\alpha$ =0,05). \* The fell field and the snowbed are significantly different.

Sites	n	pH	Soil organic matter (SOM) (% of dry weight)	Ammonium (µg/g SOM)	Inorganic N /Inorganic P
Dwarf shrub heath	6	5,35 ± 0,08 b	34,59 ± 8,30 b	26,99 ± 2,68 b	5,37 ± 0,41 a
Dwarf shrub heath influenced by homothermic springs	6	5,42 ± 0,10 b	67,20 ± 2,61 a	108,25 ± 13,98 a	2,48 ± 0,45 a
Snowbed	6	5,65 ± 0,11 b	12,98 ± 1,24 c	105,26 ± 19,43 a	18,65 ± 2,91 b
Fell field	5	6,22 ± 0,08 a	7,67 ± 1,28 c	44,38 ± 6,46 b	6,31 ± 2,55 *

#### Mycorrhizal symbiosis

Based on plant root morphological structures we were able to distinguish four mycorrhizal types: arbuscular mycorrhiza, ericoid mycorrhiza, ektomycorrhiza, and arbutoid mycorrhiza. Arbuscular mycorrhiza predominates worldwide in communities with herbs and woody plants on less organic soils at low latitudes and altitudes where phosphorus is often limiting (Read 1991). Ericoid mycorrhiza dominates nutrient poor and washed out moor habitats at high altitudes and latitudes (Read 1991). Ektomycorrhiza dominates in woody ecosystems at intermediate latitudes and altitudes (Read 1991). Arbutoid mycorrhiza is only formed by a few species within Ericales and is, therefore, not widely distributed.

As expected the investigation showed that ericoid mycorrhiza dominated in plant communities on soils with high content of organic matter, presumably as a result of the ericoid mycorrhiza utilizing the large pools of organic bound nutrients (Smith and Read 1997).

Altogether we found 17 plant species infected with arbuscular mycorrhiza. Arbuscular mycorrhiza has until now never been found to be of any significance in arctic ecosystems. However, in this investigation arbuscular mycorrhiza was an important factor in the snowbed, impacting 26.3% of the relative plant coverage. Contrary to the three other communities examined the snowbed had limiting quantities of phosphorus (Table 1). This is based on the assumption that plants take up nitrogen and phosphorus approximately at a ratio of 10/1. Hence, it seems that also in Arctic ecosystems it is the capacity of arbuscular mycorrhiza to enhance the uptake of phosphorus which makes this mycorrhizal type especially advantageous in some habitats.

Plants with ectomycorrhiza were overall the most dominant functional group within the vegetation types examined. Ectomycorrhizal plants are, similar to those with ericoid mycorrhiza, able to utilize the organic nitrogen and phosphorous in the soil (Smith and Read 1997). In contrast to plants with ericoid mycorrhiza, those with ectomycorrhiza were also found in soils with low organic matter contents (Fig. 1, Table 1). We therefore conclude that plants with ectomycorrhiza generally grow in sites with more diverse soil conditions than plants which benefit from ericoid mycorrhiza.

According to Smith and Read (1997) it is the same fungal species that form both ectomycorrhiza and arbutoid mycorrhiza. Thus, it appears valid to assume that arbutoid mycorrhiza will have the same basic properties as ectomycorrhiza. Plants with arbutoid mycorrhiza were found in all four plant communities (except the snowbed) in soils with both low and high organic matter contents.

Many of the collected plant species were not colonized by mycorrhizal fungi (40-50% of the species at each site). However, the relative coverage of these plants was in general low (Fig. 1). Our investigation indicates that there is a positive correlation between the coverage of plants without mycorrhiza and the amount of inorganic N in the soil.

We have shown that the abundance of the different mycorrhizal types is dependent on soil nutrient availability and organic matter content of the soil. However, the distribution of plant and fungal species in the Arctic region also depends on a variety of other factors including snow conditions and physical parameters such as wind and water. The role of mycorrhiza in

relation to plant adaptation to Arctic conditions is complex. The large proportion and coverage of plants with mycorrhiza indicates that mycorrhizal symbioses play an important part in the functioning of Arctic ecosystems.

#### References

Allen MF (ed.) (1991) The ecology of mycorrhizae. Cambridge University Press.

Chapin FS III, Barsdate RS, Barel (1978) Phosphorous cycling in Alaskan coastal tundra: A hypothesis for the regulation of nutrient cycling. Oikos 31:189-199

Nadelhoffer KJ, Giblin AE, Shaver GR, Linkins AE (1992) Microbial Processes and plant nutrient availability in arctic soils. In: Chapin FS III, Jefferies RL, Reynolds JF, Shaver GR, Svoboda J (eds.) Arctic ecosystems in a changing climate. An ecophysiological perspective. Academic Press. San Diego. pp. 281-300

Read DJ (1991) Mycorrhizas in ecosystems. Experimenta 47:376-391

Schimel JP, Chapin FS III (1996) Tundra plant uptake of amino acid and NH4<sup>+</sup> nitrogen in situ: Plants compete well for amino acid N. Ecology 77:2142-2147 Smith SE, Read DJ (1997) *Mycorrhizal symbiosis*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. Academic Press, San Diego.

## An analysis of plant communities and environmental factors on Pjeturssons Moraine, Disko, West Greenland

Karen Dahl Jensen and Klaus Steenberg Larsen

#### Department of Plant Ecology, Botanical Institute, University of Copenhagen Øster Farimagsgade 2D, DK-1353 Copenhagen K, Denmark

#### Abstract

We have investigated patterned ground, in this paper referred to as sliding polygons, on Pjeturssons Moraine, Disko, Greenland. Nine sliding polygons were examined using an expanded Raunkiaer analysis. A pinpoint analysis was carried out on six sliding polygons. Using plant coverage in the centre zones as a discriminating factor, all polygons were subjectively referred to one of three different levels of stability. The stable border zones of the sliding polygons very much resembled the surrounding Cassiope heath, while pioneer plants with a low degree of coverage dominated the unstable centre zones. Chemical and biotic factors were significantly different when comparing the centre and border zones of the sliding polygons. In particular the centre zones showed significant differences when comparing the different stability levels. The concentration of nutrients was higher in the stable border zones. Jonasson and Skold (1983) found completely different nutrient gradients in Swedish polygons (Kamasjaure). General environmental differences between the two localities, such as type of bed rock, presence or absence of permafrost and different levels of nutrient leaching might explain the contrasting results. We suggest that plant community differences associated with the three levels of stability are caused primarily by physical processes. The upwelling of soil appears to be the single most important factor controlling plant succession. The plant cover has secondarily changed the chemical environment and soil structure.

#### Introduction

Despite the fact that large areas in Arctic regions are exposed to soil movement and unstability caused by frost action, the investigation of plant growth controlling mechanisms in these habitats has been sparse. To our knowledge there has been no research on unstable soil in permafrost areas in Greenland since Raup (1969) investigated plant communities on polygon soil in Mestersvig, East Greenland.

More recently polygon soil has been thoroughly examined at low Arctic, northern Swedish localities (Abisko and Kamasjaure) characterized by the absence of a permafrost layer (Jonasson and Sköld 1983, Jonasson 1986, Jonasson and Callaghan 1992). The presence or absence of permafrost is likely to be an important factor behind the creation of polygon structures and the chemical properties of these.

'Patterned ground' is often used as a collective name for all sorts of soil structures caused by frost action. The patterns are usually polygonal or circular and therefore referred to as 'polygon soil' or 'soil circles' (Washburn 1956). Each polygon, with a



diameter ranging from centimeters to several meters, most often has a slightly elevated middle section with little or no vegetation, surrounded by a more vegetated border.

Fig. 1. The circular arrows indicate the water flow according to the free convection theory. From Jonasson & Callaghan (1992).

The polygon or circle is either *sorted* or *nonsorted* (Washburn 1956). In the centre of sorted polygons the soil is composed of small particles (clay and silt), while the border region consists of larger particles, sometimes including large stones (Fig. 1). In nonsorted circles the clay and silt content of both centre and border is high and there is no visible difference in mean soil particle size.

The creation of soil polygons is still a controversial subject. Washburn (1956) discussed several likely scenarios and Kranz *et al.* (1988) concluded that *free convection*, which is circulation of soil water caused by freeze-thaw transitions (Fig. 1), and *kryostatic pressure*, which develops in fluid water between the permafrost and the freezing upper part of the active layer at the beginning of a freezing period, are the most likely physical phenomena causing frost heaving and the subsequent creation of patterned ground.

The slope of the study area is a factor which effects the shape of the polygons. The slope causes the soil to slide downwards due to insufficient adhesion between the active layer and the permafrost (referred to as *sliding soil* by Danks 1981 and *gelifluction* by Washburn 1967). Polygons become elongate in the process giving them an oval outline. Sliding sometimes results in overlapping of neighbouring polygons.

#### Material and methods



**Fig. 2.** Map of the Qeqertarsuaq area on Disko. The black oval shows the area of the investigation on Pjeturssons Moraine.

**Study area**. Pjeturssons Moraine (69°16′5′′N, 53°28′5′′W; 2 km from the coast in the valley Blæsedalen, 3 km northeast of Qeqertarsuaq, Disko, Greenland; Fig 2), is an end moraine deposited during the retrieval of the ice cap towards the end of the last ice age. It is 1400 m long, 500 m wide and 50 m high (Humlum 1978) and covered by regular polygons on level ground and sliding polygons on the faces sloping 2 - 10°. The study area was limited to nonsorted sliding polygons on the south face of the Moraine. The fine-grained basaltic bedrock in the area is of magmatic origin with a high content of oxygenated silicium, iron, magnesium and calcium (Gass *et al.* 1972).

In Blæsedalen the plant cover comprises different types of heath vegetation (Böcher 1959): (a) areas with dry soil and little snow cover dominated by pioneer plants such as *Carex rupestris* and *Vaccinium uliginosum*, (b) more wet areas with heavier snow cover which display different types of dwarf heath vegetation including *Empetrum nigrum*, *Betula nana* and *Salix glauca*, and (c) snowbeds dominated by *Salix herbacea* and herbs like *Sibbaldia procumbens*. *Cassiope* heath dominates in gelifluction areas (Böcher 1959).

The Qeqertarsuaq annual mean temperature (1961-1990) is  $\div 3,9^{\circ}$  C (Nielsen *et al.* 1997). The annual precipitation in southern Disko was 400-500 mm during the same period (Bernes 1996). Data from 1991-1997 indicate that spring thaw of the active layer begins in early June, sometimes even earlier. Autumn frost commences during September or early October (Nielsen *et al.* 1997).

*Fieldwork*. All polygons were assigned to one out of three levels of stability that were subjectively defined based on the amount of vegetation. A similar procedure of subjective estimation of stability has been used before, and is accepted as a fast and simple way to obtain a qualitative estimate of frostheaving activity (Jonasson 1986). Level 1 represents the least stable soil with considerable frostheaving and almost no vegetation in the centre (polygon nos. 1, 2, and 4). Level 2 represents medium stable soil with less pronounced frostheaving and some vegetation in the centre (polygon nos. 3, 5, and 6). The most stable soils with hardly any visible frostheaving and polygon centres that are almost as vegetated as the borders (polygon nos. 7, 8, and 9) are referred to level 3.

The border (b1-b9) and centre zones (c1-c9) of the nine sliding polygons were examined using an extended Raunkiaer analysis (Böcher and Bentzon 1958) with 10 Raunkiaer-circles in each zone. All vascular plants and eight of the most dominating lichens were included in this analysis. Because small bryophyte species are very difficult to distinguish while sampling, and also due to time constraints during the field work, the bryophytes and non-dominating lichen species were not included in this analysis. The depth of the permafrost layer was measured at different positions within the sliding polygon. See Jensen & Larsen (1999) for further details. Six soil samples, each with a volume of 196,3 cm<sup>3</sup>, and three samples of above ground biomass (each from a 10 x 10 cm area) were collected from border and centre zones of all polygons.

Laboratory work. All samples were kept in plastic bags while being transported to the Arctic Station laboratory. Here they were all weighed and dried at 105°C for 24 hours in order to initially determine the water content. Half of the dried soil samples from each zone were stored in plastic bags with a minimum of air at  $+18^{\circ}$ C and shipped to Copenhagen. Two months later the samples were defrosted and sieved through a 2-mm screen in preparation for measurements of soil parameters: pH, conductance, extractable Mg, Ca and K and concentration of NH4-N. A 1:5 suspension of soil and distilled water (10 g dry soil, 50 ml water) was shaken for two hours and filtered. Subsamples of the supernatant were used for conductance and pH measurements. LaCl3 was added to the remaineder of the supernatant in a 10:1 ratio (supernatant: LaCl<sub>3</sub>). Several dilution series were made from this solution, and the concentrations of extractable Mg, Ca and K were measured using an Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer (AAS, Perkin-Elmer GmbH). Ten grams of the dry, sieved soil from each sample were mixed with 50 ml 0,5M K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and filtered. The supernatant was used to measure the concentration of extractable NH<sub>4</sub>-N in a spectrophotometer (Hitachi AS-3000). Pore volume, bulk density, amount of organic matter, and concentration of extractable PO<sub>4</sub>-P were also measured (see details in Jensen & Larsen 1999 for further details).

**Pinpoint analysis.** A pinpoint analysis of both centre and border was made on six sliding polygons (level 1: polygon # T1, T3, and T4 and level 2: polygon # T2, T5, and T6). Each sliding polygon was crossed by six parallel lines 30 or 50 cm apart. A stick was inserted vertically at 5-cm intervals into the vegetation. Vascular plant species and dominating lichens were noted when touching the stick. At the same time the location of each stick-point on the sliding polygon was noted.

*Temperature monitoring*. The temperature was measured continuously (6- or 10minute intervals) for approximately one week at eight points distributed within two

sliding polygons. For further information on these measurements, see Jensen & Larsen (1999).

*Statistics.* A Principal Component Analysis (PCA) of floristic data and a Pearson and Kendall's correlation test between chemical/biotic factors and the ordination were made using the programme PC-ORD. The r-values (from the parametric test which assumes normally distributed data) were used in all comparisons although not all data were normally distributed. The software SigmaStat was used to perform the non-parametric test Spearman Rank Correlation between chemical and biotic factors. This test does not assume normally distributed data. Differences between centre and border zones were tested using One Way ANOVA in SigmaStat. Centre and border zones were then tested individually for differences between the three levels of stability. A Kruskal-Wallis One Way ANOVA on Ranks was performed in cases where data could not be transformed into normal distributions.

#### Results

Vascular plant and lichen composition on the polygons. Twenty-nine vascular plant species and eight lichens were recorded from the 18 zones studied (nine sliding polygons) as part of the Raunkiaer analysis (Table 1). Five additional vascular plant species were found in the area (Table 1). Equisetum arvense and Polygonum viviparum were found in all 18 zones. The most frequent species in the polygon centre is Equisetum arvense with the highest score in six out of nine zones. However, it is generally very evenly distributed in sliding polygons, with a slight preference only for the centre zones. Polygonum vivparum seems to appear most frequently in medium stable centre zones (3, 5 and 6) and less frequently in border zones. Cassiope tetragona is dominant on the borders where it has the highest score in six out of nine zones.

Several species have a characteristic distribution. *Minuartia rubella* and *Koenigia islandica* are thus predominantly growing in the centres of the least stable sliding polygons. The latter species was not found in sliding polygon # 1, 2, and 3, problaly due to the late germination of this species and because # 1, 2, and 3 were analyzed during the first days of the field work. Other species, e.g., *Pyrola grandiflora* and *Poa arctica,* are most frequent on the more stable areas (c7, c8, c9 and b1-9). *Stereocaulon alpinum* and *Peltigera aphthosa* are the most frequent lichen species. They were found in 17 and 15 zones, respectively. *Cladonia stricta* is almost only found in medium stable and most stable centre zones (c3, c5-9). Scores for *Cladonia borealis* do not suggest any distributional difference between the centre and the border of a polygon.

**Ordination.** The PCA-ordination of the 18 zones is shown in Fig. 3. There are three distinct groups: (a) the polygon centres from stability level 1, (b) the polygon centres from stability level 2 and (c) all border zones. The polygon centres from stability level 3 are more scattered and not clearly grouped in the diagram. Zone c9 is particularly different and mixes with the border zones. The first axis clearly describes a gradient from 'most unstable' (c1-c6) through the 'more stable' (c7 and c8) to the 'most stable' (the borders). The difference between the sliding polygon centres stability level 1 (c1, c2, c4) and stability level 2 (c3, c5, c6) appears on the second axis. On this axis, the most stable centre zones and the borders are at the same level.

Polygon no.:	1	2	4	3	5	6	7	8	9	1	2	4	3	5	6	7	8	9
center (c) / border (b):	с	с	с	с	с	с	с	c	с	b	b	b	b	b	Ь	b	b	b
Level of stability:	1	1	1	2	2	2	3	3	3	1	1	1	2	2	2	3	3	3
Species (Bold = lichens):																4		
Cerastium arcticum	2	2	5	1	4	4	6	3		1	4	5	1				3	1
Dryas integrifolia	1	1	4	8	1	14	4	1		9	7	12	3	1	9		-1	
Empetrum nigrum	2	1		1			10	_		10	12	22	14	10	7	10		21
Equisetum arvense	15	13	14	23	24	21	25	20	16	9	16	17	16	18	21	13	13	19
Festuca hyperborea	12	11	7	2	6	3	1			2		2	3	3	1			
Minuartia rubella	1		7		6	1	4										1	
Polygonum viviparum	1	4	11	20	26	22	10	14	10	5	8	10	9	2	6	3	4	4
Vaccinium uliginosum	3			5	3	1	10	4	14	17	17	22	20	5	17	11	13	18
Stereocaulon alpinum		2	2	9	8	22	19	17	7	7	5	5	9	10	18	1	6	16
Psoroma hypnorum		1				2	3		******	1								-1
Cladonia borealis		1	2	·····	12	12	2	5				3		11	1	1		1
Poa arctica		1		3			6	3	12	7	12	6	5	4	8	11	6	8
Salix glauca		6	2	14	7	15	11	14	14	11	17	16	23	13	19	16	18	15
Stellaria monantha		1			1	1	1		5		9	8	9	5	5	5	5	13
Trisetum spicatum		2	3				1				-			-				
Koenigia islandica			9		9	3												$\neg$
Juncus biglumis			2	9	10	5			2		1							1
Peltigera aphthosa			5		5	9	7	3	7	12	9	7	13	3	5	3	3	2
Pedicularis hirsuta			1		4	6	1	4	4			2	2	1	1		3	
Saxifraga cernua			1												_			
Silene acaulis			1															
Cassiope tetragona			1	4	15	13	11	6	26	19	24	17	22	23	21	21	16	21
Luzula confusa				1		3				2		4	2					2
Luzula arctica				5	2	1	5	3	9		4	1	3	2		2		1
Carex bigelowii				5	9	1		15					3	5	2		3	1
Juncus triglumis				1														
Cladonia stricta				15	13	8	3	4	1					4				
Pedicularis flammae				1														-1
Tofieldia pulsilla				2					-				2					
Salix herbacea					9		12	22								1	10	
Flavocetraria nivalis						3				1		2		3	1			1
Pyrola grandiflora						1	11		14	17	16	15	18	12	7	10	2	15
Peltigera rufescens						1					1			3				
Cetraria islandica						2		1	1						1			
Betula nana						_	3	-							-			
Poa alpina							1				*****						3	1
Saxifraga caespitosa												1			┝──┥			$\dashv$
Total number of species:	8	13	17	19	20	25	24	17	15	16	16	19	19	20	18	14	16	19
Excl. lichens:	8	10	14	17	16	17	19	12	13	12	13	16	17	14	13	11	14	15

 Table 1. Species list arranged according to a subjective evaluation of stability (1-3 / unstable - stable)

 Numbers refer to scores from the expanded Raunkiaer analysis (max. 30 when found in the inner circle of all 10 Raunkiaer circles).

Additional species found in the area outside the Raunkiaer circles:

Eriophorum scheuchzeri

Huperzia selago

Ranunculus sp.

Salix arctica

Saxifraga tricuspidata



**Fig. 3**. The PCA ordination clearly indicates that the plant communities depend on the level of stability. The most unstable centre zones are grouped in the upper left, the semi-stable centre zones in the lower left and all border zones are grouped in the middle right. The most stable centre zones are less grouped although in the middle of the figure.

**Table 2.** Pearson correlations with ordination axes, N=18, d.f.=17. **Bold**=significantly (P < 0,01) correlated with axis. *Italic*=significantly (P < 0,05) correlated with axis.

Axis:	1	2	3
	r	r	r
Number of species	-0,025	-0,623	0,222
Wet weight	-0,722	-0,1	0,16
Water%	0,347	-0,029	-0,174
Ca ppm	0,569	0,217	-0,216
Mg ppm	0,581	0,179	-0,165
K ppm	0,595	0,068	-0,195
μg NH4-N	0,528	0,062	-0,243
Conductance µS	0,542	0,204	-0,215
pH	-0,448	0,627	0,168
Biomass g/m2	0,684	-0,285	0,058

Table 3. Spearman Rank Order Correlation between physical/chemical factors. The test was performed in SigmaStat. The numbers are coefficients of correlation (r-values). P values are shown in brackets. Bold = positive correlation, Italic = negative correlation and regular = no correlation.

	Water %	Ca	Mg	K
Wet weight	-0,69(0,00)	-0,51(0,00)	-0,53(0,00)	-0,53(0,00)
Water %	-	0,431(0,002)	0,49(0,00)	0,51(0,00)
Са	-	-	0,97(0,00)	0,80(0,00)
Mg	-	-	-	0,85(0,00)
K	-	-	-	-
N	-	-	-	-
Conductance	-	-	-	-
pH	-	-	-	-
Biom. g/m2	-	-	-	-

	N	Conductance	pH	Biom. g/m2
Wet weight	-0,376(0,006)	-0,49(0,00)	0,165(0,247)	-0,40(0,003)
Water %	0,57(0,00)	0,50(0,00)	-0,364(0,009)	0,476(0,00)
Ca	0,82(0,00)	0,93(0,00)	-0,46(0,00)	0,365(0,009)
Mg	0,862(0,00)	0,94(0,00)	-0,50(0,00)	0,484(0,00)
K	0,773(0,00)	0,859(0,00)	-0,292(0,038)	0,544(0,00)
N	-	0,892(0,00)	-0,49(0,00)	0,434(0,001)
Conductance	-	0,833(0,00)	-0,416(0,003)	0,522(0,00)
pH	-	-	-0,415(0,003)	0,403(0,004)
Biom. g/m2	-	-	-	-0,198(0,163)

Table 4. One Way ANOVA test for differences between the three levels of stability in the center zones (c) and boarder zones (b) respectively. (-) means that there was no significant differences or that transformationwas not necessary.

	W. weight (c)	Water % (c)	Ca (c)	Mg (c)	K (c)	N (c)
Mult. comparison test	-	Tukey	-	Tukey	Tukey	Tukey
Transformation	-	Log10	-	-	Log10	-
P-value	0,674	0,038	0,156	0,012	0,014	<0,001
Stab 1 and 2 sign. diff.	-	no	-	no	no	no
Stab 1 and 3 sign. diff.	-	yes	-	yes	yes	yes
Stab 2 and 3 sign. diff.	-	no	-	yes	yes	yes

	Conduct. (c)	pH (c)	Biomass (c)	W. weight (b)	Water % (b)	Ca (b)
Mult. comparison test	StNKeul	Tukey	Tukey	-	-	-
Transformation	-	-	-	Log10	-	-
P-value	0,043	<0,001	<0,001	0,054	0,06	0,093
Stab 1 and 2 sign. diff.	no	yes	yes	-	-	-
Stab 1 and 3 sign. diff.	no	yes	yes	-	-	-
Stab 2 and 3 sign. diff.	yes	no	no	-	-	

	Mg (b)	K (b)	N (b)	Conduct. (b)	pH (b)	Biomass (b)
Mult. comparison test	-	-	Tukey	-	-	-
Transformation	-	-	-	-	-	-
P-value	0,133	0,289	0,014	0,086	0,909	0,936
Stab 1 and 2 sign. diff.	-	-	no	-	-	-
Stab 1 and 3 sign. diff.	-	-	no	-	-	-
Stab 2 and 3 sign. diff.	-	-	yes	- 1	-	-

The correlation test between the PCA-ordination and the chemical/biotic factors (Table 2) shows that the wet weight of the soil, the concentration of Mg and K, and the above ground biomass are all correlated with the first axis (P<0.01). The concentration of Ca and N and conductance are also correlated with the first axis (P<0.05). The number of species and pH are the only factors correlated with the second axis (P<0.01). No variables were correlated with the third axis. There is a very strong intercorrelation between the tested chemical/biotic factors (Table 3). pH is the only variable which in some cases (wet weight of the soil and above ground biomass) is not intercorrelated with other factors. The nutrients Mg, Ca, K, and N have a strong positive intercorrelation (0,773<r<0,97) which is, not surprisingly, also reflected in the high positive correlated with all these factors (|-0,292|<r<|-0,50|), while the above ground biomass is positively correlated with these (0,365<r<0,544).

**Comparison of stability levels** – centre and border zones. A +/-1 Standard Error (S.E.) is included in Figs. 4-12. The results from the One Way ANOVA are included in Table 4. In the field there was a visible difference between soil samples from the centres and the borders of the sliding polygons. The soil from the centres was heavy and clayey with almost no humus, while the samples from the border zones were light and crumbly with a lot of humus and dead organic matter. The wet weight of the soil is higher in centre samples (58%) than in border samples (Fig. 4). The difference between the centres and the borders is further emphasized by the fact that all chemical/biotic factors are significantly different (0,002  $\geq$  P) in the two zones. However, the differences between the three stability levels were often not significant. This is e.g. the case for the wet weight of the soil (Fig. 4, Table 4).

Nutrients (Mg, Ca, K, and N, Figs. 5 - 8) have higher concentrations in border zones, with a small tendency to increased concentrations for stability level 3. A deviation from this pattern is the concentration of K (Fig. 7) in c7, 8, and 9. These zones have a higher concentration (17%) than b7, 8, and 9. However, this result should be interpreted with caution since the mean value of c7, 8, and 9 has a very large standard error. Calcium shows, unlike the other nutrients, no significant differences in concentration between stability levels in the centre zones (Fig. 5). Concentrations of Mg, K, and N in stability level 3 centre zones are significantly higher than at stability levels 1 and 2. In the border zones there is a general tendency towards lower nutrient concentrations at stability level 2 (b3, 5, 6). However, this is significant only for N (stability level 2 and 3, P=0,014). Conductance (Fig. 9) shows a similar pattern, which could be expected from the high positive correlation between conductance and nutrient concentrations (Table 3). The pH values range from 5.5 to 6.3 and are significantly higher (7%) in the centres than in the border zones (Fig. 10). The centre zones of stability level 1 have a pronouncedly higher pH (6.3) than other zones (5.5 and 5.6). Table 4 additionally shows that c1, 2, and 4 are significantly different from c3, 5, and 6 and c7, 8, and 9, while no border samples are significantly different.













the centre zones (Fig.11). Since the above ground biomass was used as an indicator of stability level, the mean value is not surprisingly very low in c1,2,4 (116 g/m<sup>2</sup>) and The above ground biomass is significantly higher (107%) for the border zones than for confirmed by the statistics, since the centre zones for stability level 2 and 3 are not zones there are no significant differences between the three stability levels which all have mean values between  $2647 \text{ g/m}^2$  and  $3148 \text{ g/m}^2$ . The water content (as percentage of dry weight, see Fig. 12) in the centre zones is significantly lower (31%) than in the border zones. In the centre zones the stability levels 1 and 3 are significantly different, while none of the stability levels in the border zones are different (Table 4). not completely significantly different. The tendency is still very prominent in Fig. 11. In the border however, This is, stability level in the centre zones, increases with

The lines in each figure represent inner edge of border, center of border, and outer edge of border, respectively. An X indicates a hit for the species in question.





Fig. 17 Polygonum viviparum, T2





Fig. 16 Empetrum nigrum, T5



Fig. 18 Polygonum viviparum, T4



The lines in each figure represent inner edge of border, center of border, and outer edge of border, respectively. An X indicates a hit for the species in question.



**Pinpoint data.** Selected vascular plant species illustrate (Figs. 13-24) different distributional patterns within sliding polygons of stability level 1 (T1, T2, T4) and 2 (T3, T5, T6). *Cassiope tetragona* (Figs. 13-14) is very dominant on the borders while it is not found in the unstable centre zones. *Empetrum nigrum* (Figs. 15-16) also finds the best conditions of growth on the border zones. With an increased stability, as in T5, it can be found growing in the centre of the sliding polygons. A border zone preference is also evident for *Pyrola grandiflora* (Fig. 23) and *Poa arctica* (Fig. 24). *Equisetum arvense* (Figs. 19-20) is widespread in sliding polygons (both centres and borders) and its growth does not seem to be influenced by unstability. Few species have a special preference for the unstable centres of the sliding polygons. *Festuca hyperborea* (Figs. 21-22) and *Polygonum viviparum* (Figs. 17-18) grow with higher frequencies in polygon centres compared to borders.

#### Discussion

Vegetation. In a previous analysis of Cassiope tetragona heaths and related communities in Blæsedalen, Böcher (1959) found 28 vascular plant species and 17 lichen species. Nineteen vascular plant species and five lichens are recorded in both analyses. The number of species in common with the Cassiope heath investigated by Böcher (1959) is relatively low. However, we only examined sliding polygons on Pjeturssons Moraine, which is not representative for the entire valley. The dominant species of the border zones, i.e., Empetrum nigrum, Equisetum arvense, Salix glauca, and Cassiope tetragona, are all dominants in the Cassiope heath. Species mainly growing in centre zones, i.e., Festuca hyperborea, Koenigia islandica, Minuartia rubella, and Juncus biglumis, were not found by Böcher (1959). All four species grow in moist and sandy or sandy-loam soil and *Festuca hyperborea* and *Koenigia islandica* are widespread on sliding soil (Böcher et al. 1978). The pinpoint data support the results from the Raunkiaer analysis. Cassiope tetragona and Empetrum nigrum are widespread in the border zones (Figs. 13-14 and 15-16). Less dominant species, i.e., Pyrola grandiflora and Poa arctica (Figs. 23-24), are also found mainly in the border zones, and Equisetum arvense has an almost equal distribution between centre and border zones (Figs. 19-20). Polygonum viviparum and Festuca hyperborea are found mainly in the centre zones. In general, the border zones were all dominated by the same species (dwarf shrubs and mosses) and showed no differences when comparing the different levels of stability. Therefore they appear rather similar and this is further confirmed by the lack of significant differences in above ground biomass (Fig. 11, Table 4) between different levels of stability.

*The chemical/biotic environment.* Significant differences between centre and border zones for several measured variables clearly emphasize that they do represent two very different habitats. The centres of the very unstable sliding polygons consist of almost raw mineral soil without humus, while the border zones have a large amount of dead organic material in the soil. A comparison between the border zones of Pjeturssons Moraine polygons and a heath area in Kamasjaure should be carried out with caution. However, since the plant community of the border zones has been classified as *Cassiope* heath earlier in this paper, the comparison seems justifiable.

All nutrients were present in higher concentrations in border zones (Figs. 5 - 8). Jonasson and Skjöld (1983) found in Kamasjaure, Sweden, that nutrient concentrations

were higher in the centre zones. The calcium concentration in the centres of the unstable polygons was tenfold higher in Kamasjaure (about 694 ppm) than in the centre zones of Pjeturssons Moraine polygons (77 ppm). The border zones on Pjeturssons Moraine has a mean calcium concentration of 163 ppm, whereas Jonasson and Skjöld (1983) found approximately 38 ppm in stable heath areas near the polygon sites.

Similar differences between the two areas were found for magnesium and potassium. In Kamasjaure the concentrations in the centre zones were 121 and 69,3 ppm, respectively, and in the heath area 16 and 22,1 ppm, respectively. On Pjeturssons Moraine the concentrations generally were lower and the higher concentrations were measured in the border zones (77,9 and 18,2 ppm, respectively, in the borders and 30,1 and 10,3 ppm, respectively, in the centres / Figs 6 and 7). When comparing the two Arctic localities, some fundamental differences have to be considered. In Kamasjaure the bedrock consists of acidic granite whereas the bedrock of Pjeturssons Moraine consists of basalt which is basic (Gass et al. 1972). Therefore, the mineralogy and pH of the two localities may differ to some extent. Another important difference is that permafrost is only present at Pjeturssons Moraine. However, even when these differences are taken into consideration it is remarkable that the nutrient concentrations are opposite at the two locations. The nitrogen concentration exhibits a similar pattern as the other nutrients (Fig 8). Nitrogen was not measured by Jonasson and Skjöld (1983) in Kamasjaure, but Hansen and Clemmesen (1999) found 10,2 µg NH<sub>4</sub>-N/g dry soil on a heath area in Blæsedalen, which is about the same as for the centre zones on Pjeturssons Moraine. Higher concentrations were found in the border zones (18,6 µg NH<sub>4</sub>-N/g dry soil).

As for Kamasjaure (Jonasson and Skjöld 1983) the mean pH was higher in the centre zones (highest in c1, 2, 4, Fig 10). The difference in pH is more pronounced with mean value of 7,2 in the centres and 5,5 on the Kamasjaure heath, and 5,8 in the centres and 5,5 in the borders on Pjeturssons Moraine. On a heath location in the outer part of Blæsedalen pH was 5,4 (Böcher 1959, Hansen and Clemmesen 1999). This further supports the classification of the border zones as heath and shows the generally low level of pH. It is surprising that the pH is lower in the unstable zones on Pjeturssons Moraine than at Kamasjaure because the bedrock in Kamasjaure is acidic. Therefore pH should be lower than for the basic basalt bedrock on Pjeturssons Moraine.

Jonasson and Sköld (1983) explain the high pH and high nutrient concentrations in the most unstable zones in Kamasjaure by the great mixing of soils and enhanced weathering of the upheaved raw soil. This is not the case for Pjeturssons Moraine, since the nutrient levels are lower in the unstable zones and therefore positively correlated with stability. Enhanced weathering of the upheaved raw soil most likely also occurs in the sliding polygons on Pjeturssons Moraine, but the permafrost layer may have a reducing effect on the depth and the effectiveness of the mixing and weathering of the soil, thereby reducing the amount of minerals released.

We suggest that the difference between the results of the two studies may be caused by a greater leaching on Pjeturssons Moraine. Even though the amount of precipitation is about the same in the two areas (Jonasson and Skjöld (1983) report 450 mm as a mean yearly value for Kamasjaure), the active layer is not as deep at Pjeturssons Moraine as in Kamasjaure. This means that the leaching on Pjeturssons Moraine would be stronger, in spite of the same amount of precipitation. The down hill slope and the impervious permafrost layer will cause the water to stream downwards and the leached nutrients could then be partly absorbed by the vegetation of the border zones. This would explain the high nutrient concentration in the border zones and the opposite nutrient pattern on Pjeturssons Moraine compared to Kamasjaure. This theory is supported by the presence of rich snow beds with many herbs at the southern border of the moraine. The findings discussed above emphasize the great variations in patterned ground and clearly show that differences between stable and unstable zones cannot be explained by single factors.

*Vegetation changes the chemical/biotic environment*. Our results indicate that the difference between the centre and the border zones basically is caused by the difference in stability. All factors (except pH and water content) are highly correlated (Table 3) and they all explain the first axis in the ordination (Table 2) which exactly describes the gradient in stability (Fig. 3). We conclude that the gradient of stability controls which plant species are able to grow on polygon centres and borders. Through time the plants have changed the soil environment by accumulating humus and biomass. This accumulation has been most intensive in the more stable areas where the vegetation is dense and almost nonexistent in the most unstable zones which have only scattered vegetation. The combined action of leaching and vegetation could explain the higher concentrations of extractable nutrients in the border zones of the sliding polygons of Pjeturssons Moraine.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank Reinhardt Møbjerg Christensen, Henning Heide-Jørgensen and Helge Abildhauge Thomsen for supervision during the project, A. Malgorzata (Gosha), Karna Heinsen and Espen Vedel Nielsen for technical assistance in the laboratory, Eric Steen Hansen for assistance with identification of lichens and finally Henning Adsersen and Anders Michelsen for assisting with the statistical work.

#### References

Bernes C. 1996. The Nordic arctic environment – unspoiled, exsploited, polluted?, Nordisk ministerråd, Nord 1996:26.

- Böcher T. W. 1959. Floristic and Ecological studies in middle west Greenland, Meddelelser om Grønland 156 (5) Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Böcher T. W. & Bentzon M. W. 1958. Density determination in plant communities, Oikos 9: 35-56.
- Böcher T. W., Fredskild B., Holmen K., & Jakobsen K. 1978. Grønlands Flora, 3. ed., P. Haase & Søns Forlag, København, Danmark.
- Clemmensen K. & Hansen A. H. 1999. Mykorrhizasymbioser i fire grønlandske plantesamfund i relation til forskellige jordbundsfaktorer. In: Arktisk Biologisk Feltkursus 1998 (H. A. Thomsen, ed.). Botanisk Institut, Univ. of Copenhagen.
- Crawlay M. J. (ed.) 1997. Plant Ecology, 2. ed., University Press Blacwell Science, Cambridge, England, 344pp.
- Danks H. V. 1981. Features of the Northlands, Part 1, extract from book Arctic Arthropods a review of systematics and ecology with particular reference to the North American Fauna. Published by the Entomological Society of Canada, Ottawa. 608pp.

- Gass I. G., Smith P. J. & Wilson R. C. L. (eds.) 1972. Understanding the Earth, 2. ed., Artemis Press, Cambridgeshire, England, 55pp.
- Hansen K. 1973. Microthermic observations in arctic vegetation. Meddelelser om Grønland 194(6) Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Heide-Jørgensen H. S. & Johnsen I. 1997. Ecosystem Vulnerability to Climat Change in Greenland and the Faroe Islands. Working Report from Danish Environmental protection Agency. No. 97 to the Ministry of Environment and Energy, Denmark. Copenhagen University.
- Humlum O. 1978. Godhavns Geomorfologi, Geografforlaget, Skive Folkeblads bogtrykkeri, Denmark, pp. 218 225.
- Jensen K.D. & Larsen K.S. 1998. Analyse af plantesamfund og plantefordelende faktorer på polygonjord på Pjeturssons Moræne, Disko, Grønland. In: Arktisk Biologisk Feltkursus 1998 (H. A. Thomsen, ed.). Botanisk Institut, Univ. of Copenhagen.
- Jonasson S. 1986. Influence of frost heaving on soil chemistry and on the distribution of plant growth forms. Geografiska Annaler, Series A, Physical Geography 68A(3): 185-195.
- Jonasson S. & Callaghan T. V. 1992. Root Mechanical properties related to disturbed and stressed habitats in the Arctic. The New Phytologist 122: 179 186.
- Jonasson S. & Sköld S. E. 1983. Influences of frost-heaving on vegetation and nurient regime of polygon-patterned groun. Vegetatio 53: 97 112.
- Kent M. & Coker P. 1992. Vegetation Description and Analysis, a practical Approach, Belhaven Press, 1. ed. London, England.
- Krantz W. B. Gleason K. J. & Caine N. 1988. Patterned Ground A common physical phenomenon shapes these uncommon manifestations of natural geometry. Scientific American, december, pp. 44-50.
- Lide D. R. (ed.) 1993 1994. Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, Student edition, 74. ed. CRC- Press, USA.
- Nielsen N., Hansen B.U., Humlum O. & Rasch M. 1995. Meteorological Observations at Arctic Station, Qeqertarsuaq (Godhavn), Central West Greenland. Geografisk Tidskrift 96: 97-104.
- Nielsen N., Humlum O. & Hansen B. U. 1997. Meteorological Observations 1997 at the Arctic Station, Qeqertarsuaq (69°15'N), Central West Greenland. Danish Journal of Geography 98: 1-3.
- Raup H. M. 1969. The relation of the vascular flora to some factors of site in the Mesters Vig district, Northeast Greenland. Meddelelser om Grønland 176(5).
- Raven P. H. Evert R. F. & Eichorn S. E. 1992. Biology of Plants, 5. ed., Worth Publishers, New York, USA, 338 pp..
- Washburn A. L., 1956. Classification of patterned Ground and review of suggested origins, Bull. Geol.soc.am. 67(7), New Yourk, USA, pp. 823-865.
- Washburn A. L. 1967. Instrumental observations of mass-wasting in the Mesters Vig District, Northeast Greenland. Meddelelser om Grønland 166(4).

#### Puilassoq, the warmest homothermal spring of Disko Island

Henning S. Heide-Jørgensen<sup>1</sup> and Reinhardt Møbjerg Kristensen<sup>2</sup>

University of Copenhagen <sup>1</sup>Botanical Inst., Department of Ecology, Øster Farimagsgade 2D, 1353 Copenhagen K <sup>2</sup>Zoological Museum, Universitetsparken 15, 2100 Copenhagen Ø.

#### Abstract

Only a few notes about the abiotic factors, flora and fauna have been published on the warmest spring of Disko, Puilassoq in Mellemfjord/Akugdlit. The spring was first described by Steenstrup in 1900, but has since been visited several times by biologists, most recently by the Danish-German Excursion 1998. The chemistry of the water, and the flora and fauna of the spring are here described for the first time. The spring consists of six outflows located on a nearly 2 m high dome, the warmest outflow being about  $18^{\circ}$ C. pH is 10.0-10.8 and conductivity 100 mho or less. About 60 species of vascular plants are present within a distance of 2 m from the never freezing water, a high number for a plant community at this northern latitude. The richness of the species is considered related to raised soil temperature, increased mineralization and decomposition, and a prolonged growing season caused by the activity of the spring. The fauna includes many species of Rotifera, 21 species of Tardigrada, four species of Oligochaeta, two species of Trichoptera, Arachnida, the beetle *Hydroporus morio*, and the fly *Scatella thermarum*.

#### Introduction

At least a thousand springs occur on the island of Disko and more than 50 springs have a Greenlandic name. The springs have greatly influenced the daily life on Disko and they are part of old Inuit legends (Fisker 1984). Most settlements were established where running water was available the year round including the now abolished small settlements at Vaigaten such as Unartoq, Ujaragsugssuk, and Kutdligssat. However, also to day major settlements such as Qeqertarsuaq (Godhavn) and Kangerluk (Diskofjord) have their water supplies from homothermal springs. Most of the springs include in their name the word Unartoq meaning homothermal or the word Kuanit meaning a locality where *Angelica archangelica* is growing. Strangely enough, only two springs are named Puilassoq, which is Greenlandic for spring, one near Qeqertarsuaq, named Puilassungiaq, is only 1-2°C, the other, Puilassoq, is the famous hot spring in Mellemfjord (Kristensen 1987).

#### Historical background

Most likely, the first European to visit the spring in Mellemfjord was KJV Steenstrup. He discovered the spring walking through Kildedalen from Disko Fjord August 18, 1898. According to his report (Steenstrup 1900) he was surprised that neither Giesecke nor Rink
(1852) had mentioned this spring, which is the warmest on the island. Nor did Porsild (1902) mention the spring, since in 1898 he remained in Diskofjord. Although Steenstrup described the spring in some detail, he did not name the spring. He explained, the spring was easily recognized since it formed a 2-3 m high dome green as grass. Near the top two springs were active. The southernmost was 18.8°C, the northernmost had a slightly lower temperature. Steenstrup also mentions that *Angelica archangelica* was present on the dome and the water is full of algae. Further, he mentions the small water beetle under the name *Hydroporus atriceps*.

Porsild (1902, 1920) has described the vegetation at several hot springs but not at Puilassoq. Hence, Halliday et al. (1974) in a review on hot springs in Greenland seem to be the first to use the name Puilassoq. In 1976 RMK and a team of geographers visited Puilassoq on July 16. The highest temperature measured was 18.0°C in the outflow corresponding to the southernmost spring of Steenstrup. Plenty of the orchid Platanthera hyperborea were present on the dome but no Angelica archangelica. Several springs within 200 m from Puilassoq were noted with a temperature ranging from 3°C to 14°C. In 1977, RMK walked from Kuanit Kugssat to Mellemfjord on August 10. About 3 km from Puilassoq a large spring area was covered with Angelica archangelica (Fig. 1). The highest temperature was 14.5°C. In several places the spring ran underground. Among the plants present were the fern Polystichum lonchitis and the three orchids Platanthera hyperborea, Leuorchis albida, and Listera cordata. In the spring were fry of Salvelinus alpinus. In Puilassoq the highest temperature was only 17.5°C. During a winter excursion Ebbe Mortensen, Gerda Kristensen and RMK visited Puilassoq on October 10, 1977 (Fig. 2). The highest spring temperature was 18.5°C at an air temperature of -5°C. Conductivity was 95-100 mho. Other physicchemical characteristics are presented in Table 1. The spring area in Kildedalen (Fig. 1) 3 km from Puilassoq was also visited. The temperature was still 14,5°C. Conductivity was only 64-65 mho. Arne Nørrevang, Benthe Winther Laursen, Kaj Kampp, Tonny Niilonen and RMK walked through Kildedalen like Steenstrup on July 8, 1978. There was only little water in Puilassoq, and only one outflow (18°C) was active. Jon Feilberg has photographed Puilassoq on July 19, 1983 and noted that plants having their northernmost occurrence on the west coast are present at a spring (12°C) a few hundred metres to the east of Puilassoq. The plants are Platanthera hyperborea, Leuorchis albida, Listera cordata, Phleum commutatum, Epilobium palustre, Luzula parviflora, and Polystichum lonchitis. However, this information seems more appropriately related to the spring in Kildedalen (14.5°C) much further away than 200 m from Puilassoq. Bent Fredskild and Wilhelm Dalgaard photographed Puilassog on July 25, 1987. Although Puilassoq has been visited several times, no comprehensive description of the spring is available concerning water chemistry, flora and fauna. During a biology course in 1998, the spring was visited three times on July 23 and 24, and on August 2. The present description is based mainly on these three visits and also published in Danish (Heide-Jørgensen and Kristensen 1999).

## Description of the spring Puilassoq

The homothermal spring Puilassoq (GPS-position: 69°40.3'N and 54°23.2'W) at the head of Mellemfjord is located on slightly west exposed ground approximately 25 m a.s.l. There are six separate outflows with low flow on an approximately 2 m high dome of soil. On the south face of the dome *Salix glauca* is dominant. Consequently, the recent colour is not so

Puilassoq - a homothermal spring



**Figs. 1-2.** Homothermal springs free of snow in winter, Disko. **Fig. 1.** Vigorous *Angelica archangelica* around 14.5°C warm spring in Kildedalen about 3 km from Puilassoq, Mellemfjord. **Fig. 2.** Outflow no. 2, Puilassoq Oct.10, 1977. Photo: E Mortensen and R M Kristensen.

34

grass-green as during the visit of Steenstrup (1900) and larger stones are exposed only adjacent to the outflows (Figs. 3-4). Neither do we accept the theory of Steenstrup (1900) that the dome is an remnant of a moraine nor that it should be a pingo (frost-heave). To us the dome looks like a mound spring, *i.e.* the dome is mainly built of organic material (humus) over time. The stones seem to be less exposed than hundred years ago and are considered natural like the ones scattered in the terrain around the dome.

Below, the six outflows are numbered clockwise starting at the SW corner of the dome:

Outflow 1: springs near the top of the dome, where a few stones are exposed. The outflow was covered with algae, sulphur bacteria, and cyanobacteria (blue-green algae). There was a dense growth of the orchid *Platanthera hyperborea* at the edges along the stream down the dome. The outflow had a pH of 10.7 and a temperature of 17.2°C.

Outflow 2: This is the most active outflow (Figs. 2-3) having the highest temperature  $(18.0^{\circ}C)$  and a pH was 10.8. It also springs near the top and the water runs a distance of 200 m to the fiord, although underground in places. On its way the water is cooled to  $10.6^{\circ}C$  at its discharge to Mellemfjord, where the stream has cut a gorge in the mud (Marrait). A single *Angelica archangelica* grew near the outflow besides the dome (Fig. 3).

Outflow 3a and 3b: Water was only running in 3b, while 3a formed a shallow depression with standing water about half way up the dome. The water surface was covered by an oily film from bacteria (Fig. 4). 3b is located slightly below 3a and completely surrounded by the verdigris green moss *Mniobryum wahlenbergii*. A single non-flowering *Angelica archangelica* was present at the waterline. Both outflows are east-exposed, the temperature was 15.4°C and the pH 10.4.

Outflow 4: Water seeped at the base of the dome and formed a south-exposed mudhole. The temperature was only 13.0°C and the pH 10.3.

Outflow 5: This outflow was not observed in 1976-78 and may be artificially formed. It has parallel sides and water only seeps slowly. The outflow is located at the base of the dome where large stones are exposed. Temperature was 13.0°C and pH 10.0. A few *Platanthera hyperborea* were growing in the outflow. The square shape indicates that the outflow has been dug up and perhaps a soil sample may once have been collected leading to formation of a new outflow.

# Temperature and water chemistry

As described above the outflows differ in water temperature  $(13.0-18.0^{\circ}C)$  with the coldest outflows at the base and the warmest near the top of the dome. The reason may be different distances from each outflow to the permafrost, or the water supply may originate from more than one underground vein of water. It is interesting that the temperature varies through the year being highest during winter. Steenstrup measured 18.8°C on Aug. 18, 1898, *RMK* measured 17.5°C, 18.5°C, 18.0°C and 18.0°C on Aug.10, 1977, Oct.11, 1977, July 8, 1978 and July 24, 1998. Jon Feilberg measured 16°C on July 19, 1983 (unpubl., however this value is not considered comparable). A yearly temperature variation of >1°C is considered large since many homothermal springs are known to hold a highly constant temperature.



**Figs. 3-4.** Puilassoq, Mellemfjord, Aug. 2, 1998. **Fig. 3.** The dome seen from NW with outflow no. 2. A few metres below the outflow bright area with, *Mniobryum wahlenbergii* (centre). Further downstream a few large stone are visible. Note flowering *Angelica archangelica* (left side). *Platanthera hyperborea* and *Bartsia alpina* present to the right. **Fig. 4.** Almost standing water in outflow no. 3a with exposed stones, oily film from bacteria, and vegetative *A. archangelica*. Photo: Fig. 3; R M Kristensen. Fig. 4; H S Heide-Jørgensen.

Table 1. Water chemistry etc. for Puilassoq.

Physical and chemical data from Oct. 11, 1977 (Temp. and pH from several visits)						
Highest temperature	17.5-18.5°C	17.5-18.5°C NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> 1.1 mg/l				
рН	9.5 (10.0-10.8)	NH4 <sup>+</sup>	0.2 mg/l			
Conductivity	95-100 mho	Na <sup>+</sup>	22 mg/l			
Total hardness	0.36°	K <sup>+</sup>	0.2 mg/l			
Alkalinity	0.9 meq/l	Mg <sup>++</sup>	0.17 mg/l			
F <sup>-</sup>	0.08 mg/l	Ca <sup>++</sup>	2.5 mg/l			
Cl	7 mg/l	Fe (<8 )	0.67 mg/l			
SO <sub>4</sub>	6 mg/l	Mn <sup>++</sup>	<0.01 mg/l			
HCO <sub>3</sub> -	55 mg/l	SiO <sub>2</sub>	23 mg/l			
PO4	0.02 mg/l	NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	65 mg/l			

However, Porsild (1902) mentions that the Greenlandic 'Unartut' (plural of Unartoq) do not hold a constant temperature. Haliday *et al.* (1974) are of the opinion that oscillating temperatures primarily are occurring in springs in West Greenland. In Puilassoq, the water flow is so modest that it cannot be excluded that external factors like radiation balance, snow melting, permafrost, evaporation, precipitation, or differences in thermometer positioning may have influenced the results.

The water chemistry is presented in Table 1. Conductivity was measured at 20°C about an hour after sampling. The spring is very poor in minerals and the water may be characterised as distilled. The relatively high pH is primarily caused by the content of sodium bicarbonate. pH measurements in brackets were performed in the field since the pH value falls soon after sampling and the permanent pH obtained in the laboratory is much lower. Further details and interpretations are given in Kristensen (1987).

**Table 2.** Flora list for Puilassoq. The nomenclature follows Böcher *et al.* 1978. A species is marked as No if it is not represented on the distribution maps in Fredskild (1995), where ° is included in *Cerastium arcticum*, \* is included in *Poa pratensis* and + is included in the *Stellaria longipes* group with glabrous sepals.

Species	Marked in Fredskild 1995	In the north limited to homothermal springs	Distribution according to Böcher 1975
Arabis alpina	Yes	No	Low Arctic, oceanic
Angelica archangelica	No	Yes	Low Arctic, oceanic
Bartsia alpina	Yes	No	Low Arctic, oceanic
Botrychium lunaria	Yes	Partly	Boreal
Campanula gieseckiana	Yes	No	Low Arctic
Cardamine pratensis	Yes	No	Low Arctic
Carex bigelowii	Yes	No	Low Arctic
Carex canescens	No	No	Boreal
Carex rariflora	Yes	No	Low Arctic
Cassiope tetragona	Yes	No	Arctic, continental
Cerastium alpinum°	Yes	No	Arctic
Chamaenerion latifolium	Yes	No	Arctic
Diphasiastrum alpinum	Yes	No	Low Arctic
Diphasiastrum complanatum	No	Partly	Boreal, continental
Dupontia psilosantha	No	No	Middle Arctic
Empetrum nigrum			
ssp. hermaphroditum	No	No	Low Arctic
Epilobium anagallidifolium	No	No	Low Arctic, oceanic
Epilobium hornemannii	Yes	Yes	Low Arctic, oceanic
Equisetum arvense	Yes	No	Boreal
Equisetum variegatum	Yes	No	Low Arctic
Eriophorum angustifolium	Yes	No	Boreal
Eriophorum scheuchzeri	Yes	No	Arctic
Gnaphalium norvegicum	No	Partly	Low Arctic, oceanic
Juncus arcticus	No	No	Low Arctic
Luzula confusa	Yes	No	Low Arctic, oceanic
Luzula groenlandica	No	No	Low Arctic, continental
Pedicularis flammea Pedicularis hirsuta	Yes Yes	No	Low Arctic
Phleum commutatum	Yes	No Yes	Arctic, continental
	Yes	Yes	Low Arctic, oceanic
Platanthera hyperborea Poa arctica*	Yes	No	Boreal woodland Boreal
Polygonum viviparum	Yes	No	Arctic, continental
Pyrola grandiflora	Yes	No	Arctic, continental
Ranunculus pygmaeus	No	No	Middle Arctic
Salix arctica	Yes	No	High Arctic
Salix glauca	Yes	No	Low Arctic
Salix herbacea	Yes	No	Low Arctic, oceanic
Saxifraga caespitosa	Yes	No	Arctic
Saxifraga foliolosa	Yes	No	High Arctic
Sibbaldia procumbens	Yes	No	Low Arctic, oceanic
Stellaria monantha <sup>+</sup>	Yes	No	Not classified
Taraxacum croceum	Yes	No	Low Arctic, oceanic
Thalictrum alpinum	Yes	Partly	Low Arctic, oceanic
Tofieldia pusilla	Yes	No	Low Arctic
Triglochin palustre	Yes	No	Boreal
Trisetum spicatum	Yes	No	Arctic
Vaccinium uliginosum	Yes	No	Low Arctic
Veronica alpina	Yes	No	Boreal
Woodsia glabella	No	No	Arctic

## Flora

The flora list in Table 2 represents the dome and the vegetation in a 2 m broad zone on each side of the water stream to about 50 m from the dome. The most species rich vegetation is found less than 1 m from the stream. Eight biologists and students have contributed to the list during a 2 hour visit to the locality on Aug. 2, 1998.

The distribution on Disko and in all of Greenland of the 49 listed vascular plants in Table 2 appears from maps in Fredskild (1995). Eleven species of Table 2 are not represented by dots covering the Puilassoq area on Fredskild's maps. However, the dots on the maps (Fredskild 1995) are based on herbarium sampling and in some cases a dot represents more than one locality not far from one another. Therefore, all of the eleven species should not be considered as new observations for Puilassoq. For example, it is known that several *Angelica archangelica* were present when the locality was visited in 1898 by Steenstrup (1900).

No doubt the number of species around the spring is greater than it appears from Table 2. Jon Feilberg has kindly provided a flora list from a visit on July 19, 1983. This list contains 36 species. Of these 25 are identical to species in Table 2. The additional 11 species are: *Calamagrostis neglecta, Cerastium cerastoides, Cystopteris fragilis, Festuca rubra, Huperzia selago, Juncus castaneus, Luzula multiflora* ssp. *frigida, Lycopodium annotinum, Poa glauca, P. pratensis,* and *Pyrola minor*. Combining the lists, the total number of species for the locality is about 60. We also observed, *e.g., Huperzia selago* and *Cystopteris fragilis* but in the surrounding heath of dwarf shrubs in too great a distance from the spring to be included in Table 2.

Of the 11 species in Table 2 not recorded in Fredskild (1995) Luzula groenlandica is new for Disko. This species has a continental distribution in Greenland and is not collected north of 70°N. Hence, the observation of a continental species in the oceanic Mellemfjord is noteworthy, but the warmth from the spring may have been decisive for establishment of the species. Although the identification was controlled by several excursion participants, collection and further control are in this case desirable. Carex canescens is known from three localities on the SE-coast of Disko. Diphasiastrum complanatum has a similar distribution but with more known localities. Further north in Greenland, this species has only been collected from one locality at 70°N. This also applies to Gnaphalium norvegicum and Pyrola minor (observed by Jon Feilberg). The more northern locality is located on the north side of Mellemfjord. Dupontia psilosantha is collected at the north coast of Disko and at the head of the large fiords north and south of Mellemfjord. Juncus arcticus and Woodsia glabella are widely distributed on Disko and their presence is not a surprise, although this is the first published observation from Mellemfjord. Widely distributed on Disko including Mellemfjord are also Empetrum nigrum ssp. hermaphroditum and Ranunculus pygmaeus. Angelica archangelica thrive best at homothermal springs with temperatures below 10-12°C. At the north side at the base of the dome, a flowering plant only about 30 cm high was growing (Fig. 3) near outflow no. 2, and on the dome itself only a vegetative rosette was observed at outflow 3a (Fig. 4). Puilassoq is besides Kvandalen and two localities on the north side of Mellemfjord the most northern locality for A. archangelica in Greenland.

With the addition of *Pyrola minor* (Feilberg's list) Table 2 also lists which species are often associated with homothermal springs in the most northern part of their distribution area

according to Porsild (1902, 1920), Haliday *et al.* (1974), Heide-Jørgensen and Johnsen (1998), and our own observations. The presence of these southern species and the high total number of species of the locality are ascribed mainly to higher soil temperature and prolonged growing season in the immediate vicinity of the spring. Porsild (1902) discusses their possible status as being interglacial relicts contra late postglacial immigrants.

Two tufts with three and five flowering shoots, respectively, of *Phleum commutatum* were observed at the edge and outflow no. 2. This species is considered a useful indicator for climate change. *Phleum commutatum* has its northern limit at the homothermal springs of Disko with Puilassoq as the most northern locality. Unfortunately, there is no reliable information from earlier visits to Puilassoq of the growth and number of specimens. At Østerlien and in Engelskmandens Havn, both at Qeqertarsuaq, *P. commutatum* is now less frequent than in the late 1960's when population studies were performed (Callaghan 1974) and both authors visited both localities. It is likely that the decline is a consequence of falling temperatures over the last 50 years in the Disko area (Heide-Jørgensen and Johnsen 1998). Therefore, currently *P. commutatum* may only thrive in the close vicinity of springs where the effect of the warm water is the greatest. At Puilassoq *Angelica archangelica* seems to decline, since Steenstrup (1900) notes, that several specimen were growing on the dome. In 1998 as mentioned, only one vegetative rosette was seen on the dome itself (Fig. 4), where *Salix glauca* is dominating on the south face (Fig. 3 in Heide-Jørgensen and Kristensen 1998).

*Saxifraga foliolosa* has a northern distribution in Greenland. It propagates vegetatively by bulbils and in the northern part of the distribution area the only terminal flower is rarely developed (Fig. 16 in Heide-Jørgensen and Johnsen 1997). At Puilassoq all main shoots develop the terminal flower and generally the plants were large and well developed in response to increased soil temperature and increased mineralization and decomposition as well as a prolonged growing season caused directly or indirectly by the activity of the spring. For the same reasons, the vegetation on and besides the dome and along the stream is comparatively luxuriant for this northern latitude.

Among the other species in Table 2 it is noted that at least 14 specimens of Botrychium *lunaria* were growing within 2-3 m<sup>2</sup> on the lower part of the NW exposed side of the dome, and *Platanthera hyperborea* was present in several vigorous stands along the stream and on the dome (Fig. 3). We searched for other species which are often associated with homothermal springs such as Alchemilla glomerulans, Leuchorchis albida, Listera cordata, Luzula parviflora and Polystichum lonchitis. All of these are known from other homothermal springs in Mellemfjord, but they were not found here. Mosses, lichens, and fungi were not investigated, but Mniobryum wahlenbergii (Fig. 3), which occurs at almost all homothermal springs, was present in large cushions, although, according to (Hansen et al. 1989), it thrives better at the cooler springs. Near the outflows where temperature is the highest, purple sulphur bacteria and the blue-green algae genera Oscillatoria and Anabaena dominated. Where the temperature in the stream from outflow no. 2 had fallen a few degrees, a Nostoc sp. occured with a mushroom-like thallus (Fig. 7 in Heide-Jørgensen and Kristensen 1998). The yellow-green algae Tribonema sp. (Fig. 8 in Heide-Jørgensen and Kristensen 1998) was growing vigorously in the same stream at a water temperature of 12°C.

#### Fauna

Since Reisinger and Steinböck (1927) published their data on marine flatworms in Engelskmandens Havn, the meiofauna of the homothermal springs has come under review (Kristensen 1977). It is now known that some springs such as Engelskmandens Havn are slightly radioactive (Kristensen 1987), but most are very poor in electrolytes and the water can be compared almost to distilled water. However, only few investigations are available on animal life in the electrolyte-poor springs and most investigations have only been published in student reports from field courses in Arctic Biology. Lettevall (1962) discovered a new water mite (Pseudolebertia groenlandica) in the springs at Østerlien. This possible endemic species for the springs of Disko has later been observed in many cold homothermal springs in Disko Fjord and Kildedalen. It is not observed in the warmer springs (Kristensen unpubl.) and it is not present in Puilassoq. The meiofauna and the terrestrial soil fauna are only poorly investigated in Puilassoq but there is a rich fauna of Rotifera and Tardigrada. During our visit sampling for Oligochaeta and Tardigrada was performed by the German team (see elsewhere this issue). Four species of Oligochaeta were observed: Fridericia ratzeli, Enchytraeus buchholzi, Buchholzia appendiculata, and B. fallax. Sampling of spiders was performed by Danish students (see elsewhere this issue). The beetle fauna is poor in relation to, e.g., Engelskmandens Havn and large numbers were only observed of the water beetle Hydroporus morio Aubé, 1838. This is considered the same species as the one Steenstrup mentions as H. atriceps. Furthermore, two larvae of caddis flies were observed, Agrypnia zonella and Limnephilus festratus. As far as known, it is the first observation of the genus Limnephilus so far north. Both water beetles and caddis worms were living in outflow no. 2 downstream in water between 10° and 12°C. Finally, a large population of the fly Scatella thermarum was present. The adult resided on the water surface while the larvae occurred between the subsurface algae. This fly is only known from Iceland and Greenland (Tuxen 1944). Most observation are from springs much warmer than Puilassoq. Tuxen mentions that the fly can be found in springs at temperatures up to 65°C.

Since 1976 soil and moss samples have been collected for tardigrades during each visit to the spring. No tardigrade species has been discovered which is not already known from other homothermal springs on Disko. This is a surprise, since the presence of more southern species could be expected. The species listed in Table 3 were observed at Puilassoq during the visits of *RMK*.

At first glance, 21 species of Tardigrada from Puilassoq indicate a very high species diversity. However, when the results of sampling tardigrades around several homothermal springs are considered as compiled in student reports (Hansen *et al.* 1989), the number is not a surprise. In the cold homothermal spring at Nipissat, students found no less than 19 species. For all of Greenland only 43 freshwater/terrestrial species are recorded (Maucci 1996). However, this figure is fictive, since for Disko alone more than 100 species have been sampled (Kristensen unpubl.). None of the 21 species can be characterized as belonging to a southern fauna, since many are cosmopolitans. But it may be mentioned that two species, *E. nadjae* and *M. minimus*, have been described from homothermal springs on Disko (Kristensen 1982). More recently *E. nadjae* has also been found in homothermal springs on the Faeroe Islands and in cold springs in Italy (Bertolani and Kristensen 1987).

Table 3. List of Tardigrada from Puilassoq.

#### Heterotardigrada

12 Hypsibius dujardini (in hydrophilic moss) 1 Pseudechiniscus faccetalis (in soil) 2 Pseudechiniscus suillus (in moss on stones) 13 Isohypsibius bakonyiensis (in soil) 14 Isohypsibius elegans (in algae) 3 Testechiniscus spitsbergensis (in moss on stones) 15 Macrobiotus echinogenitus (in algae) Eutardigrada 16 Macrobiotus harmsworthi (in moss on 4 Amphibolus nebulosus (in mud with algae) stones) 5 Amphibolus weglarskae (in soil) 17 Macrobiotus richtersi (in soil) 6 Dactylobiotus dispar (in mud) 18 Mesocrista spizbergense (in hydrophilic 7 Dactylobiotus ambiguus (in mud) moss) 19 Microhypsibius minimus (in algae on 8 Doryphoribius macrodon (in algae) 9 Diphascon scoticum (in hydrophilic moss) moss from lower part of outflow no. 2) 10 Eohypsibius nadjae (in soil) 20 Murrayon pullari (in mud) 21 Platicrista angustata (in Mniobryum) 11 Hypsibius arcticus (in algae)

#### Acknowledgements

We thanks Karina E. Clemmensen, Anja Hoff Hansen, Karen Dahl Jensen, Klaus Steenberg Larsen, Caroline Stark and Helge Thomsen for their contributions to the flora list in Table 2 and Jon Feilberg for the flora list from 1983. Also thanks to Henning Kristiansen (The Geological Survey of Denmark) for the chemical analysis of water from Puilassoq.

## Literature

Bertolani R, Kristensen RM, 1987. New records of Eohypsibius nadjae and revision of the taxonomic position of two genera of Eutardigrada (Tardigrada). In: Biology of Tardigrada (ed. Bertolani R), Selected Symposia and Monographs U.Z.I, 1: 359-372.

Böcher TW, 1975. Det grønne Grønland. Rhodos, København. 256 pp.

- Böcher TW, Fredskild B, Holmen K, Jakobsen K, 1978. Grønlands Flora. P. Haase & Søn, København. 326 pp.
- Callaghan TV, 1974. Intraspecific variation in Phleum alpinum L. with specific reference to polar populations. Arc. Alp. Res. 6:361-401.
- Feilberg J, 1985. Grønlands varme kilder naturens egne mistbænke. Forskning i Grønland/Tusaat 2/85:10-22.
- Fisker J, 1984. K'ek'ertarssuak', Godhavn, Kangerdluk. Nordiske Landes Bogforlag. 271 pp.
- Fredskild B, 1995. A phytogeographical study of the vascular plants of West Greenland (62°20'-74°00'N). Meddr. Grønland. Biosci. 45:1-157.
- Hansen L, Johansen KE, Lund T, Simonsen B, 1988. Homoterme kilder på Disko, Grønland: 143-205. In: Feltkursus it Arktisk biology, Godhavn 1988 (ed. Jørgensen M), Zoologisk Museum, Københavns Universitet, pp. 288.
- Haliday G, Kliim-Nielsen L, Smart IHM, 1974. Studies on the flora of the North Blosseville Kyst and on the hot springs of Greenland. Meddr. Grønland 199(2):1-49.

- Heide-Jørgensen HS, Johnsen I, 1997. Høj-Arktisk vegetation i NV-Grønland. Naturens Verden 1997(2):208-223.
- Heide-Jørgensen HS, Johnsen I, 1998. Ecosystem vulnerability to climate change in Greenland and the Faeroe Islands. Miljønyt nr. 33, Danish Environmental Protection Agency. 266 pp.
- Heide-Jørgensen HS, Kristensen RM 1999. Puilassoq, Disko øens varmeste homoterme kilde. In HA Thomsen (ed.) Arktisk biologisk Feltkursus, Qeqertarsuaq 1998: 219-231.
- Kristensen RM, 1977. On the marine genus *Styraconyx* (Tardigrada, Heterotardigrada, Halechiniscidae) with description of a new species from a warm spring on Disko Island. Astarte 10:87-91.
- Kristensen RM, 1982. New aberrant eutardigrades from homothermic springs on Disko Island, West Greenland. In: Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Tardigrada. East Tennessee State University Press, (ed. Nelson DR) Johnson City, Tennessee: 221-236.
- Kristensen RM, 1987. The "southern" flora and the "marine" fauna elements in the homothermic springs on Disko Island, West Greenland, pp. 202-226. In Institut für Polarökologie (Kiel), Grönland Exkursion 2.-25. August 1987 (ed. Höpner Petersen G), Institut für Polarökologie, Kiel, pp. 245.
- Maucci W, 1996. Tardigrada of the Arctic tundra with descriptions of two new species. In Tardigrade biology (eds. McInnes SJ & Norman DB), Zool. Journ. Lin. Soc. 116: 185-204.
- Lettevall U, 1962. On the Hydracarina of Greenland with a description of *Lebertia* (*Pseudolebertia*) groenlandica n. sp. Meddr. Grønland 170(1):1-40.
- Porsild MP, 1902. Bidrag til en skildring af vegetationen på øen Disko tillige med spredte topografiske og zoologiske iagttagelser. Meddr. Grønland 25:91-239.
- Porsild MP, 1920. The flora of Disko Island and the adjacent coast of West Greenland from 66°-71° N.Lat. with remarks on phytogeography, ecology, flowering, fructification and hibernation. Meddr. Grønland 58:1-156.
- Reisinger E, Steinböck Von O, 1927. Foreløbig meddelelse om vor zoologiske rejse i Grønland 1926. Meddr. Grønland 74(3):33-42.
- Rink H, 1852. De danske handelsdistrikter i Nordgrønland, deres geographiske beskaffenhed og produktive erhvervskilder. I. Copenhagen.
- Steenstrup KJV, 1900. Beretning om en undersøgelsesrejse til øen Disko i sommeren 1898. Meddr. Grønland 24(3):249-306.
- Tuxen SL, 1944. The hot springs of Iceland. Their animal communities and their zoogeographical significance. In The Zoology of Iceland vol 1, part 11. Einar Munksgaard, Copenhagen, 216 pp.

# Tardigrades in the Soil of Greenland

Caroline Stark<sup>1</sup> and Reinhardt M. Kristensen<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Zoological Institute and Museum, Martin-Luther-King-Platz 3, D-20146 Hamburg <sup>2</sup>Zoological Museum, 15 Universitetsparken, DK-2100 Copenhagen

## Abstract

Thirteen species and additionally eggs of four more species were identified from three different locations during a field course on Disko Island, West Greenland, in July and August, 1998. For each location an association of different species was registered. Only four species were found in more than one locality. The soil sample taken at Kuanit shows the highest diversity and the biggest number of specimens. *Diphascon tenue*, *Hypsibius zetlandicus*, and *Isohypsibius marcellinoi* are new reports for Greenland.

#### 1. Introduction

In the Arctic a special formation of soil, called raw humus, is the most frequent soil type. Compared to European areas a less biological activity is typical for Arctic soils and animals are only found in the upper few centimeters of the soil. The edaphon, as the biocoenosis of the soil is called, consists of collembols, rotifers, nematodes, mites, and tardigrades. Also particularly in damp sites chironomids, copepods, and ostracods do occur. This low level of microfauna diversity underlines that tardigrades may play an important role in the life community of this soil. The soils are continuously wet throughout the summer as permafrost prevents meltwater from percolation downwards. Raw humus is characterised by a mat of organic material being decomposed slowly due to the low summer temperatures. This quality of the Arctic soil suggests a favourable tardigrade environment and the presence of a large tardigrade population, however this has not been investigated until now. This study investigates the occurence of tardigrades in Arctic raw humus. Tardigrades habitat preferences are attempted to be determined by thorough investigation of vegetation, soil structure, abiotic factors, and fauna of each sampling location.

## 2. Material and methods

#### 2.1. Location

The investigation was carried out on Disko Island, Greenland between the 18th of July and the 2nd of August 1998. Samples were taken from permafrost soil at three different locations:

# Location 1:

a former snowbed in **Blaesedalen** (GPS: N 69°15.823'/ W 53° 29.104'/ altitude: 90 m a.s.l.). The snow had melted just a few days ago so that the water content of the soil was

expected to be high. The area at the bottom of the snowfield was characterised by earth hummocks (Fig. 1).

## Location 2:

**Kuanit**, (GPS: N 69°15.810'/W 53°26.321'/ altitude: 50m a.s.l.) an area formed by vulcanism and characterised by homothermic springs. Samples were taken in a relatively dry ground depression (Fig. 2).

# Location 3:

**Puilassoq**, close to the homothermic springs (GPS: N 69°40.297/ W 54°22.976'/ altitude: 35m a.s.l.). The water of the first spring (homo I) has a temperature of 17,4°C (pH 10,3-10,4) while the second spring (homo II) has a temperature of about 17,9°C (pH 10,7–10,8) (Fig. 3).



Fig. 1: Illustration of location 1 - Blaesedalen, snowfield



Fig. 2: Illustration of location 2 - Kuanit, profile of the ground depression



Fig. 3: Illustration of location 3 - Puilassoq

# 2.2. Sampling

The samples were taken utilising a 100 ml steel tube which takes soil cylinders from a maximum depth of 4 cm. Per location one sample of 300 ml was taken to analyse

abiotic factors such as water content, pH, and nutrients. Furthermore an attempt was made to investigate the vegetation nearest to the collecting locality.

### 2.3. Abiotic factors

Soil temperature was measured directly in situ utilising a thermometer. To investigate other abiotic factors like pH, nitrate and ammonium a soil laboratory (Merck / Agro Quant 14602) was used. First a soil suspension with KCl (0,1M) was produced, this suspension was then filtered. For pH determination test strips (pH-fix 0-14, Macherey-Nagel) were used, whereas ammonium and nitrate were determined by colometric tests where the concentration is measured semiquanitatively by visual comparison (Ammonium: Aquamerck-Ammonium test 0,5-10 mg No. 1.12657/ Nitrate: Nitrate-Test Merck 10- 150 mg/l No. 11170). The water content of the different soil samples was determined by sample drying for 24 hours at 110°C and weight comparison.

#### 2.4. Methods of extraction, counting and fixation

After removing the vegetation from the top of the soil cylinder, the remainder was divided into three parts (surface, upper and lower part), in order to analyse the tardigrade population on different soil levels. The method of drying the sample for transport turns out to be not useful, because the tardigrades died. In order to keep them alive, which makes the examination easier, each sample was frozen.

For the extraction a traditional method was used: A part of the slowly defrosted sample was washed through a series of sieves  $(1mm/500\mu m/64\mu m)$  to separate the animals from the soil. The remainder from the last sieve  $(64\mu m)$  was transferred to a petri dish and examined under the microscope (40x) (Fig. 4). Each tardigrade as well as tardigrade eggs or exuvia were fixed in Polyvinyllactophenol (ADAMS & CZIHAK, 1964) on a microscopic slide.

The mounted specimens were determined mainly by Reinhardt M. Kristensen and with reference to "The Phylum Tardigrada" (RAMAZZOTTI & MAUCCI, 1983) and "Generic revision of the Echiniscidae" (KRISTENSEN, 1987). If other references were used, it is mentioned in the text of 3.4.

Additionally notes of the accompanying soil fauna were taken in order to understand the community structure of tardigrades.



Fig. 4: Extraction method

Because of the time consuming sorting and difficult determination of the Tardigrada only a few samples could be examined from the following sites until now:

Tab. 1: Samples investigated

Locality	Number of samples investigated	Name of sample	Fraction sorted
Snowfield	5	CTR 4/2	surface
(Blaesedalen)		CTR A 14/1	total
		CTR A 15/1	surface
		CTR A 16/1	surface
		CTR A 18/1	lower, upper part
Kuanit	1	CTR 12/1	surface
Puilassoq	2	CTR 23/1 (homoI) CTR 24/1 (homoII)	surface surface

## 3. Results

In total 13 species were determined and additionally eggs of four species.

The tardigrades found in Blaesedalen (snowfield) belong to seven different species. Also eggs of three more species were identified. At Kuanit six different species were found, plus one egg of a different species (*Macrobiotus* spec.). Close to the homothermic springs in Puilassoq two different species were mounted plus eggs of three more species.

All identified specimens, exuvia and eggs are summarized in Table 2.

	Species		Blaesed.	Kuanit	Puilassoq
Specimens	Amphibolus nebulosus	X			
	Amphibolus weglarskae			Х	
	Diphascon alpinum	X	4		
	Diphascon tenue	X			
	Doryphoribius macrodon	X		X	
	Dorypharibius macrodon (simplex state)			X	
	Hypsibius arcticus			X	
	Hypsibius convergens	X			
	Hypsibius zetlandicus			X	
	Isohypsibius marcellinoi	X			
	Macrobiotus harmsworthi	X		X	
	Macrobiotus richtersi			X	
	Pseudechiniscus facettalis				X
	Pseudechiniscus suillus				X
Cysts	Doryphoribius macrodon	X		X	
	Hypsibius zetlandicus			X	
Exuvia	Doryphoribius macrodon	X		X	
	Pseudechiniscus facettalis				X

Tab. 2: Summary of the determined tardigrades, cysts, exuvia, and eggs from all three locations

Eggs	Amphibolus nebulosus			X
	Diphascon conjungens	X	_	
	Hypsibius arcticus		X	
	Macrobiotus ariekammensis	X		
	Macrobiotus echinogenitus			X
	Macrobiotus harmsworthi		X	X
	Macrobiotus richtersi	X		
	Macrobiotus spec.		X	

In total 65 tardigrades, 6 cysts, 10 exuvia, and 31 eggs were registered whereas 19 specimens, 1 cyst, 1 exuvia, and 5 eggs were obtained from samples of Blaesedalen (Tab. 5). At Kuanit 30 specimens, 5 cysts, 3 exuvia, and 11 eggs were found (Tab. 6). At least 16 specimens, 6 exuvia and 15 eggs were obtained from the Puilassoq samples (Tab. 7). All abiotic factors are listed in Table 3, all additionally counted taxa are listed in Table 4.

## Tab. 3: Abiotic factors

Locality	Sample	Date	Temp.	pН	Nitrate	Ammonia	Water
			[°C]	ļ	[mg/l]	[mg/l]	Content
1						4	[%]
snowfield	CTR 4/2	18.07.98	13,4				
	CTR A 14/1	28.07.98	10,6	5	0	0,5	31,7
	CTR A 15/1	28.07.98	10,8	5	0	0,5	44,3
	CTR A 16/1	28.07.98	10,8	5	0	0,5	20,3
	CTR A 18/1	128.07.98	10,3	5	0	1	56
Kuanit	CTR 12/1	127.07.98	11	6	10	0,5	65
Puilassoq	CTR 23/1	102.08.98	14	7	10	2	76,8
	CTR 24/1	102.08.98	17,5	7	10	2	67

50

Tab. 4: Additional collected fauna found in the soil

	Snc	wfiel	d (Bla	aeseda	alen)	Kuanit	Puilass	oq
	CTR / CTR A					CTR	CTR	
Sample No.:	4	14	15	16	18	12	23	24
Acari	1	X		X	X	Х	Х	X
Collembola	1	X		X	X			X
Cricomenatidae	1	X		<u> </u>				
Copepoda / Harpacticidae				+		Х	X	
Nematoda	X	X		X	X	Х		X
Rotatoria (Bdelloida)	1	X	X	X	X	Х	X	X
Rotatoria (Monogononta)				X	<u> </u>	X		
Tardigrada (specimens, cysts)	X	X	X	X		х	X	

# 3.1. Snowfield in Blaesedalen

All samples of this locality included only the soil's O-horizon. It is characterised by organic material and a small amount of silt. All tardigrades, eggs and exuvia from this location are listed in Table 5.

Tab. 5: Specimens,	cysts, exuvia a	nd eggs collected i	n Blaesedalen	[Numbers]

Station	CTR 4/2	CTR A 14/1	CTR A 15/1	CTR A 16/1
Specimens	Amphibolus	Diphascon	Diphascon	Diphascon
	nebulosus [1]	tenue [1]	alpinum [1]	alpinum [4]
	Doryphoribius			Macrobiotus
	macrodon [7]			harmsworthi [2]
	Hypsibius			Tardigrada spec.
	convergens [1]			[1]
	Isohypsibius			
	marcellionoi [1]			
Cysts	Doryphoribius			
	macrodon [1]			
Exuvia				Doryphoribius
				macrodon [1]

Eggs	Macrobiotus	Macrobiotus
	ariekammensis	richtersi [1]
	[1]	Hebesuncus
		conjungens [2]
		Tardigrada
		spec.[1]

## CTR 4/2:

The sample was taken in a small wet ground depression between two hummocks at the bottom of a former snowfield. The total surface of the soil cylinder was examined. The location was characterised by several higher plants (e.g., *Carex biglowii, Salix herbacea, Oxyria digyna)*, lichens (*Stereocaulon* spec.) and many liverworts. Next to one cyst, ten tardigrades of four different species (Tab. 5) were found.

#### CTR A 14/1:

The sample was taken from the slope of a former snowfield. All three parts of the soil cylinder were examined.

This locality was also characterised by liverworts, mosses (Bryidae), lichens (Stereocaulon spec.), and several higher plants, for example Equisetum arvense, Poa alpina, Cassiope tetragona, Saxifraga ceruna, while Eqisetum arvense was the dominating plant.

In the surface layer no tardigrades were found, whereas in the upper part one specimen of *Diphascon tenue* and in the lower part one egg of *Macrobiotus ariekammensis* could be identified. In the surface and upper part only Collembola, Rotatoria (Bdelloida), Acari, and Nematoda including Criconematidae were collected, while the lower part only contained a few number of Nematoda.

#### <u>CTR A 15/1:</u>

The sample was taken at a distance of 4 m next to CTR A 14/1 downslope. Here, the soil horizon was only a thin layer of 4-5 cm covering bedrock. Only the surface part of the sample was analysed.

The vegetation on the soil cylinder contained mainly liverworts.

One specimen of *Diphascon alpinum* (Tab. 5) was found.

#### <u>CTR A 16/1:</u>

The sample was taken at a 4-m distance from CTR A 15/1 in the middle of the former snowfield in a small ground depression. The vegetation was dominated by liverworts, but also other mosses (Bryidae), lichens (*Stereocaulon* spec.) and higher plants such as *Ranunculus pigmaeus, Polygonum viviparum*, and *Salix herbacea*.

In 2,5g soil from the surface layer, seven tardigrades of two different species, one exuvia, and four eggs were found (Tab. 5).

In addition to the tardigrades 98 bdelloid Rotatoria (+3 cysts), 51 Rotatoria (Monogononta), 8 Acari, 9 Nematoda, and 1 Collembola were found.

# CTR A 18/1:

This sample was taken close to the former snowfield on top of a hummock. The vegetation was nearly the same as described for CTR 4. In 10 g soil of the lower part and 5 g soil of the upper part no tardigrades, cysts, exuvia, or eggs were found. In the lower part Nematoda (12 specimens), 10 Acari, 1 Collembola, and 3 Rotatoria were found. From the upper third only 4 Acari and 4 Nematoda were collected.

### 3.2. Kuanit

From this locality only one sample was analysed (CTR 12/1). The soil cylinder included the O-horizon of the soil. It consisted only of organic material with remnants of old leaves from mosses (Bryidae) and of algae (Chlorophyceae, Bacillariaphyceae). The vegetation in the hollow was characterised by the moss *Drepanucladus unicatus* (Bryidae). In 2,5 g soil of the surface fraction, 30 tardigrades were found, belonging to 6 different species. Also 5 cysts, 1 exuvium, and 11 eggs were collected (Tab. 6). Besides the tardigrades, 74 copepods (Harpacticidae), 23 bdelloid rotatorians (+3 cysts), 2 rotatorians (Monogononta), 42 nematodes and 84 mites were found.

Tab. 6: Specimens, cysts, exuvia and eggs collected at Kuanit [numbers]

Sample	CTR 12/1
Specimens	Amphibolus weglarskae [1]
	Doryphoribius macrodon [16]
	Doryphoribius macrodon (simplex state) [2]
	Hypsibius arcticus [1]
	Hypsibius zetlandicus [3]
	Macrobiotus harmsworthi [6]
	Macrobiotus richtersi [1]
Cysts	Doryphoribius macrodon [4]
	Hypsibius zetlandičus [1]
Exuvia + eggs	Doryphoribius macrodon [3]
Eggs	<i>Hypsibius arcticus</i> [1]
	Macrobiotus harmsworthi [9]
an a subsection and the subsection of the	Macrobiotus spec. [1]

### 3.3. Puilassoq

The two samples investigated from this locality included only the O-horizon. Similar to Kuanit soils the soil was also characterised by organic material.

# CTR 23/1:

The soil mainly contained algae, belonging to the Chlorophyceae, Bacillariaphyceae and Desmediaceae. This sample was taken from a locality that was characterised by several higher plants, e.g., *Phyllodoce cerulea, Salix herbacea, Vaccinum uliginosun, Bartia alpina, Leuchorchis albida*, also *Sphagnum* was found. In 1 g of the surface sample 16 tardigrades, 6 exuvia, and 15 eggs were found (Tab. 7). In addition to the tardigrades, 59 cysts of bdelloid Rotatoria, 4 Acari, and 4 Copepoda (Harpacticidae) were found.

## CTR 24/1:

In this sample, besides the detritus of moss, many Bacillariaphyceae were found in the soil. The flora investigated close to the "homothermic spring II" consisted of *Salix herbacea, Bartia alpina, Equisetum arvense, Polygonum viviparum, Veronica alpina, Chamaenerion angustifolium,* and liverworts like *Marchantia polymorpha*. The vegetation removed from the soil cylinder was mainly *Mniumbryum wahlenbergii* (Bryidae). In 1 g of the sample, no tardigrades, eggs, exuvia, or cysts were caught. In the soil only 26 Nematoda, 5 Rotatoria (Bdelloida), 4 Acari, and 5 Collembola were found.

Sample	CTR 23/1
Specimens	Pseudechiniscus facettalis [8]
	Pseudechiniscus suillus [3]
	Tardigrada spec. [5]
Cysts	
Exuvia	Pseudechiniscus facettalis [4]
	Tardigrada spec [2]
Eggs	Amphibolus nebulosus [1]
	Macrobiotus echinogenitus [11]
	Macrobiotus harmsworthi [3]

Tab 7: Specimens, cysts, exuvia, and eggs collected at Puilassoq [number]

#### 3.4. Tardigrades sampled

# Amphibolus nebulosus (Dastych, 1983)

Habitus and egg as described by DASTYCH (1983).

One specimen was found in the soil of a former snowfield at Blaesedalen (CTR 4/2), only one egg was sighted at Puilaffoq (CTR 23/1), both from the surface of the sample. Distribution:

This species has already been recorded from Greenland, found in moss by GRÖNGAARD et al.(1990), by MAUCCI (1996), and in a homothermic spring on Disko Island. It was collected in mosses on a hummock and in mosses from a bank of a periodically dried stream on Svalbard (DASTYCH,1985). It is reported also from Norway.

#### Amphibolus weglarskae (Dastych, 1972)

Only one specimen was found at Kuanit (CTR 12/1). It was collected from the first cm of the soil.

## Distribution:

It is recorded from Poland by DASTYCH (1987) and from Italy. Referring to RAMAZZOTTI (1983) it has been collected from damp moss and also in water.

#### Diphascon alpinum Murray, 1906

This species was found in the surface layer of two samples (CTR A 15/1, CTR A 16/1) from Blaesedalen (snowfield). In the mostly dry sample (CTR A 16/1) four specimens were found, while CTR A 15/1 only consists of one specimen. Distribution:

Already recorded from Greenland where it was found in moss of a snowpatch and in moss on a moist *Vaccinum* heath, often in association with *Salix herbacea*. It was also collected by PETERS & DUMJAHN (1999) on Disko Island. It is also reported from Svalbard (WEGLARSKA, 1965/ DASTYCH, 1985); in moss, soil and litter of deciduous forest in Finland (HALLAS, 1977) and in the soil of a Danish beech forest (HALLAS & YEATES, 1972).

## *Diphascon (= Hebesuncus) conjungens* (Thulin, 1911)

Only two eggs of this species were collected. No specimens were found. The eggs were sampled at the locality of Blaesedalen in the surface layer.

Distribution:

This species is reported from Poland and Svalbard (DASTYCH, 1985, 1987). It has been reported from all over Europe, as well as in North America, and Disko Island, Greenland (PETERS & DUMJAHN, 1999).

# Diphascon tenue Thulin, 1928

One specimen was found on the slope of the snowfield (CTR 14/1), it was collected in the upper part of the soil cylinder (depth: 2-3 cm).

Distribution:

According to MAUCCI (1996), until now this species has neither been found on Greenland nor on Iceland. It has been collected in mosses from Svalbard (WEGLARSKA, 1965, DASTYCH, 1985, MAUCCI, 1996), the Carpathians, on the Faroe Islands, in Sweden and Norway.

# Doryphoribius macrodon Binda, Pilato & Dastych, 1980

Habitus as described by BINDA et al., 1980.

Sixteen specimens, four cysts, and three exuvia with eggs were found in the surface layer of the soil taken in a small ground depression at Kuanit (CTR 12/1). Also seven specimens, one cyst, and one exuvium were found in the soil of the former snowfield in Blaesedalen (surface/CTR A 16/1).

Distribution:

On Svalbard this species has been found in mosses from hummocks by DASTYCH (1985).

#### Hypsibius arcticus (Murray, 1907)

One specimen and one egg were collected from the soil in a small ground depression at Kuanit (CTR 12/1). Both were found in the surface layer (depth: 1-2 cm).

Distribution:

RAMAZZOTTI (1983) describes this species as cosmopolitan, living in freshwater and moss.

## Hypsibius convergens (Urbanowicz, 1925)

One specimen was found in the soil of a former snowfield in Blaesedalen (CTR 4/2), the soil belongs to the surface layer.

Distribution:

This species seems to be cosmopolitic (records from: Europe, North and South America, Fernando Poo Island, Kerguelen Island, India, Turkey, and Faroer Island). It has been collected from moss on Svalbard (WEGLARSKA, 1965) and is reported also by PETERSEN (1951) from Greenland. MIHELCIC (1952) has found this species in leaflitter as well as in the soil of a coniferous forest and in Rendsina. WEGLARSKA (1968) has collected it on roots of higher plants (*Carex* sp., *Acantholimon* sp.) in the Himalaya.

### Hypsibius zetlandicus (Murray, 1907)

Three specimens and one cyst were found in the surface soil in a small hollow at Kuanit (CTR 12/1).

Distribution:

According to RAMAZZOTTI (1983), this species has been reported from the Carpathians, Scotland, Shetland Island, Finland, and Svalbard. This is a new report for Greenland.

## Isohypsibius marcellinoi (Binda & Pilato, 1971)

One specimen was found in the surface layer of a former snowfield from Blaesedalen (CTR 4/2)

Distribution:

RAMAZZOTTI (1983) describes this species living in moss and in aquatic environment. This is a new report for Greenland.

## Macrobiotus ariekammensis Weglarska, 1965

Eggs like those described by DASTYCH (1985).

One egg was found in the soil of the slope of a former snowfield (CTR A 14/1). It was found in the lower layer (depth: 3-4 cm) of the sample.

# Distribution:

This species has been reported from Svalbard (WEGLARSKA, 1965/ DASTYCH, 1985).

56

### Macrobiotus echinogenitus Richters, 1904

Only eggs of this species were found. Eleven individual eggs were sighted in the surface layer of the soil collected close to the homothermic spring (homoI/CTR 23/1) at Puilassoq.

# Distribution:

This species has been found before in moss on Greenland by MAUCCI (1996) in moss. It has been reported earlier by PETERSEN (1951). DASTYCH (1985) and WEGLARSKA (1965) have located it on Spitsbergen. The latter report is not certain (MAUCCI, 1996) because it may represent a misidentification of *M. cremulatus*. The species was also found in lichens, as well as in higher plants (e.g., *Saxifraga*) and in Rendsina by MIHELCIC (1952). Also it has been found on roots of higher plants (*Carex* sp., *Acantholimon* sp.) in the Himalaya (WEGLARSKA, 1968). HALLAS (1977) has collected this species in Finland.

#### Macrobiotus harmsworthi Murray 1907

Eight specimens and 12 eggs were found in the soil samples. Six specimens and nine eggs were collected in the soil of a small hollow at Kuanit (CTR 12/1), whereas two specimens were found in the sample collected at the bottom of the snowfield (CTR A 16/1). Only one egg could be mounted from the sample taken at Puilassoq next to a homothermic spring (CTR 23/1). Only the surface part of the three samples were investigated.

# Distribution:

MAUCCI (1996) considered this species to be cosmopolitican. He has found it on Greenland, Iceland and Svalbard. On Greenland it has already been found before by GRÖNGAARD et al. (1990) and PETERS &. DUMJAHN (1999) in moss on Disko Island. Also it has been recorded by PETERSEN (1951), who has collected it from moss on a snowpatch and from moss in a moist *Vaccinium* heath.

In soil it has already been found by MIHELCIC (1952) in a coniferous forest and in Rendsina. HALLAS also has collected it in *Betula* litter in Finland (1977) and Denmark (1972). It has been sighted on roots of higher plants (*Carex* sp., *Acantholimon* sp.) in the Himalaya (WEGLARSKA, 1968) and in mosses from Poland (DASTYCH, 1987) and on Svalbard (WEGLARSKA, 1965/DASTYCH, 1985). Aside from mosses, it is recorded from lichens and in tussocks of *Dryas* and *Saxifraga*.

#### Macrobiotus richtersi Murray, 1911

One specimen was collected in the surface part of the soil cylinder from Kuanit (CTR 12/1), one egg was found in the soil taken from the bottom of a former snowfield in Blaesedalen (CTR 16/1, surface).

# Distribution:

It is recorded as a common and widely distributed species, ranging over Europe, America, Africa, New Zealand, New Guinea, Asia, and Svalbard, usually found in moss. At Disko Island it has been found by GRÖNGAARD et al.(1990) in homothermic springs. PETERSEN (1951) found it in *Tortula ruralis* (moss) of a dry snowpatch. Aside from mosses it has been collected in tussocks of higher plants (e.g. *Saxifraga*), in leaflitter, in the soil of a coniferous forest, in grass, and in Rendsina by MIHELCIC (1952). ROMPU et al. (1994) have reported it from different localities in the soil under trees and under grass in Zimbabwe.

### Pseudechiniscus facettalis Petersen, 1951

Eight specimens and four exuvia were found in the surface layer of the soil cylinder, collected close to a homothermic spring (homoI /CTR 23/1) at Puilassoq.

## Distribution:

The species is reported from Greenland, Italy, Tierra del Fuego, Yugoslavia, Austria, Turkey, Greece and the Republic of Andorra (RAMAZZOTTI, 1983). PETERSEN (1951) described it from Greenland found in *Dicranum scoparium* associated with moist acid soil.

# Pseudechiniscus suillus (Ehrenberg, 1853)

Three specimens were found in the surface layer, collected close to the homothermic spring (homo I/ CTR 23/1) at Puilassoq.

## Remarks:

MAUCCI (1996) proposed that *Pseudechiniscus suillus* has not been reported from Greenland until now, since PETERSEN (1951) entirely described *P. suillus* 'forma facettalis'. However, it was found in moss on Disko Island by GRÖNGAARD et al.(1990) and by PETERS & DUMJAHN (1999). Also it has been found in Poland (DASTYCH, 1987) and in Finland (HALLAS, 1977). On Svalbard it has been collected from moss (WEGLARSKA, 1965, MAUCCI 1996) and additionally in *Dryas octopetala* (DASTYCH, 1985). MIHELCIC (1952) also found it in tussocks of higher plants (e.g., *Saxifraga*) and in grass.

#### 4. Discussion

Despite the small number of samples investigated from three different localities, the results suggest that there is an association of different species in each location (Blaesedalen, Kuanit, Puilassoq). Only four species (*Amphibolus nebulosus*, *Doryphoribus macrodon, Macrobiotus harmsworthi*, and *Macrobiotus richtersi*) could be located in more than one locality. Moreover, it seems that the tardigrade fauna of the soil in Blaesedalen (snowfield) has a different composition, although the samples were taken of only four meters apart. This underlines the necessity to survey each sample separately to make an attempt of describing some ecological parameters for tardigrades. Some species were found just once or only as an egg, exuvia, or cyst. Considering the small amount of data collected it cannot be deduced whether these species prefer this habitat or whether the occurrence is random, because terrestrial tardigrades are known for their "insular distribution" (RAMAZZOTTI, 1983). It is quite difficult to detect a relationship between tardigrade fauna and abiotic factors, because these were measured only once. Furthermore it is difficult to be sure whether the collected tardigrade belongs to the edaphon, because all investigated tardigrades were found in moss before.

## 4.1. Species found in more than one locality

<u>Amphibous nebulosus</u> was found in the soil of the snowfield (Blaesedalen) in sample CTR 4/2 with one specimen while at Puilassoq (sample CTR 23/1) one egg was

#### Tardigrades in soil

collected. Both soils were taken in a wet area. CTR 4/2 was taken from a wet hollow between two hummocks. CTR 23/1 had a moisture content of 76,8% and can be regarded as a soil with freshwater influence (algae, Harpacticidae). DASTYCH (1985) has found this species before in moss an a thufur (=hummock) and in moss from a bank of a dried stream. This report may confirm that the species prefers habitats with a high water content. This species is known to be carnivorous, eating rotiferans and other tardigrades. Doryphoribius macrodon and Macrobiotus richtersi were both found in the soil of the snowfield (CTR 4/2, CTR A 16/1) and at Kuanit (CTR 12/1). The soil of CTR A 16/1 and CTR 12/1 showed comparable temperatures as well as the same content of ammonium. PH and nitrate concentration were higher at Kuanit than in Blaesedalen. The water content of both samples differed extremely (Tab. 3). Both samples show a high diversity of taxa with nearly the same structure but a difference in abundance (Tab. 4). Because of the differences and the small amount of data it cannot be generalised whether this species has a preference to high moisture or other parameters. It is most likely that the soil taken at Kuanit can be regarded as favourable for Doryphoribius macrodon because aside from 16 specimens and three exuvia, four cysts were found. Also it has formerly been reported from moss on and between thufur (DASTYCH, 1985) as a habitat which is quite comparable to the location of sample CTR A16/1 and CTR 4/2.

<u>Macrobiotus harmsworthi</u> is considered to be cosmopolitan (MAUCCI, 1996). Specimens were found in sample CTR A 16/1 at Blaesedalen, specimens and eggs were found at Kuanit, and only eggs were found in sample CTR 23/1 at Puilassoq. The additional parameters measured for these samples were different, especially the water content ranged from 20,3% (CTR A 16/1) to 76,8% (CTR 23/1). Obviously moisture does not seem to be a limiting factor for the occurence of this species. Usually this species is found in moss but it has already been found in soil by MIHELCIC (1952); HALLAS (1977); HALLAS & YEATES (1972), and WEGLARSKA (1968). It was collected from soil of coniferous and deciduous forest and in Rendsina (MILHECIC, 1952), which might be an indicator for tolerance toward variation of pH (Table 3).

#### 4.2. Samples taken at Blaesedalen

Tardigrade composition varies even among the five samples investigated from the former snowfield because the samples were taken beginning from top of the slope (CTR A 14/1) to the bottom (CTR 18/1). WALLWORCK (1976) found that even one hummock can be devided in different ecological zones because of the different moisture characteristics.

Only *Diphascon alpinum* and *Doryphoribius macrodon* were found in two samples of this locality (Tab. 5).

#### Species found in sample CTR 4/2:

In this sample ten specimens and one cyst belonging to four different species were found: *Doryphoribius macrodon, Hypsibius convergens, Isohypsibius marcellionoi,* and *Amphibolus nebulosus.* 

Doryphoribius macrodon was the dominating species of this sample. The cosmopolitan Hypsibius convergens is reported from moss and different kinds of soil (see 3.4.). Like Amphibolus nebulosus, Isohypsibius marcellionoi is known for occasionally living in

aquatic environment (RAMAZZOTTI, 1983). This description corresponds with the quality of the soil, which was collected in a wet hollow between two hummocks at the bottom of the snowfield.

### Species found in sample CTR A 14/1:

This sample taken from the slope of the former snowfield can be regarded as well drained soil (RIEGER, 1974). In the upper section only one specimen of the bacteriophagous *Diphascon tenue*, which is a new report for Greenland, and in the lower section one egg of *Macrobiotus ariekammensis* were found. In the surface no tardigrades were collected although other groups like collemboles, mites, and nematodes were present and on top of the soil typical plants like liverworts, lichens, and mosses (Bryidae) were found. Nutrients, pH and temperature do not differ from other samples from the snowfield. It is therefore questionable whether the measured parameters are the reason for unfavourable conditions for tardigrades. A possible reason for their absence is might be the fact that snow is covering this area for a long time of the year. WALLWORCK (1976) suggested for other groups of the edaphon (mites) that the absence of a species from one habitat does not necessarily imply that the conditions there are intolerable. The reason for the absence might also be that the species did not have the opportunity to disperse to this habitat.

#### Species found in CTR A 15/1:

Only one specimen of the bacteriophagous *Diphascon alpinum* was found in the surface layer. As for sample CTR A 14/1, the reason for the absence of tardigrades here is not clear, although one can consider that the sample was taken right in the middle of the slope, where snow is persistant most of the year. It is highly likely that the diversity or abundance is not governed by the moisture content of the soil, for in sample CTR 16/1 the water content is much lower (20,3 %) and more tardigrades were found.

## Species found in CTR A 16/1

The identified specimens belong to two different species: the bacteriophagous *Diphascon alpinum* and the predator *Macrobiotus harmsworthi*. Both were also found in other samples (*D. alpinum*: CTR A15/1; *M. harmsworthi* CTR 23/1,12/1). In addition, eggs and one exuvia were found: the eggs belonging to *Macrobiotus richtersi* and *Hebesuncus conjungens*, both common and widespread species. An exuvia from *Doryphoribius macrodon* was found in another sample (CTR 12/1), too. This sample shows a high diversity of tardigrades but a low abundance (Tab. 2). It seems like all these species are able to inhabit different substrates. Three have already been located in soil samples: *Macrobiotus harmsworthi* (reported by MILHELCIC 1952; HALLAS 1977; HALLAS & YEATES 1972, WEGLARSKA 1968), *Macrobiotus richtersi* (reported by MILHELCIC 1952; ROMPU et al. 1994), and *Diphascon alpinum* (reported by HALLAS, 1977; HALLAS & YEATES 1972).

In Addition to the soil habitat *Macrobiotus richtersi* was found in freshwater environment, in moss on a dry snowpatch, and in tussocks of higher plants. This suggests that *Macrobiotus richtersi* and *Diphascon alpinum* are tolerant to wide ranges of moisture. Nevertheless, the low water content of this sample (20,3 %) might be questionable because of the high occurrence of Rotatoria, especially Monogononta. This taxon is normally an indicator for a high water content.

#### 4.3. Samples taken at Kuanit

Apart from *Doryphoribius macrodon*, *Macrobiotus richtersi* and *Macrobiotus harmsworthi*, which were found also in other localities, the soil contained specimens of *Amphibolus weglarskae*, *Hypsibius arcticus* (+ egg), *Hypsibius zetlandicus* (+1cyst), and one egg of *Macrobiotus* spec. This sample shows the highest diversity of all samples taken at Disko Island. Also the density is relatively high (30 Tardigrades/ 2,5g). As mentioned before, the soil of this locality shows typical characteristics of freshwater influence (Harpacticidae, algae, high water content), therefore it seems to be suitable as a habitat for *Amphibolus weglarskae* and *Hypsibius arcticus*. Referring to RAMAZZOTTI (1983) they have been found in water before.

## 4.4. Sample taken at Puilassoq

Apart from the eggs of *Amphibolus nebulosus* and *Macrobiotus harmsworthi*, eggs of *Macrobiotus echinogenitus* were collected. All identified individuals belong to the species *Pseudechiniscus facettalis* and *Pseudechiniscus suillus*. This sample is the only one which showed Heterotardigrada (Echiniscidae). Here, especially *Pseudechinisus facettalis* occurs with a high frequency. Echiniscidae are known as tardigrades who need a high oxygen concentration, therefore these tardigrades are rare in soil. Like the soil collected at Kuanit, this soil shows a typical freshwater influence. With the exception of *Amphibolus nebulosus*, none of the species is described for aquatic environment. *Macrobiotus harmsworthi* and *Macrobiotus echinogenitus* have been collected in soil before. While MILHELCIC (1954) found that neither *Pseudechiniscus suillus* nor *Macrobiotus echinogenitus* like high moisture, the present investigation shows different results. *Pseudechiniscus facettalis* is reported from moss on acid soil, but the pH of the sample was 7. This relatively high pH for an Arctic soil might be caused by the proximity of the homothermic spring (pH 10,3), but it is conspicuous that *Sphagnum* is also growing there.

### 4.5. Methodological remarks

Along with the tardigrades the typical taxa of the Arctic soil fauna such as nematodes, rotifers, mites, collemboles, and copepods were found. It seems unrealistic to describe a kind of "soil community" because of the great variety of the tardigrade composition of each sample. The method being used is not suitable for a definite quantitative study of the edaphon, because the bigger animals might remain in the upper sieves. However, the additional notes of the accompanying fauna and flora may help to characterise the soil conditions. As known from former investigations (WALLWORCK, 1976), some taxa for example prefer dry habitats and a higher pH (like spring tails), other show more preference to higher moisture and lower pH (like mites).

One might also consider that tardigrades, which adhere on soil, will not be washed down. However, by controlling the remainders of the upper sieves no tardigrades or eggs were found. Freezing the samples was a good method as tardigrades of most samples (except Kuanit) were still alive and could be sorted out more easily. However, it became apparent that the traditional method used for picking the animals was not suitable because of time consuming examination. Therefore it might be more suitable to use a kind of Baermann funnel (HALLAS & YEATES, 1972) or a centrifuge (HALLAS, 1975) for further investigations.

### 5. References

- ADAMS, H., CZIHAK, G., 1964. Großes zoologisches Praktikum, Teil I, Gustav Fischer Verlag, pp.163
- BINDA, M. G., PILATO, G., DASTYCH, H., 1980. Decribzione di una nuova specie di Eutardigrado: Doryphoribius macrodon, Animalia 7 (1/3), Catania, pp. 23-27
- DASTYCH, H., 1983. Two new Eutardigrada species from West Spitzbergen and the Tatra MS, Siere D, Sciences biologiques, Vol. 23, pp. 195-200
- DASTYCH, H., 1985. West Spitzbergen Tardigrada, Acta Zool. Cracov., pp.169-214
- DASTYCH, H., 1987. Altidudal distribution of Tardigrada in Poland, Selected Symposia and Monographs, Modena, pp. 169-176
- GRÖNGAARD, A., KRISTENSEN, N. M., PETERSEN M. K., 1990. Tardigradfaunaen pa Disko, Feltkursus I Arktisk biologi, Godhavn, pp.155-179
- HALLAS, T. E., 1977. Survey of the Tardigrada of Finland, Ann. Zool. Fennici 14, pp.173-183
- HALLAS, T. E., 1975. A mechanical Method for the Extraction of Tardigrada, Mem. Ist. Ital. Idrobiol., 32 Suppl., pp. 153-157
- HALLAS, T. E., YEATES, G. W., 1972. Tardigrada of the soil and litter of a Danish beech forest, Pedobiologia, Bd.12, pp. 287-304
- KRISTENSEN, R. M., 1987. Generic revision of the Echiniscidae with a discussion of the orgin of the family, Biology of Tardigrades, Mondena, pp. 261-335
- MAUCCI, W., 1996. Tardigrada of the Arctic tundra with descriptions of two new species, Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society, 116, pp. 185-204
- MILHECIC, F., 1952. Contribucion al Estudio de la Ecologia de los Tardigrados que habitan suelos de humus, Anales de Edafologia y Fisiologia Vegetal, Tomo XI, Num. 4, pp. 407-446

MILHECIC, F., 1954. Zur Ökologie der Tardigraden, pp. 251-257

- PETERS, T., DUMJAHN, P., this volume. Ecological aspects of tardigrade distribution on Disko Island, Reports on Polar Research
- PETERSEN, B., 1951. The tardigrade fauna of Greenland, Meddr. Grönland, Bd. 150, pp. 1-94
- RIEGER, S., 1974. Arctic soils, Arctic and Alpine Environments, Methuen, London pp.749-768
- RAMAZZOTTI, G., MAUCCI, W., 1983. The Phylum Tardigrada, III Edition, Vol. 41
- ROMPU, E. A., DE SMET, W. H., COOMANS, A., 1994. Some terrestrial Tardigrades from Zimbabwe, Biol. Jaarb. Dodonaea 62, pp. 48-55
- WALLWORCK, J. A., 1976. The Destribution and Diversity of Soil Fauna, Academic Press, pp. 140-173
- WEGLARSKA, B., 1965. Die Tardigraden Spitzbergens, Acta Zoologica Cracoviensia, pp. 43-52
- WEGLARSKA, B., 1968. Bodentardigraden des Hohen Hindukusch, Acta Zoologica Cracoviensia, pp. 440-446

# 6. Acknowledgements

I wish to express my grateful thanks to Hilke Ruhberg and Angelika Brandt, who made it possible for me to join the excursion to Greenland. Furthermore I want to thank Henning H. Jørgensen for the determination of several plants. Thanks to the whole Greenland team and to my friends for their helpfulness and encouragement, especially to Ulrike Küsters for checking the English version and to Nasser Zoroofchi for all the cups of coffee.

# Ecological aspects of tardigrade distribution on Disko Island, West Greenland

Thorsten Peters and Petra Dumjahn

Zoological Institute and Museum, University of Hamburg, Martin-Luther-King-Platz 3, 20146 Hamburg, Germany

## Abstract

This paper describes the results of an investigation on the tardigrade fauna from Disko Island, West Greenland. Along two vertical transects in a Low Arctic and a High Arctic environment 249 tardigrades were collected out of moss samples from alcaline and non - carbonate bedrock. Every species is discussed and compared with the results of comprehensive studies in the Arctic environment (Dastych, 1985; Grøngaard et.al., 1990; Maucci, 1996). Indications for a strong habitat preference regarding altitude and bedrock were not found but some species show a wider ecological amplitude than those described in earlier studies.

### Introduction

Tardigrades are small aquatic metazoa with direct development rarely of more than 1mm length. They colonise permanently humid habitats like the marine environment, brackish and freshwater biotopes, but also temporary hydrous terrestrial habitats, or even deserts.

Tardigrades depend on a surrounding film of water to remain in an active state.

Being faced with a desiccating environment, terrestrial and some marine tardigrades undergo anhydrobiosis, this means a cryptobiotic state during which trehalose replaces the structural water of cellular compounds and a tun is formed (Westh and Ramløv 1991). This tun state enables tardigrades to withstand periodic drying of the habitat and thereby increasing their life span. Similar adaptations are known from some rotifers, nematodes and crustaceans.

Little is known about the factors leading to habitat preferences of different limnoterrestrial tardigrade species. However, numerous observations from a variety of heights have suggested that some species prefer certain altitudes and / or certain kinds of bedrock - where the pH varies with different substrates - and have a restricted range (Nelson 1975; Maucci 1980; Ramazzotti and Maucci 1983; Dastych 1985, 1988).

Studying the tardigrades in Tatra National Park, Poland, Dastych (1980) stated that the number of individuals increased with increasing altitude, while the numbers of species slightly decreased. Regarding his study of the tardigrade fauna in West Spitsbergen it is interesting to note that he came up with different results (Dastych 1985).

Concerning the altitudinal distribution Dastych stated a decrease of the number of species with increasing altitude and species which he considered to be associated with non - carbonate bedrock in Poland (Dastych 1980) were found exclusively on carbonate bedrock in West Spitsbergen (Dastych 1985).

Kathman and Cross (1991) investigated the importance of altitude on tardigrade distribution on Vancouver Island, Canada. In this study parametric statistical techniques and quantitative replicate samples were used for the first time in order to determine the suggested relationship between altitude and tardigrade distribution.

Analyzing the data of more than 7000 individuals collected in mosses from six altitudes, Kathman and Cross (1991) found no correlation between altitude and the distribution of tardigrades, instead they suggested that the abiotic factors of the microhabitats like substratum pH would possibly be more important for tardigrade distribution.

In this study an attempt is made to compare the observed tardigrade fauna from Disko Island, W. Greenland, with earlier investigations in the Arctic environment (Petersen 1951; Dastych 1985; Grøngaard, Kristensen & Petersen 1990; Maucci 1996) especially on the backround of altitudinal distribution and the kind of bedrock.

#### **Material and Methods**

During a field excursion on Disko Island, West Greenland in July and August 1998 we collected dry cushion shaped mosses of groups 4 resp. 5 (Kinchin 1994) in a Low - Arctic and a High - Arctic environment in 5 altitudes from Gneiss and Basalt bedrocks to investigate the inhabiting species composition of the xerophilous tardigrade fauna.

Ten samples were taken per height from rocks along two vertical gradients from 0 m above sea level (a.s.l.) up to 400 m a.s.l. every 100 metres and were stored in paper bags for transportation. Geographical positions were measured with two Magellan GPS 2000 data loggers calibrated for high latitudes and a Thommen altimeter with a range from 0 m - 5000 m a.s.l.

The Low - Arctic area in which samples were taken is located north - west of the Arctic Station in Godhavn below the ice cap of the Lyngmarken glacier (Ly). During an eight day excursion to the Mellemfjord on the west coast of Disko Island we were able to collect the same type of mosses in a High Arctic environment along a vertical gradient of an unnamed mountain on the Mellemfjord south shore (MF). Stations and routes of the two transects are pictured in maps 1 and 2. Samples were collected on the 26th and 27th of July (MF) and on the 2nd and 3rd of August respectively (Ly).

Geographical positions, altitude above sea level, kind of bedrock and directions of exposure are summarized in table 1.

Sample No.	Location	GPS - Data	Altitude metres a.s.l	Bedrock	Exposure
1.1 - 1.10	MF	N 69.42.76 W 54.35.77	0	basalt	south
3.1 - 3.11	MF	N 69.42.08 W 54.37.38	100	basalt	south
5.1 - 5.10	MF	N 69.42.07 W 54.37.77	200	basalt	south
7.1 - 7.10	MF	N 69.42.14 W 54.38.12	300	basalt	south
9.1 - 9.7	MF	N 69.42.34 W 54.38.15	400	basalt	south

Table 1

Sample No.	Location	GPS - Data	Altitude metres a.s.l	Bedrock	Exposure	
1.1 - 1.10	Ly	N 69.15.563 W 53.32.698	0	gneiss	sw	
3.1 - 3.11	Ly	N 69.15.806 W 53.32.833	100	gneiss	north, vertical	
5.1 - 5.10	Ly	N 69.15.952 W 53.33.685	200	basalt	west, vertical	
7.1 - 7.10	Ly	N 69.16.031 W 53.33.642	300	basalt	Rocks lying o the ground	
9.1 - 9.7	Ly	N 69.16.292 W 53.33.925	400	basalt	Rocks lying or the ground	

One sample from each altitude was selected by chance and sample sizes were standardized to 1.8 grams of moss (dry - weight).

The samples were moistened in a water filled Petri dish for a couple of hours and the moss was then squeezed several times before examination of the rinsed out debris took place by using a Zeiss stereomicroscope with  $40 \times -60 \times magnification$ .

Tardigrades were sorted out with a micropipette and transferred into either Faure mounting medium or, mostly, into polyvinyllactophenol with the help of an Irwin Loop. Further investigations of the mounted and Glyceel - sealed specimens were made with a Zeiss light microscope at 1000 x magnification and oil immersion in Hamburg, as well as with a differential interference contrast Nomarski-technique Zeiss microscope in Copenhagen.

An attempt has been made to categorise the species found into three altitudinal distribution groups : I. Species with a distribution along the entire gradient

II. Species with a distribution only in the upper zone of the transect

(300 m - 400 m a.s.l.)

III. Species with a distribution only in the lower zone of the transect (0 m - 200 m a.s.l.)

Furthermore, three species groups with regard to their bedrock preferences are distinguished :

I. Species found on alcaline and on non - carbonate bedrock

II. Species found only on alcaline bedrock (basalt)

III. Species found only on non - carbonate bedrock (gneiss)

For determining the species the following references were used : " Il Phylum Tardigrada", G. Ramazzotti and W. Maucci, 1983; " The Tardigrade Fauna of Greenland",

B. Petersen, 1951; " Generic revision of the Echiniscidae (Heterotardigrada) with a discussion of the family", R. M. Kristensen, 1987; " The Biology of Tardigrades", I.M. Kinchin, 1994; " Tardigrada", E. Marcus, 1936.

# Results

A total of 249 tardigrades were collected and identified, belonging to 15 species and 10 genera. Except of two localities (MF, 100 m a.s.l.; Ly, 200 m a.s.l.) tardigrades were

found in all samples. The highest number of species and individuals was found in the sample from 0 m a.s.l. of the transect in the Lyngmarken area, where 97 tardigrades of 8 genera were collected. All species found were formerly described from Greenland. A summary of the species found in each altitude is given in tables 2 and 3.

## Table 2 Transect Lyngmarken

Family	Species	0 m	100 m	200 m	300 m	400 m
Echiniscidae	Echiniscus arctomys				13	
	Echiniscus blumi	21				
	Echiniscus wendti	11			4	26
	E. arctomys/wendti				3	1
	Pseudechiniscus suillus				1	
	Testechiniscus spitsbergensis	5				2
Macrobiotidae	Macrobiotus hufelandi	32				1
	Macrobiotus islandicus	3	4			
	Minibiotus intermedius	7				31
Hypsibiidae	Diphascon alpinum	1				
Calohypsibiidae	Calohypsibius ornatus		1		4	
Milnesiidae	Milnesium tardigradum	16			3	8
Total		97	5	0	28	69

# Table 3 Transect Mellemfjord

Family	Species	0 m	100 m	200 m	300 m	400 m
Echiniscidae	Echiniscus arctomys	3				1
	Echiniscus merokensis				3	
	Echiniscus wendti			2		4
	Pseudechiniscus suillus				8	2
Macrobiotidae	Macrobiotus harmsworthi			1		
	Macrobiotus hufelandi			2	1	
	Macrobiotus islandicus	1				
Hypsibiidae	Ramazzottius oberhaeuseri			3	3	4
	Hebesuncus conjungens	2		2		
Calohypsibiidae	Calohypsibius ornatus			2	1	
Milnesiidae	Milnesium tardigradum	1		8		
Total		7	0	20	12	11

.



Map 1 Transect area Lyngmarken


Map 2 Transect area Mellemfjord

Differences between areas are graphically illustrated in Figures 1.-4.



Fig. 1 Distribution of tardigrade species in different altitude zones in the Lyngmarken - Transect

Fig 2 Distribution of tardigrade specimens in different altitude zones in the Lyngmarken - Transect



Fig. 3 Distribution of tardigrade species in different altitude zones in the Mellemfjord - Transect



altitude above sea level



Fig. 4 Distribution of tardigrade specimens in different altitude zones in the Mellemfjord - Transect

In none of the areas species with a distribution over the entire gradient were found, however, species that have a wide distribution along these vertical gradients are: *Echiniscus wendti, Testechiniscus spitsbergensis, Macrobiotus hufelandi, Calohypsibius ornatus* and *Milnesium tardigradum*.

Species with a distribution only in the upper zone of both transects are:

Echiniscus arctomys, Echiniscus merokensis and Pseudechiniscus suillus.

Species with a distribution only in the lower zone of both transects are:

Echiniscus blumi and Macrobiotus islandicus.

Concerning the distribution related to the kind of bedrock, species found on both Basalt and Gneiss comprise: *Echiniscus wendti*, *Testechiniscus spitsbergensis*, *Macrobiotus hufelandi*, *Macrobiotus islandicus*, *Minibiotus intermedius*, *Calohypsibius ornatus*, and *Milnesium tardigradum*.

The species which were exclusively found on Gneiss are: *Echiniscus blumi* and *Diphascon alpinum*.

Species showing a preference for alcaline bedrocks and thus found on Basalt are: *Echiniscus arctomys, Pseudechiniscus suillus, Macrobiotus harmsworthi, Ramazzottius oberhaeuseri,* and *Hebesuncus conjungens.* 

## Discussion

A generalized classification apparently will not mirror the situation because of the sometimes small numbers of specimens in the samples. Regarding the attachment of some species to the bedrock there are significant differences to earlier investigations. This suggests a separate discussion for each species.

Comments on the species found

#### Echiniscus arctomys Ehrenberg, 1853

This species is difficult to distinguish from *Echiniscus wendti* and is considered to occur in higher altitudes (R.M. Kristensen pers. comm.). Therefore, the finding of this species in the sample from 0 m a.s.l. (MF) might be a misidentified for *Echiniscus wendti*. It was found exclusively on alcaline bedrock and has not been reported from Spitsbergen (Dastych 1985).

#### Echiniscus blumi Richters, 1903

*E. blumi* was found only in one sample from the Lyngmarken - Transect in 0 m a.s.l. from non - carbonate bedrock. Regarding the findings in the Tatra Mountains and in West Spitsbergen (Dastych 1980; 1985) on non - carbonate respectively on carbonate bedrock exclusively, there seems to be no significant preference of this species for a specific bedrock. *E. blumi* is a widespread species, probably cosmopolitan.

#### Echiniscus merokensis Richters, 1904

Only we found only three specimens of this species, all in the 300 m sample of the transect taken in the Mellemfjord area. More numerous data from West Spitsbergen (Dastych 1985) indicate a wide distribution along vertical gradients (10 - 1100 m a.s.l.) as well as occurence on the two types of bedrock. It is also considered to be a species of cosmopolitan distribution.

# Echiniscus wendti Richters, 1903

With the exception of the samples from 100 m a.s.l. (Ly and MF), *E. wendti* was found in all altitudes and on both types of bedrock. Dastych (1985) described the optimum of its occurence lying above 700 m a.s.l. and stated a strong association to non - carbonate bedrocks. Maucci (1996) stated a widespread distribution of this species in Greenland. As mentioned before, distinguishing *E. wendti* and *E. arctomys* is, depending of the quality of the preparation, sometimes very difficult. With respect to this problem a species called *E. arctomys/wendti*, which is showing characters of both species, is mentioned in Table 2. Four specimens were found of this species, all of them in the upper zone of the Lyngmarken transect on alcaline bedrock.

# Pseudechiniscus suillus (Ehrenberg), 1853

Eleven individuals of this species were found in both transects altogether. Although this species was always found together with *Echiniscus arctomys* or *Echiniscus wendti* in the upper levels of both transects, *Pseudechiniscus suillus* was not found below 300 m a.s.l.*Pseudechiniscus suillus* is reported from Greenland (Petersen 1951; Maucci 1996) as well as from other localities around the world.

# Testechiniscus spitsbergensis (Scourfield), 1897

This species was found only in the Lyngmarken transect and though it is considered to be an abundant species in Arctic environments (Dastych 1985; Maucci 1996) there were only seven individuals were found. Formerly known as *Echiniscus spitsbergensis*, it has been reported from Greenland (Petersen 1951) and from many other Arctic, Subarctic or montane environments.With respect to findings from Spitsbergen, where Dastych (1985) reported a strong attachment to alcaline bedrock, it is noteworthy that here more specimens were found on non - carbonate bedrock. The specimens were collected at 0 m a.s.l. and at 400 m a.s.l. which underlines the wide altitudinal range in which this species occurs (Dastych 1985).

#### Macrobiotus harmsworthi Murray, 1907

In this study only one specimen of this species was found (200 m a.s.l., MF) although it is considered to be very common in Arctic areas (Dastych 1985; Maucci 1996).

#### Macrobiotus hufelandi Schultze, 1833

This is a very frequently reported species and considered to have cosmopolitan distribution with a wide altitudinal range. As there is no significant habitat preference documented in earlier investigations, the numerous findings from the Lyngmarken transect at 0 m a.s.l. most probably do not represent any trends.

#### Macrobiotus islandicus Richters, 1904

Although this species is described as abundant and rather numerous in Arctic environments (Dastych 1985; Maucci 1996), only eight specimens were found in both transects. It was detected both on gneiss and basalt in altitudes between 0 m and 100 m a.s.l.

## Minibiotus intermedius (Plate), 1888

The findings of this species in 0 m a.s.l. and 400 m a.s.l. in the Lyngmarken transect emphasizes the observations from Spitsbergen where Dastych (1985) described it as a species with a wide altitudinal range. Maucci (1996) characterized it as a species "which shows no particular environmental preferences" (p. 193), demonstrated here by findings on both gneiss and basalt.

#### Diphascon alpinum Murray, 1906

*D. alpinum* is considered to be one of the more common and widespread species of the genus *Diphascon* (Ramazzotti and Maucci 1983). Its occurence in Greenland was described by Petersen (1951). In this study only one specimen was found at 0 m a.s.l. in a sample from the Lyngmarken transect.

#### Hebesuncus conjungens (Thulin), 1911

Four specimens of this species were found in the 0 m a.s.l. and 200 m a.s.l. samples from the Mellemfjord transect. According to Petersen (1951), Dastych (1985), Ramazzotti and Maucci (1983) and Maucci (1996) it is widely distributed in Arctic regions as well as in other climates although findings are not very numerous.

#### Ramazzottius oberhaeuseri (Doyère, 1840)

The seven specimens of this species were found exclusively in the samples from the Mellemfjord transect at 200 m a.s.l. and 400 m a.s.l. on basalt.*R. oberhaeuseri* was reported by Petersen (1951) and Dastych (1985) who found this species frequently in heights between 5 and 1100 m a.s.l. and on both alcaline and non - carbonate bedrocks. This is also considered to be a cosmopolitan species.

#### Calohypsibius ornatus (Richters, 1900)

Seven representatives of this species were found in samples from 100 m, 200 m and 300 m a.s.l of both transects and from both alcaline and non - carbonate bedrocks. This species was reported from Greenland by Marcus (1936) and Maucci (1996) and by Dastych (1985) from Spitsbergen. In contrast to the findings in Spitsbergen, *C. ornatus* was found in a lower altitudinal zone.

#### Milnesium tardigradum Doyère, 1840

Numerous specimens of this species were found in samples from 0 m, 200 m, 300 m and 400 m a.s.l. of both transects and from both alcaline and non - carbonate bedrocks.

It is described as a very common and cosmopolitan species showing no significant habitat preference (Dastych 1985; Maucci 1996). In addition to the discussed species above, four specimens of *Proechiniscus hannae* were found in the Lyngmarken area. This species was found in samples which were taken during a preparation period and therefore is not mentioned in the tables.

#### Concluding Remarks

All fifteen species of tardigrades that were found in samples from the two transects are coping with a wide altitudinal range and substratum with different pH and thus can be considered as eurytopic.

In contrast to the study of the tardigrade fauna of Spitsbergen (Dastych 1985) it is interesting to note that some species like *E. blumi*, *P. suillus*, *M. harmsworthi* and *H. conjungens* were found on different substrates than those they clearly prefer in Spitsbergen.

Regarding the sometimes small numbers of specimens found, this study cannot give an accurate and quantitative picture of tardigrade distribution in the sampled areas.

Therefore, a classification like the one from Spitsbergen (Dastych 1985) is not attempted.

For further studies it might be useful to extend the vertical gradients to much higher altitudes as there has been recorded a significant drop in tardigrade species numbers above 700 m a.s.l. (Dastych 1985). With respect to the sometimes insular distribution of tardigrades in mosses, it must be mentioned that the extraction method as well as the determined sample sizes that were used in this study should be changed.

A larger amount of moss and a more specific extraction method like sieving will most probably result in finding more specimens in the samples.

The Arctic environment is characterized by quite arid and windy conditions, thus allowing dry soil components dispersal by wind. In this respect, it seems possible that otherwise pH - neutral or slightly acidic substratum like gneiss could be covered with eolic drifted alcaline particles which may change for example the nutritional situation for the associated flora and fauna.

In a qualitative investigation Grøngaard et al. (1990) examined the tardigrade population in the Lyngmarken area along a vertical transect with a range up to the glacier in 800 m a.s.l. In contrast to our study that investigation was also regarding different types of habitats such as cryoconit holes in the glacier ice. The 25 species that were found include all species which were found in this study except of three species: *Echiniscus arctomys, Diphascon alpinum* and *Calohypsibius ornatus*. The findings of both investigations strongly suggest a much wider distribution of most species along the vertical gradient than it could be derived from only one investigation. For example, *Milnesium tardigradum, Minibiotus intermedius,* and *Testechiniscus spitsbergensis* were only found in 200 m a.s.l. or above by Grøngaard et al.(1990), whereas in this study they were found over the entire vertical gradient.

It has to be mentioned that two of the samples (200m a.s.l. Ly and 100 m a.s.l. Mf) were probably collected in a slightly wet condition thereby allowing fungi to destroy much of the fauna before examination took place in Hamburg.

#### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank especially Prof. Dr. Reinhardt Møbjerg Kristensen, University of Copenhagen, who was of invaluable help in determining the tardigrade species and in supervising this project.

Thanks are expressed to PD Dr. Hilke Ruhberg and Prof. Dr. Angelika Brandt for all their advice and assistence and for reviewing the manuscript.

#### References

DASTYCH, H. (1980): Niesporczaki (Tardigrada) Tatrzanskiego Parku Narodowego, Polska Akademia Nauk Zaklad Zoologii Systematycznej 1 Doswiadczalnej Monografie Fauny Polski, Tom 9

DASTYCH, H. (1985): West Spitsbergen Tardigrada, Acta Zool. Cracov., 28: 169-214

DASTYCH, H. (1988): The Tardigrada of Poland, Monografie Fauny Polski, 16: 1-255

- GREVEN, H. (1980): Die Bärtierchen. Die Neue Brehm Bücherei, Vol.537, Ziemsen Verlag
- GRØNGAARD, A.KRISTENSEN, N.M. and PETERSEN, M. (1992): Tardigradfaunaen på Disko. In: Feltkursus i Arktisk biologi 1990, Zoologisk Museum, Københavns Universitet et al.(Ed.), København 1992 pp.155-179
- KATHMAN, R.D., CROSS, S.F.(1991): Ecological distribution of moss-dwelling tardigitades on Vancouver Island, British Columbia, Canada, Canadian Journal of Zoology, 69 : 122 - 129

KINCHIN, I.M. (1994): The Biology of Tardigrades, Portland Press, London

- KRISTENSEN, R. M.(1982b): New aberant eutardigrades from homothermic springs on Disko Island, West Greenland. In : Nelson, D.R.(Ed.) Proceedings of the third international symposium on the Tardigrada. East Tennessee State University Press, pp. 203 - 220
- KRISTENSEN, R. M.(1987): Generic Revision of the Echiniscidae (Heterotardigrada), with a discussion of the origins of the family. In: Bertolani, R.(Ed.) Biology of Tardigrades.Selected Symposium and Monographs, I. Collana U.Z.I., Modena, Mucchi Editore, pp.261 - 336

MARCUS, E.(1936): Tardigrada. Das Tierreich. Berlin und Leipzig, 66 : 1 - 340

- MAUCCI, W. (1996): Tardigrada of the Arctic tundra with descriptions of two new species. Zool. J. Linn. Soc., 116: 185 204
- NELSON, D.R.(1975): Ecological distribution of tardigrades on Roan Mountain, Tennessee, North Carolina. In: Higgins, R.P.(Ed.) Proceedings of the first international symposium on tardigrades. Memorie dell'Istituto Italiano di Idrobiologia, 32 (Suppl.): 225 - 276
- PETERSEN, B. (1951): The Tardigrade Fauna of Greenland. Meddelelser om Grønland, 150: 1-94
- RAMAZOTTI, G. and W. MAUCCI (1983) : Il Phylum Tardigrada (III. edizione riveduta e aggiornata), Memorie dell'Instituto Italiano di Idrobiologia Dott. Marco de Marci, Volume 41, Verbania Pallanza, English Translation by Clark W. Beasley, McMurry University. Abilene 1995
- WESTH, P.& RAMLØV, H.(1991): Trehalose accumulation in the tardigrade Adorybiotus coronifer during anhydrobiosis. Journal of Experimental Zoology, 258: 303 311

# Rapid assessment of spider species richness in the Arctic (Disko, West Greenland)

Sidsel Larsen and Thomas D. Rasmussen

Zoological Museum, University of Copenhagen Universitetsparken 15, DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

Assessment of species richness is a valuable tool in nature management. The simple and low-diversity ecosystem of the Arctic presents a possibility to test rapid assessment methods for estimation of local species richness. Two collectors sampled the spider fauna of Disko Island, West Greenland, between mid July and early August 1998. Two localities were sampled: a presumed - for Arctic conditions - high diversity area with homothermic springs (Engelskmandens Havn) and a presumed low diversity area (Mellemfjord). The collections yielded 501 adult specimens - representing 24 species (see Sum Table). Two collection methods were used: ground hand collection and pitfall trapping. A new species to Greenland, *Pelecopsis paralella* (Wider, 1834) was found in the low diversity area.

The estimators Chao 2 (Chao 1987) and Jackknife 1 (Heltshe & Forrester 1983) were applied to the data to estimate the local species richness of the sites. The estimate from the homothermic spring area was roughly 17-22 species and 10-13 species from the presumed low diversity area.

The effect of method and collector on the estimates and on the number of adults and species per sample was tested. Method and collector have a significant effect on the estimate obtained. Method has a significant effect on the number of species and adults per sample. Ground hand collection yields far more species than pitfall trapping, but each method yields unique species.

A protocol for rapid assessment of species richness in the Arctic can be outlined based on our results.

The findings from this project will be published separately in the Journal of Arachnology.

# References

- Chao, A. 1987. Estimating the population size for capture recapture data with unequal catchability. Biometrics 43: 783-791.
- Heltshe, J. & N. E. Forrester 1983. Estimating species richness using jacknife procedure. Biometrics 39: 1-11.
- Platnick, N. L. 1997. Advances in Spider Taxonomy 1992-1995. Ed. P. Merrett. Publ. The New York Entomological Society in association with The American Museum of Natural History.

Sum table: Abundance data by locality, method and date, with records of distribution according to Platnick (1997)

				0		ens Ha			Mellemfjord				Grand Total	Distribution		
_		Ground Hand Collection				Pitfalls 7			Ground Hand Collection				Total			
Family	Species	18	20	21	22	short	long		25	26	27	28	short			
Dictynidae	Dictyna major (Menge, 1869)	2	7	2	1			12							12	holarctic
Tahnidae	Hahnia glacialis (Soerensen, 1898)		3					3							3	holarctic
linyphiidae	Collinsia holmgreni (Thorell, 1871)								19	3	30	25	17	94	94	palearctic
	Dismodicus variegatus (Jackson, 1938)	4	5	6	5			20							20	Greenland
	Hilaira frigida (Thorell, 1872)	2	2	5	4	3	1	17	1					1	18	holarctic
	Hilaira vexatrix (O.P.C., 1877)								13	7	14	7	28	69	69	nearctic
	Lepthyphantes complicatus (Emerton, 1882)	2	9	3	6			20							20	holarctic
	Lepthyphantes turbatrix (O.P.C., 1877) Mecynargus borealis (Jackson, 1930)	1	3	1	1			6						-	6	nearctic
	Oreonetides vaginatus (Thorell, 1872)	2	~		12			22	I		I	3		5	5	holarctic
	Pelecopsis paralella (Wider, 1834)	2	6	11	13		I	33						,	33	holarctic
	Pocadicnemis pumila (Blackwall 1841)			1		1		2					I	1	1 2	palearctic holarctic
	Porhomma convexum	1	1		1			3							3	palearctic
	Sciastes extremus (Holm, 1967)						38	38							38	Greenland
	Scotinotylus alpinus (Banks, 1896)				2			2							2	nearctic
	Scotinotylus sacer (Crosby, 1929)				1			1							1	holarctic
	Semjicola obtusus (Emerton, 1915)			2	1	2		5	2		2			4	9	nearctic
	Tiso aestivus (L. Koch, !872)	2		1	3			6							6	palearctic
	Walckenearia clavicornis (Emerton, 1882)								1		2		1	4	4	holarctic
	Walckenearia cuspidata (Blackwall, 1833)	4		5	1	2	14	26							26	palearctic
.ycosidae	Arctosa insignita (Thorell, 1872)								1					1	1	holarctic
	Pardosa glacialis (Thorell, 1872)			1	3	1	1	6		1	5	2	5	13	19	nearctic
	Pardosa groenlandica (Thorell, 1872)		2			28	77	107							107	holarctic
hilodromidae	Thanatus arcticus (Thorell, 1872)			2				2							2	holarctic
Grand Total		20	38	40	42	37	132	309	38	11	54	37	52	192	501	2 en/12 hol/ pal/5 ne

77

Spiders species richness

# Observations of passerine birds in Blæsedalen, Disko Island, West Greenland

Doreen Finke and Conny Brandt

Zoological Institute and Zoological Museum, University of Hamburg, Martin-Luther-King-Platz 3, D-20146 Hamburg, Germany

# Introduction

The main reason for our three week field excursion to Disko Island, Greenland was to inventory the presence of four native passerine birds. We investigated the following species: the snow bunting (*Plectrophenax nivalis* Linnaeus, 1758), the lapland bunting (*Calcarius lapponicus* Linnaeus, 1758), the wheatear (*Oenanthe oenanthe* Linnaeus, 1758) and the redpoll (*Carduelis flammea* Linnaeus, 1758). The main purpose was to investigate the decrease and increase of the bird population in the valley, Blæsedalen, since the last inventory was done by Danish students (Christensen *et al.*1983) in 1982.

Recently Frimer (1991) presented data on densities and distribution of breeding passerine birds in the coastal area of Disko Island immediately east of the town of Qeqertarsuaq (Godhavn). This area is protected and has a low tourist activity compared to our study area, which is partly overlapping in transect II with the study done by Frimer in 1990. Using the research methods developed by Sharrock (1976) we defined the number of breeding places, breeding birds, and young birds. Furthermore we observed the birds behaviour where there was intrusions by humans into their area and their choices of breeding places. Sharrock (1976) developed a system how to accurately count breeding place distribution of all bird species in Britain and Ireland.

## Material and methods

In order to determinate the local species of birds we used the following literature: Gènsbøl (1996) and Boertmann & Fjeldså (1988). Binoculars (7x50, 124m on 1000m, Zeiss) and a GPS (Global Positioning System) for observing. The geographic map of Godhavn and surroundings (Kursus i arktisk geomorfologi, Geomorfologisk Laboratorium, Geogr. Inst., Kbh. Univ., 1976) we used for mapping.

Our research, based on the method developed by Sharrock (1976), was to describe the breeding behaviour of the named passerine birds. We sectioned off an area into several transects and then investigated each transect by touring it in a "criss-cross" fashion. We noted the parameters of the study area on our map and in the observation book. Corresponding to the project of 1982 we used the same symbols  $\blacktriangle$ , and  $\blacksquare$ , to mark the three different categories on the map: possible, probable or confirmed breeding places. The definition of the categories (Sharrock 1976) are explained in table 1.

The study area "Blæsedalen" (The Valley of Wind) is a valley orientated from north to south. It is at about 23 km long and 0.5 km to 2.0 km wide. In the middle part of the valley two rivers flow together to form the Indlands Delta with an enoumous area of river-beds. One of the rivers (Bielven) we marked as the northern borderline of our study area. The main river named Røde Elv flows southwards and discharges into the Disko Bay. A small lake called Morænesøen (approximately 200m x 300m) is located in the middle of the valley. It forms a wetland area with humid conditions with dense vegetation of *Salix glauca* scrub. Otherwise this area is characterised by a hilly terrain (Pjetursson Moræne). The southern part of the valley is dominated by a maritime landscape, i.e. sand, pebbles, stone and sparse vegetation. The few basaltic rocks and stones are lichen-covered and occasional rock poppies (*Papaver radicatum*) do occur. North of this meagre landscape heather growing among rocky grounds represent the typical vegetation. The condition of the soil in Blæsedalen is manifold. It is dry were small birch bushes (*Betula nana*) and heather, or wet around the lake and the river delta.

Table 1. Definition of the categories by Sharrock (1976)

Category	Symbol	Definition
Possible breeding		Bird recorded in breeding season in possible
		nesting habitat, but no other indication of
		breeding noted
Probable breeding	•	Singing male present (or breeding calls heard)
		on more than one date in same place
		Bird (or pair) apparently holding territory
		Courtship and display; or agitated behaviour or
		anxiety calls from adults, suggesting probable
		presence of nest or young nearby; or broodpath
		on trapped female
		Visiting probable nest-site
		Nest-building (including excavating nest-hole)
Confirmed breeding		Distraction-display or injury-feigning
		Used nests found
		Recently fledged young
		Adult carrying faecal sac
	  -	Adult(s) with food for the young
	1	Adult(s) entering or leaving nest-site in
		circumstances indication occupied nest
		(including colonies)
		Nest and eggs, or bird sitting and not disturbed,
		or eggshells found away from nest
		Nest with young or downy young of ducks,
		gamebirds, waders, etc.

79

Investigated Passerine birds

According to Delin & Svensson (1998) and Salomonsen (1950) the four investigated passerine birds are defined as follows:

The **Snow bunting** (*Plectrophenax nivalis* Linnaeus, 1758): The snow bunting is the most common bird of Greenland and can be observed all over the country in mostly rocky areas. The snow bunting prefers the stony ground and meagre vegetation of the coastal regions. Usually they build their nests at a minimum of 50 cm above the ground, under stones, in quarries, rocky gaps and also in walls of old houses.

The **Lapland bunting** (*Calcarius lapponicus* Linnaeus, 1758) The lapland bunting, also called the lapland longspur, favours humid and swampy grounds and can be found sitting on rocks, birches or willows. The nest is a deep and bowl-formed holes in the ground, often covered with moss and hidden under bushes.

The Wheatear (*Oenanthe oenanthe* Linnaeus, 1758): The wheatear is a very lively and agitated bird who prefers a solitary life. The nest is often hidden in stony heaps, gaps and rocks.

The **Redpoll** (*Carduelis flammea* Linnaeus, 1758): The redpoll is the smallest breeding bird of Greenland with only about 12,5 cm long. Usually this bird is found in inferior parts of the country, seldom in coastal regions. The redpoll is a very lively bird and likes hovering around, even during breeding periods. As most of the other birds the redpoll does not instinctively defend its territory. It often breeds in colonies and is very companionable. The nest is mostly built of willow branches close to or right on the ground or attached to bushes, stones and tree trunks.

# Results

Charts and maps:

The charts and distribution maps are presented in the following order:

- a) <u>Table 2-4</u>: The charts of quantity of the counted species of birds, divided in the sections and the probability of breeding. Legend: ♂ = male bird, ♀ = female bird, j = juvenile bird, f = families.
- b) <u>Map 1:</u> The map of the Blæsedalen, on which our sections are marked. The restrictions we defined according to the GPS-system.
- c) <u>Map 2-5</u>: The maps of dissemination of the four passerine birds.

The **snow bunting:** Our observations showed a higher population of male snow buntings than female birds in Blæsedalen. We never saw the snow buntings sitting in bushes or on the ground, instead they perched on stones and rocks. The nests were located closely together. We observed the male birds feeding the young. This map shows that the concentration of breeding places are in certain areas of the valley. Most breeding places and bird families were found in the rocky surroundings. Further away

from the coast the number of breeding nests decreased. The nests were deeply hidden in stony gaps or holes. Many young birds had left the nest already, but were still fed by the parents. The snow bunting was the most active bird in the area, but seemed to be disturbed by our presence.

	Possible breeding				Probable breeding			Confirmed breeding			
	3	٩ ٩	J	8	ę	j	ð	Ŷ	J	f	Total
Transect I	6	2	3	5	3	4	7	4	6	8	40
Transect II	3	1	2	4	3	2	4	1	4	4	24
Transect III	2	2	3	1	2	0	1	3	2	3	16
Transect IV	0	0	1	2	1	2	1	0	2	1	9
Transect V	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	2
Transect VI	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	3
Transect VII	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total	13	5	10	12	9	8	14	8	15	18	94

Table 2. Counted snow buntings in the various transects

The lapland bunting: We saw more female lapland buntings than males. In the southern transects (I, II) of Blæsedalen we saw only a few breeding birds and generally a very small number of lapland buntings. We found the situation different in the humid area around the lake (sections III, IV), as well as at the river arms of the Røde Elv or other humid and wet areas of the valley where the bird population was quiet large. All together the lapland bunting can be described as a shy and escaping bird, it has a clear distracting behaviour when disturbed. Then it flies up from the nest and sings loudly in order to distract the intruder. This behaviour often led us to their exact nesting place. Besides the snow bunting the lappland bunting was the most frequently observed bird in Blæsedalen.

Table 3. Counted lapland buntings in the various transects

	Possible breeding		Pr	Probable breeding			Confirmed breeding				
	ð	ę	J	3	ę	j	ð	ę	j	f	Total
Transect I	0	4	2	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	7
Transect II	1	3	1	0	2	0	0	3	0	3	10
Transect III	1	3	1	2	3	1	1	5	2	5	18
Transect IV	2	2	0	3	1	0	2	4	3	5	17
Transect V	0	1	1	1	3	0	0	4	3	4	13
Transect VI	1	0	0	1	2	2	1	2	1	2	10
Transect VII	0	2	0	2	2	2	1	1	0	1	10
<u>Total</u>	5	15	5	9	13	5	6	19	9	21	85

The wheatear. The wheatear prefers the central area of Blæsedalen and was hardly noticed in the coastal area. The favourite territory was rocky ground partly covered with heather. We rarely saw the bird and mostly noticed it only because of its singing voice. It was easily located by the typical singing clicking sound. The table shows that the wheatear was rarely observed. We observed two larger groups of wheatears close to and directly at the Arctic Station. It was groups consisting mainly of younger birds. Here the shy birds were calmer and could be observed easier. In fact, a few younger birds came inside the main building of the Arctic Station to catch the blow flies.

Table 4. Counted wheatear in the various transects

	Possible breeding			Рі	Probable breeding			onfirmed			
	ð	Ŷ	J	3	Ŷ	J	3	ę	j	f	Total
Transect I	0	0	0	0	Ō	0	0	0	0	0	0
Transect II	0	0	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	11
Transect III	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	2
Transect IV	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Transect V	1	0	0	2	1	2	1	0	0	1	7
Transect VI	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Transect VII	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	1	3	2	7
Total	1	2	11	4	1	2	3	1	4	4	29

The **redpoll**. These redpoll nests were mostly found in scrubs of willow and dwarf birch. The redpoll is the rarest of all the investigated birds in Blæsedalen. We saw and heard it very infrequent. Their nests were found in the declivity areas behind the Arctic Station. We observed the redpoll perching in bushes, on stones, small rocks or fences, on roofs or telegraph wires and it did not fear the humans.

Table 5. Counted redpoll in the various transects

	Possible breeding			Pr	Probable breeding			Confirmed breeding			
	ð	Ŷ	J	ð	Ŷ	j	ð	ę	j	f	Total
Transect I	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Transect II	1	0	1	3	1	1	2	0	1	2	10
Transect III	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	2	0	2	4
Transect IV	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Transect V	0	0	0	0	ō	0	0	0	0	0	0
Transect VI	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Transect VII	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
<u>Total</u>	1	0	1	4	1	1	3	2	1	4	14

-

Map of the Blæsedalen with GPS data

<u>Map 1</u>





Passerine birds

84

Map 2

<u>Map 3</u>







85

#### Discussion

### Anthropological influences in the Blæsedalen

In a brochure (Tourist Information Disko-Island) and in few books about Greenland and Disko Island, hiking tours through the Blæsedalen are advertised. During our investigation we observed many groups of hikers. The tourist follows small tracks leaving behind litter everywhere. We, the students of this excursion, were disturbing elements in this area, especially when we left the usual hiking routes and criss-crossed the territory. As per "Qeqertarsuaq Tourist Information" the amount of visitors increases steadily. In 1982 no tourists were registered, whereas in 1997 6400 overnight guests were counted. Many of them participated in tours through Blæsedalen. Because of the increasing number of tourists a youth-hostel was recently rebuilt in the former scientific station, The Ionsfære Station, in the valley. Next to this building there is a camp site. Both were opened for tourists in 1994. The electricity for the hostel is produced by a large generator.

#### Disturbance from tourism

Disturbance tourism could hold a lot of negative effects on birds and their breeding. It has to be assumed that disturbances cause reversible and irreversible damages and changes in the ecosystems which are often caused by unnatural factors of the organisms, populations or biological balance of the ecosystems, mostly human beings. Generally it is feared that some birds which are not able to cope with the increasing disturbances will decrease and finally disappear from their natural surroundings. The effect of a source of disturbance is measured by the reaction of one individual or a group of individuals. The number of adults is normally defined by the terminus "fitness". It describes the contribution of one individual to the following generations of the population.

Examples of anthropological impacts to the propagation are known: during an investigation of *Charadrius melodus* (Linnaeus, 1758) in Canada, the different behaviour and the changed rate of mortality of young birds was probably caused by visitors of the investigated area. In coastal areas with high visitor frequency a lower number of young birds survived their 17<sup>th</sup> day. The number of fledged young birds in one brood in a rarely visited area was 1.8 young/parents, while in a more highly visited area the number decreased to 0.5 young/parents. It was noticed that the number of breeding pairs in all examined coastal sections was reduced from 69 to 53.

A report on the *Tringa hypoleucus* (Linnaeus, 1758) showed that at highly visited parts of the coast (i.e. for fishing, hiking) the birds relocated to other sections. Furthermore these birds repeatedly had territorial fights, maybe due to stress. The number of breeding pairs at fishing nooks compared to the number of breeding pairs in quiet areas declined significantly. It is commonly know fact that repeated disturbance causes a higher rate of egg napping and a drop of temperature for the brooded egg (Ingold et al., 1982).

Another consequence of disturbances might be a future different behaviour of the animals: birds of *Anas penelope* (Linnaeus, 1758) in hunting areas eat at nighttime and rest at daytime whereas normally *Anas penelope* rests at night and eats during the day.

Frank (1992) described the influence of tourists activity from two highly frequented hiking routes and a camp site: In 263 of 492 cases it was proven that the resting and food-searching birds were disturbed by the presence of hikers. The birds reacted by hopping or flying away from the source of disturbance. Considering the high amount of energy used by flying it is not surprising that frequently disturbed birds (rate of 2.57 disturbances per hour) also do have an increased rate of metabolism (24-50% higher than that of normal birds). This disturbance could therefore result in an energy deficiency in the birds.

# Mapping

## Records of the **snow bunting**

The snow bunting was most often seen close to the lake or in the southern parts of the valley with its rocky grounds. According to our observation the snow bunting seems to favour this kind of areas. Very rarely were these species seen alone. We therefore assume that they prefer to coexist with birds of their own kind. The fact that most of the nests were located close to the hiking routes led us to realise that these birds do not feel disturbed by tourists passing their nests. Along the coast we rarely found snow bunting and their nests. We conclude that the geographic landscape and habitat in the southern part of the valley is more suitable for their nesting.

# Records of the lapland bunting

Most of the lapland bunting lived in the lake transects III, IV. In the southern part of the valley (transects I, II) the number of birds observed was much lower. This might have been due to the landscape. It is likely that the stony landscape of the south is not very suitable for their breeding and building nests. As previously mentioned the lapland bunting prefers a humid bushy landscape to breed its young. The territory north of the lake is very similar, so this species has sufficient possibilities to breed or build nests in this area.

#### Records of the wheatear

The shy and unobtrusive wheatear was rarely observed and is obviously not an abundant species in Blæsedalen. We sometimes heard its singing but could not see it. However having found some young specimens we regarded it as likely that the wheatear has built some nests in the valley and some pairs of the species are breeding there. As the nests are always well hidden and located in inaccessible regions it is probable that quite a number of nests were not found.

#### Records of the redpoll

This species was the rarest of all the observed species. The redpoll seemed shyer and more attentive than the other birds in this area. It seems that the environment of this area might not be suitable for this species. The redpoll breeds twice a year which could be the reason that their females were encountered less often.

# Comparison of the study of 1982 to the one of 1998

The snow bunting and the lapland bunting were the most frequently seen birds in Blæsedalen, both in 1982 and in 1998. A significant reduction of breeding birds however can be recognised in the area close to the youth hostel. Of all the investigated

birds in Blæsedalen the snow bunting is still the one breeding most in the valley. Our investigation (1998) clearly shows a relocation of breeding places to the southern region and to the banks of the Indlandsdelta of Rødeelv.

Comparison with the data from 1982 we noticed a reduction of recorded lapland buntings particularly in the southern areas, but also in other parts of the valley. The population of the lapland bunting has seemingly decreased significantly. This is especially true for those parts of Blæsedalen where, compared to 1982, there was an increased number of visitors to the valley, i.e. on hiking routes in the south and the area around the youth hostel. In the inaccessible northern areas the lapland bunting is more abundant now than when recorded in 1982. An even higher number of breeding specimens were found at the lake, here we observed more lapland buntings than the Danish students did in 1982. We think that as far as the wheatear is concerned the breeding places around the new located youth hostel are not attractive any more. In 1982 nests were still found in this region, nowadays one can hardly observe them there anymore. Even though the total population of the wheatear clearly declined, its presence in the northern parts has remained constant since 1982. No striking changes could be observed in the redpoll population since 1982. We were unable to give map data for the western and northern area as studied by the Danish group in 1982. In 1982 a larger area was investigated, and so a different number of birds was recorded. Nevertheless the relation of the frequency of observation between species remained nearly the same. Like in 1982, the redpoll was most often recorded close to the Arctic Station, whereas it was found rarely in the valley itself. The redpoll was the rarest bird observed by us in the valley. This could be due to the unfavourable habitat conditions for this species in Blæsedalen in 1998.

The opening of the youth hostel in 1994, with its camp site and generator, certainly destroyed a large breeding area for all bird species. Being a new source of noise in the territory, the youth hostel and the generator can cause reversible or irreversible changes in the ecosystem of Blæsedalen. Another source of disturbance for the breeding birds is the accessibility of Blæsedalen for tourists. Moreover, a high number of visitors affect the mortality rate of young birds, lacking the care of the parents (Ingold et al. 1982). Furthermore the disturbances caused by tourists on hiking routes included an increased number of flights of the birds resulting in a higher energy expenditure (Frank 1992). None of these disturbances were recorded in 1982, therefore we assume that especially tourism may be a reason for the present observed differences in the bird counts in Blæsedalen. Both the retreat of the lapland bunting from the southern parts of the valley and the obvious reduction of the redpoll numbers might be explained by tourist activities in Blæsedalen.

A variety of factors influences both growth and reduction of a bird population, most of these are anthropologic. Primarily ecological factors might effect the birth rate and mortality of the investigated species. The number of individuals in a population always varies from year to year, even when an average is defined, because every population is subject to changes in environmental dynamics. Additional factors influencing the birth rate could be the food availability. An undernourished mother is likely to have a smaller number of offspring (i.e. birds do produce more eggs if the nourishment is of high quality and quantity.). Many birds need a large territory, sufficient to raise their young.

Defending it against others of their own species is essential to them. If their area is diminished the birth rate can decline. Physical reaction to situations causing stress could appear as the reduction of sperm production, or a lower copulation rate. This phenomen is called the general adaptation syndrome. These above mentioned factors also influence and regulate the rate of mortality. A decrease in food supply or a reduction in size of territory might cause an increase in mortality rate. A single event can also be a important factor for changes within a population. Floods or other catastrophes could change the abiotic surroundings dramatically and thus destroy a whole colony of breeding birds (Kalusche 1978).

For a more exact assessment of the current situation in Blæsedalen several bird monitoring expeditions between 1983 and 1997 would have been necessary. Only after more frequent monitoring would it have been possible to evaluate the consequences of the opening of the youth hostel in 1994, the use of the generator since 1995, and the increased tourism among the local bird population. However, we only have data from the two years. Therefore we cannot definitely argue that the reduction of the investigated bird population in 1998 is due to the change in the environment. Alternatively it could have been a year of a less bird birth due to normal natural developments.

#### Potential Errors

Some probable flaws of this project might have to be considered:

Counting the birds at their breeding places we attempted to eliminate caunting them more than once. We avoided counting single birds because this would entail an even higher risk of double-counts. Nevertheless this potential flaw has to be taken into account, as it might have caused a slight statistical error. For this long-term exploration the weather conditions in the valley were excellent. The average day temperatures were about 20°C with sunshine most of the time. During the few times when we had clouds or fog the temperature dropped remarkably. During foggy periods observation was not possible. We had some foggy weather during excursions at transect III, IV and V. At these locations the observations were interrupted for max. one hour each. When windy the conditions were more difficult. At the coastal part the valley was always very windy, whereas inland the valley was relatively calm. One day, during the investigation of transect II, the wind was too heavy to continue any observations (the wind force was around five). The gathered section II data were later replaced by new observations.

The hours of observation were always between 9 a.m. and 7 p.m.. Darkness did not influence the investigation, as it was the season of the midnight sun. Taking a probable biological rhythm of the birds into consideration (i.e. feeding, resting), the limited duration of observation could have resulted in counting artefacts.

#### Summary

A different number of mapped breeding-places can be established between the project of 1982 and 1998. Due to the scarcity of data and only 2 in 16 years of investigation it cannot be concluded that the differences observed, especially regarding snow- and lapland buntings, are due to the increased local tourist activities, or are caused by

natural changes of the populations, but the high densities of passirine birds in the protected area close to our investigated area, could indicate that tourist activities may have an influence on the passeine bird population. In the future this could be proven only by monitoring the birds of Blæsedalen for several consecutive years. Future investigations may help to support or reject our hypotheses.

# Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Dr. H. Hoerschelmann, University of Hamburg, for his informative help before we visited Greenland, and to Ms. Hainberg, institute of ornithology Wilhelmshafen, for her advise and information from the library. We are especially grateful to the initiators and planners of this Greenland excursion Prof. Dr. Angelika Brandt and PP Dr. Hilke Ruhberg for making the excursion to Greenland possible, and for their help regarding this report and extraordinarily also Reinhardt Kristensen. We are particularly grateful to Mrs. Anne Marie Warfield, who corrected the English manuscript. We also like to acknowledge Prof. Dr. Reinhardt Møbjerg Kristensen, Dr. Helge Abildhauge Thomsen and Dr. Henning Heide-Jørgensen for their help during our stay in the Arctic.

#### Literature

- Becker, P. (1994) Einflüsse des Menschen auf Küstenvögel, Schriftenreihe der Schutzgemeinschaft Deutsche Nordseeküste e.V. Wilhelmshaven. pp 141
- Boertmann, D. and Fjeldså, F. (1988) Grønlandske fugle, Grønlands Hjemmestyre/Pilersuiffik. pp 48.
- Christensen, B., Hansen, J. & Thomsen, L. (1983) Fugle på Disko, sommeren 1982, pp. 145-220. In Feltkursus i Arktisk Biologi, Godhavn 1982 (eds Pape, T., Hansen, B & Hansen, J), Københavns Universitet; Studentercenterets trykkeri, pp. 276.
- Delin, H. and Svensson, L. (1998) Der große Kosmos-Naturführer Vögel, Franckh-Kosmos-Verlags-GmbH & Co p 236, 270, 282.
- Frank, D. (1992) Einwirkung touristischer Aktivitäten in der Nachsaison auf die Rastvögel im Deichvorland eines Fremdenverkehrsortes. Im Auftrag der niedersächsischen Nationalparkverwaltung. p 1-12
- Frimer, O. (1991) Densities and distribution of passerine birds in a coastal area of Disko Island, West Greenland, with noth on breeding performance. Dansk Ornithologisk Forenings Tidsskrift 85: 161-167.
- Glutz von Blotzheim, Urs N. (1997) Handbuch der Vögel Mitteleuropas, AULA-Verlag Wiesbaden Band 2 p 288; Band 6 p 91; Band 7 p 548; Band 11/I p 529; Band 14/II p 801; Band 14/III p 1298

Génsbøl, B. (1996) Grønlands natur - en rejsehåndbog, G.E.C. Gads Forlag. pp 448.

Ingold, P. & Kappler, S.& Lehner, B (1982) Zum Problem der Gefährdung der Vogelbestände an unseren Gewässern durch Erholung suchende Menschen –Der Einfluss der Spaziergänger, Fischer und Bootsfahrer auf das Brutgeschehen der Haubentaucher (*Podiceps cristatus*) am grossen Moossee. Naturschutzinspektorat des Kantons Bern. p 57-59.

- Kalusche, D. (1978) Ökologie. Quelle & Meyer Heidelberg, Biologische Arbeitsbücher 25, p 51-62.
- Salomonsen, F. (1950) Grønlands fugle, Ejnar Munksgaards Forlag, København. pp. 608.
- Schülerduden (1978) Die Geographie. Dudenverlag Mannheim/Wien/Zürich. p 52,204,247.
- Sharrock, J. T. R. (1976) The atlas of Breeding Birds in Britain and Ireland. Published by T. & A. D. Poyses Ltd, British Trust for Ornithology. p 13-20
- Stock, M., Bermann, H.-H. & Zucchi, H.(1994). Auswirkungen von Störreizen auf Ethologie und Ökologie von Vögeln im Wattenmeer, Verlag Shaker Aachen. p 23-37.

# The intertidal macrofauna and macroalgae at five Arctic localities (Disko, West Greenland)

Louise Hansen

Botanical Institute, Dept. of Phycology, Univ. of Copenhagen Øster Farimagsgade 2D, DK-1353 Copenhagen K, Denmark

#### Abstract

The overall objective of this study was to compare the macroalgae and macrofauna at selected Arctic intertidal localities and along a depth gradient at each site. Five localities, two near Qeqertarsuaq (Godhavn) and three at Mellemfjord, were investigated. They were chosen with respect to differences in exposure to wind and ice scouring. Eight to twelve samples of a fixed area (15 x 15 cm), and representing two or three transects were collected from each site. During this investigation 41 animal taxa and 32 algae were found. Individuals of animals were quantified, and the biomass of the algae determined as dry weight. The results indicate both marked vertical differences along transects and distributional patterns that can be related to degree of exposure.

#### Introduction

The intertidal zone in general is well studied in temperate and tropical regions. Many investigations have examined the distribution of both animals and seaweed (e.g. Colman 1939, Evans 1947, Lewis 1964, Hagermann 1966). Studies concerning one group of fauna associated with the macroalgae or the fauna on a single species of macroalgae have been worked out (e.g., Boaden *et al.* 1975, Beckley & McLachlan 1980, Seed & O'Connor 1981, Beckley 1982, Gunhill 1982, Fletcher & Day 1983, Lewis 1987, Martin-Smith 1993, Mettam 1994). However, only a few studies of this kind exist from Arctic areas. In Arctic Canada and Norway (Spitsbergen) qualitative studies were made of the zonation of both fauna and flora in the intertidal zone at coastlines with variable wave exposure (Ellis 1955, Ellis & Wilce 1961, Hansen & Haugen 1989). Other studies focus exclusively on algae (Wilce 1959, 1964, Lee 1973).

Descriptive studies of the Greenland littoral fauna were published by Madsen (1940). Other, more specific studies focused on the distribution of two common intertidal species, *Semibalanus balanoides* and *Littorina saxatilis*, var. *groenlandica* (Petersen 1962, 1966).

The vertical zonation of the Arctic intertidal zone does not differ substantially from that of other regions (Wilce 1964, Christensen 1971, Lee 1973, Pedersen 1976, Hansen & Schlütter 1990). The terminology used below is from the 'Lewis system' (Lewis, 1964).

The vegetation is dominated by brown algae (Phaeophyceae) of the genus *Fucus* on a sheltered coast with suitable substratum. The *Fucus* belt typically comprises two

different species, *Fucus vesiculosus* in the upper part of the intertidal zone, and *F. evanescens* in the lower part. The perennial *Fucus* species disappear when the degree of exposure is too high because the settling requires relatively stable conditions. High energy systems are frequently dominated by ephemeral green algae (Ulvophyceae). On moderately exposed localities the *Fucus* belt will submerge.

The degree of wave exposure also has an influence on the morphology of macroalgae. This fact, in combination with the low temperature regime of the Arctic (Hoek 1984), may result in algal morphotypes that are significantly different from those of lower latitudes and sometimes hard to identify. *Fucus* spp. is particularly variable in morphology, e.g., with regard to shape of receptacles and presence/absence of vesicles. In *Fucus vesiculosus* the vesicles are absent in plants from the upper part of the intertidal zone or at heavily exposed sites.

The aim of this study was to compare the macroalgae and the associated macrofauna at selected intertidal localities (low energy – high energy) and along a depth gradient at each locality. Degree of exposure and ice scouring will a priori be considered among the most important factors, with regard to differences in (1) species diversity, (2) algal biomass, and (3) number of individuals from animal taxa. A similar approach was taken by Colman (1940), Evans (1947), Stephenson & Stephenson (1949), Lewis (1964) and Beckley & McLachlan (1979). Other habitat characteristics, such as type of substratum, the slope of substratum, freshwater outlets, etc. were to a lesser extent incorporated into the selection of sites. The degree of exposure is subjectively evaluated based on, e.g., community structure and site specific geographic characteristics. The exposure scale published by Dalby *et al.* (1978) for Norwegian coasts (based on faunal community patterns) will be used here to describe our West Greenland localities.

The project concept was based on investigations from the Arctic which conclude that the macrofauna is characterized by low biomass and limited biodiversity (Ellis 1955, Ellis & Wilce 1961, Hansen & Haugen 1989, Madsen 1940, Petersen 1966). It was therefore a surprise to find numerous animal taxa and large numbers of individuals particularly at the sheltered locality. This resulted in a modification of the sample processing programme after the actual sampling had taken place.

## Methods

**Field work.** Five localities were investigated: two near Qeqertarsuaq and three at Akulliit /Mellemfjord. Three transects were sampled from each locality. Parallel transects were placed approximately perpendicular to the shore. The first sample (1) was taken from "zero of map", bordering to the sublittoral zone (LALW - lowest astronomical low water). The last sample was taken at the upper limit of *Fucus* plant occurrence. 4-7 samples were collected along each transect. The actual number of samples depended on the vertical extension of the littoral zone, thus reflecting both differences in the slope of the shore and the degree of exposure. All collections took place at low tide (Farvandsvæsenet 1997). The field data comprised: (1) distance between neighbouring samples, (2) elevation of individual samples, (3) salinity, (4) water temperature, (5) slope of substratum, and (6) GPS co-ordinates (Table 1). In order to calculate the elevation of each sample, a reference point was identified at low tide 1 m above actual water level. The collecting was carried out by hand and using scrapers

of different kinds. A screwdriver was used in the small crevices in basalt rock. All organisms within a defined area (15 x 15 cm) were collected at each sampling event. An initial sample treatment took place at the Arctic Station or at the Akulliit camp site. Samples were sieved through a 425  $\mu$ m-mesh screen and fixed with buffered formalin for further processing in Copenhagen. Macrofauna is here (partly as a consequence of the sample treatment) defined as animals >500  $\mu$ m. This is also in agreement with e.g. Higgins & Thiel (1988).

*Laboratory work.* After an initial elimination of the fixative and fine particles (< 225  $\mu$ m) samples were sorted into three fractions: (1) benthic algae, (2) epiphytic algae, and (3) animals. The epiphytes include the few drifting algae present in the samples.

Dry weight determinations of algal fractions were made at 120°C until constant weight.

Identification of *Fucus* spp. took place during the initial sorting of samples. Microscopic examination of mature receptacles was needed to distinguish between *F. vesiculosus* without bladders and *F. evanescens*. The identification of epiphytes was based on slides prepared prior to the dry weight analysis.

The animals were immediately sorted into major taxonomic groups. After counting specimens, the animals were preserved in 70% ethanol for further determination.

*Description of localities.* This report comprises an analysis of material from 4 localities. Due to time constraints it was not possible to include material from loc. 3 (Akulliit) in this report. Environmental parameters and geographical co-ordinates of each site are listed in Table 1.

**Locality 1.** Qeqertarsuaq, between Udkiggen and a small harbour, Ukossak (Fig. 1). A small, sheltered cove (exposure 9 according to Dalby *et al.* 1978) protected from the ocean by an island Qeqertausaq. At low tide it is possible to walk from Disko to Qeqertausaq. The substrate was gneiss, appearing as 'rock' in the upper littoral zone, 'stones' in the middle and 'sand/gravel' in the lower part. Because of the high degree of shelter, large amounts of organic material (with many polychaetes) was permanently deposited. Twenty-one samples (7 x 3) were collected along 12 m long transects (A, B, C). Ten of these have been analysed in preparation for this report (A and B, samples 1, 2, 4, 6, 7). *Fucus* plants dominated throughout the littoral zone. Most individuals were relatively large and without any signs of physical damage. Plants from the upper part of the eulittoral zone showed some sign of damage, probably due to herbivory. Few epiphytes were observed, most likely due to the relatively high number of *Littorina* snails present.

Locality 2. Qeqertarsuaq, close to "Ukossak" harbour (Fig.1). The substrate was gneiss (rocks). The locality was facing the open ocean and very exposed to waves (exposure 1 in Dalby *et al.* 1978), ice scouring, and rafting. Large surfaces of smooth rock were covered with ephemeral green algae. Small *Fucus* plants grew among *Mytilus edulis* (numerous) and *Semibalanus balanoides* in surface cracks of the bedrock. The plants displayed the characteristic features of damaged specimens (ice scouring ?). This community was best developed on the sheltered lee sides of the rocks.

This site was relatively steep and the algal cover quite homogeneous. It was necessary to use a sharp scraper to remove the small green algae from the substrate. Twelve (4 x

3) samples were collected along 5 m long transects (D, E, F). All samples have been analysed.

**Locality 3.** Akulliit S (Fig.1). The substrate was boulders and stones of gneiss with vegetation that consisted mainly of *Fucus* plants with intertwingled drifting algae. A dark basalt sand/gravel sediment was evident at low water mark (no vegetation). Few *Littorina* snails were found on this locality (compare loc. 1). Twelve (4 x 3) samples were taken along 4.3-m transects. The samples have not been processed further.

Locality 4. Akulliit N, close to the homothermic spring "Unartukavsak" (Fig.1). The coast was semi-exposed, with rolling stones of gneiss overgrown with microscopic green algae forming a green belt along the shore. No *Fucus* plants above the low water mark. Movements of the stones most likely prevents settling of larger macroalgae. A few *Fucus* plants (and others) were scattered on stones in the sublittoral zone. This type of locality is generally unsuitable for macroalgal growth. The Dalby *et al.* (1978) exposure index cannot be applied to this locality. Red salt mites (halacarids) were the only animals observed at this locality. Only one sample was collected (with scalpel and razor blades). Quantitative sampling was impossible at this site. Transects measured 5.3 m on the average.

**Locality 5.** Akulliit N, "Jernpynten" (Fig.1). A very exposed locality (exposure 2 in Dalby *et al.* 1978) facing the open sea (Baffin Bay). The substrate was basalt rock with very uneven/rough surface. Small, bushy *Fucus* plants dominated the locality, obviously morphologically affected by the environment. They grew from crevices, where few *Littorina* snails and *Semibalanus balanoides* were also found. Twelve (4 x 3) samples were collected along 1.2 m transects. Eight of these (from transect N and O) were processed further.



**Fig. 1**. Map of Disko and detailed map of the localities examined. (A) Disko Island. (B) Akulliit (Mellemfjord) with loc. 3, 4, and 5. (C) The shore near Qeeqertarsuaq with loc. 1 and 2.

Locality and date	Co-ordinates	Water temp.	Salinity	Length of transect	Vertical extension	Slope
1 20.07.98	69°14.20N/53°32.38W	9.0°C	30‰	12.0 m	1.0 m	5°
2 22.07.98	69°14.17N/53°32.26W	9.5°C	32‰	5.5 m	1.6 m	10°
3 25.07.98	69°41.35N/54°28.57W	9,5°C	3,2‰	3.4 m	0.9 m	12°
4 27.07.98	69°45.09N/54°34.41W	8.5°C	33‰	5.3 m	0.5 m	6°
5 28.07.98	69°49.51N/54°55.48W	8.0°C	35‰	1.2 m	1.0 m	90°

Table 1. Sampling date, geographical co-ordinates etc. from loc. 1-5.

# Results

Thirty samples of each 0.0225  $m^2$  from four localities form the basis of the quantitative/qualitative comparison of localities. More than 41 animal taxa (10317 specimens) and 32 taxa of macroalgae were found. The distribution of animals and algae will be further analysed in the following section. The taxa found are listed in Table 2. The average biomass per unit area, and other main results are summarised in Table 3. The occurrence of organisms in specific samples is tabulated in Tables 4 and 5. These tables are placed at the end of the chapter.

#### Macrofauna

CNIDARIA. Hydrozoa were present at loc. 1 and 5 as epiphytes on *Fucus* plants. Because of difficulties in counting individuals from colony forming animals, we have subjectively estimated the abundance of hydrozoans and categorised them (Table 4) as either: frequent (freq.), common (com.), or rare (sel.). Hydrozoans were found only in the lower part of the eulittoral zone at loc. 1, and at loc. 5 in the upper parts of the transects (Table 4). Several species were observed. This group will not be further analysed in this paper.

PLATHYHELMINTHES. The platyhelminths were only represented at loc. 1. Numbers are probably underestimated due to the sorting methods and the small overall size of members of this group (many belong to the meiofauna). This group will not be further analysed in this paper.

NEMATODA. The nematodes occurred scattered in samples from loc. 1 and 5. It appears that the nematodes had a higher occurrence in the lower part of the eulittoral zone at loc. 1. This may be due to a higher concentration of organic matter (food) at this site, and

also a certain level of tolerance towards anaerobic conditions, which may prevail in the accumulated sediment.

Animal taxa. The classification follows Ruppert & Barnes (1994). **HYDROZOA PLATYHELMINTHES NEMATODA OLIGOCHAETA** POLYCHAETA Fabricia stellaris (Müller, 1774) Polydora quadrilobata Jacobi, 1883 Spio filicornis (Müller, 1776) Spio sp. Pygospio elegans Claparède, 1863 Spirorbis spirorbis (Linné, 1758) Eteone flava (Fabricius, 1780) Capitella Blainville, 1828 Dysponetus pygmaeus Levinsen, 1879 ARACHNIDA Halacarida Rhombognathinae Rhombognathus sp. Halacarinae CRUSTACEA Ostracoda Cirripedia, Semibalanus balanoides (Linné, 1758) Copepoda, Harpacticoida Amphipoda, Gammarus locusta Linné, 1758 Isopoda, Jaera sp. GASTROPODA Littorina saxatilis Olivi, 1792 var. groenlandica Margarites sp. Margarites helicina (Phipps, 1774) Natica sp. Aclis sp. **BIVALVIA** Mytilus edulis Linné, 1758 Turtonia minuta (Fabricius, 1780) Crenella faba Müller, 1776 Hiatella byssifera (Fabricius, 1780) **BRYOZOA** HOLOTHUROIDEA PISCES

Algal taxa. The classification follows Hoek et al. (1995). FLORIDEOPHYCEAE Devaleraea ramentacea (L.) Guiry Palmaria palmata (L.) Kuntze Phycodrys rubens (L.) Batters Ceramium sp. Polysiphonia stricta (Dillwyn) Grev. Polysiphonia arctica J.Agardh Polysiphonia sp. Ptilota serrata Kütz. Rhodomela confervoides (Huds.) P.C.Silva PHAEOPHYCEAE (FUCOPHYCEAE) Ectocarpus siliculosus (Dillwyn) Lyngb. Sphacelaria plumosa Lyngb. Sphacelaria arctica Harv. Scytosiphon lomentaria (Lyngb.) Link Petalonia fascia (O.F.Müll.) Kuntze Punctaria plantaginea (Roth) Grev. Dictyosiphon foeniculaceus (Huds.) Grev. Pilayella littoralis (L.) Kjellm. Stictyosiphon tortilis (Rupr.) Reinke sensu Rosenv. Elachista fucicola (Velley) Aresch Chordaria flagelliformis (O.F.Müll.) C.Agardh Desmarestia aculeata (L.) J.V.Lamour. Chorda filum (L.) Stackh. Fucus vesiculosus L. Fucus evanescens C.Agardh Agarum cribosum Bory **ULVOPHYCEAE** Ulothrix sp.1 Ulothrix sp.2 Urospora penicilliformis (Roth) Aresch. Acrosiphonia arcta (Dillwyn) J.Agardh CLADOPHOROPHYCEAE Enteromorpha sp. Blidingia minima (Nägeli ex.Kütz.) Kylin Chaetomorpha melagonium (F.Weber & D.Mohr) Kütz. Chaetomorpha capillaris (Kütz.) Børg.

Table 2. List of taxa found.

	Locality	1, sheltered	Locality	y 5, exposed		2, exposed
					and ice sc	ourea
Animal taxa	41	32/38	15	12/15	8	8/2/0
Average individuals	863	881/844	205	205/204	0.8	2/0.5/0
per sample						
Algae taxa	29		18		4	
Average biomass						
per sample	9.1 g		19.6 g		0.67 g	
(dry weight)						

Table 3. Comparison of localities.

ANNELIDA. (1) OLIGOCHAETA. The oligochaetes had the same pattern of distribution as the nematodes, with the exception of sample O4 (loc. 5) that had 115 individuals from one or more species, which can cope with exposure to fresh water (family: Enchytraeidae). Individuals present at the lower levels from loc. 1 probably represent genuinely marine species. (2) POLYCHAETA. The diversity of polychaetes was unexpected, both regarding numbers of species and individuals. A total of at least 14 taxa were found. Nine of these have been identified to species or genus level (Kirkegaard 1992, 1996). We estimate the species number to be approximately 20. See Table 4 for numbers and distribution. Most specimens belonged to Fabricia stellaris (Sabellidae) and Polydora quadrilobata (Spionidae), which are both colony forming taxa. They are tube builders and their tubes will at extreme low water protect them against desiccation. Fabricia stellaris is a common species found in shallow water between macroalgae in Denmark and also known from similar suitable localities in Greenland (Kirkegaard 1996). It is possible that Polydora quadrilobata is sometimes confused with Polydora caulleryi Mesnil, 1897, which is common at Disko (Kirkegaard 1996). Other members of the Spionidae found were Pygospio elegans, a tube builder which feeds on detritus and diatoms on sediment surfaces, and Spio filicornis and Spio sp., which are both suspension feeders. It was not possible to further identify Spio sp. which may in fact be a new species (see Worsaae 1999). Capitella sp. was common at loc. 1 (lower levels). The genus needs taxonomic revision. The forms encountered resembled oligochaetes with very small setae. They feed on organic matter from the surface layer. Eteone flava (Phyllodocidae), and some of the unidentified taxa, are predators (large, free living worms reminiscent of Nereis). They were found at loc. 1 (B1 and B2). Dysponetus pygmaeus is commonly found in the eulittoral zone in Greenland. It is approximately 2 mm long, white and with long, black setae in 2 bundles on each segment. Spirorbis spirorbis is common on Fucus in both temperate and arctic areas. However, it was found only at the lowest level of loc. 1. The majority of the polychaetes were found at loc. 1 (Table 4 and Fig. 2). The polychaetes are in fact the dominant animal group at the lower levels of loc. 1, while the Crustacea and Mollusca dominate the upper parts (Fig. 2). Only two taxa were found loc. 5: Fabricia stellaris (8 specimens scattered throughout the transects), and *Capitella* sp. (two specimens from the third level). Only one polychaete (Fabricia stellaris) was found at loc. 2.

ARTHROPODA. (1) CHELICERATA. Three unidentified sea spiders (Pycnogonida) were found at the lower levels of loc. 1. (2) ARACHNIDA, Halacarida, Marine water mites were

98

fairly well represented in samples from loc. 1 and 5. The identification is based on Green & Macquitty (1987). A pale species (Indet. sp. 3 (pale) / Halacarinae), ca. 1.0 mm, dominated at the highly protected loc. 1 (rare at loc. 5). It was most frequent at the lower levels (A1, B1, A2, B2). A brown predator (Indet. sp. 2 (brown) / Halacarinae), ca. 1.3 mm, was found at A1 and A2. A small, ca. 0.4 mm long, green herbivore, *Rhombognathus* sp. (Rhombognathinae) was found scarcely at loc. 1, and more frequently at loc. 5. Three additional mites occurred in small numbers (Table 4). One of these, Indet. sp. 1, (Halacarinae), had very long palps and limbs. Loc. 1 and 5 differ significantly throughout the littoral zone (Fig. 2). At loc. 1 the frequency of mites decreases from 10 % (level 1) to 0 % (level 5), while at loc. 5 the frequency increases from 4% (level 1) to 38% (level 4).

CRUSTACEA. The crustaceans are a highly diverse group, and both sessile (class Cirripedia), and mobile forms occur. Their size spectrum includes both very small (class Ostracoda and Copepoda), and large specimens (Amphipoda and Isopoda / class Malacostraca). Crustaceans occured at all localities (except loc. 4). At localities with Fucus plants (loc. 1 and 5), they were found at every level throughout the littoral zone. (1) OSTRACODA. The ostracods were found at loc. 1 and 2 and most commonly at A1, A2, B1 and B2. They all looked very similar, which might indicate that only one species is in fact represented in the samples. (2) CIRRIPEDIA. This class was represented by a single species, Semibalanus balanoides. It occurred in relatively high numbers at loc. 1 upper levels. At loc. 5 it was present at the lower levels only. (3) COPEPODA. There were several species of copepods in the material, all belonging to the order Harpacticoida (Enckell 1980). Two main "types" were found, a large robust form which was clearly associated with the macroalgae, and a smaller, more slender form often encountered in the sediment. The copepods were found at all localities but were particularly numerous at loc. 5 where they were numerically dominant (Table 4). The tufted epiphyte, Pilayella littoralis, was a particularly popular place to live, and the plants contained high numbers of copepods. (4) AMPHIPODA. At least two species of gammarids (Amphipoda, suborder Gammaridea) were found. One is identified as Gammarus locusta using Enckell (1980) and Stephensen (1928), while the other forms remains unidentified. G. locusta was found at loc. 1 and 5, the unidentified species at loc. 2 and 5. None of the gammarids were found in high numbers. (6) ISOPODA. The isopods are represented by at least two species, one of which could be referred to the genus Jaera using Enckell (1980). They occurred scattered throughout the entire littoral zone, except for one sample (A4 with 426 individuals).

MOLLUSCA. (1) GASTROPODA. The gastropods identified comprised: Littorina saxatilis var. groenlandica, Margarites helicina, Margarites sp., Natica sp., and Aclis sp. The littorina snail was found at all localities (most frequent at loc. 1), and at loc. 1 and 5 throughout the littoral zone. The other gastropods were found at the two lowermost levels at loc. 1, where they will be exposed to very little desiccation. (2) BIVALVIA. The following species were present: Mytilus edulis, Turtonia minuta, Crenella faba, and Hiatella byssifera. They were all (except Crenella faba) found only at the lower levels of loc. 1. Crenella faba was also found in small numbers at loc. 5.

TENTACULATA. Bryozoans were found at loc. 1 at the lowermost levels, and both erect and disc shaped types were seen. The number of colonies was counted and is included in Table 4.

ECHINODERMATA. A few specimens (Holothuroidea) were found at loc. 1 (A1, B1).

CHORDATA. One juvenile Pisces was found at loc. 1 (B1).

# Macrofauna - a summary

The frequency distribution (%) of major groups of animals at different levels throughout the littoral zone is shown in Fig. 2. Differences in fauna composition between a sheltered site and an exposed site can be deduced from this figure. Numbers of individuals and taxa are generally decreasing from the lower to the upper part of the littoral zone at the protected loc. 1 (Fig. 3), while almost constant throughout the littoral zone at the exposed loc. 5. Differences between the two sites are not evident at the uppermost levels. The average numbers are highest at loc. 1, 863 individuals per sample in average, and 35 taxa, while at loc. 5 the corresponding numbers are 205 and 15 (Table 3). Few animals, from the size range here investigated, were present at loc. 2 (0.8 specimens per sample / Table 3). No animals were found at loc. 4.



Fig. 2. Frequency distribution (%) of macrofaunal groups at two *Fucus* localities; loc. 1 (transect A, B); loc. 5 (transect N, O).





**Fig. 3.** Number of individuals (A) and taxa (B) in samples from two *Fucus* localities; loc. 1 (transect A, B); loc. 5 (transect N, O).

# Macroalgae

The occurrence of species is shown in Table 5. The identification is based on Rueness (1977), and the nomenclature follows Nielsen et.al (1994).

**Benthic macroalgae.** Fucus vesiculosus was present in all samples from loc. 1 and 5. The morphology of the plants was very different at the two sites. Plants were small, (5 - 10 cm), dense and bushy at the exposed loc. 5, whereas they were taller (10 - 30 cm) and more slender at the lower part of the sheltered loc. 1. Plants from the uppermost levels at loc. 1 had the same overall size as plants from loc. 5, but maintained the same general morphology as other plants from this site. Fucus evanescens were only found in the lower levels at loc. 1. The biomass (averaged per site) of benthic algae (mostly Fucus) is highly variable. It was approximately twice as large at the exposed loc. 5 than at the sheltered loc. 1.

Other benthic algae include: Devaleraea ramentacea, Phycodrys rubens, Chordaria flagelliformis, Petalonia fascia, Scytosiphon lomentaria, Chorda filum, Stictyosiphon tortilis, Enteromorpha sp., Chladophora rupestris, Urospora penicilliformis, Ulothrix sp.1 and 2, Blidingia minima. Devaleraea ramentacea is a common red alga from the littoral zone at Disko Island and is found until 70°N in western Greenland. It was found in samples from loc. 5 (but was also observed near loc. 1 at moderately exposed sites). Chordaria flagelliformis was collected from the lowermost levels at loc. 1. This taxon contributes significantly to the algal biomass of sample B1.

Loc. 2 was dominated by filamentous green algae (Table 5), *Urospora penicilliformis*, (found in all samples) and *Blidingia minima* (E1). Two brown algae, *Petalonia fascia* and *Scytosiphon lomentaria*, contributed significantly to the biomass of sample D1. The biomass at loc. 2 was significantly lower than at loc. 1 and loc. 5 (Table 3).

Very few algae were found at loc. 4. The sample comprised three species: two *Ulothrix* spp. (forms distinguished by cell size) and *Chordaria flagelliformis* (juvenile specimen).

Our results indicate no general correlation between algal biomass and sampling level. This applies to all localities (Fig. 4A). However, the localities sampled differ significantly when average biomass per site is compared (Table 3). The biomass of benthic algae peaks at the exposed *Fucus* locality (loc. 5) and reaches the lowest values at the ice scoured loc. 2.

**Epiphytic macroalgae.** The most commonly occurring epiphytic alga was *Elachista fucicola*. As indicated by the name it normally grows on *Fucus* (especially on the receptacles). It was found on most *Fucus* plants and often on the conceptacles. However, specimens were smaller in comparison with material from Danish locations. In Greenland *E. fucicola* is growing also on several other species, e.g *Devaleraea ramentacea* (all specimens in this investigation). *Dictyosiphon foeniculaceus* was a common epiphyte on *Chordaria flagelliformis*. *Polysiphonia stricta* was associated with *Fucus*, and *Sphacelaria plumosa* was commonly found both epiphytic and in drifting material. *Pilayella littoralis* was found scattered throughout the littoral zone at loc. I and 5. It dominated in a sample from loc. 1 (B7), as an epiphyte on *Fucus vesiculosus*. The remaining epiphytes were found only in small quantities and scattered in the samples. There was no apparent correlation between epiphyte biomass and (1) sampling level within the littoral zone, or (2) degree of wave exposure (Fig. 4B).

**Drifting algae**. Drifting algae occurred in the samples as fragments among other algae. Most forms encountered are normally found in the sublittoral zone: *Palmaria palmata, Ptilota serrata, Sphacelaria plumosa, S. arctica, Desmarestia aculeata, Agarum cribosum.* They only contributed insignificantly to overall epiphyte biomass. The drifting algae are included in this investigation because they represent a food resource for benthic herbivores.

*Chaetomorpha melagonium* and *C. capillaris* were found free floating in our samples. This is a normal growth pattern for some species from the genus. *Chaetomorpha melagonium* most often grows attached to the substratum with a holdfast disc.



Fig. 4. (A) Biomass of benthic algae (dry weight: g/sample) and the height above LALW of each sample; (B) Biomass of the epiphytic algae (dry weight: g/sample) at loc. 1 (A, B) and loc. 5 (N,O).

# Discussion

#### <u>Macrofauna</u>

POLYCHAETA. The lower part of loc. 1 can surprisingly be regarded as a small polychaete community reminiscent of that of soft bottom habitats. The water was almost stationary with accumulation of organic material between the stipes of the *Fucus* plants. The samples from the lower part of the eulittoral zone at loc. 1 were by coincident taken exactly where colonies of *Fabricia stellaris* and *Polydora quadrilobata* were established. The latter and closely related species are commonly found in shallow water and soft bottom localities (e.g. Ellis & Wilce 1961).

HALACARIDA. *Rhombognathus* sp. was relatively frequent at the exposed locality. It is apparently well adapted to this high energetic environment due to, e.g., well-developed claws that allow the animals to cling to the seaweeds, and also because of a relatively small size, which makes it easy to escape into small cavities. The contribution of halacarids to animal abundance (Fig. 2) was at loc. 1 decreasing from lower to higher levels. An opposite trend was evident at the exposed loc. 5 where it may be too turbulent for halacarids in the lower parts. The mites are likely to migrate to the upper part of the littoral zone, where the environment is more constant (longest time with the same degree of disturbance). At sheltered sites (e.g., loc. 1) the mites will probably prefer the most humid environments.

CRUSTACEA. (1) OSTRACODA. The number of ostracods was largest at the sheltered locality and towards the lowermost part of the transect. Most members of the ostracods, prefer a muddy/detrital substrate (Athersuch 1989). This type of substrate was only found at loc. 1. At low tide the environment is too dry for the ostracods in the upper part of the eulittoral zone. Although ostracods are mobile, their small size limits their possibility to migrate to a suitable microhabitat at low tide. The large number of specimens found in sample B1 (Table 4) may be due to a prevalence of Chordaria flagelliformis and Dictyosiphon foeniculaceus, which are possibly a better substrate and microhabitat than Fucus spp. (2) CIRRIPEDIA. Semibalanus spp. is a cosmopolitan intertidal taxon that can be used as an ecological indicator of vertical zonal patterns. Lewis (1964) uses this genus to identify the eu- and supralittoral zones. Dalby et al. (1978) incorporate the occurrence of Semibalanus in a biological characterisation of different degrees of exposure. On a scale from 0-9 (high exposure to ultimate shelter), the Semibalanus species are decreasing in abundance when approaching high numbers on the scale (compare loc. 1). At the very exposed loc. 5 the unexpected scarcity of Semibalanus is most likely due to a very irregular substrate. At loc. 2 ice scouring is most likely causing the absence of Semibalanus. (3) COPEPODA. The cause of the relatively large amount of copepods found at loc. 5 is difficult to explain. At loc. 1, the competition and predation may be the reason to the lower number. (4) AMPHIPODA. The scattered occurrence of amphipods in this investigation is not surprising. These animals are very mobile and will migrate and huddle together in the most humid areas at low tide. The number observed may be further biased because gammarids often escaped during sampling, in particular at loc. 5. (5) ISOPODA. The distribution of isopods indicates that they can not tolerate heavy exposure (only observed at loc. 1). This may be due to physical turbulence of the high energetic environment or lack of organic material, which is the main food source for many isopods. The large number of isopods
found in sample A4 can be explained by their mobility and active search for the most favourable habitats on the shore.

MOLLUSCA. (1) GASTROPODA. The observed distribution of Littorina saxatilis var. groenlandica agrees with the exposure index characteristics of Dalby et al. (1978), i.e., abundant at the sheltered loc. 1 and rare or absent at the exposed loc. 2 and 5. There was no difference between loc. 1 and 2 in epiphyte biomass, which makes up the food source of these snails. The total number of Littorina snails is underestimated, because they are good migrators and tend to migrate downwards in the littoral zone at low tide. However, they are also found exposed to air with tighten closed operculae. Other gastropods observed have their primary habitat in the sublittoral zone. Only at ultimate sheltered sites are they sometimes to be found in the littoral zone (Madsen 1940, Petersen, pers. com.). (2) BIVALVIA. The species Turtonia minuta, Crenella faba, and Hiatella byssifera all have their primary habitat in the sublittoral zone. Only at ultimate sheltered sites are they to be found in the littoral zone. The presence of Crenella faba at loc. 5 can be explained by the occurrence of small crevices in the substrate, where this small bivalve can survive. Mytilus edulis is common in the littoral zone in the Arctic and in other climatic regions as well, at high levels in the littoral zone (e.g., Lewis 1964, Dalby et al. 1978). This general distributional pattern was evident only at loc. 2, where M. edulis was found in crevices (outside the sampling sites) throughout the eulittoral zone. Loc. I was too protected for this species, allowing only for a few relatively large specimens to be found.

## Macrofauna - a summary

Crustacea and Mollusca dominate in the upper part of the littoral zone at loc. 1 (Fig. 2). Representatives from these groups are highly mobile species, which should frequent also the upper part of the shore. Polychaetes dominate (loc. 1) at the lower levels (Fig. 2). At the exposed loc. 5 with almost no polychaetes, the crustaceans dominate in the lower part (Fig. 2). We did not observe any tunicates or poriferans at any of the localities investigated. The results of this investigation indicate, apart from the differences in species occurring, that the number of individuals is clearly related to degree of exposure. The ultimately sheltered locality comprised four times as many individuals per sample as did the exposed locality (Table 3). This pattern is evident also from other investigations, e.g., Beckley & McLachlan (1980) who found, that the number of individuals at a sheltered locality was three times higher than at an exposed locality. The distribution of these individuals throughout the littoral zone also seems to be related to the degree of exposure. As seen in Fig. 3, the number changes dramatically at the sheltered site from the lower to the upper part of the transect, whereas no real changes were observed at the exposed site.

## Macroalgae

**Benthic macroalgae**. The two *Fucus* localities differed with regard to the occurrence of morphotypes. The *Fucus* vegetation at loc. 5 was homogeneous throughout the littoral zone. Plants were morphologically intact and probably protected during winter from ice scouring by the ice foot. This homogeneity is also reflected in the distribution of macrofaunal elements at loc. 5. *Fucus* plants at loc. 1 differed markedly in size when comparing upper and lower levels.

The observed variability in algal biomass between sites and levels did not reveal very distinct patterns. However, the general picture is that the biomass is almost doubled at the exposed loc. 5 in comparison with the sheltered loc. 1. Loc. 2 differs significantly from the others in average biomass per area. Ephemeral vegetation is (when compared with perennial systems) not capable of building up that much biomass in only one year. This site was heavily affected by ice scouring and rafting preventing a general coverage of perennial algae. *Fucus* plants, and also specimens of *Mytilus* and *Semibalanus*, were only observed in cracks and crevices of the fairly smooth rocks. Many plants showed signs of morphological damage. The structure of the substrate is an important factor in settling success of *Fucus* plants and other perennial algae. However, in this case the ice scouring still seems to be the most important single factor in explaining the absence of perennial vegetation.

The *Fucus* species did not clearly display the expected zonation with *Fucus vesiculosus* occurring above *F. evanescens*. However, *Fucus evanescens* grew in the sublittoral zone at loc. 1 outside the transects analysed. The samples taken in the lower part of the eulittoral zone are in a transition zone, and they comprised only a few *F. evanescens* specimens. At this sheltered locality it appears as if *F. evanescens* is displaced sublittorally by its competitor *F. vesiculosus*. The absence of *F. evanescens* in samples from loc. 5 is most likely due to the effect of wave exposure impacting either the sampling process or the settling success of the algae.

**Epiphytic macroalgae**. There was no obvious correlation between the biomass of the epiphytes and the level of shore or the degree of exposure (Fig. 4B). It could have been expected that the fraction of epiphytes would affect the amount of macrofauna, but the degree of exposure surpasses this factor.

## Comparison of localities

The four localities investigated are indeed very different, as was to be expected from variability in exposure, degree of ice scouring, and type of substratum. Especially loc. 4 deviated in type of substrate, and we consider this the main responsible factor for the very sparce macroalgae growth and the apparent absence of macrofaunal elements. The other three localities mainly differed in degree of exposure and ice scouring. The results reflect this difference (see Table 3). The average number of animal individuals was four times higher at the sheltered loc. 1 than at the exposed loc. 5. The number of taxa was correspondingly lower at loc. 5. Approximately 33 % of the animal taxa and 50 % of the algal taxa recorded from loc. 1 were retrieved at loc. 5. For a discussion of the station by station variability in average algal biomass see above.

## Comparison with other similar investigations

The Arctic. As it is not possible to undertake a comprehensive comparison of Arctic investigations, we will here focus on the biodiversity of animals and algae in selected investigations (summarised in Table 6). It should be noted that in most of these the degree of exposure has not been taken into account. Only Ellis & Wilce (1961) and Wilce (1959) have accounted for the vertical distribution of macroalgae and macrofauna within zones of the littoral zone. Madsen (1940) listed 21 animal taxa from the NW Greenland littoral zone from ('Upernavik Harbour' and 'Prøven'). Nine of these were

also found in this investigation. The northern location of sampling sites probably accounts for the overall much reduced animal diversity at these sites (number of animal taxa only 50 % of the number in this investigation. Madsen (1940) hypothesized that a reduced nutrition supply to coastal zone ecosystems might explain the scarcity of taxa observed. Ellis (1955) examined the littoral zone from Baffin Island sites (Arctic Canada). The species list comprised 34 faunal taxa of which eight genera are also recorded from Disko localities here examined. Wilce (1959) recorded 141 species of marine macroalgae at Labrador and NW Newfoundland sites. This investigation included collections from localities with different degrees of exposure and a range of substrates, as well as material from the sublittoral zone and rock pools. Wilce (1959) reported 33 macroalgae from the littoral zone of sites characterized by a bedrock substrate. Twenty-five of these taxa are also found during this investigation. Ellis & Wilce (1961) investigated the littoral zone at Baffin Island localities. They found 28 animal taxa (8 taxa also found here) and 39 algae (16). It should be noted that Ellis & Wilce (1961) include some laminarians from rock pools. Lee (1973) reports 14 algal genera from Arctic Canada, half of which were also represented in this investigation. Lee (1973) hypothesized that the limited algal biodiversity was a consequence of low nutrient supply at the localities investigated, and further, that this might generally account for the poor macroalgal growth in arctic areas, where the substrate is otherwise well suited for macroalgal growth. Hansen & Haugen (1989) recorded from Spitsbergen a relatively low number of taxa, 9 (5 taxa that also found at Disko Island sites) animals and 14 (10) algae. A low average temperature, heavy ice scouring, exposure to fresh water, and depletion of nutritents were used to explain the low biodiversity (Hansen & Haugen 1989). Hansen & Schlütter (1990) recorded 73 macroalgae from localities at Disko Island (Qeqertarsuaq), which is twice the number found in this investigation. This difference is due to several factors, the most important of which is the fact that Hansen & Schlütter's (1990) investigation is qualitive, where material was collected at different localities and including sublittoral species collected by diving and dredging from a boat.

The localities examined by Ellis & Wilce (1961), Wilce (1959), and Hansen & Schlütter (1990) are from a floristic point of view quite similar to those examined by us. As shown in Table 6, the number of animal taxa recorded as part of the above mentioned investigations is not any higher than reported by us. However, the number of taxa in common is quite low. These differences in faunal composition (few repetitions) can be explained by a more heterogeneous geographical distribution of animals (compared to algae) or it may relate to site specific differences that do not to the same extent impact algal diversity. Other possible explanations are small differences in sampling strategy, e.g., the use of different mesh sizes in the sieving process. However, an overall, preliminary conclusion based on the comparisons above is that the algal flora, in comparison with the associated animal community, is more homogeneous among Arctic sites.

Madsen (1940), Lee (1973), and Hansen & Haugen (1989) all explain the fairly low biodiversity of Arctic marine coastal flora and fauna by referring to a possible nutrient limitation of the coastal zone. However, this working hypothesis still needs to be critically tested in the field and in the laboratory.

	Latitude	Anim	al taxa	Alga	ıl taxa
		Total	Shared	Total	Shared
Madsen (1940) LIT AR, G	72°N	21	9		
Ellis (1955) LIT AR, CAN	63-64°N	34	8		
Wilce (1959)         LIT           AR, CAN	48-68°N			33	25
Ellis & Wilce (1961) LIT AR, CAN	69–74°N	28	8	39	16
Lee (1973) LIT AR, CAN	6069°N			14	7
Hansen & Haugen (1989) LIT AR, N	78–80°N	9	5	14	10
Hansen & Schlütter (1990) AR, G LIT + (SUBLIT)	60–69°N			73	32
This investigation (1998) LIT <b>AR</b> , G	69°N	41		32	

 Table 6. Comparison of Arctic investigations - number of taxa found and taxa shared with the present study. (AR-Arctic / G-Greenland, CAN-Canada, N-Norway / LIT-littoral zone, SUBLIT-sublittoral zone)

#### Conclusion

In most places, the seashore can be regarded as a mosaic of numerous and different microhabitats, rendering it almost impossible to reveal a general pattern of organismal distribution and abundance. This investigation supports the statement and documents within a relatively small area great variability, only part of which can be explained by reference to environmental parameters such as degree of wave exposure and ice scouring.

## Acknowledgements

The field work and also the preparation of a Danish report was undertaken in cooperation with stud. scient. Steen Johansen (Hansen & Johansen 1999). I am indebted to all who contributed to this work with inspiration, practical and technical assistance. Thanks are due to the entire staff at the Arctic Station for providing invaluable logistic support. Our teachers, Reinhardt Møbjerg Kristensen and Helge Abildhauge Thomsen, are acknowledged for supervising the project and for help and advice while editing the reports. Gotfred Høpner Petersen, Danny Eibye-Jacobsen and Katrine Worsaae are acknowledged for invaluable help with the identification of molluscs, polychaetes and spionids, respectively. Ruth Nielsen assisted with the identification of some microscopic macroalgae and help in many other ways. Finally thanks are due to the people who were so kind to proof-read the manuscript, Oscar Rishede and Poul Møller Pedersen.

#### References

- Athersuch, J., D.J.Horne & J.E.Whittaker (1989). Marine and Brackish Water Ostracods. Syn.British Fauna (new ser.) 43.
- Beckley, L.E. (1982). Studies on the littoral seaweed epifauna of St.Croix Island.3. *Gelidium pristoides* (Rhodophyta) and its epifauna. S. Afr. J. Zool. 17 (1): 3-10.
- Beckley, L.E. & A.McLachlan (1979). Studies on the littoral seaweed epifauna of St. Croix Island. I. Physical and biological features of the littoral zone. S. Afr. J. Zool. 12: 175-182.
- Beckley, L.E. & A.McLachlan (1980). Studies on the littoral seaweed epifauna of St.Croix Island 2. Composition and summer standing stock. S. Afr. J. Zool. 15 (3): 170-176.
- Boaden, J.S., R.J.O'Connor & R.Seed (1975). The composition and zonation of a *Fucus* serratus community in Strangford Lough, Co.Down. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 17: 111-136.
- Christensen, T. (1971). Havbundens planter. Danmarks Natur 10: 184-192.
- Colman, J. (1939). On the faunas inhabiting intertidal seaweeds. J. Mar. Biol. Ass. U.K. 26: 129-183.
- Dalby, D.H., E.B.Cowell, W.J.Syratt and J.H.Crothers (1978). An exposure scale for marine shores in western Norway. J. Mar. Biol. Ass. U.K. 58: 975-996.
- Enckell, P.H. (1980). Kräftdjur. Signum, Lund.
- Ellis, D.V. (1955). Some observations on the shore fauna on Baffin Island. Arctic 8: 224-36.
- Ellis, D.V. & R.T.Wilce (1961). Arctic and subarctic examples of intertidal zonation. Arctic 14(4): 224-235.
- Evans, R.G. (1947). The intertidal ecology of selected localities in the Plymouth neighbourhood. J. Mar. Biol. Ass. UK 27: 173-218.
- Farvandsvæsenet (1997). Tidevandstabeller, Grønland 1998. Forsvarsmin. tryk, Danmark.

Fletcher, W.J. & R.W.Day (1983). The distribution of epifauna on *Ecklonia radiata* (C. Agardh) J. Agard and the effect of disturbance. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 71: 205-220.

Green, J. & M. Macquitty (1987). Halacarid Mites. Syn. British Fauna 36.

- Gunnill, F.C. (1982). Effects of plant size and distribution on the numbers of invertebrate species and individuals inhabiting the brown alga *Pelvetia fastigiata*. Mar. Biol. 69: 263-280.
- Hagermann, L. (1966). The Macro-microfauna associated with *Fucus serratus* L., with some ecological remarks. Ophelia 3: 1-43.
- Hansen, J.R. & I.Haugen (1989). Some observations of intertidal communities on Spitsbergen (79°N), Norwegian Arctic. Polar Research 7(1): 23-27.
- Hansen, O.S. & H.Schlütter (1990). Macroalgezoneringen i Tidevandszonen på Disko. Feltkursus i Arktisk Biologi, Godhavn. Institut for Sporeplanter og Zoologisk Museum, Københavns Universitet & Dansk Polarcenter.
- Higgins, R.P. & H.Thiel (1988). Introduction to the Study of Meiofauna. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C., London.
- Hoek, C. van den (1984). World-wide latitudinal and longitudinal seaweed distribution patterns and their possible causes, as illustrated by the distribution of Rhodophytan genera. Helgoländer wiss. Meeresunters. 38(3-4):227-257.
- Hoek, C. van den, D.G.Mann & H.M.Jahns (1995). Algae. An introduction to phycology. University Press, Cambridge.

- Kirkegaard, J.B. (1992). *Havbørsteorme. I.* Danmarks Fauna 83. Dansk Naturhistorisk Forening, København.
- Kirkegaard, J.B. (1996). *Havbørsteorme. II.* Danmarks Fauna 86. Dansk Naturhistorisk Forening, København.
- Lee, R.K.S. (1973). General ecology of the Canadian Arctic benthic marine algae. Arctic 26: 32-43
- Lewis III, F.G. (1987). Crustacean epifauna of seagrass and macroalgae in Apalachee Bay, Florida, USA. Mar.Biol. 94(2): 219-229.

Lewis, J.R. (1964). The ecology of rocky shores. English University Press, London.

- Madsen, H. (1940). A study of the littoral fauna of Northwest Greenland. Medd. Grønl. 124 (3): 1-24.
- Martin-Smith, K.M. (1993). Abundance of mobile epifauna: The role of habitat complexity and predation by fishes. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 174(2): 243-260.
- Mettam, C. (1994). Intertidal zonation of animals and plants on rocky shores in the Bristol Channel and Severn Estuary the northern shores. Biol. J. Linn. Soc. 51: 123-147.
- Nielsen, R. & Aa.Kristiansen (1994). Danske Havalger. Udbredelse og danske navne. Miljø- og Energiministeriet/Skov- og Naturstyrelsen.
- Pedersen, P.M. (1976). Marine, benthic algae from southermost Greenland. Medd. Grønl. 199 (3): 1-80.
- Petersen, G.H. (1962). The distribution of *Balanus balanoides* (L.) and *Littorina saxatilis*, Olivi, var. *groenlandica*, Mencke in northern West Greenland. Medd. Grønl. 159 (9): 1-48.
- Petersen, G.H. (1966). *Balanus balanoides* (L.) (Cirripedia). Life cycle and growth in Greenland. C.A. Reitzels Forlag. København.
- Rueness, J. (1977). Norsk algeflora. Universitetsforlaget. Oslo.
- Ruppert, E.E. & R.D. Barnes (1994). *Invertebrate Zoology*. Saunders College Publishing, USA.
- Seed, R. & R.J.O'Connor (1981). Community organization in marine algal epifaunas. Ann. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 12: 49-74.
- Stephesen, K. (1928). *Storkrebs II. Ringkrebs I.* Danmarks Fauna 32. Dansk Historisk Forening. København.
- Stephenson, T.A. & A.Stephenson (1949). *The Universal Features of Zonation Between Tide-marks on Rocky Coasts. J. Ecol.* 37: 289-305.
- Waarsae, K. (1999). En taksonomisk undersøøgelse af slægten Spio (Spionidae, Polychaeta) fra Nipisat, Disko, Grønland. In Thomsen, H.A. (ed.): Arktisk Biologisk Feltkursus, Qerqertarsuaq 1998. Botanisk Institut, Københavns Universitet, Copenhagen: 181-212.
- Wilce, R.T. (1959). The marine algae of the Labrador Peninsula and Northwest Newfoundland (ecology and distribution). National Museum of Canada. Bulletin 158. Biological Series 56. Ottawa.
- Wilce, R.T. (1964). Studies on benthic marine algae in Northwest Greenland. Proceedings of the Fourth International Seaweed Symposium. Edited by Day de Virville, A. & Feldmann, J.

# The Mellemfjord (Disko, West Greenland) - hydrography and pelagic biology

Nikoline Hansen and Frederik Schmidt

Dept. of Phycology, Botanical Institute, Univ. of Copenhagen Øster Farimagsgade 2D, DK-1353 Copenhagen K, Denmark

## Abstract

This project is a brief introduction to Mellemfjord pelagic ecology. The data presented comprises hydrographic parameters (salinity, temperature, nutrients, and fluorescence) and biological core features with particular emphasis on protist plankton and mesozooplankton. Phytoplankton abundance seemed to be limited by a shortage of N and P. Organisms <20  $\mu$ m (nanoplankton) contributed most to phytoplankton biomass Heterotrophic dinoflagellates constituted 30-75% of the total heterotrophic biomass in Mellemfjord. The mesozooplankton differed in composition from other Arctic sites. The meroplankton (larvae of echinoderms, brachyurans, gastropods, polychaetes, enteropneusts, and fish eggs) accounted for approximately 20% of the total mesozooplankton biomass. Copepod biomass peaked at approximately 80% of the mesozooplankton biomass and was found to be dominated by *Calanus* spp., copepod nauplii, and *Oithona* spp. Also *Acartia* spp. and *Centropages* spp. were represented in most samples. The small copepod taxa constituted approximately 50% of total copepod biomass, while in most other arctic environments it is generally the larger taxa that comprise the bulk of copepod biomass.

## Introduction

The purpose of this project was to measure basic hydrographic and biological parametres of a West Greenland fiord ecosystem providing a snapshot picture of the pelagic system.

### Material and methods

*Area of investigation.* The Mellemfjord (Fig. 1) is about 25 km long and 3-5 km wide. The approximate geographic coordinates are:  $69^{\circ}45 \text{ N} / 54^{\circ}37 \text{ W}$ . The deepest area of the fiord (170 m) is located west of Enoks Harbour. Basic characteristics of the fiord system were published by Frische *et al.* (1995). These include (1) volume: 2.71 km<sup>3</sup>, (2) surface area: 57.9 km<sup>2</sup>, (3) average depth: 47 m, (4) freshwater inflow: 0.16 km<sup>3</sup> per year, and (5) water retention time: 10 months.

*Transects and stations.* Four transects, each comprising five approximately equidistant stations, were selected to represent the entire fiord (Fig. 1). Stations were numbered 1-5 in the south-north direction. Transect 6 comprised only one station.



Fig. 1. Mellemfjord. Map showing bottom topography, transects and landmarks.

*Dates of visits*. This report presents data from three visits to the fiord. The first visit (2-3 July) comprised only a CTD profiling. Subsequent visits (20-21 and 27-29 July) included CTD profiling, net- and water sampling (Table 1).

2-3 July 1998					20-21 Ji	uly 1	998		28	July	1998	3	
	Т5	T4	T2	T6	Т5	T4	T2	T6		Т5	T4	T2	T6
CTD	Х	х	х	х	X	х	x	x		х	x	x	x
Phytoplankton net					х	х							
Hensen net					х								
WP2 net					х	x	х			x	x	х	
Bongo net										х			
Water samples					x	x				x	x		

 Table 1. Sampling activities.

*Hydrography.* Profiling with a CTD (Seabird Sealogger 25) was performed at each station. The data sampling included pressure (depth), temperature, salinity, flourescense (algal biomass), light (PAR= "Photosynthetically Active Radiation"), and turbidity. The data were prepared for presentation using MS Word, MS Excel and the contour-plotting programme Surfer ver. 6.0 (Golden Software).

*Water sampling.* The water sampling programme (middle stations only) was based on the CTD profile und undertaken by means of a 10 l Niskin water bottle. The three depths sampled were: surface (2 m), chlorophyll maximum, and below chlorophyll

maximum (typically 40-50 m depth). Subsamples were used for nutrient analyses, chlorophyll determination and quantification of algae and protists.

Water samples intended for nutrient analyses were taken from each sampling depth and immediately frozen. The samples were later analyzed at the National Environmental Research Institute (NERI).

Size-fractionated chlorophyll measurements (<20  $\mu$ m, 20-45  $\mu$ m, and total) were made using 2-4 l of seawater for each fraction. The GF/F filters were frozen immediately after filtration. The subsequent treatment took place at the Arctic Station laboratory. Extraction of pigments was in ethanol and lasted approximately 24 hours. Following whirlmixing and centrifuging the absorbance of the supernatant was measured spectrophotometrically at 480, 665, and 780 nm. The CTD fluorometer measurements were calibrated, based on a regression plot (Fig. 2) between corresponding values of pigment concentration (spectrophotometer versus fluorometer measurements).



Fig 2. Plot of corresponding chlorophyll and CTD flourometer values, with superimposed regression line ( $R^2 = 0.575$ )

From each sampling depth 250 ml of seawater was fixed in Lugol's solution (final concentration 2%). This material was later used for the quantification of protist plankton using an inverted microscope (Uthermöhl 1956) and 50 ml sedimentation chambers. Whenever possible we counted 200-400 specimens of each group/taxon. The statistical confidence of the estimated cell density is then about  $\pm 15\%$  (Kaas 1998). The cell volume was estimated based on cell measurements and the use of simple geometric models, and converted into carbon using the same factors as Thomsen (1992): 0.13 pg C  $\mu$ m<sup>-3</sup> for dinoflagellates and 0.11 pg C  $\mu$ m<sup>-3</sup> for other categories.

*Phytoplankton net sampling*. The net (mesh size  $25 \ \mu m$ ) was used to sample the upper 10 meters of the water column (see Table 1). Samples were fixed in Lugol's solution.

Copepoda	Meroplankton	Others
Copepod nauplii	Gastropoda larvae	Cnidaria
Calanus spp.	Polychaeta	Thecosomata
Acartia spp.	Brachyuran larvae	Decapoda
Centropages spp.	Echinoderm larvae	Amphipoda
Oithona spp.	Enteropneust larvae	Cladocera
Harpacticoid copepoda	Fish eggs	Fish larvae

		categories.

Group	Regression	Reference
Cnidaria	$W = 0.008 * r^{2.15}$	Båmstedt 1990
Gastropod larva	$W = 2.31 * 10^{-5} * L^{2.05}$	Hansen & Ockelmann 1991
Polychaete larva	$W = 1.58 * 10^{-4} * L^{1.38}$	Hansen 1998
Copepod nauplii	$W = 3.18 * 10^{-6} * L^{3.31}$	Berggreen et al. 1988
Calanus spp.	$W = 4.45 * 10^{-3} * (L * 10^{-3})^{3.38}$	Hansen 1998
Acartidea	$W = 1.11 * 10^{-5} * L^{2.92}$	Berggreen et al. 1988
Centropagidea	$W = 0.45 * (7.97 * 10^{-7} * L^{2.45})$	Breteler et al. 1982
Oithonidea	$W = 9.47 * 10^{-4} * L^{2.16}$	Sabatini & Kiørboe 1995
Harpacticoid copepod	$W = e^{(1.0275 * \ln L - 7.0703)}$	Satapoomin, Unpubl.
Fish egg	$W = volume * 0.14 \text{ pg/m}^{3}$ $W = 10^{(4.15*LOG(L)-11.16)}$	Kiørboe et al. 1985
Cladocera		Uye 1982
Echinoderm larva	$W = 3.06 * 10^{-8} * L^{2.88}$	Hansen 1998
Enteropneust larva	$W = 8.06 * 10^{-5} * L^{1.7}$	Hansen 1998

**Tabel 3.** Biomass estimates based on regressions, where L is body length, and W the weight in mgC/individual (based on a handout prepared by Benni Hansen, Roskilde Univ. Center, Denmark). The equation for *Calanus* spp. is from *C. finmarchius*. The equation for Cladocera refers to *Podon leuckarii*. The biomass of echinoderm larvae is based on an equation that applies to the second Bivalvia larval stage.

**Zooplankton net sampling**. The Hensen net (45  $\mu$ m) was used once (Table 1). The diameter of the net was 55 cm. It was pulled vertically from 50 m depth giving a filtered water volume of 11.87 m<sup>3</sup>. The WP2 net (200  $\mu$ m) was used repeatedly (see Table 1). It was deployed similar to the Hensen net. The ring diameter was 57 cm. The volume filtered was thus 12.75 m<sup>3</sup> (50 m) and 15.30 m<sup>3</sup> (60 m). The Bongo net (500/1000  $\mu$ m) was deployed while the ship sailed at a speed of approximately 3 knots. The net was lowered for 6 minutes and retrieved for another 6 minutes (22 m/min.), creating a V-shaped pull that was estimated to reach a depth of 50 m. The total distance of the pull was 1115.69 m and the diameter of the nets 60 cm. The volume filtered was thus about 315 m<sup>3</sup>. All samples were initially fixed in formalin (4%).

**Zooplankton analysis.** The zooplankton samples were analysed for abundance (cells/m<sup>3</sup>) and biomass (mg C/m<sup>3</sup>) at RUC (Roskilde University Center). Samples were initially split into subsamples each comprising about 200 individuals. The taxonomic

resolution is according to Table 2. An estimation of carbon content (mg C  $m^{-3}$ ) was made based on the equations given in Table 3.

## Results

## Hydrography, algal biomass, and nutrients

Contourplots (transects and length profile of fiord) are shown in Figs. 3-8. (1) Temperature (Figs. 3-4). The surface temperature (5-10 m depth) was 5-8°C in all transects. There is a fairly steep, vertical temperature gradient in the surface water. The temperature at the bottom is <1°C. (2) Salinity (Figs. 5-6). All transects displayed the same pattern with horizontal isohalines and a fairly steep surface gradient. The salinity of the bottom water was approximately 33 %. The minimum surface salinity was 28 %. The upper 1-2 m of the water column is thus influenced by freshwater. Wind and tide effects are traceable down to about 10 m depth. (3) Chlorophyll (Figs. 7-8). A subsurface chlorophyll maximum layer at 15-30 meters depth was evident from all transects. A reduction in algal biomass took place during the sampling period. The maximum values measured during the three sampling periods were: 2.80 mg C/m<sup>3</sup>, 1.60 mg C/m<sup>3</sup> and 1.30 mgC/m<sup>3</sup>. (4) Nutrients. Table 4 summarizes measured values of phosphorus, nitrogen, and silicium. The detection limit for PO<sub>4</sub> is 0.09 µmol/l and for NO<sub>3</sub> 0.06 µmol/l. The growth of diatoms is assumed to be limited at Si values <2.0 µmol/l (Egge and Aksnes 1992). The high NO3 values measured during the second period (transect 4) are most likely caused by a contamination of the samples.

		PO4		NO3		NO2		NH4		Si	
		Ι	II	Ι	II	Ι	II	I	II	. I	II
T4	Тор	0.14	0.13	0.08	2.16	0.00	0.00	1.12	0.20	5.26	5.29
	Chl.max.	0.14	0.19	0.24	3.46	0.01	0.02	0.84	0.48	1.26	2.67
	Bottom	0.29	0.40	1.80	3.76	0.07	0.09	1.76	1.72	2.53	3.35
T5	Тор	0.08	0.09	0.78	1.12	0.01	0.00	1.13	0.65	2.71	2.43
	Chl.max.	0.12	0.16	1.14	0.87	0.00	0.02	0.98	0.86	1:26	0.91
	Bottom	0.38	0.47	4.86	3.12	0.11	0.09	2.57	2.06	4.13	2.86

Table. 4. Nutrient concentrations (μmol/l); middle station of transects 4 & 5 on 20 July(I) and 28 July (II).











Fig. 5. Salinity T5 and T4







Fig. 7. Phytoplankton biomass (chl.). T5 and T4.







Internal waves. A 'yo-yo' CTD cast, i.e. five successive casts, was carried out at the entrance of the Mellemfjord in order to test for the presence of an internal wave structure in the water column. Fig. 9 is a plot of temperature and salinity from all five casts indicating the presence of a small internal wave structure with an amplitude of about 15 m.



Fig. 9. Dataplot from five successive CTD casts from the Mellemfjord.

# Biomass of algae and protists

<u>Size-fractionated chlorophyll</u>. Fig. 10 shows the results from midstations of transect 4 and 5 on 20 July. The subsurface chlorophyll maximum is evident as is also a clear dominance of nanoplankton, i.e., the <20 $\mu$ m fraction. The dominance of nanoplankton was even more pronounced on 28 July (Fig. 11). The algal biomass expressed as chlorophyll was reduced by approximately 40% from 20 to 28 July.

Biodiversity of protists. The following taxa were recorded from phytoplankton net tows at transect 4 (20 July). **Diatoms:** Chaetoceros convolutus, Chaetoceros decipiens, Chaetoceros diadema, Chaetoceros socialis, Chaetoceros teres, Eucampia groenlandica, Leptocylindrus danicus, Leptocylindrus minimus, Proboscia alata, Pseudo-nitzschia spp., Skeletonema costatum, Thalassiosira spp. **Dinoflagellates:** Ceratium arctium, Dinophysis acuminata, Gonyaulax triacantha, Gymnodinium spp., Gyrodinium spp., Heterocapsa triquetra, Minuscula bipes, Protoceratium reticulatum. **Crysophyceae:** Dinobryon balticum. **Protista incertae sedis:** Ebria tripartita.

<u>Protist plankton – quantitative aspects</u>. The results from the inverted microscopy counts are presented in Table 5 (cells/ml) and Fig. 12 (biomass µg C/l).



Fig. 10. Size fractionated chlorophyll (20 July 1998) / T4 and T5



Fig. 11. Size fractionated chlorophyll (28 July 1998) / T4 and T5  $\,$ 

Cells/ml	T4	T4	T4	T4	T5	T5
	Тор	Chl. max.	Bottom	Chl. max.	Chl. max	Chl. max.
	20 July	20 July	20 July	28 July	20 July	28 July
Ciliates	19	20	3	4	12	2
Dinofl.	26	19	30	47	10	14
Cryptoph.	0	12	4	36	43	0
Diatoms	0	0	9	4	0	1
Chrysoph.	99	1	24	8	2	1

Table 5. Cell abundances (cells/ml) from selected samples.



**Fig. 12**. Biomass contributions from major taxonomic groups ( $\mu$ g C/l); 'ab' = above chl. max. layer, 'max' = chlorophyll maximum layer, 'be' = below chl. max. layer, 't4' = transect 4, 't5' = transect 5, '2007' = collection date.

The biodiversity of ciliates was high. Tintinnids were found but were quantitatively insignificant. Dinoflagellates were the single most important group of organisms in terms of biomass. Many forms recognized were also found by Clausen *et al.* (1994). Most important were: *Gyrodinium spirale, Gymnodinium* spp. and *Ceratium* spp. Cryptophyceae were represented by a single morphotype. The cell was 6-8  $\mu$ m long and with a characteristic curvature to the posterior cell end. The cells were well preserved by the fixative and the flagella were often intact. Crysophyceae were mostly represented by the colonial, mixotrophic *Dinobryon balticum*. Intact colonies comprising more than 100 cells were found in the net samples. In sedimented samples the colonies had disintegrated due to the rough handling of the organisms when shaking the sample prior to sedimentation. The diatoms were represented by numerous taxa. The quantitatively most important form was a small, pennate *Nitzschia*-like diatom. Only a few larger centric diatoms, i.e., *Thalassiosira* spp. and *Chaetoceros* spp. were found in the sedimented samples.

# Mesozooplankton

Results of the mesozooplankton investigation using WP2 net (200  $\mu$ m), Hensen net (45  $\mu$ m), and Bongo nets (500/1000  $\mu$ m) are summarized in Table 6 (numbers and average length (AVL) of the animals). Graphic analyses of the mesozooplankton data (animals/m<sup>3</sup> and mg C/m<sup>3</sup>) are shown in Figs. 13-20.

**20-21 July.** The contribution of different categories of copepods is shown in Fig. 13 (average cell number approx. 700 animals/m<sup>3</sup>). The nauplii, *Calanus* spp., and *Oithona* spp. were the most frequent taxonomic groups at all stations. The occurrence of meroplankton is shown in Fig. 14 (average cell number approx. 150 animals/m<sup>3</sup>). Echinoderm and brachyuran larvae and fish eggs were the dominant groups of animals.

Sampling tool	W	P2	W	P2	W	P2	Hen	sen
Station	Т	2	T4	4a	Т	5	T!	5
Depth	60	)m	50	)m	50	)m	50	m
	nos.	avl	nos.	avl	nos.	avl	nos.	avl
Cnidaria					64	700		3
Gastropoda			64	650	32	200	4318	124
Polychaeta					512	950		
Copepod nauplii	2185	371	2944	509	1696	372	8128	217
Calanus spp.	1434	656	7424	1072	2816	861	508	350
Acartia spp.	785	689	64	500	736	596	508	225
Centropagidae			3008	614	96	600		
Oithona spp.	2185	386	1984	510	2304	492	2794	386
Harpacticoid spp.			64	500				
Copepoda (fragments)	683	345	768	875			508	
Copepoda (others)							508	575
Cladocera	68	475	64	500	480	523	508	500
Brachyura larvae	2355	1600	128	1650				
Echinoderm larvae	956	254	320	280	1280	249	762	233
Enteropneust larvae	102	1117			32	600		
Fish eggs	341	495			320	255	48768	103
Others	34	400						

# 20-21 July 1998

# 27-29 July 1998

Sampling tool		P2		P2	WF	-		ngo		ngo
Station	Т	2	T4	4a	T!	5		5		F5
Mesh size							500	μm	100	0 µm
····	nos.	avl	nos.	avl	nos.	avl	nos.	avl	nos.	avi
Cnidaria	32	300	256	550			64	12000	114	15214
Thecasomata							64	6000		
Gastropoda										
Polychaeta		1911 - M	32	450						
Decapoda					-				16	6000
Amphipoda							192	11667	65	12275
Copepod nauplii	1312	449	1984	473	2069	445				
<i>Calanus</i> spp.	1888	814	3008	795	1003	730	15616	1594	1154	3181
Acartia spp.	64	600	128	725						
Centropagidea										
Oithona spp.	1248	458	512	444					16	600
Copepod fragments	288		224							
Cladocera	192	567	128	813	107	550				
Brachyura larvae	64	1875	64	1650			1152	1719	2162	1615
Echinoderm larvae	128	300	128	313	85	325				
Enteropneust larvae	96	533			21	650	64	750		
Fi <b>s</b> h eggs	288	311	64	450	85	375				
Fish larvae							128	12500		

 $\label{eq:table 6.} Table \ 6. \ Mesozooplankton \ results, \ total \ catch \ and \ average \ length \ (AVL).$ 



Fig. 13. Copepods (animals/m<sup>3</sup>) / WP2 net / 20-21 July



Fig. 14. Meroplankton (animals/m<sup>3</sup>) / WP2 net / 20-21 July.



Fig. 15. Copepoda biomass / WP2 net / 20-21 July.



Fig. 16. Meroplankton and fish egg biomass / WP2 / 20-21 July.

Biomass contributions of copepoda and meroplankton are shown in Figs. 15-16. The average mesozooplankton biomass is 4 mg C/m<sup>3</sup>. *Calanus* spp. account for 8 mg C/m<sup>3</sup> at station T4a. The average biomass of nauplii is 0.4 mg C/m<sup>3</sup> and for *Oithona* spp. 0.2 mg C/m<sup>3</sup>.

**27 – 29 July.** The average number of animals is 360 specimens/m<sup>3</sup>. The dominating groups are still the nauplii and *Calanus* spp. (Figs. 17, 19). *Oithona* spp. were present in small numbers. The overall diversity, as well as the total biomass, was much lower than during the previous sampling period (Figs. 13-16). Data on meroplankton (cell abundances and biomass) are shown in Figs. 18, 20. The average cell abundance is approximately 55 individuals/ m<sup>3</sup>.



Fig. 17. Copepoda (animals/m<sup>3</sup>) / WP2 net / 27-29 July.



Fig. 18. Meroplankton and fish eggs (numbers/m<sup>3</sup>) / WP2 net / 25-27 July.



Fig. 19. Copepoda biomass / WP2 net / 25-27 July.



Fig. 20. Meroplankton and fish egg biomass / WP2 net / 25-27 July .

## Discussion

**Hydrography (incl. nutrients).** The hydrography along the west coast of Greenland is above all influenced by the West Greenland current which flows northwards along the coast. This current originates from the mixing of the cold East Greenland current and the warm north Atlantic Irminger current. Part of the Davis Strait is under the influence of the Labrador current which is a genuine polar water flow. The West Greenland current can be found in bottom waters of the Disko Bay. It is characterized by a temperature of  $2^{\circ}$ C and a salinity of approximately  $34^{0}/_{00}$ .

During summer the Disko Bay encompasses three distinct layers of water including the remnants of the West Greenland current (Buch 1995) The surface water (upper 20-30 m) has a temperature of 3-10°C and the salinity, characterized by a significant vertical gradient, will usually be less than 33‰. Horizontal differences in salinity caused by

freshwater outflows and melting icebergs is a common phenomenon in particular in the vicinity of the Jakobshavn Glacier. A fairly homogeneous water column (100-150 m) is a conspicuous midwater feature of the Disko Bay charaterized by temperatures  $<0.5^{\circ}$ C. This water mass is found throughout the entire Disko Bay and also in coastal areas north and south of the bay proper (Buch 1995). The salinity increases slowly with depth. Vertical convection as a result of winter-cooling, in combination with ice formation in Disko Bay, seems to best explain the origin of this cold intermediate layer (Buch 1995).

Disko Bay has a complicated bottom topography. In the southwestern part, deepwater troughs render possible a certain inflow of deep water into the Bay. The general circulation within the Bay is counterclockwise. Outgoing water masses pass by Qeqertarsuaq/Arctic Station making their way to the northwest through a trough ('Godhavn Rende').

Only two of the three water masses described above for Disko Bay were found again in Mellemfjord (Akulliit). The bottom layer (the West Greenland current) is missing due in particular to the presence of shallow water areas outside the Mellemfjord that simply prevents the bottom waters from entering.

**Nutrients.** The upper water column and the chlorophyll maximum layer appear to be nutrient limited (N and P). A similar summer situation is known from Disko Bay (H.A. Thomsen, unpublished) and other West Greenland localities as reported by e.g. Trier (1998). The surface water nutrient limitation is consistent with the observed nanoplankton dominance of Mellemfjord waters. However, the Mellemfjord differs significantly from other sites examined because of the measured high values of Si in allmost all nutrient samples. A Si level >2.0  $\mu$ mol/l is assumed to be a prerequisite to diatom growth (Egge & Aksnes 1992). This critical value is easily met by the majority of our samples. The small contribution of diatoms to phytoplankton biomass must be due to either N and P scarcity or a heavy grazing pressure.

**Biomass of protist plankton.** (1) *Phytoplankton.* The most significant part of an Arctic annual cycle of phytoplankton is the spring bloom. Fig. 21 shows data from an annual examination (May 1996 to July 1997) of protistplankton at a permanent station outside the Arctic Station (Thomsen, unpublished). The very conspicuous spring bloom starts in late May. A small, secondary bloom is evident in August. The phytoplankton biomass averages 10  $\mu$ g C/l outside bloom incidents. Data from Disko Bay (Thomsen, unpublished) indicates a carbon:chlorophyll relationship which is close to 10:1



Fig. 21. Annual succession of protistplankton biomass at a permanent station ouside the Arctic Station, Qeqertarsuaq (Thomsen, unpubl. results).

At the time of our investigation the spring bloom must have come to an end, although a Mellemfjord delay of 2-4 weeks could be expected in comparison with the Disko Bay proper (due to in particular a prolonged ice coverage of the Mellemfjord area). During the investigation the chlorophyll maximum values decreased from 2.8 to 1.3  $\mu$ g chlorophyll/l corresponding to 28 and 13  $\mu$ g C/l using the correlation from Disko Bay. The latter value (13  $\mu$ g C/l) is in good agreement with summer values from the Disko Bay (see. Fig. 21).

**Heterotrophic Dinoflagellates**. Our findings in terms of biomass level are consistent with comparable investigations from other marine environments (Table 7).

Locality	min. µg C/l	max. µg C/l	Reference
Kiel Bight	<1	25	Smetacek 1981
Kattegat, DK	<1	163	Hansen 1991
Disko Bay	<2	>8	Nielsen & Hansen 1995
Bisko Bay	2.5	53.4	Clausen et al. 1994
Barents Sea	<2	35	B. Hansen, unpubl.
Mellemfjord	0.9	4.4	This investigation

 Table 7. Biomass contributions of heterotrophic dinoflagellates from north Atlantic localities.

Heterotrophic dinoflagellates (about 50% of all dinoflagellates) comprise 30-75% of the total Mellemfjord protist biomass. Clausen *et al* (1994) found a similar range (30-86%) in material from Disko Bay,

Locality	min. μg C/l	max. µg C/l	Reference
Disko Bay	<5	>20	Nielsen & Hansen 1995
Disko Bay	1	28	Clausen et al. 1994
Barents Sea	<1	22	B. Hansen, unpubl.
Mellemfjord	0.5	9.6	This investigation

**Ciliates**. Ciliates varied in numbers from 2.000 to19.000 cells/l. The biomass values are within the same range as previously recorded from other north Atlantic sites (Table 8).

 Table 8. Biomass contributions of ciliates from Northatlantic localities.

### Zooplankton - quantitative and qualitative data

Table 9 summarizes data from the WP2 net. It is obvious that major changes occurred just within the timespan of one week that separates the two sampling events. The overall abundance of Copepoda was reduced by almost 50%, and meroplankton by a significantly larger percentage.

In the Disko Bay proper the copepod mesozooplankton is totally dominating in June-July (Nielsen & Hansen 1995). This is also the case in most other Arctic environments, i.e., the Barents Sea (Hansen *et al.* 1996). The Mellemfjord plankton differs in several respects. There is an unusually large contribution of meroplankton, and the species composition of Copepoda is somewhat different. Fifty to seventy percent of the Copepoda are small.

Abundance (animals/m3)	20-21 July	25-27 July
COPEPODA	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Total	653	338
Nauplii	178	135
Calanus spp.	305	141
Oithona spp.	169	62
MEROPLANKTON		
Total	149	77
Brachyuran larvae	65	26
Echinoderm larvae	67	36
Fish eggs	17	15

 Table 9. Abundances of Copepoda and meroplankton in Mellemfjord. Average values per sampling event.

taxa (incl. nauplii). In Disko Bay *Calanus* spp. make up 95% of all Copepoda (Nielsen & Hansen 1995). Investigations of mesozooplankton from the Nuuk area (SW Greenland) indicate a dominance of Copepoda but also a significant contribution of other Crustacea (Smidt 1979). The meroplankton is present from April to October and peaks during the month of July (33% of all mesozooplankton). The meroplankton has also been studied in the "Jørgen Brønlund Fjord" (North Greenland). The diversity was

very high (42 species) with a dominance of bivalves, polychaetes and echinoderm larvae (Andersen 1984).

## Acknowledgements

Thanks are due to Helge A. Thomsen, Botanical Institute, University of Copenhagen, and Reinhardt M. Kristensen, Zoological Museum, University of Copenhagen, who helped us through many difficult phases of this project. Benni Hansen and Ea Stenalt, University of Roskilde, are acknowledged for help with the mesozooplankton analyses.

## References

- Andersen, O.G.N. 1984. Meroplankton in Brønlund Fjord, North Greenland. Bioscience 12: 1-28.
- Buch, E. 1995. A monograph of the physical oceanography of the Greenland waters. Greenland Fisheries Research Institute, 405 pp.
- Clausen, S., Gedde, D., Grastrup-Hansen, D., Levinsen, H., Riis, T. & Vestergaard, O. 1994. Hydrografi og plankton i Diskobugt. In: Arktisk Biologisk Feltkursus 1994 (ed. Ehrhardt *et al.*), pp. 83-189. Københavns Universitet
- Egge, J.K. & Aksnes, D.L. 1992. Silicate as regulating nutrient in phytoplankton competition. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 83: 281-289.
- Frische, H., Asmussen, J., Petersen, M. & Mikkelsen, O. 1995. Fjorden. In: Naturgeografisk hovedfagskursus 1995, Mellemfjord, Disko, Grønland (eds. S. Hansen, O. Mikkelsen & T. Kjær-Andersen), pp. 145-185. Geographical Institute, Univ. of Copenhagen.
- Kaas, H. 1998. Tekniske anvisninger for marin overvågning / Kap. 9 (<u>http://www.dmu.dk/MarineEcologyAndMicrobiology/fagdata/tekanv/</u>). Danmarks miljøundersøgelser / Det marine Fagdatacenter.
- Thomsen, H. A. (ed.) 1992. Plankton i de indre danske farvande. Havforskning fra Miljøstyrelsen nr. 11, Miljøstyrelsen.
- Trier, H. 1998. Marint fytoplankton i subarktis. Masters thesis / Botanisk Institut, Univ. of Copenhagen.
- Uthermöhl, H. 1956. Zur Vervollkommung der quantitativen Phytoplankton-Methodik. Mitt. int. Ver. theor. angew. Limnol. 9: 1-38.

# Comparative analysis of three sampling gear types for marine macrobenthos

Anne Nina Lörz, Angela di Renzo and Jörg Nickel

Zoological Institute und Zoological Museum, University of Hamburg, Martin-Luther-King-Platz 3, 20146 Hamburg, Germany

## Abstract

The Mellemfjord on Disko Island in West Greenland is a relatively biologically unchartered region. Initial studies focussed on examining the abundance and diversity of Peracarida; in addition comparisons of three sampling gear types, mini van Veen grab, triangle dredge and Rauschert dredge were conducted. Twelve locations of the Mellemfjord, with three determined depths at four set locations leading from the mouth to the end of the fjord, were sampled.

Our studies revealed Amphipoda to be the most abundant taxon of Peracarida sampled, followed by Tanaidacea and Cumacea. Within the three gear types the mini van Veen grab collected the most animals in all Peracarida species per area calculated. The triangle dredge and the Rauschert dredge, both towed gear types, were less effected by patchiness and sediment structure than the mini van Veen grab. However, in optimal conditions the latter yielded an order of magnitude more Peracarida. This study demonstrates once again the difficulties concerning spacial scale presented to ecologists in deciding which gear type is most appropriate when sampling for research.

## 1. Introduction

During the field course in July-August 1998 we explored the Mellemfjord. The western side of Disko Island is characterized by three fjords. From north to south these are the Nordfjord, the Mellemfjord, and the Diskofjord. Several investigations were conducted in the Diskofjord until now (e.g. Nielsen and Hansen 1995, Schmid and Piepenburg 1993). First geological data were obtained in Mellemfjord during a field course (Gilbert et al. 1998), but hitherto no biological investigations were ever made. We went there with RV PORSILD and established our camp at the south coast near a small glacial meltwater stream (Fig. 1).

The **benthic biology** was divided into four main projects:

1. the present paper Comparative analysis of three sampling gear types for marine macrobenthos

2. On the taxonomy of <u>Spio filicornis</u> (Spionidae, Polychaeta) from off Nipissat, Disko, Greenland

3. The diversity of Polychaeta, and their feeding habits related to types of sediment in Mellemfjord, Disko, Greenland and

4. Distribution and composition of meiofauna in the Mellemfjord.

The Peracarida consist of seven orders, five of these occur in the Arctic (Amphipoda, Cumacea, Isopoda, Mysidacea, and Tanaidacea) and are supposed to play an important role in the food web of the Arctic seas (Dayton 1990).

Hitherto several gears, such as van Veen grab, box corer, and epibenthic sledge, have been employed in comparable investigations (e.g. Brandt and Schnack 1999; Schmid and Piepenburg 1993; Rauschert 1991) and yielded a fairly variable amount of animals.

It is generally accepted that the conventional van Veen grab  $(0.1 \text{ m}^2)$  does not catch predominantly vagile animals, like Mysidacea, and also washes a lot of sediment away due to its bow wave (e.g., Schwoerbel 1980; Eleftheriou and Holme 1984). The disadvantage of dragged gear is, however, that it does not catch deeper buried inbenthic animals effectively. Therefore we took our samples in Mellemfjord with three different types of gear: A mini van Veen grab (MVVG), a triangle dredge (TAD) (both after R. M. Kristensen, Copenhagen) and a Rauschert dredge (RD) (after M. Rauschert, Berlin) and aimed to compare these gears in terms of effectivity, quantity, and quality of individuals sampled.

## 2. Material and Methods

## 2.1 Locality

The Mellemfjord lies at the western coast of Disko Island (West Greenland). Between the outermost and the innermost transect it is 22 km long and about 5 km wide (innermost transect Saqardlit: 3 km). The fjord gets freshwater from several glacier streams and adjacent 700 m high mountains. We took our samples between the  $19^{th}$  and  $27^{th}$  of July 1998. Positions and abiotic parameters of all stations are summarized in Table 1.

# Names of the four transects: I - Ivisarqut, N - Narssarssuk, C - Camp Site, S - Sarqardlit



Fig. 1. Location of the study area

Table 1. Positions and abiotic parameters of all stations

Station	gear	date	time	position	position	temp	salinity	depth
		(all	(UTC)	start	stop	°C	%	m
I-1 a-c	MVVG	22.7.	1413	69.44.40 N - 054.47.50		8	37	30
-1	RD	23.7.	2334	69.44.63 N - 054.47.39	69.44.78 N - 054.46.22	8	35	35
1-1	TAD	23.7.	2323	69.44.63 N - 054.47.38	69.44.65 N -054.47.56	8	35	30-40
I-2 a-c	MVVG	21.7.	0038	69.45.94 N - 054.47.05		7.8	33	135
1-2	RD	21.7.	0100	69.45.92 N - 054.46.92	69.45.87 N - 054.47.61	7.8	33	134
-2	TAD	21.7.	0013	69.45.90 N - 054.47.15	69.45.90 N - 054.47.09	7.9	33	138
I-3 a-c	MVVG	22.7.	1330	69.46.44 N - 054.47.00		8	35	65
1-3	RD	23.7.	0020	69.46.68 N - 054.46.75	69.46.57 N - 054.45.68	7.6	35	60-80
1-3	TAD	23.7.	0050	69.46.61 N - 054.45.82	69.46.67 N - 054.46.38	6.9	35	60
N-1 a-c	MVVG	20.7.	1724	69.44.39 N - 054.39.31		7.5	32	60
N-1	RD	19.7.	2008	69.44.54 N - 054.39.21	69.44.81 N - 054.39.75	7.5	32	55
N-1	TAD	19.7.	2237	69.44.63 N - 054.39.28	69.44.57 N - 054.39.19	7.5	32	60
N-2 a-c	MVVG	20.7.	0027	69.44.88 N - 054.37.31		7.3	no data	90
N-2	RD	20.7.	0107	69.44.94 N - 054.37.69	69.45.18 N - 054.38.56	7.3	no data	97-112
N-2	TAD	20.7.	0052	69.44.91 N - 054.37.72	69.44.92 N - 054.37.82	7.3	no data	125
N-3 a-c	MVVG	20.7.	1756	69.45.07 N - 054.36.23		6.9	35	70
N-3	RD	20.7.	2302	69.45.35 N - 054.35.00	69.45.62 N - 054.36.60	6.9	35	60
N-3	TAD	20.7.	2334	69.45.61 N - 054.36.60	69.45.58 N - 054.36.70	6.9	35	60
C-1 a-c	MVVG	21.7.	2032	69.42.53 N - 054.35.04		9	34	50
C-1	RD	24.7.	1722	69.42.99 N - 054.35.68	69.42.69 N - 054.34.78	9.2	31	50-58
C-1	TAD	24.7.	1710	69.43.05 N - 054.35.70	69.43.07 N - 045.35.74	9.2	31	45-66
C-2 a-c	MVVG	27.7.	2145	69.43.44 N - 054.34.10		7.9	34	80
C-2	RD	24.7.	1806	69.43.36 N - 054.34.22	69.43.60 N - 054.34.77	8.2	34	75-82
C-2	TAD	24.7.	1839	69.43.40 N - 054.34.25	69.43.33 N - 054.34.11	8	34	82
С-3 а-с	MVVG	27.7.	2220	69.43.94 N - 054.33.18		7.2	34	60
C-3	RD	24.7.	2008	69.43.44 N - 054.33.33	69.43.13 N - 054.32.55	7.7	34	55-60
C-3	TAD	24.7.	1956	69.43.51 N - 054.33.69	69.43.47 N - 054.33.80	7.6	33	62-68
S-1 a-c	MVVG	23.7.	0005	69.42.08 N - 054.31.58		8	35	50
S-1	RD	24.7.	1342	69.42.21 N - 054.32.30	69.42.38 N - 054.33.33	9.4	no data	55
S-1	TAD	24.7.	1626	69.42.22 N - 054.32.40	69.42.29 N - 054.32.51	9.5	no data	60
S-2 a-c	MVVG	23.7.	0050	69.42.68 N - 054.31.58		8	35	70
S-2	RD	24.7.	1240	69.42.65 N - 054.31.83	69.42.84 N - 054.32.28	8.9	39	79
S-2	TAD	24.7.	1313	69.42.80 N - 054.32.10	69.42.81 N - 054.32.51	9,1	no data	73
S-3 a-c	MVVG	23.7.	0135	69.43.27 N - 054.30.99		8	35	30
S-3	RD	24.7.	1355	69.43.02 N ~ 054.30.90	69.43.21 N - 054.31.74	8.6	34	36
S-3	TAD	24.7.	1344	69.43.14 N - 054.30.90	69.43.03 N - 054.31.01	8.5	34	30

# 2.2 Description of the gear

For comparison of different methods to collect Peracarida we used the following gear:

- I The Rauschert dredge (**RD**)
- II The mini van Veen grab (**MVVG**)
- III The triangle dredge (TAD)

I The Rauschert dredge (RD)



Fig. 2. The Rauschert dredge (RD)

The RD is a dredge consisting of three different nets. The main collecting net has a mesh size of 1.5 mm. For the protection of this net, it is covered by a second net with a wider diameter. The third net is the innermost net that collects megafauna (1.5 cm). All three nets are fastened at four points (see arrow in fig. 2). A chain occasionally swirls up epifauna, which is then collected with the net.



Fig. 3. The mini van Veen grab (MVVG)

The MVVG was originally modified by Reinhardt Kristensen. It samples a surface area diameter  $(0.0225 \text{ m}^2)$  than the typical van Veen grab  $(0.1 \text{ m}^2)$ . The MVVG is streched by hand, at the same time the two shovels are opened. In this state the MVVG is deployed into the water. As soon as it contacts the seafloor, a special mechanism releases the shovels, and they dig into the sediment while closing totally. Afterwards the MVVG with the collected sediment is lifted back on deck. For logistic reasons we deployed the MVVG partly by hand, especially of station C (Camp Site), where we took all the samples from a Zodiak. At all other stations the MVVG was deployed from the RV PORSILD.

III The triangle dredge (TAD)



Fig. 4. The triangle dredge (TAD)

The TAD is a trawl which is suitable also for hardbottom, because of its metal frame. The frame is equipped with a serrated edge. This part of the sampler almost functions as a knife on seafloor, but also buries itself deeply into soft sediment. Only one net with a mesh size of 1 mm collects both infauna and epifauna. In addition, three long metal sticks attached to the frame protect the net and guide it on the bottom.

The three types of gear differed considerably in their sample size not only due to their opening size, but also due to different haul lengths. The TAD was towed for 3 minutes with a speed of 1 kn and covered an area of approximately 55 m<sup>2</sup>. The RD was towed 20 min over the seafloor with the same speed and covered an area of about 160 m<sup>2</sup>. The smallest sample was taken by the MVVG with exactly 0.0225 m<sup>2</sup>. To compare these different sizes, we calculate all numbers to the nearest 100 m<sup>2</sup>.

## 2.3 Processing of samples

Samples were brought from the vessel to the camp site via the Zodiak, and sieved immediately in seawater through 300  $\mu$ m mesh size. Subsequently, samples were fixed in 4 % buffered formalin solution. Beside the selected taxa of the macrofauna, megafauna was collected and preserved.
After about one week, samples were washed and transferred into 70 % ethanol. For this analysis Peracarida were determined to order level.

# 3. Results

A total of 2606 Peracarida were caught at the four transects. They belong to four orders, which occured in different abundance.

Amphipoda (72 %) were most abundant in most samples, followed by Tanaidacea (17.6 %), Cumacea (8.8 %) and Isopoda (1.6 %), respectively.

Isopoda were rare in the Mellemfjord samples. They were found at the innermost and outermost transects and collected with the MVVG.

Amphipoda occurred made up 83 % of all peracerids at the C-transect, 76 % at the S-transect, and 68 % and 63 % at the I- and N-transects, respectively.

The order Amphipoda was predominated by the family Lysianassidae in the Mellemfjord. Our preliminary determination revealed a high abundance of *Paratryphosites abyssi* and *Hippomedon propinquus*. The following four families were also present in considerable high numbers of specimens: Stenothoidae, Phoxocephalidae, Ampeliscidae (most abundant species: *Haploops laevis*) and Melitidae (most abundant species: *Melita dentata*).



Fig. 5. Melita dentata (after Klelowski and Weslawski) and Hippomedon propinquus (after Sars)

Within the Cumacea we determined two families: Diastylidae (abundant genera: *Diastylis* and *Leptostylis*) and Leuconidae (abundant genera: *Eudorella*, *Eudorellopsis* and *Leucon*).

All Tanaidacea caught belong to the families Anarthuridae or Thyphlotanaidae. On closer examination and comparison of the single transects, we counted most Peracarida at the innermost (S-28 % of all individuals) and outermost transects (I-35 %). The percentage of all Peracarida found was smaller at C- and N-transect, with 19 % and 18 %, respectively (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6. Percentage of all Peracarida sampled at each transect

At all transects we observed, the highest amount of Peracarida per area calculated was taken by MVVG. The smallest number of specimens per 100 meter square was taken with the RD (Fig. 7). Exact numbers of all peracarids caught are listed in Table 2 (see appendix).





Fig 7. Sampling efficiency of the three gear types along four vertical (MVVG= mini van Veen grab, RD = Rauschert Dredge, TAD= Triangle Dredge).

The distribution of Peracarida, taken by TAD at the different stations, shows that even though there is a higher number of Amphipoda at the Ivisarqut transect, the evenness is higher along the Narssarssuk-transect (Fig. 8).

Of the three kinds of gear types used, the MVVG collected the most even composition of peracarid orders at all stations.

Peracarida taxa to each other, but the TAD yielded nearly an order of magnitude more the lowest number of animals. The two dredges show a similar relative abundance of the organisms. Comparing the northern-, middle- and southern transects (Fig. 9), the RD samples show







Fig. 8. A comparison of the different numbers of Peracarida gathered from the outermost to innermost transect using the three different gear types: Rauschert dredge, triangle dredge and mini van Veen grab.







Fig. 9. A comparison of numbers of Peracarida gathered from the South, Middle and North transects using the three gear types: Rauschert dredge, triangle dredge and mini van Veen grab.

#### 4. Discussion

Petersen and Curtis (1980) reported that the biomass is very high in East Greenlandic fjords in general and that it decreases with increasing distance from the open sea. When we counted the number of Peracarida from the different stations in the fjord, we did not find a difference in the numbers of these animals comparing the transects at the end and the mouth of the Mellemford. However, the Mellemford is very small compared with East Greenlandic fjords, e.g., the large Scoresbysund or Kejser-Franz Joseph Fjord. In many fjords, sedimentation decreases rapidly with increasing distance from the source, which is normally at the head (Gilbert et al. 1993). Gilbert et al. (1998) discovered that a different pattern in Akulliit (Mellemfjord) occurs. Two distinct sedimentary environments were recorded in the cores from Akulliit. The area of the fjord head, where the largest streams enter the fjord, is dominated by a medium dark brown sandysilt with discontinuous stringers of fine sand and larger clasts of coarse sand and fine gravel. This contrasts strongly with sediment near the mouth of the fjord, where the water content is far higher, the clay content is more than twice as high as at the head and the bulk density is very low (Gilbert et al. 1998). They suggest two reasons for this unusual pattern:

1. "Because the drainage basin is relatively small (446  $\text{km}^2$ ) the input of water is small." 2."Even the head of the fjord is exposed to a moderately high energy wave environment".

The latter refers to an effective fetch of 40 km, except along the south shore. The exposure of the fjord results in a potentially high-energy environment to at least several tens of meters depth, even at the head. This and the relatively small inflow of freshwater reduces the stability of the surface water, and allows mixing of the nearly homogeneous conditions of temperature and salinity (Hansen and Schmidt, this issue). Since the highest abundance of peracarids occurs in the deepest part of the Mellemfjord, as shown in Fig. 9, we assume the most stable environmental conditions are in this area of the fjord. The entire shelf and much of the outer fjord may be subject to erosion (Gilbert et al. 1998). It also should be considered that icebergs scouring on the bottom of the fjord may have an impact on the benthic community. During our stay at the Mellemfjord in July 1997 an iceberg, of approximately 12 m height above the surface, probably stuck to the ground, stayed for more than one week close to station C 1. As determined for the Diskofjord, the nearest larger fjord south of the Mellemfjord, the first sea ice usually appears in October, and does not disappear until July (Petersen 1964).

In attempting to compare the efficiency of three gears in sampling Peracarida, we calculated the animals sampled per 100 m<sup>2</sup>. The MVVG is a modification of the very common  $0.1\text{-m}^2$  van Veen grab by R. Kristensen (pers. comm.). This instrument obtained by far the highest output of specimens per sampled area. At every station in the fjord each order of peracarids was caught at the highest density by the MVVG. The MVVG caught all animals living endobenthically. Another explanation for the phenomenon that the MVVG caught the peracarids most numerous is the fact, that one MVVG sample is based on 225 cm<sup>2</sup> only. To get the number per 100 m<sup>2</sup> we multiplied the number of animals from the original sample. To receive the number of animals per 100 m<sup>2</sup> caught by the TAD and RD the numbers were divided. It is still surprising that the TAD being dragged for three minutes only caught so few peracarids. The TAD was

also developed by R. Kristensen, but no descriptions of the two gear types are published yet.

The TAD yielded a higher number of peracarids per meter square than the RD. The TAD penetrates several cm into soft bottom while hauled, but the density of Peracarida from each order caught was higher than of those caught with the RD, independently from the composition of the sediment.

When comparing the three gear types the time spent sampling has to be considered as well. The MVVG theoretically works faster than the dragged equipment, but many unsuccessful attempts, for example caused by a stone which got stuck between the closing jaws, lead to time consuming repetitions. Another problem for replicate grab samples is the large sampling variation between replicates (Lie and Pamatant 1965). Due to patchiness of the peracarid crustaceans the MVVG, even if repeated samples are analysed, is not as representative (especially for vagile taxa) as the RD and the TAD, which integrate a longer distance. The area covered by the MVVG is very small and therefore benthic macrofaunal patchiness has a stronger effect on the MVVG than on the RD or TAD samples. It is notable that Isopoda were rarely sampled by the MVVG: Only at the station S 3 and only in two replicates were the isopods caught. This is clear evidence of the patchiness of their distribution. Mysidacea certainly will never be caught using this type of gear due to the bow wave effect. The bow wave in front of the instrument pushes many animals aside, especially the lighter ones.

As noted by Eleftheriou and Holme (1984), the choice of a sampler must necessarily be a compromise, based on requirements of the survey, working conditions, and the availability of suitable gear. The deck of RV Porsild is very small, which caused a few logistical problems. Neither is it possible to use gear of several meters width, nor can different gear types, e.g. from multiple teams be used at the same time. Choice may often be restricted by weight and the heavier equipment can only be used from large research vessels which have the necessary lifting equipment. The TAD and the RD were much heavier than the MVVG. A benefit of the MVVG was the possibility to handle it from a rubber Zodiak. Another advantage of the MVVG was the probability to sample through a hole in the ice in winter (Kristensen pers. comm.). Many of the lighter samplers have serious limitations and are less quantitative. The penetration into the sediment is limited when substrate is too hard. (Eleftheriou and Holme 1984). All benefits aside, it must be taken into consideration that from about 2.600 peracarids caught in total, only 200 peracarids were sampled by the MVVG.

The TAD sampled most animals in total, but the sieving and sorting of the samples required a long time, especially for those from a muddy bottom. Dredges with teeth are very effective and the use of inclined steel diving plates help to maintain contact with the bottom (Eleftheriou and Holme 1984). These different gears were constructed to sample different lifestyles of the benthic macrofauna. The MVVG and the TAD are not only able to collect epibenthic animals, but also to sample inbenthic animals, such as Amphipoda or Mysidacea, and it is thought to be less efficient catching endobenthic taxa (Brattegard and Fosså 1991; Rothlishberg and Pearcy 1977). However, looking at the composition of the RD samples we found many animals of burrowing taxa as well.

Tanaidacea and Cumacea are probably stirred up by the tickler chain in front of the sledge. The samples of the RD have collected the highest number of Peracarida. A metal shackle prevents larger animals from getting into the net. Small dredges with runners have been extensively employed for sampling epifauna on the continental shelf (Eleftheriou and Holme 1984).

The Mellemfjord on Disko Island inhabits an interesting composition of four peracarid taxa: Amphipoda, Cumacea, Isopoda and Tanaidacea. No Mysidacea were caught at the 12 stations with any of the three gear types. Most Mysidacea have a pelagial lifestyle (Zimmer 1932) and they have a great ability to escape quickly (Gruner 1993). Nonetheless, Mysidacea are often caught in great numbers with, e.g., an epibenthic sledge, a gear type similar to the RD used (e.g. Brandt and Schnack 1998). We therefore suggest that benthic Mysidacea are not present in the Mellemfjord. Probably food is the limiting factor. Mysidacea would be in strong competition for phytoplankton with ascidians, and the latter are very numerous in some parts of the Mellemfjord.

The highest percentage of amphipods from all peracarids of the gear compared is caught by the RD. The lowest percentage of amphipods is caught by the MVVG. Amphipoda are vagile animals which live rather epibenthically or suprabenthically than inbenthically. The TAD sampled most Cumacea per 100 m<sup>2</sup> in the Mellemfjord. While the MVVG sampled only about 2/3 of the Cumacea per 100 m<sup>2</sup> when compared with the TAD, the RD sampled even less, probably due to the fact that Cumacea live rather buried in the sediment (e.g. Mühlenhardt-Siegel 1996; Schminke 1996; Zimmer 1941). Isopoda were more or less sampled only by the MVVG. Most Tanaidacea per 100 m<sup>2</sup> were caught with the MVVG. The smallest number of Tanaidacea per 100 m<sup>2</sup> was sampled with the RD. The meshsize of the nets must also be considered. While the TAD had a meshwidth of 1 mm, the mesh of the RD measured 1.5 mm. Tanaidacea sampled in the Mellemfjord were generally longer than 1 mm, but much slimmer, so it could be expected that they escape through the net. During several deployments, parts of the nets were clogged rapidly with sediment. This may have led to the assumption that a soft bottom enables the dragged gear to catch more Tanaidacea, but the comparison of samples from stations with different bottom composition does not support this idea. Our samples allow the assumption that some areas of the fjord are covered by brittle stars, others inhabit so many ascidians on hard bottom that sediment was barely sampled. Ascidians live on stone, which supports the discovery of Gilbert et al. (1998) that the Mellemfjord is characterized by relatively little sediment.

The results of the comparative employment of the MVVG, the RD and the TAD reveal that the employment of all gear result in a different sample efficiency of the peracarid crustaceans. Three criteria are usually used in order to compare the efficiency of sampling devices (Eleftheriou and Holme 1984):

- I digging characteristics of the sampler
- II efficiency of capture in order to give a representative picture of the density and distribution of the fauna
- III technical characteristics of the sample

While the TAD and the MVVG penetrate deeper into the sediment than the RD, the TAD catches by far the largest volume of sediment. The degree of disturbance of the environment is lowest using the MVVG. The RD is constructed to catch epibenthic animals, but it also caught several burrowing taxa, such as Tanaidacea and Cumacea. The MVVG and the TAD trapped several mobile taxa, e.g., Amphipoda. It is still very surprising that so few Isopoda were caught. Very many Isopoda living on algae were found at Godhavn in the tidal zone (Hansen and Johanse, this issue). Normally many Isopoda occur even in higher latitudes, and the deeper the sample is taken the more Isopoda are found (e.g., Hessler and Sanders 1967). This seems not to be true for the Mellemfjord. We do not know whether Peracarida composition of any gear closely resembles the Peracarida composition living on the ground of the Mellemfjord. In general the MVVG captured more peracarid crustaceans per 100 m<sup>2</sup>, but the RD and the TAD caught far more animals per sample. The light weight of the MVVG is an advantage of handling this gear. Due to the low amount of sediment in a sample of the RD, it was quickly sorted when compared to the other gear. Our investigation has shown different qualities of sampling. While the MVVG is more able to point out patchines, since it samples a small area the dragged gear catches more animals and thus it is more suitable for morphological studies. The MVVG mainly caught inbenthic animals while the TAD also caught many vagile forms.

The results from the employment of the MVVG, the TAD and the RD samples off the West Greenlandic Mellemfjord show that each gear type has different sampling results and ideally all three types should be used for comparative qualitative and quantitative benthic studies.

## 5. Acknowledgements

Special thanks to Angelika Brandt, Hilke Ruhberg, Reinhardt M. Kristensen, Helge A. Thomsen and Henning H. Jørgensen who all did an excellent job in organizing and leading this excursion. The authors are grateful to the crew of RV Porsild and the stuff of the Arctic Station, University of Copenhagen, for their help and logistic support during the field excursion. We wish to thank Martin Rauschert who lent us his dredge. Anja Liebermann and Katrine Worsaae, the Polychaeta-group, were extremely helpful in sieving and sorting the samples, and we enjoyed many interesting conversations. We would also like to thank the Meiofauna group Julia Winkelmann and Ole Ziemer, who always helped with work on bord. We thank Karina Huelbert for her never ending help.

# 6. References

- Brandt, A. & Schnack, K., 1999. Macrofaunal abundance at 79°N off East Greenland: opposing data from epibenthic sledge and box corer samples. Polar Biol., in press
- Brattegard, T. & Fosså, J. H., 1991. Replicability of an epibenthic sampler. J. mar. biol. Ass. U. K. 71: 153-166
- Dayton, P. K., 1990. Polar Benthos. Polar Oceanography, Part B: Chemistry, Biology and Geology. 631-683

- Eleftheriou, A. & Holme, N. A., 1984. Macrofaunal techniques. In: Methods for the Study of Marine Benthos, edited by Holme, N. A. & McIntyre, A. D. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford. 387 pp
- Gilbert, R., Aitken, A. E. & Lemmen, D. S., 1993. The glacimarine sedimentary environment of Expedition fjord, Canadian High Arctic. Mar. Geol. 110: 257-273
- Gilbert, R., Nielsen, N., Desloges, J. R. & Rasch, M., 1998. Contrasting glacimarine sedimentary environments of two arctic fjords on Disko, West Greenland. Mar. Geol. 147: 63-83
- Gruner, H. E. (Ed.), 1993. Lehrbuch der Speziellen Zoologie. Arthropoda (ohne Insecta). I(4). Jena, Stuttgart, New York. 758-911
- Hessler, R. R. & Sanders H. C., 1967. Faunal diversity in the deep sea. Deep Sea Res. 14: 65-78
- Klekowski R. & Weslawski, J.M., 1991. Atlas of the Marine Fauna of Southern Spitsbergen. Vol.2. Polish Academy of Science.
- Lie, U. & Pamatant, M., 1965. Diging characteristics and sampling efficiency of the 0.1m van Veen grab. Limnol. Oceanog. 10: 379-384
- Mühlenhardt-Siegel, U., 1996. Ein Beitrag zur Cumacea-Fauna aus dem Küstenflachwasser des südlichen Afrika, mit Beschreibung von *Cumella hartmanni* sp.n.. Mitt hamb. zool. Mus. Inst. 93: 117-140
- Nielsen, T. G. & Hansen, B., 1995. Plankton community structure and carbon cycling on the western coast of Greenland during and after the sedimentation of a diatom bloom. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 125: 239-257
- Petersen, G. H., 1964. The hydrography, primary production, bathymetry and "Tagsaq" of Disko Bugt, West Greenland, Meddr. Gronland, 199(10): 1-45
- Petersen, C. H. & Curtis, M. A., 1980. Differences in energy flow through major components of subarctic, temperate and tropical marine shelf ecosystems. Dana, 1: 53-64
- Rauschert, M., 1991. Ergebnisse der faunistischen Arbeiten im Benthal von King George Island (Südshetlandinseln, Antarktis). Ber. Polarforschung 76. 75 pp
- Rothlishberg, P. C. & Pearcy, W. G., 1977. An epibenthic sampler to study the ontogeny of vertical migration of *Pandalus jordani* (Decapoda, Caridea). Fish. Bull. 74: 994-997
- Sars, G.O., 1895. An Account of Crustacea of Norway. Vol.1 Amphipoda. Kristiania, published by Alb. Cammermeyer.
- Schmid, M. K. & Piepenburg, D., 1993. The benthos zonation of the Disko Fjord, West Greenland. Meddr. Grønland, Biosci. 37. 21 pp
- Schminke, H.K., 1996. Crustacea, Krebse. In: Westheide, W. & Rieger, R. (Eds.) 1996. Spezielle Zoologie. Erster Teil. Einzeller und Wirbellose. Stuttgart, Jena, New York. 501-581
- Schwoerbel, J., 1980. Methoden der Hydrobiologie. Stuttgart, New York. 261 pp
- Zimmer, C., 1932. Mysidacea in: Grimpe W. & Wagler, E. (Eds.) Tierwelt der Nordund Ostsee 10: 29-69
- Zimmer, C., 1941. Arthropoda (Gliederfüßer) in: Schellenberg (Ed.). Brons Klassen und Ordnungen des Tierreichs. Berlin 5(1): 1-222

# 7. Appendix

Table 2. Amount of Peracarida

	Amphipoda	Cumacea	Tanaidacea	Isopoda	specimen
I-1 MVVG	3		15		18
I-2 MVVG	16	2	1		19
I-3 MVVG	6	5	2		13
I-1 RD	2	1			2
I-2 RD	19	1	9		29
I-3 RD	40	19	6		65
I-1 TAD	190	4	208	1	403
I-2 TAD	342	2	3		347
I-3 TAD	21	12	5		38
total	639	45	249	1	933
%	68,40 %	4,83 %	26,70 %	0,11 %	100 %
N-1 MVVG					
N-2 MVVG	3	2	3		8
N-3 MVVG	5	2	12		19
N-1 RD	4	1			5
N-2 RD	117	12	6		135
N-1 TAD	91	89	24		204
N-2 TAD	38	3	3		44
N-3 TAD	28	4	9		41
	286	113	57		456
%	63%	25%	12,00%		100 %
C-1 MVVG	3	2	2		7
C-2 MVVG	1		1		2
C-3 MVVG					
C-1 RD	45	2	1		48
C-2 RD	15	3	6		24
C-3 RD	54	3	1		58
C-1 TAD	17	4			21
C-2 TAD	189	11	14		214
C-3 TAD	77	5	25		107
	401	30	50		481
%	83 %	6 %	11 %		100 %
S-1 MVVG	1	2			3
S-2 MVVG	13	2	2		17
S-3 MVVG	18	1	36	39	94
5-1 RD	94	-			94
5-2 RD	63	4	21		88
5-3 RD	23	1	15		39
5-1 TAD	65	5	5	······································	75
-2 TAD	218	13	21		252
G-3 TAD	65	4	3		72
	560	32	103	39	734
6	76 %	4 %	14 %	6 %	100 %
all transects	1886	220	459	40	2604
6	72.4 %	8.4 %	17.7 %	1.5 %	100 %

# The diversity of Polychaeta and their feeding habits related to types of sediment in Mellemfjord, Disko Island, West Greenland

Anja Liebermann

Zoological Museum, University of Copenhagen, Universitetsparken 15, DK- 2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

#### Abstract

At least 16 species of polychaetes belonging to 14 families were found in a benthic investigation of the Mellemfjord, Disko Island. Samples were taken from four stations along a 60-m isobath throughout the fjord. The composition of the sediment was estimated at each station and found to range from soft, muddy bottom to hard, rocky bottom. Dendrogrammes, based on Bray-Curtis similarity coefficients, show that the diversity of polychaetes among the stations is low. The feeding habits of the collected polychaetes agree well with their choice of sediment.

## Introduction

Previous studies have shown that Polychaeta are the relatively most abundant and diverse group of invertebrates in benthic soft-bottom communities in West Greenland waters (Andersen & Hartmann 1992, Jørgensen & Schiøtt 1997). Furthermore, their abundance makes them an important group of animals in an ecological context (Fauchald & Jumars 1979). So far, few taxonomic, ecological and behavioural studies have been made on Greenlandic polychaetes. Wesenberg-Lund (1950) published taxonomic studies on polychaetes from West Greenland, based on existing literature and the polychaete specimens deposited in the collections of the Zoological Museum, University of Copenhagen, ZMUC. Blake & Dean (1973) extended the list of Greenlandic polychaetes, and Curtis (1977) analyzed polychaete samples collected by G.H. Petersen during 1958-60 at four localities near Godhavn, Disko Island (Petersen 1977). Other studies from the area include those of Schmid & Piepenburg (1993).

Most polychaetes live in benthic environments, either in tubes or free-living. They have different feeding habits: deposit feeders, filter feeders, predators, and scavengers. Many polychaetes have a clear preference as to the choice of sediment. Hence, it is often the type of sediment that determines the distribution of a certain species. Environments with mixed sediment, such as sand, gravel, stone, and shells, can contribute to the fact that polychaetes with different sediment preferences have the same area of distribution. Some polychaete species do not show particular sediment preferences and, therefore, tend to occur in all types of sediment (Marin ID 1978).

The purpose of this paper is (1) to describe the diversity of Polychaeta at selected stations along a 60-m depth isobath throughout Mellemfjord, Disko Island, and (2) to

relate the feeding habits of the collected polychaetes to the types of sediment in which they occurred. There are no previous investigations of the polychaete fauna in Mellem-fjord.

#### Material and Methods

**Locality.** The Mellemfjord, Disko Island, is about 25 km long and 5 km wide. The depth ranges from a few metres at the innermost part of the fjord to approximately 150 m where it opens into the southern part of Baffin Bay. The bottom salinity is ca. 33 ‰ throughout the fjord; surface-bottom range: 28-33 %. The bottom temperature is <1° C; surface-bottom range 8-1° C. It was decided to relate the sampling of polychaetes to only one parameter: type of sediment at a depth of approximately 60 m. A 60-m isobath stretches throughout a major part of the Mellemfjord, and samples taken along this line could not only provide a general picture of the polychaete diversity, but also indicate if diversity varied from station to station along with changes in substrate.

**Transects.** Four transects comprising a total of 12 stations were placed throughout Mellemfjord, see Lörz *et al.* (1999) and Fig. 1. Polychaetes were analyzed from 4 stations, named after landmarks on shore: Saqqarlit (S1); 69°42.08N, 54°31.58W, Camp (C3); 69°44.00N, 54°33.18W, Narsaarsuk (N3); 69°45.40N, 54°36.45W, and Ivisaarqut (I3); 69°46.44N, 54°47.00W.

**Sampling.** Sampling was either conducted from the Arctic Station research vessel 'Porsild', or from a Zodiac. A mini van Veen grab (modified by R. M. Kristensen), which covers an area of  $0.15 \text{ m} \times 0.15 \text{ m}$ , was used for sampling. Samples were accepted only when the grab was at least half full of sediment. Triplicate samples were taken at each station. The mini van Veen grab is a quantitative tool, gentle to the animals and easily operated by hand. However, to get an acceptable quantitative picture of the polychaete fauna at each station, it would have been nescessary to take more than three samples. This was not possible within the time limits of this project.

Fig. 1. (a) Mellemfjord and Disko Island; (b) Isobathes and stations in Mellemfjord



**Processing of samples.** Samples were stored in buckets until further processing could take place at the Mellemfjord camp site. Within 24 hours the samples were sieved in seawater through a 300  $\mu$ m mesh and subsequently transferred to a 4% formaldehyde solution buffered with borax. A few days later the samples were washed several times in freshwater and transferred to 70% ethanol.

**Sorting and identification.** The animals sampled were initially sorted to major groups. Polychaeta were identified to family, genus or species level, using Kirkegaard (1992, 1996), Holthe (1996), Pleijel (1993), and Sigvaldadottir & Mackie (1993). Polychaete material is stored at ZMUC.

**Types of sediment.** The composition of the sediment was estimated from (1) sediment that remained in the samples after sieving, and (2) unsieved sediment samples taken with a triangular dredge. Samples from stations S1, C3, N3, and I3 were characterized as follows: S1: soft bottom with mud and detritus. C3: hard bottom (rocks and drop stone), probably with depressions containing deposits of detritus, sand, and gravel. The mini van Veen grab constantly hit hard bottom, only a few times did it contain sediment. N3: gravel and detritus. I3: soft bottom with mud and detritus. Sediment samples from each station are stored at ZMUC.

**Data analysis.** To illustrate similarities in polychaete species composition among stations, Bray-Curtis similarity coefficients were calculated and used to construct dendrogrammes (Jørgensen & Schiøtt 1997). The Bray-Curtis similarity coefficients were calculated in pairs for all samples. The dendrogrammes illustrate how the samples group proportional to each other. The coefficients were calculated from the following equation:

$$S_{jk} = 100(1 - \frac{\sum_{1=1}^{p} |y_{ij} - y_{ik}|}{\sum_{1=1}^{p} (y_{j} + y_{ik})})$$

Yij = number of specimens of an identified species (i) in sample j, and Yik = number of specimens of an identified species (i) in sample k. P = total number of species. The similarity coefficients range from 0 (no similarity) to 100 (total similarity between species from two samples).

The two dendrogrammes illustrate the similarity among (1) all samples (Fig. 2), and (2) the four stations, with the triplicate samples from each station pooled (Fig. 3). All data are double-square-root average transformed. The transformation is made because the Bray-Curtis model is very sensitive to diverging values in a set of data, especially if the data set is extensive (Mitchie 1982). Data in this paper are not extensive, but diverging values do occur.

Appendix 1 shows the data set used to calculate the Bray-Curtis similarity coefficients, and Appendix 2 shows non-transformed Bray-Curtis similarity coefficients.

## Results

Table 1 shows: (1) the total number of polychaetes identified to family, genus, and species level, (2) sampling stations, (3) feeding habits according to Fauchald & Jumars (1979), and (4) the type of sediment they are reported to prefer. The triplicate samples from each station are pooled. For numbers of polychaetes found in each single sample (12) see Appendix 3.

**Table 1.** The occurrence of Polychaeta at stations S1, C3, N3, and I3 (S = soft bottom, m = mud, d = detritus, H = hard bottom, r = rocks, g = gravel), their feeding habits (DF = deposit feeders, P = predators, FF = filter feeders) according to Fauchald & Jumars (1979) = F&J 1979, and the type of sediment they are reported to prefer according to Holthe (1986) = H 1986, and Kirkegaard (1992, 1996) = K 1992, 1996.

Polychaeta collected	S1	C3	N3	13	Feeding	Sediment
from Mellemfjord	S	н		s	habits	preference
	(m+d)	(r)	(g+d)	(m+d)	(F+J 1979)	(H 1986, K 1992, 1996)
Ampharetidae						
Ampharetinae indet.	0	0	0	1	DF	Mud or mixed
Lysippe labiata	2	1	1	3	(detritus)	substratum
Cirratulidae					DF	
Chaetozone "setosa"	117	116	127	90	(detritus)	None
Maldanidae indet.	8	3	0	1	DF	Sand / mud
Nephtyidae		1				
Nephtys sp. (juv.)	55	35	27	40	P	None
Orbiniidae		Γ				
Scoloplos armiger	35	17	25	40	DF	Sand/mud
Paraonidae						
Aricidea suecica	1	0	0	0	DF	Sand/mud
Pholoidae						
Pholoe longa	11	0	2	1	Р	Mud
Phyllodocidae						
Eteone longa	4	6	8	19	Р	None
Phyllodoce groenlandica	0	0	1	0		
Pectinariidae					DF	
Pectinaria hyperborea	0	0	1	0	(detritus)	Sand/mud
Polynoidae						
Gattyana cirrosa	3	0	0	1	Р	Stone/shells
Sabellidae indet.	0	1	1	0	FF	Sand/mud
Scalibregmatidae						Mud or
Scalibregma inflatum	4	4	11	2	D	mixed substratum
Spionidae					FF	
Prionospio steenstrupi	15	23	9	11	(detritus)	Sand/mud
Terebellidae				·	DF	Soft mud/
Leaena ebranchiata	1	0	0	1	(detritus)	stones and shells
Total no. of specimens	256	206	213	210		·

Based on their feeding habits, the polychaetes in Table 1 can be classified as: (1) **deposit feeders**, consuming the organic matter in the sediment. They can be divided further into (a) **nonselective** deposit feeders that consume sand or mud directly by applying the mouth against the substratum where ingestion is generally facilitated by means of a simple, nonmuscular eversible pharynx, e.g., *Scoloplos armiger*, or (b) **selective** deposit feeders that lack a specialized pharynx; special head structures extend

over or into the subtratum; deposited material adheres to mucous secretions on the surface of these feeding structures and is then conveyed to the mouth along ciliated tracts or grooves, e.g., *Lysippe labiata*, (2) Filter feeders, collecting detritus and plankton from the surrounding water aided by special feeding processes attached to the head. The particles adhere to the surface of the feeding structures, e.g., palps, and are then conveyed to the mouth along ciliated tracts, and (3) Predators which possess an eversible pharynx that commonly bears two or more jaws. Their prey consists of various small invertebrates, including other polychaetes. Predators also appear as scavengers (Marin ID 1978).

Two dendrogrammes illustrate the diversity of the polychaete communities investigated. Fig. 2 illustrates the similarity among all samples. Fig. 3 shows the similarity among pooled samples from the four stations.



**Fig. 2.** Dendrogramme illustrating the hierarchical grouping of Bray-Curtis similarity coefficients for all samples. **Fig. 3.** Dendrogramme illustrating the hierarchical grouping of Bray-Curtis similarity coefficients for four stations. Notice change of prefixes: E=I, JM=S.

The following is a short description and a discussion of the feeding habits and distributions of the collected polychaetes. Earlier polychaete investigations from Disko Island are mentioned in the discussion in spite of differences in localities, sampling methods, and the subsequent treatment of collected polychaetes.

#### Ampharetidae: Lysippe labiata Malmgren, 1866

*Lysippe labiata* occurs in soft mud bottom and in mixed sediment. The worms live in thin clay tubes incrusted with a few grains of sand. The polychaete possesses retractable oral tentacles that are used for collecting organic matter from the surface of the bottom (Fauchald & Jumars 1979, Kirkegaard 1996). *Lysippe labiata* was found earlier from the Godhavn area by Curtis (1977) who reported 82 specimens from Lyngmarksbugt, near the entrance to Godhavn Harbour, 26-47 m from sediment consisting of "fine, black clay with stones, shells and a little sand" (Petersen 1977). In Mellemfjord, the species was collected from stations N3: gravel and detritus, and S1: soft bottom with mud and detritus.

## Cirratulidae: Chaetozone setosa Malmgren, 1867

This species was for a long time considered cosmopolitan and present on all kinds of substrate. However, this appears to be an oversimplification with the species mainly occuring on muddy bottoms. The name *C. setosa* has been used for a number of species. The type material of the species has been reexamined and a detailed redescription is in preparation (M. E. Petersen, pers. comm.). Until published, all reports of the species should be considered provisional. *C. "setosa*" has two grooved palps on the back of the head and long filiform branchiae. The worms dig their way through mud or can be found among shells and pebbles and feed on detritus. Earlier investigations from Disko Island show that the species is very common and present at a considerable depth range (Curtis 1977; Madsen 1983; Andersen & Hartmann 1992; Jørgensen & Schiøtt 1997). *Chaetozone "setosa*" was found at all four Mellemfjord stations, suggesting that more than one species may be present, which was also the case with the material studied by Curtis (1977) (M. E. Petersen, pers.comm.).

#### Maldanidae indet.

Maldanidae, also referred to as 'bamboo worms', because the long segments and enlarged "joints" resemble bamboo, live in tubes made of bottom material cemented together by mucus from numerous cuticular glands. The tubes frequently stand perpendicular to the sediment surface, with the polychaetes living upside down. The 'bamboo worms' are able to renew their tubes throughout their lifetime and this gives them a certain motility. The worms feed by means of an eversible pharynx on organic matter in the sediment. Maldanidae can reach a considerable size and often dominate in soft mud bottom communities (Fauchald & Jumars 1979, Kirkegaard 1996). Maldanidae have been collected in limited numbers in earlier investigations from Disko (Curtis 1977; Jørgensen & Schiøtt 1997). In Mellemfjord, a few specimens were collected from stations S1: soft bottom; C3: hard bottom; and I3: soft bottom. Their presence at C3 could be explained with samples being taken from rocky depressions, containing muddy sediment.

#### Nephtyidae: Nephtys sp. (juveniles)

The Nephtyidae collected in Mellemfjord were juveniles which cannot be identified to species level. Nephtyidae possess big, eversible, and muscular pharynges containing a set of jaws. Mostly, they live buried in sand or mud where they dig their way through the sediment. They are also able to move around on the bottom surface using sinous movements. In addition they are fast swimmers. Nephtyidae are generally predators, but they also feed on detritus, diatoms, and sand (Fauchald & Jumars 1979, Kirkegaard 1996). Nephtyidae have been collected from Disko earlier, though in limited numbers (Curtis 1977; Jørgensen & Schiøtt 1997). In Mellemfjord they were collected in moderate numbers from all stations.

#### Orbiniidae: Scoloplos armiger O.F. Müller, 1776

Scoloplos armiger possesses characteristic, lancet-shaped gills which stretch out almost along the whole body. They have sac-like, eversible pharynges. *S. armiger* is very common at all depths, where it lives buried in sand, mixed sediment and clean soft, muddy bottom. Buried in the sediment the polychaete constantly produces long tube paths lined with mucus (Fauchald & Jumars 1979, Kirkegaard 1996). *S. armiger* feeds on organic matter in all different kinds of sediment and was earlier collected from Disko Island (Madsen 1983, Andersen & Hartmann 1992, Jørgensen & Schiøtt 1997). Curtis (1977) reported the presence of *S. armiger* in moderate numbers at all localities. In Mellemfjord, *S. armiger* was collected from all stations.

## Paraonidae: Aricidea suecica Eliason, 1920

Paraonidae possess short, eversible and sac-like pharynges. They are small and slender animals which live buried in sand or mud where they feed on organic matter. They appear to feed while screwing themselves down into the sediment; preserved paraonids often have curled-up bodies (Fauchald & Jumars 1979, Kirkegaard 1996). Curtis (1977) reported *A. suecica* to be common (89 specimens) at Lyngmarksbugten. In Mellemfjord, a single specimen was collected from station S1: soft muddy bottom and detritus.

# Pectinariidae: Pectinaria hyperborea (Malmgren, 1866)

A single, very small specimen, probably referable to this species, was found in Mellemfjord at station N3: gravel and detritus. Curtis (1977) found this taxon in moderate numbers in Disko Fjord at Fangsthytten, 3-18 m (clay with a little sand and detritus), and Tut, 80-107 m (fine clay with larger stones and pebbles), both sheltered areas (Petersen 1977).

# Pholoidae: Pholoe longa (O.F. Müller, 1776)

This genus has previously been referred to the Sigalionidae and was by Pettibone (1992) transferred to the Pholoidae. The species is redescribed and illustrated on the basis of material from Godhavn (Petersen 1998). The species was most common at S1 (soft muddy bottom and detritus) which is in good agreement with its distribution (Lyngmarksbugt) in material studied by Curtis (1977, as *P. minuta*, part) (M. E. Petersen, pers. comm.). Feeding biology of the closely related, perhaps identical, *P. baltica* Ørsted, 1843 (see Petersen 1998) has been studied by Pleijel (1983, as *P. minuta*), who found the species to be carnivorous.

**Phyllodocidae:** *Eteone longa* (Fabricius, 1780), *Phyllodoce groenlandica* Ørsted, 1843 Phyllodocids are fast animals that wriggle across the bottom with undulating movements. They possess an eversible pharynx lacking jaws but with papillae. The animals appear to be predators catching their prey with the pharynx. However, several investigations have shown that they may also behave as scavengers (Fauchald & Jumars 1979). The polychaetes inhabit different substrates such as reefs, shell banks, muddy bottom, and sandy bottom. *Eteone longa* prefers sandy bottom but can be found in sandy mud and among shells and stones. Earlier investigations from Disko Island show that the species is common here (Madsen 1983, Andersen & Hartmann 1992, Jørgensen & Schiøtt 1997). Furthermore, an investigation from Store Hellefiske Banke, Southwest Greenland (Marin ID 1978) shows that *Eteone longa* is very numerous there. In Mellemfjord, the species was found at all stations.

*Phyllodoce groenlandica* has been collected previously from the Godhavn Harbour area (Andersen & Hartmann 1992). In Mellemfjord, a single specimen was collected from station N3: gravel and detritus.

## Polynoidae: Gattyana cirrosa (Pallas, 1766)

The polynoid scaleworms, equipped with characteristic scales on their backs, belong to the most species-rich families among the free-living polychaetes (Fauchald & Jumars 1979). Mostly, they crawl around in cracks and cavities in stones and shells. They can also be found in sandy or muddy bottom. The animals are fast swimmers using undulating movements. They possess an eversible pharynx with strong jaws. The majority are predators. *Gattyana cirrosa* is mostly found between stones on stone reefs, as a commensal in tubes of other polychaetes on sandy and muddy bottoms. They prey on other polynoids, crustaceans, echinoderms and molluscs (Curtis 1977, Kirkegaard 1992). The species is reported from Godhavn Harbour, Lyngmarksbugten, and Disko Fjord (Curtis 1977). Four specimens were collected in Mellemfjord from the stations S1 and I3: soft muddy bottom and detritus.

# Sabellidae indet.

Sabellids belong to the tube-dwelling polychaetes. They live in cylindrical tubes incrusted with clay, sand or shells. The tubes are usually soft clay tubes attached to stones or shells. Small species are mobile with or without tubes. Larger species are usually found in shallow waters while small species occur in deeper waters (Kirkegaard 1996). The 2 specimens collected in Mellemfjord were only a few mm long. The anterior end of sabellids is modified into a tentacle crown which is used to filter plankton and detritus from the water (Kirkegaard 1996). However, some authors believe that the filtering behaviour is not by far the most important feeding behaviour in the family. Sabellids are able to turn their tentacle crown towards the sediment and search it for organic matter (Fauchald & Jumars 1979). Curtis (1977) found most sabellids at Godhavn Harbour and Lyngmarksbugt. Two small specimens were collected in Mellemfjord at station C3: hard bottom and N3: gravel and detritus.

## Scalibregmatidae: Scalibregma inflatum Rathke, 1843

Scalibregmatids are deposit feeders. They dig their way through the sediment, while they swallow bottom material using their large eversible pharynx. The animals usually inhabit soft muddy bottom (Kirkegaard 1996). *Scalibregma inflatum* is mostly found buried at 30 to 60 cm in soft muddy sediment. The species also occurs in mixed sediment among stones and shells. The animals feed above and below the bottom surface (Fauchald & Jumars 1979). In Mellemfjord, the species was collected from all the stations but was not really abundant anywhere. As the mini van Veen grab does not penetrate deeply into the sediment (approximately 9 cm) it is likely that the collected animals have been feeding close to the bottom surface. The species has been reported from Lyngmarksbugt and Tut (Curtis 1977, Andersen & Hartmann 1992).

#### Spionidae: Prionospio steenstrupi Malmgren, 1867

Spionidae usually are infaunal animals living in tubes made of bottom material held together by mucus. The animals feed on organic matter in the sediment which they collect with their long palps. Spionids are very common and often occur in high numbers, especially in level bottoms (Kirkegaard 1996). In Mellemfjord the species was collected at all stations. *P. steenstrupi* has been reported as abundant at Lyngmarksbugt by Curtis (1977, as *P. malmgreni*, pers. comm. M.E. Petersen) and in small numbers from the Disko Bay area by Jørgensen & Schiøtt (1997).

# Terebellidae: Leaena ebranchiata (M. Sars, 1865)

Terebellidae live in thick- or thin-walled clay tubes often with different material incrusted in the tubes. The tubes can also consist of sand or shell fragments. The animals are often found in soft, muddy bottom, but can also occur among stones and shells. They possess non retractable feeding tentacles. The tentacles are thick, with ciliated grooves and can be extended very far. Using their tentacles the animals are able to cover a considerable area of the bottom surface, and plankton or organic matter is moved from the ciliated grooves in the tentacles to the mouth (Kirkegaard 1996). Curtis (1977) reported 200 specimens of *L. ebranchiata* from Lyngmarksbugten. In Mellemfjord 2 specimens were taken from stations S1 and I3: soft bottom.

**Table 2.** An overview of polychaete investigations referred to in the discussion with information on taxonomic details (\*M.E. Petersen, pers. comm., \*\*Blake 1996), localities, year of investigation (1996: Jørgensen & Schiøtt (1997), 1990: Andersen & Hartmann (1992), 1982: Madsen (1983), and 1958-60: Curtis (1977)), sampling depths, and types of sediment (mx = mixed, m = mud, g = gravel, s = stones). It should be mentioned, that only polychaetes relevant to the present investigation are listed in Table 2 (+ = species identical to the one collected from Mellemfjord, - = species not found.

Mellemfjord 1998 60 m mx	Nipisat/ Ungussivik 1996 3 m m + g	Godhavn Harbour Nipisat/Satut 1990 6-40 m m + s	Nipisat/ Maligiaq 1982 shallow water m + s + g	Godhavn area (4 localities) 1958-60 > 107 m mx
Ampharetidae Ampharetinae indet. Lysippe labiata	-	Ampharetinae sp. Ampharete acutifrons A. finmarchica	-	Ampharete goesi + Asabellides sibirica Glyphanostomum pallescens
Cirratulidae Chaetozone setosa	+	+	Cirratulidae indet.	+ Cirratulus cirratus = C. cf. incertus*
Maldanidae indet.	+	-	-	+ Maldane sarsi Praxillella praetermissa
Nephtyidae Nephtys sp. (juv.)	Nephtys caeca	+	-	Micronephthys minuta Nephtys caeca
Orbiniidae Scoloplos armiger	+	+	+	+
Paraonidae Aricidea suecica	Aricidea cerruti A. minuta	-	-	+
<b>Pectinariidae</b> Pectinaria hyperborea	Petta pusilla	Pectinaria granulata	Pectinaria granulata	Pectinaria granulata P. hyperborea
<b>Pholoidae</b> Pholoe longa	Pholoe longa (as P. inornata)	-	Pholoe longa (as P. inornata)*	Pholoe minuta P. longa (both as P. minuta)
<b>Phyllodocidae</b> Eteone longa Phyllodoce groenlandi	+	+ +	+ Phyllodoce maculata	Eteone flava Phyllodoce mucosa

<b>Polynoidae</b> Gattyana cirrosa	-	-	Polynoidae indet.	+ Harmothoe imbricata Antinoella sarsi Hartmania moorei
Sabellidae indet.	Euchone analis Fabricia stel- laris	Chone duneri Euchone papillosa	Fabricia sabella Euchone analis	Chone duneri Euchone analis Potamilla neglecta Sabella crassicornis
Scalibregmidae				······································
Scalibregma inflatum	-	+	-	+
<b>Spionidae</b> Prionospio steenstrupi	+ Pygospio elegans Polydora quadri- lobata	Spio filicornis Prionospio fallax	Pygospio elegans Microspio theeli Polydora quadri- lobata	Prionospio steenstrupi Laonice cirrata Dipolydora quadrilobata (as Polydora caulleryi)*,** Spio filicornis
<b>Terebellidae</b> Leaena ebranchiata	-	Amphitrite cirrata	Amphitrite cirrata	Terebellides stroemi Leaena ebranchiata Amphitrite cirrata Nicolea zostericola Trichobranchus glacialis

#### Acknowledgements

Special thanks are due to Katrine Worsaae, with whom this project was created and carried out and to the Danish and German organizers of the field excursion to Disko (Helge A. Thomsen, Reinhardt M. Kristensen, Henning H. Jørgensen, Angelika Brandt, and Hilke Ruhberg). I am very grateful to Anne Nina Lörz and Angela di Renzo, University of Hamburg, for their sieving and sorting work, and for good company. I wish to thank Jörg Nickel, University of Hamburg, for assisting with the sampling programme in Mellemfjord. For assistence with the identification of polychaetes and discussions of this report, I thank Mary E. Petersen and Danny Eibye-Jacobsen, ZMUC.

#### References

- Andersen, P. F. & M. Hartmann. 1992. Makrobenthos i blødbunden fra Vestgrønland. Pp. 211-233 in P. F. Andersen, L. Düwel & O. S. Hansen (eds.): Feltkursus i Arktisk Biologi, Godhavn 1990. Institut for Sporeplanter & Zoologisk Museum, Københavns Universitet, Denmark. ISBN 87-981980-1-7.
- Blake, J. A. & D. Dean. 1973. Polychaetous annelids collected by the R/V *Hero* from Baffin Island, Davis Strait, and West Greenland in 1968. Bulletin of the Southern California Academy of Sciences 72: 31-39.
- Blake, J. A. 1996. Chapter 4. Family Spionidae Grube, 1850. Pp. 81-223 in J. A. Blake,
  B. Hilbig & P. H. Scott (eds.): Taxonomic Atlas of the Benthic Fauna of the Santa Maria Basin and the Western Santa Barbara Channel. Volume 6, The Annelida Part 3, Polychaeta: Orbiniidae to Cossuridae. Santa Barbara Museum of Natural History, Santa Barbara, California.
- Curtis, M.A. 1977. Life cycles and population dynamics of marine benthic polychaetes from the Disko Bay area of West Greenland. Ophelia 16(1): 9-58.
- Fauchald, K. & P.A. Jumars. 1979. The diet of worms: A study of polychaete feeding guilds. Oceanography and Marine Biological Annual Review 17: 193-284.

- Holthe, T. 1986. Polychaeta Terebellomorpha. Marine Invertebrates of Scandinavia 7: 1-194. Norwegian University Press. Oslo.
- Jørgensen, A. & M. Schiøtt. 1997. Kvantitativ undersøgelse af polychaeter i relation til sedimenttype. Pp. 101-126 in L. B. Hansen, T. W. Kristensen, M. B. Christiansen & N. M. Schmidt (eds.): Arktisk Biologisk Feltkursus, Qeqertarsuaq 1996. Zoologisk Museum & Botanisk Institut, Københavns Universitet, Denmark. ISBN 87-7834-233-3.
- Kirkegaard, J.B. 1992. Havbørsteorme I. Errantia. Danmarks Fauna 83: 1-416 (Dansk Naturhistorisk Forening, København).
- Kirkegaard, J.B. 1996. Havbørsteorme II. Sedentaria. Danmarks Fauna 86: 1- 451 (Dansk Naturhistorisk Forening, København).
- Lörz, A. N., A. di Renzo & J. Nickel. 1999. Comparative analysis of three sampling gear types for marine macrobenthos; this volume.
- Madsen, P. B. 1983. Grønlands marine tidevandszone, med særlig henblik på sedimentkyst, et litteraturstudium, og en faunistisk undersøgelse. Pp. 221-257 in T. Pape, B. Hansen & J. Hansen (eds.): Rapport fra Feltkursus i Arktisk Biologi, Godhavn 1982. [Københavns Universitet, Denmark] ISBN 87-981438-0-8.
- Marin ID. 1978. Børsteorme (Polychaeta). Pp. 22-28 in Bundinvertebrater på Store og Lille Hellefiskebanke og i Holsteinsborgdybet. 1. Del, tekst. Rapport til Ministeriet for Grønland. Marine Identification Agency, ApS, Skodsborg, Denmark. ISBN 87-87838-00-1.
- Mitchie, M.G. 1982. Use of the Bray-Curtis similarity measure in cluster analysis of foraminiferal data. Journal of the International Association for Mathematical Geology. 14: 661-667.
- Petersen, G. Høpner. 1977. General report on marine benthic investigations near Godhavn, West Greenland. Ophelia 16(1):1-7.
- Petersen, M. E. 1998. *Pholoe* (Polychaete: Pholoidae) from northern Europe: a key and notes on the nearshore species. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 78. 1373-1376.
- Pettibone, M. H. 1992. Contribution to the polychaete family Pholoidae Kinberg. Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology 532: 1-24.
- Pleijel, F. 1983. On feeding of *Pholoe minuta* (Fabricius, 1780) (Polychaeta: Sigalionidae). Sarsia 68: 21-23.
- Pleijel, F. 1993. Polychaeta Phyllodocidae. Marine invertebrates of Scandinavia 8: 1-159. Scandinavian University Press.
- Schmid, M. K. & D. Piepenburg. 1993. The benthos zonation of the Disko Fjord, West Greenland. Meddelelser om Grønland, Bioscience 37: 1-21.
- Sigvaldadottir, E. & A. S.Y. Mackie. 1993. *Prionospio steenstrupi*, *P. fallax* and *P. dubia* (Polychaeta, Spionidae): Re-evaluation of identity and status. Sarsia 78: 203-219.
- Wesenberg-Lund, E. 1950. The Polychaeta of West Greenland. Meddelelser om Grønland 151(2): 1-173.

# Appendix 1. Bray-Curtis similarity index

	I3-1	13-2	13-3	N3-1	N3-2	N3-3	C3-1	C3-2	C3-3	S1-1	S1-2	S1-3
I3-1	-	71	58	51	54	39	62	64	56	66	63	62
I3-2	-	-	63	70	56	49	83	81	63	69	71	62
I3-3			-	51	54	39	62	64	56	66	63	62
N3-1				-	69	30	70	74	74	76	71	75
N3-2					-	51	61	65	78	68	66	69
N3-3	1			1		-	41	41	31	29	32	26
C3-1							-	82	74	70	77	69
C3-2					1			-	72	77	83	68
C3-3	1					1			-	69	76	77
S1-1	1									-	73	74
S1-2											-	77
S1-3	1			1								-

Appendix 2. Bray-Curtis similarity index; pooled samples

	S1	C3	N3	13
<b>S1</b>	-	84	81	80
C3		-	86	78
N3	1.		-	77
I3				-

**Appendix 3**. Total number of Polychaeta from stations: pooled (S1,C3,N3, I3) and non-pooled (the rest).

	<b>S1</b>	C3	N3	13	13	13	I3	N3	N3	N3	C3	C3	C3	<b>S1</b>	<b>S1</b>	<b>S1</b>
					1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Amphritetinae	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
indet.	Ì I															
Aricidea suecica	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Chaetozone setosa	117	116	127	90	17	25	48	45	76	6	31	34	51	36	37	44
Eteone longa	4	6	8	19	7	2	10	0	7	1	2	0	4	9	0	5
Gattyana cirrosa	3	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	1
Leaena	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
ebranchiata						1										
Lysippe labiata	2	1	1	3	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0
Maldanidae indet.	8	3	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	2	1	6	1
Nephtys sp.(juv.)	55	35	27	40	18	9	13	9	13	5	9	12	14	11	15	29
Pectinaria	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 .	0
hyperborea																
Pholoe longa	11	0	2	1	1	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	6	2	3
Phyllodoce	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
groenlandica																
Prionospio	15	23	9	11	0	3	8	3	4	2	12	2	9	0	7	8
steenstrupi	ļ															
Sabellidae indet.	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
Scalibregma	4	4	11	2	1	0	1	7	4	0	1	0	3	3	0	1
inflatum						Ì										
Scoloplos armiger	35	17	25	40	8	9	23	16	7	2	7	7	3	13	8	14

# On the taxonomy of *Spio filicornis* (Spionidae, Polychaeta) -Nipisat, Disko, Greenland.

Katrine Worsaae

# Zoological Museum, University of Copenhagen, Universitetsparken 15, DK-2100, Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

## Abstract

Spio filicornis (Müller, 1776) is the type species of the genus Spio Fabricius, 1785 and was originally described and later redescribed from Greenland. Subsequent authors mistakenly referred to Denmark as the type locality. New information on the uncertain taxonomy of *S. filicornis* is presented here in a preliminary redescription based upon collections from off Nipisat, Disko Island, Greenland. *Spio filicornis* and *Spio theeli* (Söderström, 1920) are the only species of the genus previously reported from Greenland waters. During the present investigation three species of *Spio were* found off Nipisat: *S. filicornis*, *S. theeli* and an undescribed species of *Spio filicornis* differs from the others by the ringed palps and the appearance of hooded hooks from setiger 11 (exceptionally 10 or 12).

#### Introduction

Spio filicornis (Müller, 1776), was first found by Otto Fabricius. He functioned as a missionary to the Frederikshaab/Paamiut colony in Greenland from 1768 to 1773, where he studied various animals, later treated in his comprehensive work *Fauna Groenlandica* (1780). His former teacher, Otto Friderich Müller, gave a description of the species in *Zoologiae Danicae Prodromus*, based upon notes on Greenlandic animals by Fabricius (Müller 1776). This appears to be the reason why the type locality of *S. filicornis* was mistakenly noted as Denmark by Hartman (1959) and Maciolek (1990). It has not been possible to assign an exact type locality, but sampling and observations most likely took place in the area near Frederikshaab/Paamiut (62°N).

The first detailed description of *S. filicornis* (as *Nereis filicornis*) was given in *Fauna Groenlandica* (Fabricius 1780), but Fabricius (1785) also gave a second description and illustrated the species (Fig.1) when he established the genus *Spio*. In these works the following important characters were mentioned: General appearance long and thick; up to 48 setigers; a pair of long white palps with black rings; branchiae starting from setiger 1 or 2 (not quite clear on the drawing from 1785) and grey colour frontally and abdominally. The grey colour frontally is most likely dark pigmentation and the grey colour abdominally could be the gut. The middle part of the body is coloured yellow-red on the drawings (Fabricius 1785), possibly caused by a combination of white sexual products and red gills.



**Fig. 1.** Illustrations of *Spio filicornis* (Müller, 1776) by Fabricius (1785). **Left**: Stretching, as much as possible by free will, out of the tube. **Right**: Out of tube seen from dorsal side. a: tube, b: sea floor, c: the worm in swaying movement, d: prostomium, e: eyes, g: palps, h: first dark setigers, i: middle yellow-red setigers, k: posterior dark setigers, l: gut, n: anal cirri.

In recent decades *S. filicornis* has been reported from West Greenland by several authors: Wesenberg-Lund (1950) from all of the western coast of Greenland up to Upernavik, 73°N (12-380 m); Curtis (1977) from the area near Godhavn, Disko (3-107 m); Marin ID. (1978) from 63°N to 68°N (34-535 m); Andersen & Hartmann (1992) from Sâtut, Disko (20 m) and Nipisat Bay, Disko (20 m); Jørgensen & Schiött (1997) from Ungusivik, Disko (3 m). The only other species of *Spio* formerly reported from Greenland is *S. theeli* (Söderström, 1920) (Madsen 1983). *Spio filicornis, S. theeli* and an undescribed species of *Spio* were found in this investigation.

S. filicornis has most recently been redescribed by Maciolek (1990), but she did not include material from Greenland and the morphology of the palps was not described. The European distribution of S. filicornis is still unclear (Dauvin 1989; pers. comm. M.E. Petersen) and a conspecific relationship between the populations in Greenland and those in eastern North America and Europe, respectively, cannot be properly determined until material from Greenland has been examined. For this reason this investigation deals with animals from Greenland. It was not possible to collect material near Frederikshaab in this investigation and no preserved material exists from that area. Observations on live and fixed specimens were instead made on material collected almost  $8^{\circ}$  north of Frederikshaab. New information on the uncertain taxonomy of S. filicornis is presented here in a preliminary short redescription. A more general treatment (in Danish) of Spio from West Greenland was given by Worsaae (1999). A description of the new species, a redescription of S. theeli and a more thorough redescription of S. filicornis will be published elsewhere.

#### Methods

Samples were taken from a zodiae in Ungusivik Bay, off Nipisat (Disko Island, Greenland) with a mini van Veen grab (surface area =  $0.0225 \text{ m}^2$ ) at 1.5 m depth. High densities of specimens were found when sampling in or near faecal casts of *Arenicola marina* (Linné, 1758). The sediment consisted of sandy mud. Samples were sieved through a 500 µm sieve, specimens sorted out alive, fixed in 4% formalin buffered with borax, rinsed in fresh water, transferred to 20% ethanol and dehydrated through a series to 80% ethanol. A few live specimens were recorded on videotape for later observations on pigmentation. Specimens used for SEM were further dehydrated to100 % ethanol, transferred to 100% acetone, critical-point dried, sputter coated with gold and photographed in a Jeol JSM-840 scanning electron microscope. All measurements and drawings were made on fixed specimens. Drawings were made using a camera lucida attached to a Wild M5 microscope. Material is kept at the Zoological Museum, University of Copenhagen.

#### Taxonomy

Spio Fabricius, 1785 (see Maciolek 1990 for synonymy). Type species: *Nereis filicornis* Müller, 1776 (No type material exists). *Spio filicornis* (Müller, 1776). Figs. 1-3.

*Material examined*: Ungusivik Bay, off Nipisat, Disko Island, Greenland (69°26.23'N, 54°13.70'W, 1.5 m), 25 July 1998. 13 specimens examined: 11 adults, 2 juveniles.

*Description*: Length up to 12 mm for 48 setigers, width excluding setae up to 1.4 mm; average width/length ratio 0.13 (n = 8). Juveniles in sample up to 3.3 mm long with up to 29 setigers (n = 2).

Prostomium anteriorly rounded, with slight medial incision (n = 13) (Fig. 3). Posterior part of prostomium raised (n = 13). Eyes 2-6 (n = 13) (Fig. 2A). Peristomial palps with ciliated median groove. Small groups of cilia on latero-frontal side of palp, lining median groove (n = 3) (Fig. 3).

Branchiae from setiger 1 (n = 13) (Fig. 2A). Last 6-10 setigers without branchiae (n = 8). Branchiae of setiger 1 almost as long as those of setiger 2 (never less than half their length) (n = 13). Branchiae on anterior setigers fused basally with notopodial postsetal lamellae (Fig. 2A, Fig. 3), gradually becoming separated further back (n = 11). Notopodial postsetal lamellae small, round on setiger 1, oval on setigers 2 to 11, gradually lengthening on posterior setigers, becoming leaf-shaped on last 10-15 setigers (coinciding with the disappearance of branchiae). Neuropodial postsetal lamellae rounded on first and last setigers, on setigers 11 to 20 narrower, elongated towards notopodial postsetal lamellae (n = 11).

Neuropodial hooded hooks bidentate, generally starting on setiger 11 (exceptionally on setiger 10 or 12) (n = 13), 6-10 per neuropodium (up to 3 in juveniles) (n = 11). Neuropodium with up to 3 sabre setae, gradually starting from setiger 11-13, disappearing near the pygidium. Pygidium with 4 (or rarely 3) leaf-shaped anal cirri of

166



**Fig.2.** *Spio filicornis* (Müller, 1776). **A**: Anterior end in lateral view, without palps. **B**: Isolated palp. The illustrations are made from material in formalin, thereby showing a naturally pigmented head and body, but faded palps that no longer appear ringed, only spotted.



Fig. 3. SEM picture of Spio filicornis (Müller, 1776).

almost same size (n = 11). Subepidermal, opaque, round glands on anterior ventral half of body, 6-10 per setiger (n = 4).

Live and fixed specimens with dark pigmentation on prostomium and lateral sides of peristomium, on setigers 1 to 9 midventrally, on setigers 1-10 dorsally at base of branchiae, on branchiae and laterally between and around noto- and neuropodial lamellae (n = 11) (Fig. 2A). Large dark spots of pigment on palps of live animals (n = 2). Spots located on each side of median groove, forming up to 13 pairs (n = 6), giving palps a ringed appearance. Pigmentation fades in formalin and almost disappears in ethanol (Fig. 2B). Reflecting whitish spots occasionally seen between black spots on palps of live animals.

*Reproductive biology:* Four specimens contained white spermatophores laterally in setigers 10-14. Sexually mature females were not found.

#### Discussion

*Spio filicornis* and *S. theeli* are the only species of *Spio* formerly reported from Greenland (Madsen 1983, Wesenberg-Lund 1950). Most of the characters mentioned by Fabricius (1780, 1785) for *S. filicornis* could also apply to *S. theeli* and the undescribed species of *Spio*. An exception is the ringed palps, illustrated by Fabricius in 1785 (Figs. 1, 2), which are not found on *S. theeli* or the new species.

*S. filicornis* is further separated from *S. theeli* and the undescribed species by the first appearance of hooded hooks, starting on setiger 11 (exceptionally 10 or 12) in *S. filicornis* versus setiger 18-22 and setiger 18-24 in *S. theeli* and the new species, respectively (Worsaae, unpublished data).

Pigmented palps are described from only one other western Atlantic species of *Spio*, namely *S. setosa* Verrill, 1873 (Maciolek 1990). This species has been reported from the western North Atlantic (Maciolek 1990), but never from Greenland. *Spio setosa*, however, lacks pigmentation on the anterior part of the body and further differs from *S. filicornis* by having hooded hooks starting on setiger 13-15 (Maciolek 1990).

The preliminary description of *S. filicornis* given here strongly resembles the description given by Maciolek (1990), except that she does not mention ringed palps and finds the dorsal pair of anal cirri to be larger than the ventral pair (this study found the 4 anal cirri to be of similar size). As the pigmentation of the palps faded remarkably in alcohol, if palps were present, this could explain why Maciolek did not mention this character. More material should be examined to reveal if the differences of the anal cirri are just a matter of variability.

Based on the preliminary results from this investigation, there is no reason to suspect the populations from off Nipisat, Disko, Greenland and the populations from eastern North America not to be conspecific. The importance of examining live material or at least material not transferred to alcohol, when describing a species, should, however, be emphasised.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Anja Lieberman for her tremendous assistance with logistics, sampling in the field and handling of material at the laboratory of the Arctic Station, Disko. Special thanks to Danny Eibye-Jacobsen, Reinhardt M. Kristensen and Mary E. Petersen for invaluable help with the manuscript.

#### References

- Andersen, P. F. & Hartmann, M. 1992. Makrozoobenthos i blødbunden fra Vestgrønland. In Andersen, P. F., Düwel, L. & Hansen, O. S. (eds.): Feltkursus i Arktisk Biologi, Godhavn 1990 Institut for Sporeplanter, Zoologisk Museum & Dansk Polarcenter, Copenhagen: 211-233.
- Curtis, M. A. 1977. Life cycles and population dynamics of marine benthic polychaetes from the Disko Bay area of West Greenland. Ophelia 16: 9-58.
- Dauvin, J. C. 1989. Sur la présence de Spio decoratus Bobretzky, 1871 en Manche et remarques sur Spio martinensis Mesnil, 1896 et Spio filicornis (O.F.Müller, 1776). Cahiers de Biologie Marine, 30: 167-187.
- Fabricius, O. 1780. Fauna Groenlandica. Hafnia et Lipsiae, xvi + 452 pp.
- Fabricius, O. 1785. Von dem Spio-Geschlechte, *Nereis seticornis* und *Nereis filicornis*. Sitzungsberichte der Gesellschaft Naturforschender Freunde zu Berlin, 6: 256-270.
- Hartman, O. 1959. Catalogue of the polychaetous annelids of the world, Part II. Allan Hancock Foundation Occasional Paper, 23: 355-628.
- Jörgensen, A. & Schiött, M. 1997. Kvantitativ undersøgelse af polychaeter i relation til sedimenttype. In Hansen, L.B., Kristensen, T.W., Christiansen, M.B. & Schmidt, N.M. (eds.): Arktisk Biologisk Feltkursus, Godhavn 1996. Zoologisk Museum & Botanisk Institut, Københavns Universitet, Copenhagen: 101-126.
- Maciolek, N. J. 1990. A redescription of some species belonging to the genera *Spio* and *Microspio* (Polychaeta: Annelida) and descriptions of three new species from the northwestern Atlantic Ocean. Journal of Natural History, 24:1109-1141.
- Madsen, P. B. 1983. Grønlands marine tidevandszone, med særlig henblik på sedimentkyst. *In* Pape, T., Hansen, B. & Hansen, J. (eds.): Feltkursus i Arktisk Biologi, Godhavn 1982. Københavns Universitet, Copenhagen: 221-256.
- Marin ID. 1978. Bundinvertebrater på Store og Lille Hellefiskebanke og i Holsteinsborgdybet. Del 2: Artslister. Rapport til Ministeriet for Grønland. Marine Identification Agency APS, Skodsborg, Denmark: 134 pp.
- Müller, O. F. 1776. Zoologiae Danicae, Prodromus seu Animalium Daniae et Norvegiae indigenarum characteres, nomina, et synonyma imprimis popularium. Havniae, xxxii + 282 pp.
- Wesenberg-Lund, E. 1950. The Polychaeta of West Greenland with special reference to the fauna of Nordre Strømfjord, Kvane- and Bredefjord. Meddelelser om Grønland, 151(2): 1-171, charts 1-37, I-XV, a-i and A-Q.
- Worsaae, K. 1999. En taksonomisk undersøgelse af slægten Spio (Spionidae, Polychaeta) fra Nipisat, Disko, Grønland. In Thomsen, H.A. (ed.): Arktisk Biologisk Feltkursus, Qeqertarsuaq 1998. Botanisk Institut, Københavns Universitet, Copenhagen: 181-212.

# Distribution and Composition of Meiofauna with special attention to the Kinorhyncha in the Mellemfjord, Disko Island (West Greenland)

Julia Winkelmann and Ole Ziemer

Zoologisches Institute and Zoological Museum, University of Hamburg, Martin-Luther-King-Platz 3; D-20146 Hamburg, Germany

# Introduction

The aim of our project was the investigation of the distribution of meiofauna with special attention to the Kinorhyncha in the Mellemfjord (Disko Island / West Greenland), a High Arctic ecosystem.

Due to the tremendous biodiversity of the meiofauna, samples were treated on a high taxon level. Furthermore some taxa were very difficult to identify, for example the Nematoda.

Although this community is not very well investigated in Arctic areas, earlier studies on Kinorhyncha on the west coast of Disko Island (Diskofjord) were done by R. P. Higgins and R. M. Kristensen. In correspondence with Kristensen we decided to focus on the phylum Kinorhyncha. Some striking Kinorhyncha are identified to species level.

The phylum Kinorhyncha consists of two orders, the Cyclorhagida and the Homalorhagida. In our investigation these were represented as one family each:

K	inorhyncha
Cyclorhagida	Homalorhagida
Echinoderidae	Pycnophyidae
Echinoderes	Pycnophyes

The individuals which belong to the *Echinoderes* species can easily be distinguished from those of *Pycnophyes* by their habitus. Usually the *Echinoderes* species are smaller and the cross section of their body is more or less circular while that of *Pycnophyes* is more triangular. Figure 1 shows a schematic view of *Echinoderes* morphology.

# Material and methods

During our survey, four transects were sampled in the Mellemfjord (see Lörz et al., this volume), each with three stations, with the northernmost station taken in approximately 60 m depth. At these stations macrofauna samples (especially for the collection of Polychaeta and Peracarida) were also taken. For our investigation we used two transects: the N-transect as a cross-section through the fjord and lengthwise the northernmost stations of each transect.

The sampling gear used for meiofauna samples was a triangle dredge (TAD), and a

## Mellemfjord meiofauna

mini van Veen grab (MVVG) (for explanation see Lörz et al., this volume). From the triangle-dredge samples we always transferred approximately  $300 \text{ cm}^3$  of sediment into a bucket in order to minimise possible artefacts arising from the sampling method. The mini van Veen grab contained less sediment, therefore we could treat the whole sample.



Figure 1: *Echinoderes* morphology; ventral view, female and ventral view of terminal segment, male (after Higgins, 1983)

For further examinations we took three different kinds of subsamples:

#### Quantitative subsamples

For quantitative subsamples we filled a modified syringe (a corer) with sediment by pressing it into the mud. The resulting 30-ml subsamples were transferred into small glass vials and fixed with about 30 ml formalin (8%). These were stored for future studies.

#### Sieved subsamples

These samples were gently stirred in buckets with seawater. This procedure causes the meiofaunal animals to float to the water surface. We then strained the surface water with a small hand net (mesh size 64  $\mu$ m) with swift, circulating movements. We did not use a finer net because it could have been blocked by detritus. Afterwards we washed the meiofauna into a vial containing seawater. For conservation the sample was fixed in an 8% formalin solution. If the sediment was very coarse we placed stones and crushed shells into a bucket filled with fresh water in order to shock the adhesive meiofauna (osmotic shock). After a few minutes the fresh water was decanted through a sieve (mesh size 32  $\mu$ m).

## "Bubbling" subsamples

This method is used to obtain the special meiofauna that has hydrophobic exocuticle. After slightly stirring up the sediment we used a bicycle pump with a "bubblestone" (as used for aquaria) and pumped for a while. Kinorhyncha and other meiofauna were bubbled up and adhered to the surface film of the seawater. Thereafter we waited until the heavier particles had sunk again. The meiofauna was then collected with a piece of paper which was laid on the water surface. The adhering particles and animals were rinsed with seawater directly through a net (mesh size  $32 \mu m$ ).

#### Sorting of the samples

In the laboratory all samples were sorted. All organisms were identified to orders except for the Kinorhyncha. Some interesting and the most abundant Kinorhyncha were selected, mounted on slides, and then identified to species.

# Calculation of the number of specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> from the mini van Veen grab

The sides of the mini van Veen grab have a length of 15 cm, resulting in a surface area of 225 m<sup>2</sup>. The numbers of specimens per sample were then divided by 22,5 and thus calculation yielded the number of specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup>.

# Results

# Abundance of the organisms

Tables 1, 2 and 3 present the numbers of organisms per taxa that were counted at the different stations.

Table 1: Num	iber of organisms	per taxa of the	"most important taxa"
--------------	-------------------	-----------------	-----------------------

			M	lost import	ant taxa			
Station	Equipment	Depth	Nematoda	Copepoda	Echinoderes	Pygnophyes	others	total
I3	TAD	60m	62	63	39	12	8	184
	MVVG	65m	49	64	91	84	10	298
N1	TAD	60m	1222	936	424	216	151	2949
	MVVG	60m	100	141	26	23	15	305
N2	TAD	125m	369	455	381	60	93	1358
	MVVG	93m	165	91	166	16	20	458
N3	TAD	60m	24	38	331	119	20	532
	MVVG	70m	29	41	207	110	7	394
C3	TAD	65m	58	27	83	29	1	198
	MVVG	60m	55	18	291	73	7	444
S3	TAD	30m	316	46	212	124	45	743
	MVVG	30m	503	39	102	9	44	697

# Table 2: Number of organisms per taxa of the "Other Crustacea"

	Other Crustacea											
Station	Equipment	Depth	Amphipoda	Cumacea	Isopoda	Tanaidacea	Mysidacea	Ostracoda				
I3	TAD	60m	1	1	-	1	1	-				
	MVVG	65m	4	~	-	1	-	3				
N1	TAD	60m	26	4	-	1	1	9				
	MVVG	60m	-	-	-	2	-	4				
N2	TAD	125m	5	-	-	21	-	12				
	MVVG	93m	1	-	-	6	~	6				
N3	TAD	60m	2	-	-	13	2	2				
	MVVG	70m	-	-	-	4	-	3				
C3	TAD	~65m	1	-	-	-	-	-				
	MVVG	60m	-	-	-	-	-	6				
S3	TAD	30m	1	-	-	6	1	10				
	MVVG	30m	1	-	1	10	-	-				

The numbers of organisms within a taxon differ significantly at each station. Station N1 TAD turned out to be the sample with highest density (2789 individuals) and a high diversity (about 19 taxa). Station N2 TAD also contained a high number of organisms (1255 individuals) and the same number of taxa (19). At both stations the values of the MVVG were lower. The lowest number of organisms, however, was found at station I3 TAD (176 individuals).

Generally the TAD yields a higher number of specimens per catch than the MVVG, with the exception of stations I3 and C3.

12

				ther Groups		<u></u>		
Station	Equipment	Depth	Polychaeta	Acari	Protohydra	Polyps*	Medusae*	Hydrozoa
13	TAD	60m	3	1	-	-	-	-
	MVVG	65m	1	1	-	-	-	-
N1	TAD	60m	80	5	9	1	-	3
	MVVG	60m	7	-	2	-	-	-
N2	TAD	125m	31	6	3	6	4	-
	MVVG	93m	3	-	1	-	-	-
N3	TAD	60m	-	-	~	-	-	-
	MVVG	70m	-	-	-	-	-	-
C3	TAD	~65m	-	-	-	-	-	-
	MVVG	60m	1	-	-	-	-	-
S3	TAD	30m	7	3	15	1	-	-
	MVVG	30m	18	11	11	1	-	
Station	Equipment	Denth	Gastropoda	Holothuria juv.	Onhiuroidea	Ciliata	Foraminifera	Turbellaria
13	TAD	60m	-	-	-	-	3	-
	MVVG	65m	1	-	-	-	-	-
NI	TAD	60m	-	-	4	1	35	4
	MVVG	60m		-	-	-	-	_
N2	TAD	125m	-	3	4	1	3	1
	MVVG	93m	-	-	-	-	8	-
N3	TAD	60m	-	-	-	-	-	-
	MVVG	70m	-	-	-	-		
C3	TAD	~65m	-	-	-	-	-	-
	MVVG	60m	-	-	-	-	-	-
S3	TAD	30m	-	-	-		3	
L	MVVG	30m	-	-	-	-	10	-
Station	Equipment	Depth	Simumoulo	Drionuli da ince	Enternante	Nomentini	other Crustacea	1
I3	TAD	60m		r napunda juv.	Entoprocia	Nemerum		<b>,</b>
13	MVVG		-		<u> </u>	-	4	4
		65m				-	8	1
N1	TAD	60m	-	12		~	41	ļ
	MVVG	60m	-		-	-	6	ļ
N2	TAD	125m	-	4	-	1.	38	1
N3	MVVG TAD	93m	1	2		-	13	-
N3	MVVG	60m	-	-	1	-	19	
C3	TAD	70m	-			-	7	-
	MVVG	~65m	-	-	•	-	1	4
		60m		-		-	6	4
S3	TAD	30m	- 1	1	-	-	18	

Table 3: Number of organisms per taxa (partly morpha) of the "Other Groups"

The C3 station (TAD + MVVG) and N3 MVVG sample are the only samples where almost no "other taxa" were found (organisms as well as taxa).

Tanaidacea, Amphipoda, Ostracoda, Polychaeta, Foraminifera, Cnidaria, Chelicerata, and Priapulida regularly appeared in the samples, but in varying numbers. The remaining taxa (e.g., Isopoda, Entoprocta, Turbellaria) were often single finds restricted to a few stations and were therefore neglected in the present study.

All analysed samples contained green, muddy sediment. In most of the samples we found Tintinnidae which had sedimented from the water column.

MVVG

30m

## Percentage of the most common taxa

Figures 2 and 3 illustrate the percentage of the particular taxa at the different stations from triangle-dredge and mini van Veen grab samples.

All stations, except I3 and N2, were characterized by a pronounced dominance of one taxon with more than 40%. However, the dominant taxa differed from station to station. Station I3 represents the outermost and station N2 the deepest station of the investigated area.

# Number of specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> of the mini van Veen grab

Table 4 and Figure 4 illustrate the number of specimens per 10  $\text{cm}^2$  of the mini van Veen grab:

Station	Copepoda	Nematoda	Kinorhyncha
13	3	2	8
N1	6	4	2
N2	2	1	8
N3	2	1	14
C3	1	2	16
S3	2	22	5
average	3	5	9

Table 4: Number of specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> of the MVVG

## Figure 4: Number of specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> of the MVVG



It is interesting to note that the Kinorhyncha have on average a higher number of specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> than the Nematoda or Copepoda. An exception is station N1, where the Copepoda have the highest value with 6 specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup>, and at station S3 the Nematoda were most numerous with 22 specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup>. These 22 specimens of Nematoda represent the highest number of organisms per taxon sampled per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> of all mini van Veen grab catches.



Figure 2: Percentage of the most common taxa from the triangle-dredge samples

Figure 3: Percentage of the most common taxa from the mini vanVeen grab samples


## Determination of the Kinorhyncha

Until now 45 specimens of the Kinorhyncha could be determined comprising six species:

Station N1 TAD		
Pycnophyes cryopygus Pycnophyes greenlandicus Pycnophyes spitzbergensis Echinoderes eximus Echinoderes tubilak Echinoderes aquilonius	adult 5 2 3 1 4	juvenile 5 1 7
<u>Station N3 TAD</u> Echinoderes eximus	adult 1	juvenile
Station N1 MVVG ad	ult ju	venile
Pycnophyes cryopygus 8 Echinoderes eximus	2 1	
Station N3 MVVG	adult	juvenile
Pycnophyes cryopygus Pycnophyes greenlandicus Echinoderes aquilonius	1 1 1	2

# Nematoda/Copepoda ratio

The following Table 5 and Figure 5 show the Nematoda/Copepoda ratio and their distribution:

	-			
Station	Equipment	Nematoda	Copepoda	Nem/Cop
I3	TAD	62	63	0,98
	MVVG	49	64	0,77
N1	TAD	1222	936	1,31
	MVVG	100	141	0,71
N2	TAD	369	455	0,81
	MVVG	165	91	1,81
N3	TAD	24	38	0,63
	MVVG	29	41	0,71
C3	TAD	58	27	2,15
	MVVG	55	18	3,06
S3	TAD	316	46	6,87
	MVVG	503	39	12,90

Table 5: Nem/Cop ratio at the different stations



Figure 5: Nem/Cop ratio at the different stations

Interestingly an increase of the Nematoda/Copepoda ratio from the mouth towards the innermost part of the fjord could be noted.

# Echinoderes/Pycnophyes ratio

The following Table 6 and Figure 6 show the *Echinoderes/Pycnophyes* ratio correlated to depth.

Station	Equipment	Depth	Echinoderes	Pygnophyes	Ech/Pyg
I3	TAD	60m	39	12	3,25
	MVVG	65m	91	84	1,08
N1	TAD	60m	424	216	1,96
	MVVG	60m	26	23	1,13
N2	TAD	125m	381	60	6,35
	MVVG	93m	166	16	10,38
N3	TAD	60m	331	119	2,78
	MVVG	70m	207	110	1,88
C3	TAD	65m	83	29	2,86
	MVVG	60m	291	73	3,99
S3	TAD	30m	212	124	1,71
	MVVG	30m	102	9	11,33

## Table 6: *Ech/Pyg* ratio at the different stations



Figure 6: Ech/Pyg ratio at the different stations

The values of the N-stations show a higher *Echinoderes/Pycnophyes* ratio at the deepest station (N2) in the middle of the fjord.

#### Discussion

The relatively high percentage of Kinorhyncha in the Mellemfjord is quite interesting. At every station we found that the Kinorhyncha represent at least the third highest percentage of all meiofaunal organisms. Often the Kinorhyncha even dominate the meiofauna (e.g.: C3 MVVG 83%; N3 MVVG 82%; N3 TAD 85%).

The Nematoda never reach values over 72% (S3 MVVG). Usually in other faunistic studies the Nematoda are known to be the dominant group with 90–95% of all organisms in meiofauna samples, followed by the Copepoda (Harpacticoidea) (Giere, 1993).

In the same work Giere (1993) refers to values for the Nematoda of up to 23 x  $10^3$  specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> and for Harpacticoidea >1000 specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup>. For the Kinorhyncha a value of 15 specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> was found in muddy sediments. The average values of our calculations are lower (Nematoda: 5 per 10 cm<sup>2</sup>; Copepoda: 3 per 10 cm<sup>2</sup>). Although the percentage of Kinorhyncha per MVVG seemed very high at first view, this value of 9 specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> is not so uncommon. In 1977 Dinet found in the Norwegian and the Greenland Sea an average of 1-8 Kinorhyncha per 10 cm<sup>2</sup>. Other Arctic studies at Svalbard, however, recorded >250 specimen per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> (Pfannkuche and Thiel, 1987), and in Alaska 130 specimens per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> have been recorded (Giere, 1993). Carey and Montagna (1982), however, found a very low Kinorhyncha abundance of only 0.1 per 10 cm<sup>2</sup> in the Beaufort Sea.

We suppose that the high number of organisms at the N-transect might be a result of a mixing of different water layers due to a narrowing (the "Narssarssuk", see map) of the fjord in this area. This could also have resulted in an accumulation of nutrients. Because of the distance to this potential area of "disturbance", station N3 was possibly not affected.

The distinct enhancement of the Nematoda/Copepoda ratio towards the inner end of the fjord is interesting. A change of physical or biological factors might be the possible

reason for this. In 1981 Raffaelli and Mason found that the abundance of Nematoda increases and Copepoda decrease as beaches become more polluted by sewage. This can be excluded in the Mellemfjord because it is unpopulated. It is also mentioned by Raffaelli and Mason (1987) that the Nem/Cop ratio is influenced by particle size, Nematoda usually increase and Copepoda decrease in abundance in finer sediments. Although these investigations are related to sandy sediments we found similar tendencies. At station S3 a stream flows into the Mellemfjord, transporting a high load of very fine, muddy sediment, while the sediment at the opening (I3 and N3) of the fjord is more coarse because of the tidal currents. The highest Nem/Cop ratio was found at station S3. Thus our results may support this hypothesis.

In his later paper Raffaelli (1987) presented more precise data and distinguished between the behaviour of epi- and mesobenthic Copepoda.

The N-stations showed that *the Echinoderes/Pycnophyes* ratio might also depend on depth. At a depth of around 100 m (N2) we have a strikingly higher *Ech/Pyg* ratio than at the other stations (N1 and N2) in approximately 60 m depth. In contradiction to this, the MVVG sample of the S3-station at 30 m showed the highest *Ech/Pyg* ratio of all samples, but this could not be verified by the TAD sample. We think that the 30 m MVVG sample might represent an example of patchiness.

We suspect that with our methods we did not catch all taxa of meiofauna with equal efficiency. The proportions of the taxa found were possibly influenced by the shape and the skin (hydrophobic exocuticle) of the organisms. Certainly the "bubbling method" increases the sampling efficiency of the Kinorhyncha and decreases that of the Nematoda. These effects were obviously lowered, however, by including the "sieving method" whereby more Nematoda and less Kinorhyncha were caught. Generally two-thirds of the Nematoda and one-third of the Kinorhyncha per station were sampled using the "sieving method". The number of the Copepoda is the same using both methods.

Many of the soft-bodied meiofaunal animals were destroyed before they could be determined and could therefore not be counted. They just appeared as undefinable artefacts. This destruction is probably primarily due to the storage and the treatment of the sample while sieving and also while counting in aqua dest.

With regard to the sampling gear, a comparison of the numbers of individuals resulting from the mini van Veen grab (MVVG) and the triangle dredge (TAD) is interesting. Except for two stations (I3 and C3), the number of organisms are higher in the TAD samples. Possible explanations are the following:

- the amount of substrate taken from the TAD should be equal to the substrate taken from one MVVG. But in fact, a MVVG does not work with the same efficiency and depends on the composition of the substrate and how it reaches the ground. We only took samples when the MVVG was filled to a certain extent, but discrepancies could not be avoided. For the TAD one can never know where the substrate was taken. It could come from an oxygen and meiofauna rich surface sediment or from a deeper sediment layer depending on how deep the dredge was digging into the ground.
- a second explanation could be the horizontal distribution of the meiofauna. It is known that patchiness of meiofauna sometimes occurs within a radius of only a few (Giere, 1993). Tendencies of the distribution of meiofauna might be easier to recognise using the TAD because in these samples patchiness is covered well. The MVVG on the contrary only samples a little spot of the ground and therefore shows just a small aspect of the biodiversity.

The Kinorhyncha species determined are common for this area. All species were already found in the southern part of Disko Island (Higgins and Kristensen, 1988) with the exception of *Pycnophyes spitzbergensis* which was only found at Svalbard in 1995 by A. V. Adrianov. *Pycnophyes spitzbergensis* is therefore a new record for Greenland. Higgins and Kristensen (1988) found in their study two more species: *Echinoderes angustus* and *Echinoderes peterseni*, with *E. angustus* being the most eurytopic species. Possibly this species prefers the southern more Subarctic area of Disko Island, but it is also possible that we might find it in the remaining samples. *Echinodermes peterseni* appeared only at a single station and seemed to be associated with the encrusting red algae *Lithothamnium glaciale*.

#### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Prof. Angelika Brandt and Dr. Hilke Ruhberg, who made this excursion possible for us, Prof. Reinhardt M. Kristensen, who helped us with this project and showed us how to collect and work on the meiofauna, Dr. Helge A. Thomsen, who did the final organization of the Danish-German team, and Dr. Henning H. Jørgensen who showed us the "green" side of Greenland.

We would also like to thank the crew of the R.V. "Porsild" and the staff of the Arctic Station, University of Copenhagen. Prof. O. Giere gave us some ideas and literature. Many other members of the Zoological Institute and Museum supported us with material and assistance.

The benthos groups with Jörg Nickel, Anne-Nina Lörz and Angela di Renzo and also Anja Liebermann and Catrine Worsaae were always working with us hand in hand during processing of the samples.

## References

- Adrianov A.V., 1995, The first description of Kinorhynchs from the Spitsbergen Archipelago (Greenland Sea), with a key to the genus *Pycnophyes* (Homalorhagida, Kinorhyncha), Can. J. Zool. 73: 1554-1566
- Giere O., 1993, Meiobenthology, Springer-Verlag Berlin\*Heidelberg\*New York\*London\*Paris\* Tokyo\*Hong Kong\*Barcelona\*Budapest: pp. 1-328
- Higgins, R.P., 1983, The Atlantic Barrier Reef Ecosystem at Carrie Bow Cay, Belize, II: Kinorhyncha. Smithsonian Contributions to the Marine Sciences 18: 1-131
- Higgins R.P., Kristensen R.M., 1988, Kinorhyncha from Disko Island, West Greenland, Smithsonian Contributions To Zoology, Number 458:1-56
- Pfannkuche O., Thiel H., 1987, Meiobenthic stocks and benthic activity on the NE-Svalbard shelf and in the Nansen Basin. Polar Biol 7: 253-266
- Raffaelli D., 1987, The Behaviour of the Nematode/Copepod Ratio in Organic Pollution Studies, Marine Environ. Res. 23: 135-152

Adresslist, Arktisk Station 1998 (For Germany: + 49 For Denmark: + 45)

Angelika Brandt	Barmbeber Str. 189, 22299 Hamburg abrandt@ zoologie.uni-hamburg.de	40 - 46 06 087
Helge Thomsen	Sortedam Dossering 11, 2th, 2200 N helgeat@bot.ku.dk	35 36 96 46/35 32 22 94
Henning HJørgensen	Gadevangen 32, 2800 Lyngby henningh@bot.ku.dk	45 88 32 65/35 32 22 64
Hilke Ruhberg	Brahmsvej 3, 22848 Norderstedt ruhberg@zoologie.uni-hamburg.de	40-52 33 225
Reinhardt M. Kristensen	Tjørnen 315, 2990 Nivå rmkristens@zmuc.ku.d	49 14 71 81
Angela di Renzo	Querstr. 2, 25764 Süderdeich	48-33 29 13
Anja Hoff Hansen	Stefansgade 10, 3th, 2200 N	35 81 47 07
Anja Liebermann	Flensborggade 11, 4.th, 1669 V	31 23 18 35
Anne-Nina Lörtz	Ramckeweg 6a, 22589 Hamburg alorz@lynx.dac.neu.edu	40 - 87 03 881
Caroline Stark	Holstenstr 182a, 22765 Hamburg	40 - 38 61 48 75
Conny Brandt	Selliusstrasse 10, 20255 Hamburg ConnyBrand@aol.com.de	40-49 08 921
Doreen Finke	Wagnerweg 19, 22455 Hamburg	40 - 55 12 286
Frederik Schmidt	Kastrupvej 127, 21, 2300 S fschmidt@image.dk	32 58 26 11
Helge Pensky	Zoppoter str. 6, 22049 Hamburg helge pensky@public.uni-hamburg.de	40 - 69 07 752
Julia Winkelmann	Perlbergweg 44a, 22393 Hamburg Alexander.Winkelmann@itss.de	40-60 17 262
Jørg Nickel	Oldachstrasse 25, 22307 Hamburg Joerg_Nickel@public.uni-hamburg.de	40 - 69 15 727
Karen D. Jensen	Jagtvej 120, vær.430, 2200 N djk@rhk.dk	35 39 26 66-616
Karina Clemmesen	Sandbygårdvej 4, 1tv, 2700 Brønshøj	38 80 05 02
Katrine Worsaae	Øster Farimagsgade 71B, 3, 2100 Ø kworsaae@zmuc.ku.dk	35 38 66 43
Klaus S. Larsen	Nørre Allé 75, vær. 335, 2100 Ø stone@egmont-kol.dk	35 35 45 90-335
Louise Hansen	Bjelkes Allé 18A, 3th, 2200 N	35 85 18 89
Nikoline Hansen	Holbækvej 44a, st th, 4000 Roskilde nikoline@post8.tele.dk	46 36 78 52
Ole Ziemer	Ahornkamp 18, 22335 Hamburg	40-59 36 07 67
Petra Dumjahn	Am Grossen Brack 59, 21423 Winsen/Luhe	41-71 14 466
Sidsel Larsen	Tibirkegade 8, 2tv, 2200 N hoved.omraadet@nat.ku.dk	35 39 85 60
Steen Johansen	Julius Blomsgade 45 st tv, 2200 N stump@getznet.dk	35 81 61 40
Thomas Dau Rasmussen	Brigadevej 50, vær.430, 2300 S	32 88 84 30
Thorsten Peters	Bussestrasse 1, 22299 Hamburg thorsten_peters@magicvillage.de	40 - 51 69 60

Annex



The Arctic Station Queqertarsuaq (Godhavn), Disko Island, West Greenland

Iceberg seen from the Arctic Station



183

# Campsite in the Mellemfjord



# The IDGE Group 1998



184

# Folgende Hefte der Reihe "Berichte zur Polarforschung" sind bisher erschienen:

\* Sonderheft Nr. 1/1981 - "Die Antarktis und ihr Lebensraum" Eine Einführung für Besucher – Herausgegeben im Auftrag von SCAR Heft Nr. 1/1982 - "Die Filchner-Schelfeis-Expedition 1980/81" zusammengestellt von Heinz Kohnen \* Heft-Nr. 2/1982 – "Deutsche Antarktis-Expedition1980/81 mit FS ,Meteor" First International BIOMASS Experiment (FIBEX) – Liste der Zooplankton- und Mikronektonnetzfänge zusammengestellt von Norbert Klages. Heft Nr. 3/1982 - "Digitale und analoge Krill-Echolot-Rohdatenerfassung an Bord des Forschungsschiffes "Meteor" " (im Rahmen von FIBEX 1980/81, Fahrtabschnitt ANT III), von Bodo Morgenstern Heft Nr. 4/1982 - "Filchner-Schelfeis-Expedition 1980/81" Liste der Planktonfänge und Lichtstärkemessungen zusammengestellt von Gerd Hubold und H. Eberhard Drescher \* Heft Nr. 5/1982 - "Joint Biological Expedition on RRS 'John Biscoe', February 1982" by G. Hempel and R. B. Heywood Heft Nr. 6/1982 - "Antarktis-Expedition 1981/82 (Unternehmen ,Eiswarte')" zusammengestellt von Gode Gravenhorst Heft Nr. 7/1982 - "Marin-Biologisches Begleitprogramm zur Standorterkundung 1979/80 mit MS "Polarsirkel' (Pre-Site Survey)" - Stationslisten der Mikronekton- und Zooplanktonfänge sowie der Bodenfischerei zusammengestellt von R. Schneppenheim Heft Nr. 8/1983 - "The Post-Fibex Data Interpretation Workshop" by D. L. Cram and J.-C. Freytag with the collaboration of J. W. Schmidt, M. Mall, R. Kresse, T. Schwinghammer \* Heft Nr. 9/1983 – "Distribution of some groups of zooplankton in the inner Weddell Sea in summer 1979/80" by I. Hempel, G. Hubold, B. Kaczmaruk, R. Keller, R. Weigmann-Haass Heft Nr. 10/1983 - "Fluor im antarktischen Ökosystem" - DFG-Symposium November 1982 zusammengestellt von Dieter Adelung Heft Nr. 11/1983 - "Joint Biological Expedition on RRS 'John Biscoe', February 1982 (II)" Data of micronecton and zooplankton hauls, by Uwe Piatkowski Heft Nr. 12/1983 - "Das biologische Programm der ANTARKTIS-I-Expedition 1983 mit FS ,Polarstern" Stationslisten der Plankton-, Benthos- und Grundschleppnetzfänge und Liste der Probennahme an Robben und Vögeln, von H. E. Drescher, G. Hubold, U. Piatkowski, J. Plötz und J. Voß Heft Nr. 13/1983 – "Die Antarktis-Expedition von MS "Polarbjörn" 1982/83" (Sommerkampagne zur Atka-Bucht und zu den Kraul-Bergen), zusammengestellt von Heinz Kohnen Sonderheft Nr. 2/1983 - "Die erste Antarktis-Expedition von FS "Polarstern" (Kapstadt, 20. Januar 1983 -Rio de Janeiro, 25. März 1983)", Bericht des Fahrtleiters Prof. Dr. Gotthilf Hempel Sonderheft Nr. 3/1983 - "Sicherheit und Überleben bei Polarexpeditionen" zusammengestellt von Heinz Kohnen \* Heft Nr. 14/1983 – "Die erste Antarktis-Expedition (ANTARKTIS I) von FS ,Polarstern' 1982/83" herausgegeben von Gotthilf Hempel Sonderheft Nr. 4/1983 - "On the Biology of Krill Euphausia superba" - Proceedings of the Seminar and Report of the Krill Ecology Group, Bremerhaven 12.-16. May 1983, edited by S. B. Schnack Heft Nr. 15/1983 - "German Antarctic Expedition 1980/81 with FRV 'Walther Herwig' and RV 'Meteor'" -First International BIOMASS Experiment (FIBEX) - Data of micronekton and zooplankton hauls by Uwe Piatkowski and Norbert Klages Sonderheft Nr. 5/1984 - "The observatories of the Georg von Neumayer Station", by Ernst Augstein Heft Nr. 16/1984 - "FIBEX cruise zooplankton data" by U. Piatkowski, I. Hempel and S. Rakusa-Suszczewski Heft Nr. 17/1984 - "Fahrtbericht (cruise report) der "Polarstern"-Reise ARKTIS I, 1983" von E. Augstein, G. Hempel und J. Thiede Heft Nr. 18/1984 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS II mit FS ,Polarstern' 1983/84", Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten 1, 2 und 3, herausgegeben von D. Fütterer Heft Nr. 19/1984 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS II mit FS ,Polarstern' 1983/84", Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt 4, Punta Arenas-Kapstadt (Ant-II/4), herausgegeben von H. Kohnen Heft Nr. 20/1984 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS II des FS "Polarstern" 1984, mit Beiträgen des FS "Valdivia" und des Forschungsflugzeuges "Falcon 20" zum Marginal Ice Zone Experiment 1984 (MIZEX)" von E. Augstein, G. Hempel, J. Schwarz, J. Thiede und W. Weigel Heft Nr. 21/1985 - "Euphausid larvae in plankton samples from the vicinity of the Antarctic Peninsula, February 1982" by Sigrid Marschall and Elke Mizdalski Heft Nr. 22/1985 - "Maps of the geographical distribution of macrozooplankton in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean" by Uwe Platkowski Heft Nr. 23/1985 - "Untersuchungen zur Funktionsmorphologie und Nahrungsaufnahme der Larven des Antarktischen Krills Euphausia superba Dana" von Hans-Peter Marschall

Heft Nr: 24/1985 – "Untersuchungen zum Periglazial auf der König-Georg-Insel Südshetlandinseln/ Antarktika. Deutsche physiogeographische Forschungersin der Antarktis. – Bericht über die Kampagne 1983/84" von Dietrich Barsch, Wolf-Dieter Blümel, Wolfgang Flügel, Roland Mäusbacher, Gerhard Stablein, Wolfgang Zick Heft-Nr. 25/1985 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS III mit FS 'Polarstern' 1984/1985" herausgegeben von Gotthilf Hempel. \*Heft-Nr. 26/1985 - "The Southern Ocean"; A survey of oceanographic and marine meteorological research work by Hellmer et al. Heft Nr. 27/1986 - "Spatpleistozane Sedimentationsprozesse am antarktischen Kontinentalhang vor Kapp Norvegia, östliche Weddell-See" von Hannes Grobe Heft Nr. 28/1986 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS III mit "Polarstern" 1985" mit Beiträgen der Fahrtteilnehmer, herausgegeben von Rainer Gersonde Heft Nr. 29/1986 - "5 Jahre Schwerpunktprogramm ,Antarktisforschung" der Deutschen Forschungsgemeinschaft." Rückblick und Ausblick. Zusammengestellt von Gotthilf Hempel, Sprecher des Schwerpunktprogramms Heft Nr. 30/1986 - "The Meteorological Data of the Georg-von-Neumayer-Station for 1981 and 1982" by Marianne Gube and Friedrich Obleitner Heft Nr. 31/1986 - "Zur Biologie der Jugendstadien der Notothenioidei (Pisces) an der Antarktischen Halbinsel" von Ä. Kellermann Heft Nr. 32/1986 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS IV mit FS ,Polarstern" 1985/86" mit Beiträgen der Fahrtteilnehmer, herausgegeben von Dieter Fütterer Heft Nr. 33/1987 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-IV mit FS "Polarstern" 1985/86 -Bericht zu den Fahrtabschnitten ANT-IV/3-4" von Dieter Karl Fütterer Heft Nr. 34/1987 - "Zoogeographische Untersuchungen und Gemeinschaftsanalysen an antarktischem Makroplankton" von U. Piatkowski Heft Nr. 35/1987 - "Zur Verbreitung des Meso- und Makrozooplanktons in Oberflächenwasser der Weddell See (Antarktis)" von E. Boysen-Ennen Heft Nr. 36/1987 - "Zur Nahrungs- und Bewegungsphysiologie von Salpa thompsoni und Salpa fusiformis" von M. Reinke Heft Nr. 37/1987 - "The Eastern Weddell Sea Drifting Buoy Data Set of the Winter Weddell Sea Project (WWSP)" 1986 by Heinrich Hoeber und Marianne Gube-Lehnhardt Heft Nr. 38/1987 - "The Meteorological Data of the Georg von Neumayer Station for 1983 and 1984" by M. Gube-Lenhardt Heft Nr. 39/1987 - "Die Winter-Expedition mit FS "Polarstern" in die Antarktis (ANT V/1-3)" herausgegeben von Sigrid Schnack-Schiel Heft Nr. 40/1987 - "Weather and Synoptic Situation during Winter Weddell Sea Project 1986 (ANT V/2) July 16-September 10, 1986" by Werner Rabe Heft Nr. 41/1988 - "Zur Verbreitung und Ökologie der Seegurken im Weddellmeer (Antarktis)" von Julian Gutt Heft Nr. 42/1988 - "The zooplankton community in the deep bathyal and abyssal zones of the eastern North Atlantic" by Werner Beckmann Heft Nr. 43/1988 - "Scientific cruise report of Arctic Expedition ARK IV/3" Wissenschaftlicher Fahrtbericht der Arktis-Expedition ARK IV/3, compiled by Jörn Thiede Heft Nr. 44/1988 - "Data Report for FV 'Polarstern' Cruise ARK IV/1, 1987 to the Arctic and Polar Fronts" by Hans-Jürgen Hirche Heft Nr. 45/1988 - "Zoogeographie und Gemeinschaftsanalyse des Makrozoobenthos des Weddellmeeres (Antarktis)" von Joachim Voß Heft Nr. 46/1988 - "Meteorological and Oceanographic Data of the Winter-Weddell-Sea Project 1986 (ANT V/3)" by Eberhard Fahrbach Heft Nr. 47/1988 - "Verteilung und Herkunft glazial-mariner Gerölle am Antarktischen Kontinentalrand des östlichen Weddellmeeres" von Wolfgang Oskierski Heft Nr. 48/1988 - "Variationen des Erdmagnetfeldes an der GvN-Station" von Arnold Brodscholl Heft Nr. 49/1988 - "Zur Bedeutung der Lipide im antarktischen Zooplankton" von Wilhelm Hagen Heft Nr. 50/1988 - "Die gezeitenbedingte Dynamik des Ekström-Schelfeises, Antarktis" von Wolfgang Kobarg Heft Nr. 51/1988 - "Ökomorphologie nototheniider Fische aus dem Weddellmeer, Antarktis" von Werner Ekau Heft Nr. 52/1988 - "Zusammensetzung der Bodenfauna in der westlichen Fram-Straße" von Dieter Piepenburg Heft Nr. 53/1988 – "Untersuchungen zur Ökologie des Phytoplanktons im südöstlichen Weddellmeer (Antarktis) im Jan./Febr. 1985" von Eva-Maria Nöthig Heft Nr. 54/1988 - "Die Fischfauna des östlichen und südlichen Weddellmeeres: geographische Verbreitung, Nahrung und trophische Stellung der Fischarten" von Wiebke Schwarzbach Heft Nr. 55/1988 - "Weight and length data of zooplankton in the Weddell Sea in austral spring 1986 (Ant V/3)" by Elke Mizdalski

Heft Nr. 56/1989 - "Scientific cruise report of Arctic expeditions ARK IV/1, 2 & 3"

by G. Krause, J. Meincke und J. Thiede

Heft Nr. 57/1989 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS V mit FS "Polarstern" 1986/87" Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten ANT V/4-5 von H. Miller und H. Oerter Heft Nr. 58/1989 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS VI mit FS "Polarstern" 1987/88" von D. K. Fütterer Heft Nr. 59/1989 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS V/1a, 1b und 2 mit FS "Polarstern' 1988" von M. Spindler Heft Nr. 60/1989 - "Ein zweidimensionales Modell zur thermohalinen Zirkulation unter dem Schelfeis" von H. H. Hellmer Heft Nr. 61/1989 - "Die Vulkanite im westlichen und mittleren Neuschwabenland, Vestfjella und Ahlmannryggen, Antarktika" von M. Peters \* Heft-Nr. 62/1989 - "The Expedition ANTARKTIS VII/1 and 2 (EPOS I) of RV 'Polarstern' in 1988/89", by I. Hempel Heft Nr. 63/1989 – "Die Eisalgenflora des Weddellmeeres (Antarktis): Artenzusammensetzung und Biomasse sowie Ökophysiologie ausgewählter Arten" von Annette Bartsch Heft Nr. 64/1989 - "Meteorological Data of the G.-v.-Neumayer-Station (Antarctica)" by L. Helmes Heft Nr. 65/1989 - "Expedition Antarktis VII/3 in 1988/89" by I. Hempel, P. H. Schalk, V. Smetacek Heft Nr. 66/1989 - "Geomorphologisch-glaziologische Detailkartierung des arid-hochpolaren Borgmassivet, Neuschwabenland, Antarktika" von Karsten Brunk Heft-Nr. 67/1990 - "Identification key and catalogue of larval Antarctic fishes", edited by Adolf Kellermann Heft-Nr. 68/1990 - "The Expediton Antarktis VII/4 (Epos leg 3) and VII/5 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1989", edited by W. Arntz, W. Ernst, I. Hempel Heft-Nr. 69/1990 - "Abhängigkeiten elastischer und rheologischer Eigenschaften des Meereises vom Eisgefüge", von Harald Hellmann Heft-Nr. 70/1990 - "Die beschalten benthischen Mollusken (Gastropoda und Bivalvia) des Weddellmeeres, Antarktis", von Stefan Hain Heft-Nr. 71/1990 – "Sedimentologie und Paläomagnetik an Sedimenten der Maudkuppe (Nordöstliches Weddellmeer)", von Dieter Cordes. Heft-Nr. 72/1990 - "Distribution and abundance of planktonic copepods (Crustacea) in the Weddell Sea in summer 1980/81", by F. Kurbjeweit and S. Ali-Khan Heft-Nr. 73/1990 - "Zur Frühdiagenese von organischem Kohlenstoff und Opal in Sedimenten des südlichen und östlichen Weddellmeeres", von M. Schlüter Heft-Nr. 74/1990 - "Expeditionen ANTARKTIS-VIII/3 und VIII/4 mit FS ,Polarstern' 1989" von Rainer Gersonde und Gotthilf Hempel Heft-Nr. 75/1991 - "Quartäre Sedimentationsprozesse am Kontinentalhang des Süd-Orkey-Plateaus im nordwestlichen Weddellmeer (Antarktis)", von Sigrun Grünig Heft-Nr. 76/1990 - "Ergebnisse der faunistischen Arbeiten im Benthal von King George Island (Südshetlandinseln, Äntarktis)", von Martin Rauschert Heft-Nr. 77/1990 - "Verteilung von Mikroplankton-Organismen nordwestlich der Antarktischen Halbinsel unter dem Einfluß sich ändernder Umweltbedingungen im Herbst", von Heinz Klöser Heft-Nr. 78/1991 - "Hochauflösende Magnetostratigraphie spätquartärer Sedimente arktischer Meeresgebiete", von Norbert R. Nowaczyk Heft-Nr. 79/1991 - "Ökophysiologische Untersuchungen zur Salinitäts- und Temperaturtoleranz antarktischer Grünalgen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des B-Dimethylsulfoniumpropionat (DMSP) - Stoffwechsels", von Ulf Karsten Heft-Nr. 80/1991 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS VII/1 mit FS "Polarstern' 1990", herausgegeben von Jörn Thiede und Gotthilf Hempel Heft-Nr. 81/1991 – "Paläoglaziologie und Paläozeanographie im Spätquartär am Kontinentalrand des südlichen Weddellmeeres, Antarktis", von Martin Melles Heft-Nr. 82/1991 – "Quantifizierung von Meereseigenschaften: Automatische Bildanalyse von Dünnschnitten und Parametrisierung von Chlorophyll- und Salzgehaltsverteilungen", von Hajo Eicken Heft-Nr. 83/1991 - "Das Fließen von Schelfeisen - numerische Simulationen mit der Methode der finiten Differenzen", von Jürgen Determann Heft-Nr. 84/1991 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-VIII/1-2, 1989 mit der Winter Weddell Gyre Study der Forschungsschiffe "Polarstern" und "Akademik Fedorov", von Ernst Augstein, Nikolai Bagriantsev und Hans Werner Schenke Heft-Nr. 85/1991 - "Zur Entstehung von Unterwassereis und das Wachstum und die Energiebilanz des Meereises in der Atka Bucht, Antarktis", von Josef Kipfstuhl Heft-Nr. 86/1991 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-VIII mit "FS Polarstern" 1989/90. Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt ANT-VIII / 5", von Heinz Miller und Hans Öerter Heft-Nr. 87/1991 - "Scientific cruise reports of Arctic expeditions ARK VI / 1-4 of RV "Polarstern" in 1989", edited by G. Krause, J. Meincke & H. J. Schwarz Heft-Nr. 88/1991 - "Zur Lebensgeschichte dominanter Copepodenarten (Calanus finmarchicus, C. glacialis, C. hyperboreus, Metridia longa) in der Framstraße", von Sabine Diel

Heft-Nr. 89/1991 - "Detaillierte seismische Untersuchungen am östlichen Kontinentalrand des Weddell-Meeres vor Kapp Norvegia, Antarktis", von Norbert E. Kaul Heft-Nr. 90/1991 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-VIII mit FS "Polarstern" 1989/90 Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten ANT-VIII/6-7", herausgegeben von Dieter Karl Fütterer und Otto Schrems Heft-Nr. 91/1991 - "Blood physiology and ecological consequences in Weddell Sea fishes (Antarctica)", by Andreas Kunzmann Heft-Nr. 92/1991 - "Zur sommerlichen Verteilung des Mesozooplanktons im Nansen-Becken, Nordpolarmeer", von Nicolai Mumm Heft-Nr. 93/1991 – "Die Expedition ARKTIS VII mit FS "Polarstern", 1990. Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt ARK VII/2", herausgegeben von Gunther Krause Heft-Nr. 94/1991 – "Die Entwicklung des Phytoplanktons im östlichen Weddellmeer (Antarktis) beim Übergang vom Spätwinter zum Frühjahr", von Renate Scharek Heft-Nr. 95/1991 – "Radioisotopenstratigraphie, Sedimentologie und Geochemie jungquartärer Sedimente des östlichen Arktischen Ozeans", von Horst Bohrmann Heft-Nr. 96/1991 – "Holozäne Sedimentationsentwicklung im Scoresby Sund, Ost-Grönland", von Peter Marienfeld Heft-Nr, 97/1991 – "Strukturelle Entwicklung und Abkühlungsgeschichte der Heimefrontfjella (Westliches Dronning Maud Land/Antarktika)", von Joachim Jacobs Heft-Nr. 98/1991 – "Zur Besiedlungsgeschichte des antarktischen Schelfes am Beispiel der Isopoda (Crustacea, Malacostraca)", von Angelika Brandt **Heft-Nr. 99/1992** – "The Antarctic ice sheet and environmental change: a three-dimensional modelling study", by Philippe Huybrechts **Heft-Nr. 100/1992** – "Die Expeditionen ANTARKTIS IX/1-4 des Forschungsschiffes "Polarstern" 1990/91", herausgegeben von Ulrich Bathmann, Meinhard Schulz-Baldes, Eberhard Fahrbach, Victor Smetacek und Hans-Wolfgang Hubberten Heft-Nr. 101/1992 – "Wechselbeziehungen zwischen Schwermetallkonzentrationen (Cd, Cu, Pb, Zn) im Meewasser und in Zooplanktonorganismen (Copepoda) der Arktis und des Atlantiks", von Christa Pohl Heft-Nr. 102/1992 – "Physiologie und Ultrastruktur der antarktischen Grünalge Prasiola crispa ssp. antarctica unter osmotischem Streß und Austrocknung", von Andreas Jacob Heft-Nr. 103/1992 - "Zur Ökologie der Fische im Weddelmeer", von Gerd Hubold Heft-Nr. 104/1992 – "Mehrkanalige adaptive Filter für die Unterdrückung von multiplen Reflexionen in Verbindung mit der freien Oberfläche in marinen Seismogrammen", von Andreas Rosenberger Heft-Nr. 105/1992 – "Radiation and Eddy Flux Experiment 1991 (REFLEX I)", von Jörg Hartmann, Christoph Kottmeier und Christian Wamser Heft-Nr. 106/1992 – "Ostracoden im Epipelagial vor der Antarktischen Halbinsel - ein Beitrag zur Systematik sowie zur Verbreitung und Populationsstruktur unter Berücksichtigung der Saisonalität", vón Rüdiger Kock "ARCTIC '91: Die Expedition ARK-VIII/3 mit FS "Polarstern" 1991", Heft-Nr. 107/1992 von Dieter K. Fütterer Heft-Nr. 108/1992 – "Dehnungsbeben an einer Störungszone im Ekström-Schelfeis nördlich der Georg-von-Neumayer Station, Antarktis. – Eine Untersuchung mit seismologischen und geodätischen Methoden", von Uwe Nixdorf. Heft-Nr. 109/1992 – "Spätquartäre Sedimentation am Kontinentalrand des südöstlichen Weddellmeeres, Antarktis", von Michael Weber. Heft-Nr. 110/1992 – "Sedimentfazies und Bodenwasserstrom am Kontinentalhang des nordwestlichen Weddellmeeres", von Isa Brehme. Heft-Nr. 111/1992 – "Die Lebensbedingungen in den Solekanälchen des antarktischen Meereises", von Jürgen Weissenberger. Heft-Nr. 112/1992 – "Zur Taxonomie von rezenten benthischen Foraminiferen aus dem Nansen Becken, Arktischer Ozean", von Jutta Wollenburg. Heft-Nr. 113/1992 – "Die Expedition ARKTIS VIII/1 mit FS "Polarstern" 1991", herausgegeben von Gerhard Kattner. \* Heft-Nr. 114/1992 - "Die Gründungsphase deutscher Polarforschung, 1865-1875", von Reinhard A. Krause. Heft-Nr. 115/1992 – "Scientific Cruise Report of the 1991 Arctic Expedition ARK VIII/2 of RV "Polarstern" (EPOS II)", by Eike Rachor. Heft-Nr. 116/1992 – "The Meteorological Data of the Georg-von-Neumayer-Station (Antarctica) for 1988, 1989, 1990 and 1991", by Gert König-Langlo. Heft-Nr. 117/1992 – "Petrogenese des metamorphen Grundgebirges der zentralen Heimefrontfjella (westliches Dronning Maud Land / Antarktis)", von Peter Schulze. Heft-Nr. 118/1993 – "Die mafischen Gänge der Shackleton Range / Antarktika: Petrographie, Geochemie, Isotopengeochemie und Paläomagnetik", von Rüdiger Hotten. \* Heft-Nr. 119/1993 - "Gefrierschutz bei Fischen der Polarmeere", von Andreas P.A. Wöhrmann. \* Heft-Nr. 120/1993 – "East Siberian Arctic Region Expedition '92: The Laptev Sea - its Significance for Arctic Sea-Ice Formation and Transpolar Sediment Flux", by D. Dethleff, D. Nürnberg, E. Reimnitz, M. Saarso and Y. P. Sacchenko. – "Expedition to Novaja Zemlja and Franz Josef Land with RV. 'Dalnie Zelentsy'", by D. Nürnberg and E. Groth.

\* Heft-Nr. 121/1993 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS X/3 mit FS 'Polarstern' 1992", herausgegeben von Michael Spindler, Gerhard Dieckmann und David Thomas. Heft-Nr. 122/1993 – "Die Beschreibung der Korngestalt mit Hilfe der Fourier-Analyse: Parametrisierung der morphologischen Eigenschaften von Sedimentpartikeln", von Michael Diepenbroek. \* Heft-Nr. 123/1993 – "Zerstörungsfreie hochauflösende Dichteuntersuchungen mariner Sedimente", von Sebastian Gerland. Heft-Nr. 124/1993 – "Umsatz und Verteilung von Lipiden in arktischen marinen Organismen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung unterer trophischer Stufen", von Martin Graeve. Heft-Nr. 125/1993 – "Ökologie und Respiration ausgewählter arktischer Bodenfischarten", von Christian F. von Dorrien. Heft-Nr. 126/1993 – "Quantitative Bestimmung von Paläoumweltparametern des Antarktischen Oberflächenwassers im Spätquartär anhand von Transferfunktionen mit Diatomeen", von Ulrich Zielinski Heft-Nr. 127/1993 – "Sedimenttransport durch das arktische Meereis: Die rezente lithogene und biogene Materialfracht", von Ingo Wollenburg. Heft-Nr. 128/1993 - "Cruise ANTARKTIS X/3 of RV 'Polarstern': CTD-Report", von Marek Zwierz. Heft-Nr. 129/1993 – "Reproduktion und Lebenszyklen dominanter Copepodenarten aus dem Weddellmeer, Antarktis", von Frank Kurbjeweit Heft-Nr. 130/1993 – "Untersuchungen zu Temperaturregime und Massenhaushalt des Filchner-Ronne-Schelfeises, Antarktis, unter besonderer Berücksichtigung von Anfrier- und Abschmelzprozessen", von Klaus Grosfeld Heft-Nr. 131/1993 – Die Expedition ANTARKTIS X/5 mit FS 'Polarstern' 1992", herausgegeben von Rainer Gersonde Heft-Nr. 132/1993 – "Bildung und Abgabe kurzkettiger halogenierter Kohlenwasserstoffe durch Makroalgen der Polarregionen", von Frank Laturnus Heft-Nr. 133/1994 – "Radiation and Eddy Flux Experiment 1993 (*REFLEX II*)", by Christoph Kottmeier, Jörg Hartmann, Christian Wamser, Axel Bochert, Christof Lüpkes, Dietmar Freese and Wolfgang Cohrs \* Heft-Nr. 134/1994 – "The Expedition ARKTIS-IX/1", edited by Hajo Eicken and Jens Meincke Heft-Nr. 135/1994 – "Die Expeditionen ANTARKTIS X/6-8", herausgegeben von Ulrich Bathmann, Victor Smetacek, Hein de Baar, Eberhard Fahrbach und Gunter Krause Heft-Nr. 136/1994 – "Untersuchungen zur Ernährungsökologie von Kaiserpinguinen (Aptenodytes forsteri) und Königspinguinen (Aptenodytes patagonicus)", von Klemens Pütz \* Heft-Nr. 137/1994 – "Die känozoische Vereisungsgeschichte der Antarktis", von Werner U. Ehrmann Heft-Nr. 138/1994 – "Untersuchungen stratosphärischer Aerosole vulkanischen Ursprungs und polarer stratosphärischer Wolken mit einem Mehrwellenlängen-Lidar auf Spitzbergen (79° N, 12° E)", von Georg Beyerle Heft-Nr. 139/1994 – "Charakterisierung der Isopodenfauna (Crustacea, Malacostraca) des Scotia-Bogens aus biogeographischer Sicht: Ein multivariater Ansatz", von Holger Winkler. Heft-Nr. 140/1994 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS X/4 mit FS 'Polarstern' 1992", herausgegeben von Peter Lemke Heft-Nr. 141/1994 – "Satellitenaltimetrie über Eis – Anwendung des GEOSAT-Altimeters über dem Ekströmisen, Antarktis", von Clemens Heidland Heft-Nr. 142/1994 – "The 1993 Northeast Water Expedition. Scientific cruise report of RV'Polarstern' Arctic cruises ARK IX/2 and 3, USCG 'Polar Bear' cruise NEWP and the NEWLand expedition", edited by Hans-Jürgen Hirche and Gerhard Kattner Heft-Nr. 143/1994 – "Detaillierte refraktionsseismische Untersuchungen im inneren Scoresby Sund Ost-Grönland", von Notker Fechner Heft-Nr. 144/1994 – "Russian-German Cooperation in the Siberian Shelf Seas: Geo-System Laptev Sea", edited by Heidemarie Kassens, Hans-Wolfgang Hubberten, Sergey M. Pryamikov und Rüdiger Stein Heft-Nr. 145/1994 – "The 1993 Northeast Water Expedition. Data Report of RV 'Polarstern' Arctic Cruises IX/2 and 3", edited by Gerhard Kattner and Hans-Jürgen Hirche. Heft-Nr. 146/1994 – "Radiation Measurements at the German Antarctic Station Neumayer 1982-1992", by Torsten Schmidt and Gert König-Langlo. Heft-Nr. 147/1994 – "Krustenstrukturen und Verlauf des Kontinentalrandes im Weddell Meer / Antarktis", von Christian Hübscher. Heft-Nr. 148/1994 – "The expeditions NORILSK/TAYMYR 1993 and BUNGER OASIS 1993/94 of the AWI Research Unit Potsdam", edited by Martin Melles. Heft-Nr. 149/1994 – "Die Expedition ARCTIC' 93. Der Fahrtabschnitt ARK-IX/4 mit FS 'Polarstern' 1993", herausgegeben von Dieter K. Fütterer. Heft-Nr. 150/1994 - "Der Energiebedarf der Pygoscelis-Pinguine: eine Synopse", von Boris M. Culik. Heft-Nr. 151/1994 – "Russian-German Cooperation: The Transdrift I Expedition to the Laptev Sea", edited by Heidemarie Kassens and Valeriy Y. Karpiy. Heft-Nr, 152/1994 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-X mit FS 'Polarstern' 1992. Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten / ANT-X / 1a und 2", herausgegeben von Heinz Miller. Heft-Nr. 153/1994 – "Aminosäuren und Huminstoffe im Stickstoffkreislauf polarer Meere", von Ulrike Hubberten.

Heft-Nr. 154/1994 – "Regional und seasonal variability in the vertical distribution of mesozooplankton in the Greenland Sea", by Claudio Richter.

Heft-Nr. 155/1995 - "Benthos in polaren Gewässern", herausgegeben von Christian Wiencke und Wolf Arntz. Heft-Nr. 156/1995 – "An adjoint model for the determination of the mean oceanic circulation, air-sea fluxes und mixing coefficients", by Reiner Schlitzer. Heft-Nr. 157/1995 - "Biochemische Untersuchungen zum Lipidstoffwechsel antarktischer Copepoden", von Kirsten Fahl. \*\* Heft-Nr. 158/1995 – "Die Deutsche Polarforschung seit der Jahrhundertwende und der Einfluß Erich von Drygalskis", von Cornelia Lüdecke. Heft-Nr. 159/1995 – The distribution of ∂<sup>18</sup>O in the Arctic Ocean: Implications for the freshwater balance of the halocline and the sources of deep and bottom waters", by Dorothea Bauch. Heft-Nr. 160/1995 – "Rekonstruktion der spätquartären Tiefenwasserzirkulation und Produktivität im östlichen Südatlantik anhand von benthischen Foraminiferenvergesellschaftungen", von Gerhard Schmiedl. **Heft-Nr. 161/1995** – "Der Einfluß von Salinität und Lichtintensität auf die Osmolytkonzentrationen, die Zellvolumina und die Wachstumsraten der antarktischen Eisdiatomeen *Chaetoceros* sp. und *Navicula* sp. unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Aminosäure Prolin", von Jürgen Nothnagel. Heft-Nr. 162/1995 – "Meereistransportiertes lithogenes Feinmaterial in spätquartären Tiefseesedimenten des zentralen östlichen Arktischen Ozeans und der Framstraße", von Thomas Letzig. Heft-Nr. 163/1995 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-XI/2 mit FS "Polarstern" 1993/94", herausgegeben von Rainer Gersonde. Heft-Nr. 164/1995 – "Regionale und altersabhängige Variation gesteinsmagnetischer Parameter in marinen Sedimenten der Arktis", von Thomas Frederichs. Heft-Nr. 165/1995 - "Vorkommen, Verteilung und Umsatz biogener organischer Spurenstoffe: Sterole in antarktischen Gewässern", von Georg Hanke. Heft-Nr. 166/1995 – "Vergleichende Untersuchungen eines optimierten dynamisch-thermodynamischen Meereismodells mit Beobachtungen im Weddellmeer", von Holger Fischer. Heft-Nr. 167/1995 – "Rekonstruktionen von Paläo-Umweltparametern anhand von stabilen Isotopen und Faunen-Vergesellschaftungen planktischer Foraminiferen im Südatlantik", von Hans-Stefan Niebler Heft-Nr. 168/1995 – "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS XII mit FS 'Polarstern' 1993/94. Bericht von den Fahrtabschnitten ANT XII/1 und 2", herausgegeben von Gerhard Kattner und Dieter Karl Fütterer. Heft-Nr. 169/1995 – "Medizinische Untersuchung zur Circadianrhythmik und zum Verhalten bei Überwinterern auf einer antarktischen Forschungsstation", von Hans Wortmann. Heft-Nr. 170/1995 – DFG-Kolloquium: Terrestrische Geowissenschaften - Geologie und Geophysik der Antarktis. Heft-Nr. 171/1995 – "Strukturentwicklung und Petrogenese des metamorphen Grundgebirges der nördlichen Heimefrontfjella (westliches Dronning Maud Land/Antarktika)", von Wilfried Bauer. Heft-Nr. 172/1995 – "Die Struktur der Erdkruste im Bereich des Scoresby Sund, Ostgrönland: Ergebnisse refraktionsseismischer und gravimetrischer Untersuchungen", von Holger Mandler. Heft-Nr. 173/1995 – "Paläozoische Akkretion am paläopazifischen Kontinentalrand der Antarktis in Nordvictorialand – P-T-D-Geschichte und Deformationsmechanismen im Bowers Terrane", von Stefan Matzer. Heft-Nr. 174/1995 - "The Expedition ARKTIS-X/2 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1994", edited by Hans-W. Hubberten. Heft-Nr. 175/1995 – "Russian-German Cooperation: The Expedition TAYMYR 1994", edited by Christine Siegert and Dmitry Bolshiyanov. Heft-Nr. 176/1995 – "Russian-German Cooperation: Laptev Sea System", edited by Heidemarie Kassens, Dieter Piepenburg, Jörn Thiede, Leonid Timokhov, Hans-Wolfgang Hubberten and Sergey M. Priamikov. Heft-Nr. 177/1995 – "Organischer Kohlenstoff in spätquartären Sedimenten des Arktischen Ozeans: Terrigener Eintrag und marine Produktivität", von Carsten J. Schubert. Heft-Nr. 178/1995 - "Cruise ANTARKTIS XII/4 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1995: CTD-Report", by Jüri Sildam. Heft-Nr. 179/1995 - "Benthische Foraminiferenfaunen als Wassermassen-, Produktions- und Eisdriftanzeiger im Arktischen Ozean", von Jutta Wollenburg. Heft-Nr. 180/1995 - "Biogenopal und biogenes Barium als Indikatoren für spätquartäre Produktivitätsänderungen am antarktischen Kontinentalhang, atlantischer Sektor", von Wolfgang J. Bonn. Heft-Nr. 181/1995 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS X/1 des Forschungsschiffes ,Polarstern' 1994", herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach. Heft-Nr. 182/1995 - "Laptev Sea System: Expeditions in 1994", edited by Heidemarie Kassens. Heft-Nr. 183/1996 - "Interpretation digitaler Parasound Echolotaufzeichnungen im östlichen Arktischen Ozean auf der Grundlage physikalischer Sedimenteigenschaften", von Uwe Bergmann. Heft-Nr. 184/1996 - "Distribution and dynamics of inorganic nitrogen compounds in the troposphere of continental, coastal, marine and Arctic areas", by María Dolores Andrés Hernáñdez. Heft-Nr. 185/1996 - "Verbreitung und Lebensweise der Aphroditiden und Polynoiden (Polychaeta) im östlichen Wedde meer und im Lazarevmeer (Antarktis)", von Michael Stiller. Heft-Nr. 186/1996 - "Reconstruction of Late Quaternary environmental conditions applying the natural radionuclides <sup>230</sup>Th, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>231</sup>Pa and <sup>238</sup>U: A study of deep-sea sediments from the eastern sector of the Antrotic Circumpolar Current System", by Martin Frank. Heft-Nr. 187/1996 - "The Meteorological Data of the Neumayer Station (Antarctica) for 1992, 1993 and 1994", by Gert König-Langlo and Andreas Herber. Heft-Nr. 188/1996 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-XI/3 mit FS 'Polarstern' 1994", herausgegeben von Heinz Miller und Hannes Grobe. Heft-Nr. 189/1996 - "Die Expedition ARKTIS-VII/3 mit FS 'Polarstern' 1990",

herausgegeben von Heinz Miller und Hannes Grobe.

Heft-Nr. 190/1996 - "Cruise report of the Joint Chilean-German-Italian Magellan 'Victor Hensen' Campaign in 1994", edited by Wolf Arntz and Matthias Gorny. Heft-Nr. 191/1996 - "Leitfähigkeits- und Dichtemessung an Eisbohrkernen", von Frank Wilhelms. Heft-Nr. 192/1996 - "Photosynthese-Charakteristika und Lebensstrategie antarktischer Makroalgen", von Gabriele Weykam. Heft-Nr. 193/1996 - "Heterogene Raktionen von N2O5 und HBr und ihr Einfluß auf den Ozonabbau in der polaren Stratosphäre", von Sabine Seisel. Heft-Nr. 194/1996 - "Ökologie und Populationsdynamik antarktischer Ophiuroiden (Echinodermata)", von Corinna Dahm. Heft-Nr. 195/1996 - "Die planktische Foraminifere Neogloboquadrina pachyderma (Ehrenberg) im Weddellmeer, Antarktis", von Doris Berberich Heft-Nr. 196/1996 - "Untersuchungen zum Beitrag chemischer und dynamischer Prozesse zur Variabilität des stratosphärischen Ozons über der Arktis", von Birgit Heese. Heft-Nr. 197/1996 - "The Expedition ARKTIS-XI/2 of 'Polarstern' in 1995", edited by Gunther Krause. Heft-Nr. 198/1996 - "Geodynamik des Westantarktischen Riftsystems basierend auf Apatit-Spaltspuranalysen", von Frank Lisker Heft-Nr. 199/1996 - "The 1993 Northeast Water Expedition. Data Report on CTD Measurements of RV 'Polarstern' Cruises ARKTIS IX/2 and 3", by Gereon Budéus and Wolfgang Schneider. Heft-Nr. 200/1996 - "Stability of the Thermohaline Circulation in analytical and numerical models", by Gerrit Lohmanr Heft-Nr. 201/1996 - "Trophische Beziehungen zwischen Makroalgen und Herbivoren in der Potter Cove (King George-Insel, Antarktis)", von Katrin Iken. Heft-Nr. 202/1996 - "Zur Verbreitung und Respiration ökologisch wichtiger Bodentiere in den Gewässern um Svalbard (Arktis)", von Michael K. Schmid. Heft-Nr. 203/1996 - "Dynamik, Rauhigkeit und Alter des Meereises in der Arktis - Numerische Untersuchungen mit einem großskaligen Modell", von Markus Harder. Heft-Nr. 204/1996 - "Zur Parametrisierung der stabilen atmosphärischen Grenzschicht über einem antarktischen Schelfeis", von Dörthe Handorf. Heft-Nr. 205/1996 - "Textures and fabrics in the GRIP ice core, in relation to climate history and ice deformation", by Thorsteinn Thorsteinsson. Heft-Nr. 206/1996 – "Der Ozean als Teil des gekoppelten Klimasystems: Versuch der Rekonstruktion der glazialen Zirkulation mit verschieden komplexen Atmosphärenkomponenten", von Kerstin Fieg. Heft-Nr. 207/1996 – "Lebensstrategien dominanter antarktischer Oithonidae (Cyclopoida, Copepoda) und Oncaeidae (Poecilostomatoida, Copepoda) im Bellingshausenmeer", von Cornelia Metz. Heft-Nr. 208/1996 - "Atmosphäreneinfluß bei der Fernerkundung von Meereis mit passiven Mikrowellenradiometern", von Christoph Oelke. Heft-Nr. 209/1996 - "Klassifikation von Radarsatellitendaten zur Meereiserkennung mit Hilfe von Line-Scanner-Messu gen", von Axel Bochert. Heft-Nr. 210/1996 - "Die mit ausgewählten Schwämmen (Hexactinellida und Demospongiae) aus dem Weddellmeer, Antarktis, vergesellschaftete Fauna", von Kathrin Kunzmann. Heft-Nr. 211/1996 - "Russian-German Cooperation: The Expediton TAYMYR 1995 and the Expedition KOLYMA 1995 by Dima Yu. Bolshiyanov and Hans-W. Hubberten. Heft-Nr. 212/1996 - "Surface-sediment composition and sedimentary processes in the central Arctic Ocean and along the Eurasian Continental Margin", by Ruediger Stein, Gennadij I. Ivanov, Michael A. Levitan, and Kirsten Fahl. Heft-Nr. 213/1996 – "Gonadenentwicklung und Eiproduktion dreier *Calanus*-Arten (Copepoda): Freilandbeobachtunge Histologie und Experimente", von Barbara Niehoff. Heft-Nr. 214/1996 - "Numerische Modellierung der Übergangszone zwischen Eisschild und Eisschelf", von Christoph Maver. Heft-Nr. 215/1996 - "Arbeiten der AWI-Forschungsstelle Potsdam in Antarktika, 1994/95", herausgegeben von Ulrich Wand. Heft-Nr. 216/1996 - "Rekonstruktion quartärer Klimaänderungen im atlantischen Sektor des Südpolarmeeres anhand von Radiolarien", von Uta Brathauer. Heft-Nr. 217/1996 - "Adaptive Semi-Lagrange-Finite-Elemente-Methode zur Lösung der Flachwassergleichungen: Implementierung und Parallelisierung", von Jörn Behrens. Heft-Nr. 218/1997 - "Radiation and Eddy Flux Experiment 1995 (REFLEX III)", by Jörg Hartmann, Axel Bochert, Dietmar Freese, Christoph Kottmeier, Dagmar Nagel and Andreas Reuter. Heft-Nr. 219/1997 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-XII mit FS 'Polarstern' 1995. Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt ANT-XII/3", herausgegeben von Wilfried Jokat und Hans Oerter. Heft-Nr. 220/1997 – "Ein Beitrag zum Schwerefeld im Bereich des Weddellmeeres, Antarktis. Nutzung von Altimetermessungen des GEOSAT und ERS-1", von Tilo Schöne. Heft-Nr. 221/1997 - "Die Expeditionen ANTARKTIS-XIII/1-2 des Forschungsschiffes 'Polarstern' 1995/96", herausgegeben von Ulrich Bathmann, Mike Lucas und Victor Smetacek. Heft-Nr. 222/1997 - "Tectonic Structures and Glaciomarine Sedimentation in the South-Eastern Weddell Sea from Seismic Reflection Data", by László Oszkó.

Heft-Nr. 223/1997 - "Bestimmung der Meereisdicke mit seismischen und elektromagnetisch-induktiven Verfahren", von Christian Haas.

Heft-Nr. 224/1997 - "Troposphärische Ozonvariationen in Polarregionen", von Silke Wessel.

Heft-Nr, 225/1997 - "Biologische und ökologische Untersuchungen zur kryopelagischen Amphipodenfauna des arktischen Meereises", von Michael Poltermann.

Heft-Nr. 226/1997 - "Scientific Cruise Report of the Arctic Expedition ARK-XI/1 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1995", edited by Eike Rachor.

Heft-Nr. 227/1997 – "Der Einfluß kompatibler Substanzen und Kyroprotektoren auf die Enzyme Malatdehydrogenase (MDH) und Glucose-6-phosphat-Dehydrogenase (G6P-DH) aus Ácrosiphonia arcta (Chlorophyta) der Arktis", von Katharina Kück.

Heft-Nr. 228/1997 - "Die Verbreitung epibenthischer Mollusken im chilenischen Beagle-Kanal", von Katrin Linse. Heft-Nr. 229/1997 - "Das Mesozooplankton im Laptevmeer und östlichen Nansen-Becken - Verteilung und

Gemeinschaftsstrukturen im Spätsommer", von Hinrich Hanssen. Heft-Nr. 230/1997 - "Modell eines adaptierbaren, rechnergestützten, wissenschaftlichen Arbeitsplatzes am

Alfred-Wegener-Institut für Polar- und Meeresforschung", von Lutz-Peter Kurdelski. Heft-Nr. 231/1997 - "Zur Ökologie arktischer und antarktischer Fische: Aktivität, Sinnesleistungen und Verhalten",

von Christopher Zimmermann.

Heft-Nr. 232/1997 - "Persistente clororganische Verbindungen in hochantarktischen Fischen", von Stephan Zimmermann.

Heft-Nr. 233/1997 - "Zur Ökologie des Dimethylsulfoniumpropionat (DMSP)-Gehaltes temperierter und polarer Phytoplanktongemeinschaften im Vergleich mit Laborkulturen der Coccolithophoride Emiliania huxleyi und der antarktischen Diatomee Nitzschia lecointei", von Doris Meyerdierks.

Heft-Nr. 234/1997 - "Die Expedition ARCTIC '96 des FS 'Polarstern' (ARK XII) mit der Arctic Climate System Study (ACSYS)", von Ernst Augstein und den Fahrtteilnehmern.

Heft-Nr. 235/1997 - "Polonium-210 und Blei-219 im Südpolarmeer: Natürliche Tracer für biologische und hydrographische Prozesse im Oberflächenwasser des Antarktischen Zirkumpolarstroms und des Weddellmeeres", von Jana Friedrich.

Heft-Nr. 236/1997 – "Determination of atmospheric trace gas amounts and corresponding natural isotopic rations by means of ground-based FTIR spectroscopy in the high Arctic", by Arndt Meier.

Heft-Nr. 237/1997 – "Russian-German Cooperation: The Expedition TAYMYR / SEVERNAYA ZEMLYA 1996", edited by Martin Melles, Birgit Hagedorn and Dmitri Yu. Bolshiyanow.

Heft-Nr. 238/1997 - "Life strategy and ecophysiology of Antarctic macroalgae", by Iván M. Gómez.

Heft-Nr. 239/1997 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS XIII/4-5 des Forschungsschiffes 'Polarstern' 1996", herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach und Dieter Gerdes.

Heft-Nr. 240/1997 - "Untersuchungen zur Chrom-Speziation im Meerwasser, Meereis und Schnee aus ausgewählten Gebieten der Arktis", von Heide Giese.

Heft-Nr. 241/1997 – "Late Quaternary glacial history and paleoceanographic reconstructions along the East Greenland continental margin: Evidence from high-resolution records of stable isotopes and ice-rafted debris", by Seung-II Nam. Heft-Nr. 242/1997 - "Thermal, hydrological and geochemical dynamics of the active layer at a continuouse

permafrost site, Taymyr Peninsula, Siberia", by Julia Boike.

Heft-Nr. 243/1997 - "Zur Paläoozeanographie hoher Breiten: Stellvertreterdaten aus Foraminiferen", von Andreas Mackensen.

Heft-Nr. 244/1997 – "The Geophysical Observatory at Neumayer Station, Antarctica. Geomagnetic and seismological observations in 1995 and 1996", by Alfons Eckstaller, Thomas Schmidt, Viola Gaw, Christian Müller and Johannes Rogenhagen.

Heft-Nr. 245/1997 - "Temperaturbedarf und Biogeographie mariner Makroalgen - Anpassung mariner Makroalgen an tiefe Temperaturen", von Bettina Bischoff-Bäsmann.

Heft-Nr. 246/1997 - "Ökologische Untersuchungen zur Fauna des arktischen Meereises", von Christine Friedrich.

Heft-Nr. 247/1997 - "Entstehung und Modifizierung von marinen gelösten organischen Substanzen", von Berit Kirchho Heft-Nr. 248/1997 - "Laptev Sea System: Expeditions in 1995", edited by Heidemarie Kassens.

Heft-Nr. 249/1997 - "The Expedition ANTARKTIS XIII/3 (EASIZ I) of RV 'Polarstern' to the eastern Weddell Sea in 1996" edited by Wolf Arntz and Julian Gutt.

Heft-Nr. 250/1997 - "Vergleichende Untersuchungen zur Ökologie und Biodiversität des Mega-Epibenthos der Arktis und Antarktis", von Andreas Starmans.

Heft-Nr. 251/1997 - "Zeitliche und räumliche Verteilung von Mineralvergesellschaftungen in spätquartären Sedimenten des Arktischen Ozeans und ihre Nützlichkeit als Klimaindikatoren während der Glazial/Interglazial-Wechsel", von Christoph Vogt.

Heft-Nr. 252/1997 - "Solitäre Ascidien in der Potter Cove (King George Island, Antarktis). Ihre ökologische Bedeutung und Populationsdynamik", von Stephan Kühne.

Heft-Nr. 253/1997 - "Distribution and role of microprotozoa in the Southern Ocean", by Christine Klaas. Heft-Nr. 254/1997 - "Die spätquartäre Klima- und Umweltgeschichte der Bunger-Oase, Ostantarktis", von Thomas Kulbe.

Resultate aus seismischen und gravimetrischen Untersuchungen", von Estella Weigelt. Heft-Nr. 262/1998 - "The Expedition ARKTIS-XIII/3 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1997", by Gunther Krause. Heft-Nr. 267/1998 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS-XIV mit FS 'Polarstern' 1997. Bericht vom Fahrtabschnitt ANT-XIV/3", Heft-Nr. 270/1998 - "Architecture and evolution of the continental crust of East Greenland from integrated geophysical studies", by Vera Schlindwein. Heft-Nr. 271/1998 - "Winter Expedition to the Southwestern Kara Sea - Investigations on Formation and Transport of Heft-Nr. 275/1998 – "Die Auswirkung der NorthEastWater'-Polynya auf die Sedimentation vor NO-Grönland und Unter-suchungen zur Paläo-Ozeanographie seit dem Mittelweichsel", von Hanne Notholt. Heft-Nr. 277/1998 - "Koordiniertes Programm Antarktisforschung". Berichtskolloquium im Rahmen des Koordinierten herausgegeben von Hubert Miller. Heft-Nr. 279/1998 - "Arctic Paleo-River Discharge (APARD). A New Research Programme of the Arctic Ocean Science Heft-Nr. 280/1998 - "Fernerkundungs- und GIS-Studien in Nordostgrönland", von Friedrich Jung-Rothenhäusler. Heft-Nr. 283/1998 - "Sedimente im arktischen Meereis - Eintrag, Charakterisierung und Quantifizierung", von Frank Lindemann. Heft-Nr. 284/1998 - "Langzeitanalyse der antarktischen Meereisbedeckung aus passiven Mikrowellendaten", Heft-Nr. 286/1998 - "Energieumsätze benthischer Filtrierer der Potter Cove (King George Island, Antarktis)",

Heft-Nr. 255/1997 - "Scientific Cruise Report of the Arctic Expedition ARK-XIII/2 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1997", edited by Ruediger Stein and Kirsten Fahl

Heft-Nr. 256/1998 - "Das Radionuklid Tritium im Ozean: Meßverfahren und Verteilung von Tritium im Südatlantik und im Weddellmeer", von Jürgen Sültenfuß.

Heft-Nr. 257/1998 - "Untersuchungen der Saisonalität von atmosphärischem Dimethylsulfid in der Arktis und Antarktis" von Christoph Kleefeld.

Heft-Nr. 258/1998 - "Bellinghausen- und Amundsenmeer: Entwicklung eines Sedimentationsmodells", von Frank-Oliver Nitsche.

Heft-Nr. 259/1998 - "The Expedition ANTARKTIS-XIV/4 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1997", by Dieter K. Fütterer.

Heft-Nr. 260/1998 - "Die Diatomeen der Laptevsee (Arktischer Ozean): Taxonomie und biogeographische Verbreitung", von Holger Cremer.

Heft-Nr. 261/1998 - "Die Krustenstruktur und Sedimentdecke des Eurasischen Beckens, Arktischer Ozean:

Heft-Nr. 263/1998 - "Thermo-tektonische Entwicklung von Oates Land und der Shackleton Range (Antarktis) basierend auf Spaltspuranalysen", von Thorsten Schäfer.

Heft-Nr. 264/1998 - "Messungen der stratosphärischen Spurengase CIO, HCI, O<sub>3</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, H<sub>2</sub>O und OH mittels flugzeuggetragener Submillimeterwellen-Radiometrie", von Joachim Urban.

Heft-Nr. 265/1998 - "Untersuchungen zu Massenhaushalt und Dynamik des Ronne Ice Shelfs, Antarktis", von Astrid Lambrecht.

Heft-Nr. 266/1998 - "Scientific Cruise Report of the Kara Sea Expedition of RV 'Akademik Boris Petrov' in 1997", edited by Jens Matthiessen and Oleg Stepanets.

herausgegeben, von Wilfried Jokat und Hans Oerter.

Heft-Nr. 268/1998 - "Numerische Modellierung der Wechselwirkung zwischen Atmosphäre und Meereis in der arktischen Eisrandzone", von Gerit Birnbaum.

Heft-Nr, 269/1998 - "Katabatic wind and Boundary Laver Front Experiment around Greenland (KABEG '97)". by Günther Heinemann.

Turbid Sea-Ice", by Dirk Dethleff, Peter Loewe, Dominik Weiel, Hartmut Nies, Gesa Kuhlmann, Christian Bahe and Gennady Tarasov.

Heft-Nr. 272/1998 - "FTIR-Emissionsspektroskopische Untersuchungen der arktischen Atmosphäre", von Edo Becker. Heft-Nr. 273/1998 - "Sedimentation und Tektonik im Gebiet des Agulhas Rückens und des Agulhas Plateaus ('SETA-RAP')", von Gabriele Uenzelmann-Neben.

Heft-Nr. 274/1998 - "The Expedition ANTARKTIS XIV/2", by Gerhard Kattner.

Heft-Nr. 276/1998 - "Interpretation und Analyse von Potentialfelddaten im Weddellmeer, Antarktis: der Zerfall des Superkontinents Gondwana". von Michael Studinger.

Programms "Antarktisforschung mit vergleichenden Untersuchungen in arktischen Eisgebieten",

Heft-Nr. 278/1998 – "Messung stratosphärischer Spurengase über Ny-Ålesund, Spitzbergen, mit Hilfe eines bodengebundenen Mikrowellen-Radiometers", von Uwe Raffalski.

Board (AOSB)", edited by Ruediger Stein.

Heft-Nr. 281/1998 - "Rekonstruktion der Oberflächenwassermassen der östlichen Laptevsee im Holozän anhand aquatischen Palynomorphen", von Martina Kunz-Pirrung.

Heft-Nr. 282/1998 - "Scavenging of <sup>231</sup>Pa and <sup>230</sup>Th in the South Atlantic: Implications for the use of the <sup>231</sup>Pa/<sup>230</sup>Th ratio as a paleoproductivity proxy", by Hans-Jürgen Walter.

von Christian H. Thomas.

Heft-Nr. 285/1998 - "Mechanismen und Grenzen der Temperaturanpassung beim Pierwurm Arenicola marina (L.)", von Angela Sommer.

von Jens Kowalke.

Heft-Nr. 287/1998 - "Scientific Cooperation in the Russian Arctic: Research from the Barents Sea up to the Laptev Sea", edited by Eike Rachor.

Heft-Nr. 288/1998 – "Alfred Wegener. Kommentiertes Verzeichnis der schriftlichen Dokumente seines Lebens und Wirkens", von Ulrich Wutzke.

Heft-Nr. 289/1998 – "Retrieval of Atmospheric Water Vapor Content in Polar Regions Using Spaceborne Microwave Radiometry", by Jungang Miao.

Heft-Nr. 290/1998 – "Strukturelle Entwicklung und Petrogenese des nördlichen Kristallingürtels der Shackleton Rang∉ Antarktis: Proterozoische und Ross-orogene Krustendynamik am Rand des Ostantarktischen Kratons", von Axel Brommer.

Heft-Nr. 291/1998 – "Dynamik des arktischen Meereises - Validierung verschiedener Rheologieansätze für die Anwendung in Klimamodellen", von Martin Kreyscher.

**Heft-Nr. 292/1998** – "Anthropogene organische Spurenstoffe im Arktischen Ozean. Untersuchungen chlorierter Biphenyle und Pestizide in der Laptevsee, technische und methodische Entwicklungen zur Probenahme in der Arktis und zur Spurenstoffanalyse", von Sven Utschakowski.

Heft-Nr. 293/1998 – "Rekonstruktion der spätquartären Klima- und Umweltgeschichte der Schirmacher Oase und der Wohlthat Massivs (Ostantarktika)", von Markus Julius Schwab.

Heft-Nr. 294/1998 – "Besiedlungsmuster der benthischen Makrofauna auf dem ostgrönländischen Kontinentalhang", von Klaus Schnack.

Heft-Nr. 295/1998 – "Gehäuseuntersuchungen an planktischen Foraminiferen hoher Breiten: Hinweise auf Umweltveränderungen während der letzten 140.000 Jahre", von Harald Hommers.

Heft-Nr. 296/1998 – "Scientific Cruise Report of the Arctic Expedition ARK-XIII/1 of RV 'Polarstern' in 1997", edited by Michael Spindler, Wilhelm Hagen and Dorothea Stübing.

Heft-Nr. 297/1998 - "Radiometrische Messungen im arktischen Özean - Vergleich von Theorie und Experiment", von Klaus-Peter Johnsen.

**Heft-Nr. 298/1998** – "Patterns and Controls of CO<sub>2</sub> Fluxes in Wet Tundra Types of the Taimyr Peninsula, Siberia - the Contribution of Soils and Mosses" by Martin Sommerkorn.

Heft-Nr. 299/1998 – "The Potter Cove coastal ecosystem, Antarctica. Synopsis of research performed within the fram of the Argentinean-German Cooperation at the Dallmann Laboratory and Jubany Station (King George Island, Antarcti 1991-1997)", by Christian Wiencke, Gustavo Ferreyra, Wolf Arntz & Carlos Rinaldi.

Heft-Nr. 300/1999 – "The Kara Sea Expedition of RV 'Akademik Boris Petrov' 1997: First results of a Joint Russian-German Pilot Study", edited by Jens Matthiessen, Oleg V. Stepanets, Ruediger Stein, Dieter K. Fütterer, and Eric M. Galimov.

Heft-Nr. 301/1999 - "The Expedition ANTARKTIS XV/3 (EASIZ II)", edited by Wolf E. Arntz and Julian Gutt.

Heft-Nr. 302/1999 – "Sterole im herbstlichen Weddellmeer (Antarktis): Großräumige Verteilung, Vorkommen und Umsatz", von Anneke Mühlebach.

Heft-Nr. 303/1999 – "Polare stratosphärische Wolken: Lidar-Beobachtungen, Charakterisierung von Entstehung und Entwicklung", von Jens Biele.

Heft-Nr. 304/1999 – "Spätquartäre Paläoumweltbedingungen am nördlichen Kontinentalrand der Barents- und Kara-See. Eine Multi-Parameter-Analyse", von Jochen Knies.

Heft-Nr. 305/1999 – "Arctic Radiation and Turbulence Interaction Study (ARTIST)", by Jörg Hartmann, Frank Albers, Stefania Argentini, Axel Bochert, Ubaldo Bonafé, Wolfgang Cohrs, Alessandro Conidi, Dietmar Freese, Teodoro Geor dis, Alessandro Ippoliti, Lars Kaleschke, Christof Lüpkes, Uwe Maixner, Giangiuseppe Mastrantonio, Fabrizio Ravegn Andreas Reuter, Giuliano Trivellone and Angelo Viola.

**Heft-Nr. 306/1999** – "German-Russian Cooperation: Biogeographic and biostratigraphic investigations on selected sediment cores from the Eurasian continental margin and marginal seas to analyze the Late Quaternary climatic variability", edited by Robert F. Spielhagen, Max S. Barash, Gennady I. Ivanov, and Jörn Thiede.

Heft-Nr. 307/1999 – "Struktur und Kohlenstoffbedarf des Makrobenthos am Kontinentalhang Ostgrönlands", von Dan Seiler.

Heft-Nr. 308/1999 – "ARCTIC '98: The Expedition ARK-XIV/1a of RV 'Polarstern' in 1998", edited by Wilfried Jokat. Heft-Nr. 309/1999 – "Variabilität der arktischen Ozonschicht: Analyse und Interpretation bodengebundener Millimeter wellenmessungen", von Björn-Martin Sinnhuber.

**Heft-Nr. 310/1999** – "Rekonstruktion von Meereisdrift und terrigenem Sedimenteintrag im Spätquartär: Schwermineralassoziationen in Sedimenten des Laptev-See-Kontinentalrandes und des zentralen Arktischen Ozeans von Marion Behrends.

Heft-Nr. 311/1999 – "Parameterisierung atmosphärischer Grenzschichtprozesse in einem regionalen Klimamodell der Arktis", von Christoph Abegg.

Heft-Nr. 312/1999 – "Solare und terrestrische Strahlungswechselwirkung zwischen arktischen Eisflächen und Wolker von Dietmar Freese.

Heft-Nr. 313/1999 - "Snow accumulation on Ekströmisen, Antarctica", by Elisabeth Schlosser, Hans Oerter

and Wolfgang Graf.

Heft-Nr. 314/1999 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS XV/4 des Forschungsschiffes 'Polarstern' 1998",

herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach.

Heft-Nr. 315/1999 - "Expeditions in Siberia in 1998", edited by Volker Rachold.

Heft-Nr. 316/1999 – "Die postglaziale Sedimentationsgeschichte der Laptewsee: schwermineralogische und sedimentpetrographische Untersuchungen", von Bernhard Peregovich.

Heft-Nr. 317/1999 - "Adaptation an niedrige Temperaturen: Lipide in Eisdiatomeen", von Heidi Lehmal.

Heft-Nr. 318/1999 – "Effiziente parallele Lösungsverfahren für elliptische partielle Differentialgleichungen in der numerischen Ozeanmodellierung", von Natalja Rakowsky.

Heft-Nr. 319/1999 – "The Ecology of Arctic Deep-Sea Copepods (Euchaetidae and Aetideidae). Aspects of their Distribution, Trophodynamics and Effect on the Carbon Flux", by Holger Auel.

Heft-Nr. 320/1999 - "Modellstudien zur arktischen stratosphärischen Chemie im Vergleich mit Meßdaten", von Veronika Eyring.

Heft-Nr. 321/1999 - "Analyse der optischen Eigenschaften des arktischen Aerosols", von Dagmar Nagel.

Heft-Nr. 322/1999 - "Messungen des arktischen stratosphärischen Ozons: Vergleich der Ozonmessungen in Ny-Ålesund, Spitzbergen, 1997 und 1998", von Jens Langer.

Heft-Nr. 323/1999 – "Untersuchung struktureller Elemente des südöstlichen Weddellmeeres / Antarktis auf der Basis mariner Potentialfelddaten", von Uwe F. Meyer.

Heft-Nr. 324/1999 - "Geochemische Verwitterungstrends eines basaltischen Ausgangsgesteins nach dem spätpleistozänen Gletscherrückzug auf der Taimyrhalbinsel (Zentralsibirien) - Rekonstruktion an einer sedimentären Abfolge des Lama Sees", von Stefanie K. Harwart.

Heft-Nr. 325/1999 - "Untersuchungen zur Hydrologie des arktischen Meereises - Konsequenzen für den kleinskaligen Stofftransport", von Johannes Freitag.

Heft-Nr. 326/1999 - "Die Expedition ANTARKTIS XIV/2 des Forschungsschiffes 'Polarstern' 1998", herausgegeben von Eberhard Fahrbach.

Heft-Nr. 327/1999 - "Gemeinschaftsanalytische Untersuchungen der Harpacticoidenfauna der Magellanregion, sowie erste similaritätsanalytische Vergleiche mit Assoziationen aus der Antarktis", von Kai Horst George.

Heft-Nr. 328/1999 - "Rekonstruktion der Paläo-Umweltbedingungen am Laptev-See-Kontinentalrand während der beiden letzten Glazial/Interglazial-Zyklen anhand sedimentologischer und mineralogischer Untersuchungen", von Claudia Müller.

Heft-Nr. 329/1999 - "Räumliche und zeitliche Variationen atmosphärischer Spurengase aus bodengebundenen Messungen mit Hilfe eines Michelson interferometers", von Justus Notholt. Heft-Nr. 330/1999 – "The 1998 Danish-German Excursion to Disko Island, West Greenland".

edited by Angelika Brandt, Helge A. Thomsen, Henning Heide-Jørgensen, Reinhard M. Kristensen and Hilke Ruhberg.

verariffen / out of print.

\*\* nur noch beim Autor / only from the author.